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GRAND CONTINENT HOTELS LIMITED

(Formerly known as “Grand Continent Hotels Private Limited ”)
CIN: U55101TN2011PLC083100

CORPORATE OFFICE
Municipal No 3, 3 Main
Road, K R  Garden,
Koramangala, Bengaluru -
560095, Karnataka, India.

REGISTERED OFFICE
S No. 245/1A/1B, Venpursham
Village, Veeralapakkam,
Thiruporur, Chengalpattu,
Mamallapuram,  Kanchipuram,
Tirukalikundram - 603110, Tamil
Nadu, India.

CONTACT PERSON |
Ms. Aastha Kochar

Company Secretary and
Compliance Officer

EMAIL AND TELEPHONE |
Email:
cs@grandcontinenthotels.com

WEBSITE
https://grandcontinentho
tels.com/

Tel: 080 4165 6491

PROMOTERS OF OUR COMPANY: MR. RAMESH SIVA AND MRS. VIDYA RAMESH
DETAILS OF THE OFFER TO PUBLIC
OFFER FOR SALE TOTAL
SIZE OFFER
SIZE

FRESH ISSUE SIZE ELIGIBLITY AND RESERVATION

Fresh Up to 62,60,400 Up to 3,28,800 Equity Upto The Offer is being made in terms of Regulation 229(2) of the Securities
Issue and Equity Shares of the Shares of the face 65,89,200 and Exchange Board of India (Issue of Capital and Disclosure
an Offer face value of % 10/- value of ¥ 10/- each Equity Shares | Requirements) Regulations, 2018 (“SEBI ICDR Regulations”). For
for Sale each aggregating up aggregating up to of the face further details, refer section titled “Other Regulatory and Statutory

to X [e] Lakhs Z [e] Lakhs value of 2 10/~ | Disclosures —Eligibility for the Offer” on page 318 Of this Red Herring
each Prospectus. For details in relation to share reservation among Qualified
aggregating up | Institutional Buyers, Non-Institutional Investors, Retail Individual
toX [e] Investors and Eligible Employees (defined below), refer section titled
Lakhs “Offer Structure” on page 341 of this Red Herring Prospectus.

OFFER FOR SALE
DETAILS OF OFFER FOR SALE, PROMOTER SELLING SHAREHOLDER AND WEIGHTED AVERAGE COST OF ACQUISTION
NAME OF THE SELLING TYPE NUMBER OF EQUITY SHARES WEIGHTED AVERAGE COST OF

SHAREHOLDER OFFERED/ AMOUNT ACQUISITION*
(INX PEREQUITY SHARE)

Mr. Ramesh Siva Promoter
Selling

Shareholder

Up to 3,28,800 Equity Shares of face value % 10/-
each aggregating up to X [e] Lakhs.

*As certified by M/s Bhuta Shah & Co LLP., Chartered Accountants, by way of their certificate dated March 13, 2025.

DETAILS IN RELATION TO FLOOR PRICE, CAP PRICE AND MINIMUM BID LOT

THE FACE VALUE OF EQUITY SHARES IS ¥ 10 EACH. THE FLOOR PRICE ISX 107 PER EQUITY SHARE WHICH IS 10.70 TIMES OF THE
FACE VALUE AND THE CAP PRICE IS%113 PER EQUITY SHARE WHICH IS 11.30 TIMES OF THE FACE VALUE. THE MINIMUM BID LOT
1S 1,200 EQUITY SHARES AND IN MULTIPLES OF 1,200 EQUITY SHARES THEREAFTER.

RISKS IN RELATION TO THE FIRST OFFER
This being the first public issue of our Company, there has been no formal market for the Equity Shares. The face value of the Equity Shares is % 10/- each.
The Floor Price, Cap Price and Offer Price as determined by our Company, in consultation with the Book Running Lead Manager, in accordance with SEBI
ICDR Regulations and on the basis of the assessment of market demand for the Equity Shares by way of the Book Building Process, as stated under “Basis
for Offer Price” on page 128 of this Red Herring Prospectus in accordance with the SEBI ICDR Regulations should not be considered to be indicative of the
market price of the Equity Shares after the Equity Shares are listed. No assurance can be given regarding an active and / or sustained trading in the Equity
Shares nor regarding the price at which the Equity Shares will be traded after listing.
GENERAL RISKS

Investments in equity and equity-related securities involve a degree of risk and investors should not invest any funds in this Offer unless they can afford to
take the risk of losing their entire investment. Investors are advised to read the risk factors carefully before taking an investment decision in the Offer. For
taking an investment decision, investors must rely on their own examination of our Company and the Offer including the risks involved. The Equity Shares
issued in the Offer have not been recommended or approved by the Securities and Exchange Board of India (“SEBI”), nor does SEBI guarantee the accuracy
or adequacy of the Red Herring Prospectus. Specific attention of the investors is invited to the section titled “Risk Factors” beginning on page 38 of this Red
Herring Prospectus.

OUR COMPANY’S AND PROMOTER SELLING SHAREHOLDER’SABSOLUTE RESPONSIBILTY

Our Company, having made all reasonable inquiries, accepts responsibility for and confirms that this Red Herring Prospectus contains all information with
regard to the Company and the Offer, which is material in the context of the Offer, that the information contained in this Red Herring Prospectus is true and
correct in all material aspects and is not misleading in any material respect, that the opinions and intentions expressed herein are honestly held and that there
are no other facts, the omission of which makes this Red Herring Prospectus as a whole or any of such information or the expression of any such opinions or
intentions, misleading in any material respects. Further, the Promoter Selling Shareholder, accepts responsibility for and confirms that the statements made or
confirmed by such Promoter Selling Shareholder in this Red Herring Prospectus to the extent of information specifically pertaining to it and/or the Offered
Shares and assumes responsibility that such statements are true and correct in all material respects and not misleading in any material respect. The Promoter
Selling Shareholder assumes no responsibility for any other statement in this Red Herring Prospectus, including, inter alia, any of the statements made by or
relating to our Company or our Company’s business.
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LISTING
The Equity Shares Offered through the Red Herring Prospectus are proposed to be listed on the SME Platform of National Stock Exchange of India Limited
(NSE EMERGE) in terms of the Chapter IX of the SEBI ICDR Regulations as amended from time to time. Our Company has received ‘in-principle’ approval
from NSE EMERGE for the listing of the Equity Shares pursuant to its letter dated February 28, 2025. For the purpose of this Offer, the Designated Stock
Exchange will be the National Stock Exchange of India Limited (“NSE”).

BOOK RUNNING LEAD MANAGER TO THE OFFER
Name & Logo Contact Person Email & Telephone
INDORIENT FINANCIAL SERVICES LIMITED

Mr. lvor Anil Misquith E-mail: compliance-ifsl@indorient.in

Indorient Tel: +91 79772 12186

REGISTRAR TO THE OFFER

Name & Logo Contact Person Email & Telephone
MUFG Intime India Private Limited
(Formerly Link Intime India Private Limited) Ms. Shanti Gopalkrishnan E-mail: grandcontinent.ipo@Ilinkintime.co.in
Tel: +91 81081 14949
(®) MUFG e
BID/OFFER PERIOD
ANCHOR PORTION OFFER OPENS/CLOSES ON: BID/OFFER OPENS ON: BID/OFFER CLOSES ON:

WEDNESDAY, MARCH 19, 2025* THURSDAY, MARCH 20, 2025 MONDAY, MARCH 24, 2025**#

* Our Company, in consultation with the BRLM, may consider participation by Anchor Investors in accordance with the SEBI ICDR Regulations. The
Anchor Investor Bid/Offer Period shall be one Working Day prior to the Bid/Offer Opening Date.

** Our Company, in consultation with the BRLM, may consider closing the Bid/Offer Period for QIBs, one Working Day prior to the Bid/Offer Closing
Date in accordance with the SEBI ICDR Regulations.

# UPI mandate end time and date shall be at 5:00 pm on the Bid/Offer Closing Date.
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CONTINENT

GRAND CONTINENT HOTELS LIMITED

(Formerly known as “Grand Continent Hotels Private Limited ”)
CIN: U55101TN2011PLC083100

Our Company was originally incorporated as a private limited company under the Companies Act, 1956 in the name and style of “Grand Continent Hotels Private Limited” pursuant to certificate of incorporation
dated November 11, 2011 issued by the RoC, Chennai, Tamil Nadu bearing Corporate Identity Number U55101TN2011PTC083100. Subsequently, our Company was converted into public limited company pursuant
to special resolution passed in the EGM held on May 27, 2024, and consequently, the name of our Company was changed to “Grand Continent Hotels Limited” and a fresh certificate of incorporation dated August
30, 2024 consequent upon conversion from private company to public company was issued by RoC, Central Processing Centre bearing CIN U55101TN2011PLC083100. For further details please refer to section
titled “History and Certain Other Corporate Matters” beginning on page 196 of this Red Herring Prospectus.

Registered Office: S No. 245/1A/1B, Venpursham Village, VVeeralapakkam, Thiruporur, Chengalpattu, Mamallapuram, Kanchipuram, Tirukalikundram - 603110, Tamil Nadu, India.
Corporate Office: Municipal No 3, 3" Main Road, K R Garden, Koramangala, Bengaluru - 560095, Karnataka, India.
Contact Person: Ms. Aastha Kochar, Company Secretary and Compliance Officer
Tel: +91 80 4165 6491; E-mail: cs@grandcontinenthotels.com; Website: https://grandcontinenthotels.com

. PROMOTERS OF OUR COMPANY: MR.RAMESHSIVAANDMRS. VIDYARAMESH |
INITIAL PUBLIC OFFERING OF UPTO 65,89,200 EQUITY SHARES OF FACE VALUE OF 2 10/- EACH (THE "EQUITY SHARES") OF GRAND CONTINENT HOTELS LIMITED (“OUR
COMPANY” OR “GCHL” OR “THE ISSUER”) AT A PRICE OF ? [¢] PER EQUITY SHARE (INCLUDING A PREMIUM OF X [o] PER EQUITY SHARE) (“OFFER PRICE?) FOR CASH,
AGGREGATING UP TO % [¢] LAKHS (“OFFER”) COMPRISING OF A FRESH ISSUE OF UP TO 62,60,400 EQUITY SHARES OF FACE VALUE OF 2 10/- EACH AGGREGATING UP TO
X [o] LAKHS (THE “FRESH ISSUE”) AND AN OFFER FOR SALE OF UP TO 3,28,800 EQUITY SHARES OF FACE VALUE OF ¥ 10/- EACH AGGREGATING UP TO X [¢] LAKHS BY
MR. RAMESH SIVA (THE “PROMOTER SELLING SHAREHOLDER”).

THE OFFER INCLUDES A RESERVATION OF 3,30,000 EQUITY SHARES OF FACE VALUE OF % 10/- EACH, AT AN OFFER PRICE OF % [e] PER EQUITY SHARE FOR CASH,
AGGREGATING TO % [e] LAKHS (CONSTITUTING UP TO 5.01% OF THE POST OFFER PAID-UP EQUITY SHARE CAPITAL OF OUR COMPANY) FOR SUBSCRIPTION BY THE
MARKET MAKER TO THE OFFER (THE "MARKET MAKER RESERVATION PORTION") AND A RESERVATION OF UP TO 12,000 EQUITY SHARES, AGGREGATING UP TO X [e]
LAKHS (CONSTITUTING UP TO 0.18% OF THE POST OFFER PAID-UP EQUITY SHARE CAPITAL OF OUR COMPANY), FOR SUBSCRIPTION BY ELIGIBLE EMPLOYEES (THE
“EMPLOYEE RESERVATION PORTION”). THE OFFER LESS MARKET MAKER RESERVATION PORTION AND EMPLOYEE RESERVATION PORTION ILE. OFFER OF 62,47,200
EQUITY SHARES OF FACE VALUE OF % 10/- EACH, AT AN OFFER PRICE OF X [e¢] PER EQUITY SHARE FOR CASH, AGGREGATING UPTO % [e] LAKHS IS HEREIN AFTER
REFERRED TO AS THE “NET OFFER”. THE OFFER AND NET OFFER WILL CONSTITUTE 26.44% AND 25.07% RESPECTIVELY OF THE POST- OFFER PAID-UP EQUITY SHARE
CAPITAL OF OUR COMPANY.

THE PRICE BAND AND THE MINIMUM BID LOT HAS BEEN DECIDED BY OUR COMPANY IN CONSULTATION WITH THE BRLM AND WILL BE ADVERTISED IN ENGLISH EDITION
OF FINANCIAL EXPRESS (A WIDELY CIRCULATED ENGLISH NATIONAL DAILY NEWSPAPER) AND HINDI EDITION OF JANSATTA (A WIDELY CIRCULATED HINDI NATIONAL
DAILY NEWSPAPER), AND CHENNAI EDITION OF DINA KURAL, A REGIONAL NEWSPAPER (A WIDELY CIRCULATED TAMIL DAILY NEWSPAPER, TAMIL BEING THE
REGIONAL LANGUAGE OF TAMIL NADU WHERE OUR REGISTERED OFFICE IS LOCATED), AT LEAST TWO WORKING DAYS PRIOR TO THE BID/OFFER OPENING DATE AND
SHALL BE MADE AVAILABLE TO THE SME PLATFORM OF NSE (“NSE EMERGE”) FOR THE PURPOSES OF UPLOADING ON THEIR WEBSITE, IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE SEBI
ICDR REGULATIONS.

THE FACE VALUE OF EQUITY SHARES IS % 10 EACH. THE FLOOR PRICE IS X 107 PER EQUITY SHARE WHICH IS 10.70 TIMES OF THE FACE VALUE AND THE CAP PRICE IS %113
PER EQUITY SHARE WHICH 1S 11.30 TIMES OF THE FACE VALUE. THE MINIMUM BID LOT IS 1,200 EQUITY SHARES AND IN MULTIPLES OF 1,200 EQUITY SHARES
THEREAFTER.

In case of any revision in the Price Band, the Bid/Offer Period shall be extended for at least three additional Working Days after such revision of the Price Band, subject to the total Bid/Offer Period not exceeding

ten Working Days. In cases of force majeure, banking strike or similar circumstances, our Company, for reasons to be recorded in writing, extend the Bid/Offer Period for a minimum of one Working Day, subject
to the Bid/Offer Period not exceeding ten Working Days. Any revision in the Price Band, and the revised Bid/Offer Period, if applicable, shall be widely disseminated by notification to the Stock Exchange by
issuing a press release and also by indicating the change on the website of the BRLM and at the terminals of the Members of the Syndicate and by intimation to Designated Intermediaries and Sponsor Bank, as
applicable.
The Offer is being made through the Book Building Process, in terms of Rule 19(2)(b) of the Securities Contracts (Regulation) Rules, 1957, as amended (“SCRR”) read with Regulation 253 of the SEBI ICDR
Regulations, as amended, wherein not more than 50% of the Net Offer shall be allocated on a proportionate basis to Qualified Institutional Buyers (“QIBs”, the “QIB Portion™), provided that our Company may,
in consultation with the Book Running Lead Manager, allocate up to 60% of the QIB Portion to Anchor Investors on a discretionary basis in accordance with the SEBI ICDR Regulations (“Anchor Investor
Portion™), of which one-third shall be reserved for domestic Mutual Funds, subject to valid Bids being received from domestic Mutual Funds at or above the Anchor Investor Allocation Price. In the event of
under-subscription, or non-allocation in the Anchor Investor Portion, the balance Equity Shares shall be added to the Net QIB Portion. Further, 5% of the Net QIB Portion shall be available for allocation on a
proportionate basis only to Mutual Funds, and the remainder of the Net QIB Portion shall be available for allocation on a proportionate basis to all QIBs, including Mutual Funds, subject to valid Bids being
received at or above the Offer Price. However, if the aggregate demand from Mutual Funds is less than 5% of the Net QIB Portion, the balance Equity Shares available for allocation in the Mutual Fund Portion
will be added to the remaining Net QIB Portion for proportionate allocation to QIBs. Further, not less than 15% of the Net Offer shall be available for allocation on a proportionate basis to Non-Institutional
Bidders and not less than 35% of the Net Offer shall be available for allocation to Retail Individual Bidders in accordance with the SEBI ICDR Regulations, subject to valid Bids being received at or above the
Offer Price. Further, Equity Shares will be allocated on a proportionate basis to Eligible Employees applying under the Employee Reservation Portion, subject to valid Bids received from them at or above the
Offer Price All potential Bidders (except Anchor Investors) are required to mandatorily utilize the Application Supported by Blocked Amount (“ASBA™) process providing details of their respective ASBA
accounts, and UPI 1D in case of RIBs using the UPI Mechanism, if applicable, in which the corresponding Bid Amounts will be blocked by the SCSBs or by the Sponsor Bank under the UPI Mechanism, as the
case may be, to the extent of respective Bid Amounts. Anchor Investors are not permitted to participate in the Offer through the ASBA process. For details, refer “Offer Procedure” beginning on page 347 of this
Red Herring Prospectus.

ELIGIBLE INVESTORS ‘

For details in relation to Eligible Investors, please refer to section titled “Offer Procedure” beginning on page 347 of this Red Herring Prospectus.

. RISKINRELATIONTOTHEFIRSTOFFER ____ _ _ __ __ ____ |
The face value of the Equity Shares is ¥ 10/- The Floor Price, Cap Price and Offer Price determined by our Company, in consultation with the Book Running Lead Manager, on the basis of the assessment of
market demand for the Equity Shares by way of the Book Building Process, as stated under “Basis for Offer Price” on page 128 should not be considered to be indicative of the market price of the Equity Shares
after the Equity Shares are listed. No assurance can be given regarding an active or sustained trading in the Equity Shares nor regarding the price at which the Equity Shares will be traded after listing.

- GENERALRISKS _ ______ __ ______ _ |
Investments in Equity and Equity-related securities involve a degree of risk and investors should not invest any funds in this Offer unless they can afford to take the risk of losing their entire investment. Investors
are advised to read the risk factors carefully before taking an investment decision in the Offer. For taking an investment decision, investors must rely on their own examination of our Company and the Offer
including the risks involved. The Equity Shares issued in the Offer have not been recommended or approved by the Securities and Exchange Board of India (“SEBI”), nor does SEBI guarantee the accuracy or
adequacy of this Red Herring Prospectus. Specific attention of the investors is invited to the section “Risk Factors™ beginning on page 38 of this Red Herring Prospectus.

OUR COMPAN AND PROMOTER SELLING SHAREHOLDER’S ABSOLUTE RESPONSIBILTY

The Company, having made all reasonable inquiries, accepts responsibility for and confirms that this Red Herring Prospectus contains all information with regard to the Company and the Offer, which is material
in the context of the Offer, that the information contained in this Red Herring Prospectus is true and correct in all material aspects and is not misleading in any material respect, that the opinions and intentions
expressed herein are honestly held and that there are no other facts, the omission of which makes this Red Herring Prospectus as a whole or any of such information or the expression of any such opinions or
intentions, misleading in any material respect. Further, the Promoter Selling Shareholder, accepts responsibility for and confirms that the statements made or confirmed by such Promoter Selling Shareholder in
this Red Herring Prospectus to the extent of information specifically pertaining to it and/or the Offered Shares and assumes responsibility that such statements are true and correct in all material respects and not
misleading in any material respect. The Promoter Selling Shareholder assumes no responsibility for any other statement in this Red Herring Prospectus, including, inter alia, any of the statements made by or
relating to our Company or our Company’s business.
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LISTING
The Equity Shares Offered through this Red Herring Prospectus are proposed to be listed on the SME Platform of NSE (“NSE EMERGE?”) in terms of the Chapter IX of the SEBI ICDR Regulations as amended
from time to time. Our Company has received ‘in-principle’ approval from NSE for the listing of the Equity Shares pursuant to its letter dated February 28, 2025. For the purpose of this Offer, the Designated

Stock Exchange will be the National Stock Exchange of India Ltd. (“NSE”).

Indorient

BOOK RUNNING LEAD MANAGER TO THE OFFER REGISTRAR TO THE OFFER |

(®) MUFG o

INDORIENT FINANCIAL SERVICES LIMITED

B/805, Rustomjee Central Park, Andheri Kurla Road, Chakala, Mumbai — 400093, Maharashtra,
India.

Tel No: +91-79772 12186

E-mail: compliance-ifsi@indorient.in

Investor Grievance E-mail: wecare@indorient.in

Website: www.indorient.in

Contact Person: Mr. Ivor Anil Misquith

SEBI Registration No: INM000012661

CIN: U67190DL1993PLC052085

ANCHOR PORTION OFFER OPENS/CLOSES ON:
WEDNESDAY, MARCH 19, 2025*

OFFER PROGRAMME |
BID/OFFER OPENS ON:
THURSDAY, MARCH 20, 2025

MUFG Intime India Private Limited (Formerly Link Intime India Private Limited)
C-101, 1 Floor, 247 Park, Lal Bahadur Shastri Marg Vikhroli (West), Mumbai - 400083,
Maharashtra, India.

Tel No.: +91 810 811 4949

Fax No. +91 22 4918 6060

E-mail: grandcontinent.ipo@linkintime.co.in

Investor Grievance Email: grandcontinent.ipo@linkintime.co.in

Website: www.linkintime.co.in

Contact Person: Ms. Shanti Gopalkrishnan

SEBI Registration No: INR0O00004058

CIN: U67190MH1999PTC118368

BID/OFFER CLOSES ON:
MONDAY, MARCH 24, 2025**#

* Our Company, in consultation with the BRLM, may consider participation by Anchor Investors in accordance with the SEBI ICDR Regulations. The Anchor Investor

Bid/Offer Period shall be one Working Day prior to the Bid/Offer Opening Date.

** Our Company, in consultation with the BRLM, may consider closing the Bid/Offer Period for QIBs, one Working Day prior to the Bid/Offer Closing Date in accordance

with the SEBI ICDR Regulations.
# UPI mandate end time and date shall be at 5:00 pm on the Bid/Offer Closing Date.
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SECTION I: GENERAL
DEFINITIONS AND ABBREVIATIONS

This Red Herring Prospectus uses certain definitions and abbreviations which, unless the context otherwise indicates or
implies, shall have the meaning as provided below. References to any legislation, act, regulation, rules, guidelines or
policies shall be to such legislation, act, regulation, rules, guidelines or policies as amended, supplemented or re-enacted
from time to time, and any reference to a statutory provision shall include any subordinate legislation made from time to
time under that provision. Further, the Offer related terms used but not defined in this Red Herring Prospectus shall have
the meaning ascribed to such terms under the General Information Document. In case of any inconsistency between the
definitions given below and the definitions contained in the General Information Document (as defined below), the
definitions given below shall prevail.

The words and expressions used in this Red Herring Prospectus but not defined herein shall have, to the extent applicable,
the same meaning ascribed to such terms under the SEBI ICDR Regulations, the Companies Act, 2013, the SCRA, the
Depositories Act and the rules and regulations made thereunder. Notwithstanding the foregoing, terms in ‘Main Provisions
of the Articles of Association’, ‘Statement of Possible Tax Benefits’, ‘Our Industry’, ‘Key Industry Regulations and
Policies’, ‘Financial Information’, ‘Outstanding Litigations and Material Developments’, will have the meaning ascribed
to such terms in these respective sections Page 382, 137, 143, 188, 234 and 300 of this Red Herring Prospectus.

Conventional or General Terms

Term Description

Grand Continent Hotels Limited, a public limited company incorporated under the
Grand Continent Hotels | Companies Act, 1956 as a private limited and having its registered office at S No.
Limited / GCHL/ GCH / the | 245/1A/1B, Venpursham Village, Veeralapakkam, Thiruporur, Chengalpattu,
Company / our Company/ | Mamallapuram, Kanchipuram, Tirukalikundram - 603110, Tamil Nadu, India and
Issuer corporate office at Municipal No 3, 3rd Main Road, K R Garden, Koramangala,
Bengaluru - 560095, Karnataka, India.

Unless the context otherwise indicates or implies, our Company together with our
Joint Venture(s), on a consolidated basis as on the date of this Red Herring Prospectus.
You/ your Prospective investors in this Offer.

We/ us/ our

Company Related Terms

Term Description

AoA/ Articles/ Articles of

iy The Articles of Association of our Company, as amended, from time to time
Association

The audit committee of our Board of Directors reconstituted in accordance with Section
177 of the Companies Act, 2013 and rules made thereunder vide resolution passed by
the Board on November 06, 2024, as disclosed under section titled ‘Our Management’
beginning on page 205 of this Red Herring Prospectus.

Audit Committee

The Statutory Auditors of our Company being “M/s. Bhuta Shah & Co LLP”, Chartered
Auditors / Statutory Accountants, Firm Registration No. 101474W / W100100, having their office at 3" floor,
Auditors 302, Regent Chambers, Jamnalal Bajaj Road, Nariman Point, Mumbai — 400021,
Maharashtra, India.

Banker to our Company is “ICICI Bank Limited” having their office at No 584, 80 Feet
Banker to our Company Road, Opp to Bethany High School Koramangala 8" Block, Bengaluru-560095,
Karnataka, India.

The Board of Directors of our Company, including all duly constituted committees
thereof, as disclosed under section titled ‘Our Management’ beginning on page 205 of
this Red Herring Prospectus.

Board of Directors / the
Board/ Our Board

Brands Sarovar Brands, Royal Orchid Brands and Our Trademark.

It shall mean any day (other than a Saturday or a Sunday and a public holiday) on which
the SEBI, the stock exchange or the commercial banks in Maharashtra, India, are open
for business.

Business Day of our
Company

The Chairman/ Chairperson of Board of Directors of the Company being “Mr. Ramesh

Chairman/ Chairperson Siva”, Managing Director.

gg'g Financial Officer / Chief Financial Officer of our Company being “Mr. Mithun Jayaraman”

Corporate ldentification Number issued by Ministry of Corporate Affairs viz.,

CIN U55101TN2011PLC083100.
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Companies Act

Unless specified otherwise, this would imply to the provisions of the Companies Act,
2013 (to the extent notified by MCA till date) and /or provisions of Companies Act, 1956
w.r.t. the sections which have not yet been replaced by the Companies Act, 2013 through
any official notification.

Companies Act, 1956

Companies Act, 1956, as amended from time to time.

Companies Act, 2013

Companies Act, 2013 and applicable to the extent notified by MCA till date.

Company Secretary and
Compliance Officer/ CS /
Company  Secretary [/
Compliance Officer

Company Secretary and Compliance Officer of our Company being “Ms. Aastha
Kochar” (Membership No. A63630).

Corporate Office

The corporate office of our Company situated at Municipal No 3, 3 Main Road, K R
Garden, Koramangala, Bengaluru - 560095, Karnataka, India.

Depositories

National Securities Depository Limited and Central Depository Services (India) Limited

Depositories Act

The Depositories Act, 1996, as amended from time to time.

DIN

Directors ldentification Number.

Director(s)/ our Director(s)

The Director(s) of our Company, unless otherwise specified

DP/ Depository Participant

A depository participant as defined under the Depositories Act, 1996

Equity Share(s)

The equity shares of our Company of a face value of X 10/- each, fully paid-up, unless
otherwise specified in the context thereof.

Equity Shareholder(s)

Persons/ entities holding the Equity Shares of our Company

Executive Director(s)

Executive Directors of our Company. For details, refer section titled “Our Management”
beginning on page 205 of this Red Herring Prospectus.

GCH-1

Grand Continent Hotels — 1, a joint venture partnership firm between Our Company,
LiftX India Ventures LLP and Mr. Ajay Kumar Gupta.

Golden Tulip

Means a brand name licensed to use on non-exclusive basis to our JV Partner Entity
pursuant to the trademark agreement / franchise agreements entered with the Sarovar
Hotels in respect of Hotel Golden Tulip —Tirupati, with right to use the mark “Golden
Tulip”

GSHH

Grand Seven Hill Hotels, a joint venture partnership firm between Our Company, Mr. R.
Vijay Raghava Reddy, Mr. Ayush Vijay Reddy and Mr. Adith Vijay Reddy.

Group Companies

Such companies with whom there are related party transactions, during the period for
which financial information is disclosed, as covered under the applicable Accounting
Standards, and also other companies as considered material by our Board and as
disclosed under section titled ‘Our Group Companies’ beginning on page 230 of this Red
Herring Prospectus.

Hotel Golden Tulip - Tirupati

Hotel property situated at Ward no. 20, Sivajyothi Nagar, near Nandi Circle, Tirupati -
517507, Andhra Pradesh, India.

Hotel Grand Continent - | Hotel property situated at H. No. 1702, Anjuna, Bardez - 403509, Goa, India.
Anjuna
Hotel Grand Continent - | Hotel property situated at No. 26, Bharat House Building Co-operative Society, BTM

Bannerghatta Road

Layout, Bengaluru - 560065, Karnataka, India.

Hotel Grand Continent - | Hotel property situated at Sy no. 74/1, ITPL main road, Thubarahalli, Bengaluru -
Brookfield 560066, Karnataka, India.

Hotel Grand Continent - | Hotel property situated at No. 15, Downtown Park, Sadahalli Road & Gate, Bengaluru
Devanhalli International Airport Road, Bengaluru - 562157, Karnataka, India.

Hotel Grand Continent — | Hotel property situated at No. 5-3/9P/15P, PTIN No. 1262607804, Survey No. 222
Gachibowli (Old), 222(New), Sai Tulasi Enclave —I, Vattinagulapally Village, Gandipet Mandal,

Rangareddy, Telangana, India.
Hotel Grand Continent - | Hotel property situated at No. 115, site No. 43, Nagavara Village, Kasabahobli,

Hebbal Manyata

Bengaluru - 560045, Karnataka, India.

Hotel Grand Continent — Hi-
Tech

Hotel property situated at Survey No. 10 (Part), White Fields, Kondapur Village,
Serillingampally Mandal, Rangareddy, Telangana, India.

Hotel Grand Continent — | Hotel property situated at No. 75, Ward no 3, Bagalur road, Avalapalli Hudco, Hosur -
Hosur 635109, Tamil Nadu, India.
Hotel Grand Continent - | Hotel property situated at S No. 245/1A/1B, Venpursham Village, Veeralapakkam,

Mahabalipuram

Thiruporur, Chengalpattu, Mamallapuram, Kanchipuram, Tirukalikundram - 603110,
Tamil Nadu, India.

Hotel Grand Continent -
Malleswaram

Hotel property situated at No. 18 &19, 1st cross, Malleswaram, Bengaluru - 560003,
Karnataka, India.

Hotel Grand Continent -
Morjim

Hotel property situated at Survey No. 207/7, Sakhribatle, Morjim - 403509, Pernem,
Goa, India.
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Hotel Grand Continent - | Hotel property situated at Diya Sumana New No. 7, Shalivahana Road, Nazarbad
Mysore Mahalla, Mysore - 570010, Karnataka, India.

Hotel Grand Continent — | Hotel property situated at Building No./Flat No. 8-1-1 2/1 to 4 and 8-1-3/4 to 3, Oxford
Secunderabad Street, S.D. Road, Secunderabad - 500003, Hyderabad, Telangana, India.

Hotel Grand Continent - T. | Hotel property situated at No. 1/11, Ramasamy Street, T. Nagar, Chennai - 600017,
Nagar Tamil Nadu, India.

Hotel Regenta Inn - 4th block
Koramangala

Hotel property situated at No. 73, 1st main road, S.T. Bed, Koramangala 4th block,
Koramangala, Bengaluru - 560034, Karnataka, India.

Hotel Regenta Inn -

Indiranagar

Hotel property situated at 648B, 1st phase, 1st stage, Binnmangala, Indira Nagar,
Bengaluru - 560038, Karnataka, India.

Hotel Regenta Inn - ORR
Mahadevapura

Hotel property situated at Fern City Road, Doddanekkundi, K.R. Pura Hobli, Bengaluru
- 560037, Karnataka, India.

Hotel Regenta Inn Grand - 8th
Block Koramangala

Hotel property situated at Old Katha No. 704, House List No. 637/2, New BBMP
Municipal No. 3, situated at 3rd Main Road, K.R. Garden, Koramangala 8th Block,
Bengaluru - 560095, Karnataka, India.

Hotel Tulip Inn - Ejipura
Koramangala

Hotel property situated at Municipal No. 9, 100 feet Road, Ejipura, Bengaluru - 560047,
Karnataka, India.

Independent Director(s)

A non-executive and independent Director as defined under Section 2 (47) of the
Companies Act, 2013 and as defined under Regulation 16(1)(b) the SEBI Listing
Regulations, disclosed under section titled ‘Our Management’ beginning on page 205 of
this Red Herring Prospectus.

Indian GAAP

Generally Accepted Accounting Principles in India.

Insider Trading Regulations

Securities and Exchange Board of India (Prohibition of Insider Trading) Regulations,
2015, as amended, including instructions and clarifications issued by SEBI from time to
time.

Internal
Committee

Complaints

The committee of our Board, reconstituted as our Company’s Internal Complaints
Committee vide Board Resolution dated September 24, 2024 as disclosed under section
titled ‘Our Management’ beginning on page 205 of this Red Herring Prospectus.

IPO Committee

The IPO committee of our Board of Directors constituted vide resolution passed by the
Board on September 04, 2024 as disclosed under section titled ‘Our Management’
beginning on page 205 of this Red Herring Prospectus.

ISIN

International Securities Identification Number, in this case being “INE12E301017”

IT Act/ Income Tax Act

Income Tax Act, 1961, as amended, till date

Joint Ventures / JV

The joint venture(s) of our Company, as disclosed under section titled ‘History and
Certain Corporate Matters’ beginning on page 196 of this Red Herring Prospectus

JV Partner Entities / JV
Partner Entity

GSHH and GCH-1, collectively shall be referred to as the JV Partner Entities and
individually as JV Partner Entity.

Key Management Personnel /
KMP(s)

Key Management Personnel of our Company in terms of Section 2 (51) of the Companies
Act, 2013 and Regulation 2(1)(bb) of the SEBI (Issue of Capital and Disclosure
Requirements) Regulations, 2018 and the Companies Act, 2013, as disclosed under
section titled ‘Our Management — Key Managerial Personnel and Senior Management
Personnel’ beginning on page 205 of this Red Herring Prospectus.

SEBI Listing Regulations

Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligation and Disclosure
Requirements) Regulations, 2015, as amended, including instructions and clarifications
issued by SEBI from time to time.

LLP

Limited Liability Partnership as incorporated under the Limited Liability Partnership
Act, 2008.

Managing Director / MD

Managing Director of our Company, namely “Mr. Ramesh Siva”

Materiality Policy

The policy on identification of Group Companies, material creditors and material
litigation, adopted by our Board on September 04, 2024 in accordance with the
requirements of the SEBI ICDR Regulations, as amended from time to time.

Memorandum of Association
/ Memorandum/ MoA

Memorandum of Association of Grand Continent Hotels Limited, as amended, from time
to time.

Nomination and

Remuneration Committee

The nomination and remuneration committee of our Board reconstituted in accordance
with Section 178(1) of the Companies Act, 2013 and rules made thereunder vide
resolution passed by the Board on November 06, 2024, as disclosed under section titled
‘Our Management’ beginning on page 205 of this Red Herring Prospectus.

Non-Executive Director (s)

Non-executive director(s) on our Board, as described in section titled “Our
Management” on page 205 of this Red Herring Prospectus.

Peer Review Auditors

Unless the context otherwise provides, Independent Auditor having a valid peer review
certificate no. 017101 in our case, being “M/s. Bhuta Shah & Co LLP”, Chartered
Accountants, Firm Registration No. 101474W / W100100, having their office at 3" floor,
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302, Regent Chambers, Jamnalal Bajaj Road, Nariman Point, Mumbai — 400021,
Mabharashtra, India.

Promoter(s)

Promoters of our Company i.e. “Mr. Ramesh Siva and Mrs. Vidya Ramesh”, as disclosed
under section titled in ‘Our Promoters and Promoter Group’ beginning on page 226 of
this Red Herring Prospectus.

Promoter Group

Individuals, companies and entities constituting the promoter group of our Company,
pursuant to Regulation 2(1)(pp) of the SEBI ICDR Regulations, as disclosed under
section titled ‘Our Promoters and Promoter Group’ beginning on page 226 of this Red
Herring Prospectus.

Our Registered Office /
Registered Office

The registered office of our Company situated at S No. 245/1A/1B, Venpursham Village,
Veeralapakkam,  Thiruporur,  Chengalpattu, = Mamallapuram,  Kanchipuram,
Tirukalikundram - 603110, Tamil Nadu, India.

Our Trademark

Grand Continent Hotels, registered under class 43 bearing number 5817036 in the name
of our Company.

Regenta Inn

Means a brand name licensed by the Royal Orchid pursuant to the respective franchise
agreements with right to use the brand name on non-exclusive basis in respect of
following hotel properties:

1. Hotel Regenta Inn - ORR Mahadevapura

2. Hotel Regenta Inn—Indiranagar

3. Hotel Regenta Inn - 4th block Koramangala

4. Hotel Regenta Inn Grand - 8th Block Koramangala

Reserve Bank of India / RBI

Reserve Bank of India constituted under the Reserve Bank of India Act, 1934

Restated Consolidated
Financial Statements /
Restated Financial
Information

The Restated Consolidated Financial Statements of our Company as at and for the six
months period ended September 30, 2024 and as at and for the Financial Years ended on
March 31,2024, March 31, 2023, and March 31, 2022 (prepared in accordance with
Indian GAAP read with Section 133 of the Companies Act, 2013 and restated in
accordance with the SEBI ICDR Regulations) which comprises of the Restated
Consolidated Statement of Assets and Liabilities as at the six months period ended
September 30, 2024 and as at the financial years ended March 31, 2024, March 31, 2023,
and March 31, 2022, Restated Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss for the six
months period ended September 30, 2024 and for the financial years ended March 31,
2024, March 31, 2023, and March 31, 2022, and the Restated Consolidated Cash Flow
Statement for the six months period ended September 30, 2024 and for the financial years
ended March 31, 2024, March 31, 2023, and March 31, 2022, together with the notes,
significant accounting policies and notes to accounts thereto and the examination report
thereon.

RoC / Registrar of Companies

Registrar of Companies, Chennai situated at Block No.6, B Wing 2" Floor, Shastri
Bhawan 26, Haddows Road, Chennai - 600034, Tamil Nadu, India.

Royal Orchid

Royal Orchid Associated Hotels Private Limited, a private limited company incorporated
under the Companies Act, 2013 with CIN: U55101KA2006PTC040290.

Royal Orchid Brand

Regenta Inn

Sarovar Brands

Golden Tulip, Tulip Inn and Sarovar Portico

Sarovar Hotels/Sarovar

Sarovar Hotels Private Limited, a private limited company incorporated under the
Companies Act, 2013 with CIN: U74140MH1993PTC139435.

Sarovar Portico

Means a brand name licensed by the Sarovar Hotels to our Company pursuant to the
respective trademark license agreement with right to use the brand name “Sarovar
Portico Affiliate Hotel” on non-exclusive basis in respect of following hotel properties:
Hotel Grand Continent - Hebbal Manyata

Hotel Grand Continent — Anjuna

Hotel Grand Continent— Hosur

Hotel Grand Continent — Malleswaram

Hotel Grand Continent — Secunderabad

Hotel Grand Continent — Mysore

Hotel Grand Continent — Mahabalipuram

8. Hotel Grand Continent — Brookfield

NogopwdE

SEBI

Securities and Exchange Board of India constituted under the Securities and Exchange
Board of India Act, 1992

SEBI Act

Securities and Exchange Board of India Act, 1992, as amended, from time to time

SEBI ICDR Regulations

SEBI (Issue of Capital and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2018 issued by SEBI
on September 11, 2018, as amended, including instructions and clarifications issued by
SEBI from time to time

SEBI SAST Regulations

Securities and Exchange Board of India (Substantial Acquisition of Shares and
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Takeover) Regulations, 2011, as amended, from time to time

Promoter Selling Shareholder
/ Selling Shareholder

Mr. Ramesh Siva

Shareholder(s)

The holders of the Equity Shares from time to time.

Senior Management
Personnel or SMP

Senior management personnel of our Company in terms of Regulation 2(1)(bbbb) of the
SEBI ICDR Regulations as described in “Our Management — Key Managerial Personnel
and Senior Management Personnel” on page 205 of this Red Herring Prospectus.

Stakeholders’
Committee

Relationship

The stakeholders’ relationship committee of our Board reconstituted in accordance with
Section 178(5) of the Companies Act, 2013 and rules made thereunder vide resolution
passed by the Board on November 06, 2024, as disclosed under section titled ‘Our
Management’ beginning on page 205 of this Red Herring Prospectus.

Stock Exchange

Unless the context requires otherwise, refers to, National Stock Exchange of India
Limited

Tulip Inn

Means a brand name licensed to use on non-exclusive basis to our Company pursuant to
the franchise agreement with Sarovar Hotels and trademark license agreement in respect
of Hotel Tulip Inn — Ejipura Koramangala, with right to use the mark “Tulip Inn”.

Whole-time Director(s)

Whole-time Director(s) as specified in section 2(94) of the Companies Act,2013

Offer Related Terms

Term

Description

Abridged Prospectus

Abridged prospectus means a memorandum containing such salient features of a
prospectus as may be specified by SEBI in this behalf.

Acknowledgement Slip

The slip or documents issued by the Designated Intermediary to an Applicant as proof
of registration of the Bid cum Application Form.

Allotment/Allot/Allotted

Unless the context otherwise requires, means the allotment of the Equity Shares pursuant
to the Fresh Issue and transfer of the Offered Shares pursuant to the Offer for Sale, in
each case to the successful Applicants.

Allocation/ Allocation of

Equity Shares

The Allocation of Equity Shares of our Company pursuant to Fresh Issue of Equity
Shares and Offer of Sale to the successful Applicants.

Allotment Advice

Note or advice or intimation of Allotment sent to the Applicants who have been allotted
Equity Shares after the Basis of Allotment has been approved by the Designated Stock
Exchange

Allottee (s)

A successful applicant to whom the Equity Shares are Allotted.

Anchor Investor(s)

A Qualified Institutional Buyer, applying under the Anchor Investor Portion in
accordance with the requirements specified in the SEBI ICDR Regulations and this Red
Herring Prospectus who has Bid for an amount of at least X 200 Lakhs.

Anchor Investor Allocation
Price

The price at which Equity Shares will be allocated to the Anchor Investors in terms of
this Red Herring Prospectus and the Prospectus, which will be decided by our Company
in consultation with the Book Running Lead Manager during the Anchor Investor Bid/
Offer Period.

Anchor Investor Application
Form

The application form used by an Anchor Investor to make a Bid in the Anchor Investor
Portion, and which will be considered as an application for Allotment in terms of this
Red Herring Prospectus and the Prospectus.

Anchor Investor Bid/ Offer
Period

One Working Day prior to the Bid/ Offer Opening Date, on which Bids by Anchor
Investors shall be submitted and allocation to the Anchor Investors shall be completed.

Anchor Investor Offer Price

The final price at which the Equity Shares will be Allotted to the Anchor Investors in
terms of this Red Herring Prospectus and the Prospectus, which price will be equal to or
higher than the Offer Price but not higher than the Cap Price.

The Anchor Investor Offer Price will be decided by our Company, in consultation with
the Book Running Lead Manager.

Anchor Investor Portion

Up to 60% of the QIB Portion which may be allocated by our Company, in consultation
with the Book Running Lead Manager, to the Anchor Investors on a discretionary basis
in accordance with the SEBI ICDR Regulations.

One-third of the Anchor Investor Portion shall be reserved for domestic Mutual Funds,
subject to valid Bids being received from domestic Mutual Funds at or above the Anchor
Investor Allocation Price, in accordance with the SEBI ICDR Regulations.

Applicant/ Investor

Any prospective investor who makes an application pursuant to the terms of this Red
Herring Prospectus and the Application form.

Application Amount

The amount at which the Applicant makes an application for the Equity Shares of our
Company in terms of this Red Herring Prospectus.
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Application Form

The form, whether physical or electronic, used by an Applicant to make an application,
which will be considered as the application for Allotment for purposes of this Red
Herring Prospectus.

Application Supported by
Block Amount (ASBA)

An application, whether physical or electronic, used by ASBA Bidders, to make a Bid
and authorizing an SCSB to block the Bid Amount in the ASBA Account and will include
amounts blocked by the SCSB upon acceptance of UPI Mandate Request by the UPI
Bidders using the UPI Mechanism.

ASBA Account

A bank account maintained by ASBA Bidders with an SCSB and specified in the ASBA
Form submitted by such ASBA Bidder in which funds will be blocked by such SCSB to
the extent of the specified in the ASBA Form submitted by such ASBA Bidder and
includes a bank account maintained by a Retail Individual Investor linked to a UPI ID,
which will be blocked in relation to a Bid by a Retail Individual Investor Bidding through
the UP1 Mechanism.

ASBA Specified Location(s)

Collection centres where the SCSBs shall accept application form, a list of which is
available on the website of SEBI (https://www.sebi.gov.in/) and updated from time to
time.

ASBA Bidder

Any prospective investor(s) / Bidder (s) in this Offer who apply(ies) through the ASBA
process except Anchor Investor.

ASBA Form/ Bid cum
Application Form

An Application form (with or without UPI ID, as applicable), whether physical or
electronic, used by Bidders which will be considered as the application for Allotment in
terms of this Red Herring Prospectus or the Prospectus.

Bankers to the Offer

Sponsor Bank

/

Banks which are clearing members and registered with SEBI as Bankers to an Offer and
with whom the Public Offer Account has been opened, in this case being Kotak Mahindra
Bank Limited.

Banker to the Offer
Agreement

Agreement dated February 07, 2025 entered into amongst the Company, Book Running
Lead Manager, the Registrar, Sponsor Bank and the Banker to the Offer.

Basis of Allotment

The basis on which the Equity Shares will be Allotted to successful applicants under the
offer and which is described in the section titled “Offer Procedure” beginning on page
347 of this Red Herring Prospectus.

Bid

An indication to make an offer during the Bid/ Offer Period by a Bidder (other than an
Anchor Investor) pursuant to submission of the ASBA Form, or during the Anchor
Investor Bid/ Offer Period by an Anchor Investor, pursuant to submission of the Anchor
Investor Application Form, to subscribe to or purchase the Equity Shares at a price within
the Price Band, including all revisions and modifications thereto as permitted under the
SEBI ICDR Regulations and in terms of this Red Herring Prospectus and the Bid cum
Application Form. The term “Bidding” shall be construed accordingly.

Bid Amount

The highest value of optional Bids indicated in the Bid cum Application Form and in the
case of Retail Individual Bidders Bidding at Cut Off Price, the Cap Price multiplied by
the number of Equity Shares Bid for by such Retail Individual Bidder and mentioned in
the Bid cum Application Form and payable by the Retail Individual Bidder or blocked
in the ASBA Account upon submission of the Bid in the Offer.

However, Eligible Employees applying in the Employee Reservation Portion can apply
at the Cut-off Price and the Bid Amount shall be Cap Price, multiplied by the number of
Equity Shares Bid for by such Eligible Employee and mentioned in the Bid cum
Application Form.

The maximum Bid Amount under the Employee Reservation Portion by an Eligible
Employee shall not exceed X 5 lakhs. However, the initial Allotment to an Eligible
Employee in the Employee Reservation Portion shall not exceed X 2 lakhs. Only in the
event of an undersubscription in the Employee Reservation Portion, such unsubscribed
portion may be Allotted on a proportionate basis to Eligible Employees Bidding in the
Employee Reservation Portion, for a value in excess of X 2 lakhs subject to the total
Allotment to an Eligible Employee not exceeding X 5 lakhs.

Bid Lot

1,200 equity shares and in multiples of 1,200 equity shares thereafter

Bid/ Offer Closing Date

Except in relation to any Bids received from the Anchor Investors, the date after which
the Syndicate, the Designated Branches and the Registered Brokers shall not accept the
Bids being Monday, March 24, 2025, which shall be notified in in all editions of the
English national newspaper “Financial Express”, all editions of Hindi national
newspaper “Jansatta” and Chennai Edition of Regional newspaper “Dina Kural” (Tamil
being the regional language of Tamil Nadu where our Registered Office of the Company
is situated), each with wide circulation, and in case of any revision, the extended Bid/
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Offer closing Date also to be notified on the website and terminals of the Syndicate,
SCSB’s and Sponsor Bank, as required under the SEBI ICDR Regulations.

Bid/ Offer Opening Date

Except in relation to any Bids received from the Anchor Investors, the date on which the
Syndicate, the Designated Branches and the Registered Brokers shall start accepting Bids
being Thursday, March 20, 2025, which shall be notified in in all editions of the English
national newspaper “Financial Express”, all editions of Hindi national newspaper
“Jansatta” and Chennai Edition of Regional newspaper “Dina Kural” (Tamil being the
regional language of Tamil Nadu where our Registered Office of the Company is
situated), each with wide circulation, and in case of any revision, the extended Bid/ Offer
Opening Date also to be notified on the website and terminals of the Syndicate and
SCSBs, as required under the SEBI ICDR Regulations.

Bid/ Offer Period

Except in relation to any Bids received from the Anchor Investors, the period between
the Bid/ Offer Opening Date and the Bid/ Offer Closing Date or the QIB Bid/ Offer
Closing Date, as the case may be, inclusive of both days, during which prospective
Bidders can submit their Bids, including any revisions thereof in accordance with the
SEBI ICDR Regulations and in terms of the Red Herring Prospectus. Provided however
that the Bidding/ Offer Period shall be kept open for a minimum of three Working Days
for all categories of Bidders other than Anchor Investor.

The bid/offer period will comprise of Working Days only. In cases of force majeure,
banking strike or similar circumstances, our Company may, for reasons to be recorded
in writing, extend the bid/offer period for a minimum of one Working Day, and in cases
of revision in price band, our Company may, for reasons to be recorded in writing, extend
the bid/offer period for a minimum of three Working Days, subject to the entire bid/offer
period not exceeding ten Working Days.

Bidder/ Applicant

Any prospective investor who makes a bid pursuant to the terms of the Red Herring
Prospectus and the Bid-Cum-Application Form and unless otherwise stated or
implied, which includes an ASBA Bidder and an Anchor Investor.

Bidding

The process of making a Bid.

Collection Centers

Centers at which the Designated intermediaries shall accept the ASBA Forms, i.e.
Designated SCSB Branches for SCSBs, ASBA Specified Locations for syndicates,
broker centers for registered brokers, designated RTA Locations for RTAs and
designated CDP locations for CDPs.

Book Building Process

Book building process, as provided in Part A of Schedule XIII of the SEBI ICDR
Regulations, in terms of which the Offer is being made.

BRLM / Book Running Lead
Manager

Book Running Lead Manager to the Offer in this case being Indorient Financial Services
Limited, SEBI Registered Category | Merchant Banker.

Broker Centers

Broker centres notified by the Stock Exchange, where the investors can submit the
Application Forms to a Registered Broker. The details of such Broker Centers, along
with the names and contact details of the Registered Brokers are available on the websites
of the Stock Exchange.

Business Day

Monday to Friday (except public holidays).

CAN or Confirmation of
Allocation Note

The Note or advice or intimation sent to each successful Applicant indicating the
Equity which will be allotted, after approval of Basis of Allotment by the designated
Stock Exchange.

The higher end of the price band i.e. 113 above which the Offer Price and the Anchor

Cap Price Investor Offer Price will not be finalized and above which no Bids (or a revision
thereof) will be accepted.
Client Id Client Identification Number maintained with one of the Depositories in relation to

Demat account

Collecting Depository
Participants or CDPs

A depository participant as defined under the Depositories Act, 1996, registered with
SEBI and who is eligible to procure Applications at the Designated CDP Locations
in terms of circular no. CIR/CFD/POLICYCELL/11/2015 dated November 10, 2015
issued by SEBI.

Cut Off Price

The Offer Price, which shall be any price within the Price Band as finalized by our
Company in consultation with the BRLM. Only Retail Individual Investors and
Eligible Employees Bidding under the Employee Reservation Portion are entitled to
Bid at the Cut-off Price. QIBs (including Anchor Investor) and Non-Institutional
Investors are not entitled to Bid at the Cut-off Price.

Demographic Details

The demographic details of the applicants such as their Address, PAN, name of the
applicant’s father/husband, investor status, Occupation and Bank Account details.

Depository / Depositories

A depository registered with SEBI under the Securities and Exchange Board of India
(Depositories and Participants) Regulations, 2018 as amended from time to time,
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being NSDL and CDSL.

Depositories Act

The Depositories Act, 1996, as amended from time to time.

Designated CDP Locations

Such locations of the CDPs where Applicant can submit the Application Forms to
Collecting Depository Participants.

The details of such Designated CDP Locations, along with names and contact details
of the Collecting Depository Participants eligible to accept Application Forms are
available on the website of the Stock Exchange i.e. www.nseindia.com

Designated Date

On the Designated Date, the amounts blocked by SCSBs are transferred from the
ASBA Accounts to the Public Offer Account and/ or unblocked in terms of the Red
Herring Prospectus

Designated Intermediaries

An SCSB’s with whom the bank account to be blocked, is maintained, a syndicate
member (or sub-syndicate member), a Stock Broker registered with recognized
Stock Exchange, a Depositary Participant, a registrar to the offer and share transfer
agent (RTA) (whose names is mentioned on website of the stock exchange as eligible
for this activity).

Designated Market

Maker/Market Maker

Member Brokers of NSE who are specifically registered as Market Maker with the NSE
Emerge Platform. In our case, “Alacrity Securities Limited” having its registered office
at 101-102/B, Hari Darshan, Bhogilal Fadia Road, Kandivali West, Mumbai — 400067,
Mabharashtra, India.

Designated RTA Locations

Such locations of the RTAs where Applicant can submit the Application Forms to
RTAs. The details of such Designated RTA Locations, along with names and contact
details of the RTAs eligible to accept Application Forms are available on the
websites of the Stock Exchange i.e. www.nseindia.com

Designated Stock Exchange

National Stock Exchange of India Limited (“NSE”)

DP ID

Depository’s Participant’s Identity Number

Draft Red
Prospectus/ DRHP

Herring

Draft Red Herring Prospectus dated November 21, 2024 filed with NSE Emerge,
including any addenda or corrigenda thereto.

Eligible Employee(s)

Permanent employees of our Company and its JV Partner Entities (excluding such
employees not eligible to invest in the Offer under applicable laws, rules, regulations and
guidelines), as on the date of filing of this Red Herring Prospectus with the Stock
Exchange and who continue to be a permanent employee of our Company and its JV
Partner Entities until the submission of the ASBA Form and is based, working and
present in India as on the date of submission of the ASBA Form; or Director of our
Company, whether a whole-time Director or otherwise, who is eligible to apply under
the Employee Reservation Portion under applicable law as of the date of filing of this
Red Herring Prospectus with the Stock Exchange and who continue to be a Director of
our Company until submission of the ASBA Form and is based, working and present in
India or abroad as on the date of submission of the ASBA Form, but not including (i)
Promoters; (ii) persons belonging to the Promoter Group; and (iii) Directors who either
themselves or through their relatives or through any body corporate, directly or
indirectly, hold more than 10% of the outstanding Equity Shares of our Company.

The maximum Bid Amount under the Employee Reservation Portion by an Eligible
Employee shall not exceed X 5 lakhs. However, the initial Allotment to an Eligible
Employee in the Employee Reservation Portion shall not exceed X 2 lakhs. Only in the
event of an under-subscription in the Employee Reservation Portion post initial
Allotment, such unsubscribed portion may be Allotted on a proportionate basis to
Eligible Employees Bidding in the Employee Reservation Portion, for a value in excess
of X 2 lakhs subject to the total Allotment to an Eligible Employee not exceeding X 5
lakhs.

Eligible NRI A Non-Resident Indian in a jurisdiction outside India where it is not unlawful to make
an offer or invitation under the Offer and in relation to whom this Red Herring Prospectus
will constitute an invitation to subscribe for the Equity Shares.

Employee Reservation | The portion of the Offer being up to 12,000 Equity Shares aggregating up to Z [e] lakhs

Portion which shall not exceed 5% of the post Offer Equity Share capital of our Company,

available for allocation to Eligible Employees, on a proportionate basis.

Equity Shares

Equity Shares of our Company of face value % 10/- each.

Electronic Transfer of Funds

Refunds through NACH, NEFT, Direct Credit or RTGS as applicable.

Eligible QFIs

QFIs from such jurisdictions outside India where it is not unlawful to make an issue
or invitation under the Offer and in relation to whom the Prospectus constitutes an
invitation to purchase the Equity shares issued thereby and who have opened Demat
accounts with SEBI registered qualified depository participants.
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The account(s) opened with the Escrow Collection Bank and in whose favour the

Escrow Account(s) Anchor Investors will transfer money through NACH/direct credit/ NEFT/ RTGS in
respect of the Bid Amount when submitting a Bid.
Ell Foreign Institutional Investor as defined under SEBI (Foreign Institutional Investors)
Regulations, 1995, as amended) registered with SEBI under applicable laws in India.
. . . Bidder(s) whose name shall be mentioned in the Bid cum Application Form or the
First  Bidder/  Applicant/ . . L .
. Revision Form and in case of joint bids, whose name shall also appear as the first
Bidders . >
holder of the beneficiary account held in joint names.
The lower end of the Price Band i.e. 107, subject to any revision(s) thereto, at or
Floor Price above which the Offer Price and the Anchor Investor Offer Price will be finalised

and below which no Bids will be accepted

FVCI / Foreign Venture
Capital Investors

Foreign Venture Capital Investors registered with SEBI under the SEBI (Foreign
Venture Capital Investor) Regulations, 2000.

FPI / Foreign Portfolio
Investor

A Foreign Portfolio Investor who has been registered pursuant to the Securities and
Exchange Board of India (Foreign Portfolio Investors) Regulations, 2019, provided
that any FIl or QFI who holds a valid certificate of registration shall be deemed to
be a foreign portfolio investor till the expiry of the block of three years for which
fees have been paid as per the SEBI (Foreign Institutional Investors) Regulations,
1995, as amended

Fugitive Economic Offender

An individual who is declared a fugitive economic offender under Section 12 of the
Fugitive Economic Offenders Act, 2018.

General Corporate Purposes

Include such identified purposes for which no specific amount is allocated or any
amount so specified towards general corporate purpose or any such purpose by
whatever name called, in the offer document. Provided that any offer related
expenses shall not be considered as a part of general corporate purpose merely
because no specific amount has been allocated for such expenses in the offer
document.

General Information
Document (GID)

The General Information Document for investing in public issues prepared and
issued in accordance with the circulars (CIR/CFD/DIL/12/2013) dated October 23,
2013,  notified by SEBI and updated pursuant to the circular
CIR/CFD/POLICYCELL/11/2015) dated March 17, 2020 and
(SEBI/HO/CFD/DIL/CIR/P/2016/26) dated January 21, 2016 notified by the SEBI
and (SEBI/HO/CFD/DIL2/CIR/P/2018/22) dated February 15, 2018 and the UPI
circular as amended from time to time.

The General Information Document shall be available on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the BRLM.

Listing Agreement

The Equity Listing Agreement to be signed between our Company and the Stock
Exchange.

Lot Size

1,200 Equity Shares and in multiples of 1,200 Equity Shares thereafter.

Mandate Request

Mandate Request means a request initiated on the Retail Individual Investor by
sponsor bank to authorize blocking of funds equivalent to the application amount
and subsequent debit to funds in case of allotment.

Market Making Agreement

The Market Making Agreement dated November 09, 2024 between our Company,
Book Running Lead Manager and Market Maker, Alacrity Securities Limited.

Market Maker Reservation
Portion

The reserved portion of 3,30,000 Equity Shares of ¥ 10/- each at an Offer price of
% [@] each is aggregating to X [e] Lakhs to be subscribed by Market Maker in this
Offer.

Monitoring Agency

In our case, “Acuite Ratings & Research Limited” having its registered office at 708,
Lodha Supremus, Lodha iThink Techno Campus, Kanjurmarg (East), Mumbai — 400
042, Maharashtra, India.

Monitoring Agency
Agreement

The Monitoring Agency Agreement dated March 10, 2025 entered between our
Company and the Monitoring Agency, Acuite Ratings & Research Limited.

Mutual Funds

A mutual fund registered with SEBI under the SEBI (Mutual Funds) Regulations,
1996, as amended from time to time.

Mutual Fund Portion

5% of the Net QIB Portion, or upto 63,600 Equity Shares, which shall be available
for allocation to Mutual Funds only on a proportionate basis, subject to valid Bids
being received at or above the Offer Price.

Net Offer

The Offer (excluding the Market Maker Reservation Portion and Employee
Reservation Portion) of 62,47,200 Equity Shares of ¥ 10/- each at a price of X [e]
per Equity Share (the “Offer Price”), including a share premium of X [®] per equity
share aggregating to X [e] Lakhs.

Net Proceeds

The Offer Proceeds received from the Offer excluding Offer related expenses. For
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further information on the use of Offer Proceeds and Offer expenses, please refer to
the section titled “Objects of the Offer” beginning on page 114 of this Red Herring
Prospectus.

Net QIB Portion

The portion of the QIB Portion less the number of Equity Shares Allocated to the
Anchor Investors.

Non- Resident

A person resident outside India, as defined under FEMA and includes NRIs, FPIs
and FVCls.

Non-Institutional Investors
INIIs/ Non-Institutional
Bidders/NIBs

Bidders that are not QIBs or RllIs or Eligible Employees Bidding in the Employee
Reservation Portion and who have Bid for Equity Shares for an amount more
than X 2 Lakhs (but not including NRIs other than Eligible NRIs).

Non-Institutional Portion

The portion of the Offer being not less than 15% of the Offer, consisting of minimum
9,37,200 Equity Shares, which shall be available for allocation on a proportionate basis
to Non-Institutional Investors, subject to valid Bids being received at or above the Offer
Price.

Offer/Public Offer/ Offer
Size / Initial Public Offer/
IPO

Initial Public Offer Up to 65,89,200 Equity Shares aggregating up to X
[e] Lakhs.
Up to 62,60,400 Equity Shares of the face value of X
10/- each aggregating up to I [e] Lakhs
B. | Offer for Sale by Promoter Selling Shareholder

Mr. Ramesh Siva Up to 3,28,800 Equity Shares of face value of % 10/-

each aggregating up to X [e] Lakhs.

A. | Fresh Issue

The Offer comprises the Net Offer, Market Maker Reservation Portion and Employee
Reservation Portion.

The Offer Price will be decided by our Company in consultation with the BRLM on the
Pricing Date, in accordance with the Book-Building Process and in terms of the Red
Herring Prospectus.

For further details, please refer to the section titled “The Offer” beginning on page 79 of
this Red Herring Prospectus.

The Offer Agreement dated November 09, 2024, between our Company, Promoter

Offer Agreement Selling Shareholder and Book Running Lead Manager, Indorient Financial Services
Limited.
The offer for sale of up to 3,28,800 Offered Shares aggregating up to X [e] Lakhs by the
Offer for Sale Promoter Selling Shareholder, in the Offer. For further details, please refer to the

section titled “The Offer” beginning on page 79 of this Red Herring Prospectus.

Offered Shares

Up to 3,28,800 Equity Shares of face value of X 10/- each aggregating up to X [e] Lakhs
being offered for sale by the Promoter Selling Shareholder in the Offer.

Offer Closing Date

The date after which the Book Running Lead Manager, Branches of SCSBs and
Registered Brokers will not accept any Application for this Offer, which shall be
notified in an English national newspaper, Hindi national newspaper and a regional
newspaper each with wide circulation as required under the SEBI ICDR Regulations.
In this case being Monday, March 24, 2025.

Offer Opening Date

The date on which the Book Running Lead Manager, Designated Branches of SCSBs
and Registered Brokers shall start accepting Application for this Offer, which shall be
the date notified in an English national newspaper, Hindi national newspaper and a
regional newspaper each with wide circulation as required under the SEBI ICDR
Regulations. In this case being Thursday, March 20, 2025.

Offer Period

The period between the Offer Opening Date and the Offer Closing Date inclusive of
both days and during which prospective Applicants can submit their Applications.

Offer Price

The final price at which Equity Shares will be Allotted to successful ASBA Bidders
which will be decided by our Company in consultation with the BRLM, on the Pricing
Date, in accordance with the Book-Building Process and in terms of the Red Herring
Prospectus. Equity Shares will be Allotted to Anchor Investors at the Anchor Investor
Offer Price, which will be decided by our Company, in consultation with the BRLM,
on the Pricing Date, in accordance with the Book-Building Process and in terms of the
Red Herring Prospectus.

Offer Proceeds

Proceeds to be raised by our Company through this Offer, for further details please
refer section titled “Objects of the Offer” beginning on page 114 of this Red Herring
Prospectus.

Page 16 of 437



Overseas Corporate Body/
OCB

Overseas Corporate Body means and includes an entity defined in clause (xi) of
Regulation 2 of the Foreign Exchange Management (Withdrawal of General
Permission to Overseas Corporate Bodies (OCB’s) Regulations 2003 and which was
in existence on the date of the commencement of these Regulations and immediately
prior to such commencement was eligible to undertake transactions pursuant to the
general permission granted under the Regulations.

Person/ Persons

Any individual, sole proprietorship, unincorporated association, unincorporated
organization, body corporate, corporation, company, partnership, limited liability
company, joint venture, or trust or any other entity or organization validly constituted
and/ or incorporated in the jurisdiction in which it exists and operates, as the context
requires.

Price Band of a minimum price (Floor Price) of ¥ 107 and the maximum price (Cap

Price Band Price) of ¥ 113 and includes revisions thereof. The Price Band has been decided by
our Company in consultation with the BRLM.
- The date on which our Company in consultation with the BRLM, will finalize the
Pricing Date .
Offer Price.
The Prospectus, to be filed with the RoC in accordance with the provisions of Section
Prospectus 26 of the Companies Act, 2013, containing, inter alia, the Offer Price will be

determined before filing the Prospectus with RoC.

Public Offer Account

Account opened with the Bankers to the Offer to receive monies from the SCSBs
from the bank account of the Applicant, on the Designated Date.

Public Offer Account Bank

Bank which is a clearing member and registered with SEBI as a banker to an issue,
and with whom Public Offer Account has been opened, in this case being Kotak
Mahindra Bank Limited

QIB Category/ QIB Portion

The portion of the Offer (including the Anchor Investor Portion) being not more than
50% of the Net Offer, consisting of upto 31,22,400 Equity Shares aggregating to X
[e] Lakhs which shall be Allotted to QIBs (including Anchor Investors) on a
proportionate basis, including the Anchor Investor Portion (in which allocation shall
be on a discretionary basis, as determined by our Company in consultation with the
BRLM), subject to valid Bids being received at or above the Offer Price or Anchor
Investor Offer Price (for Anchor Investors).

Qualified Institutional
Buyers/QIBs/ QIB Bidders

Qualified institutional buyers as defined under Regulation 2(1)(ss) of the SEBI
ICDR Regulations.

Red Herring Prospectus /
RHP

This Red Herring Prospectus dated March 13, 2025 issued in accordance with
Section 32 of the Companies Act, 2013 and the provisions of the SEBI ICDR
Regulations, which will not have complete particulars of the price at which the
Equity Shares will be Issued and the size of the Offer, including any addenda or
corrigenda thereto. This Red Herring Prospectus has been filed with the RoC at least
three working days before the Bid/Offer Opening Date and will become the
Prospectus upon filing with the RoC after the Pricing Date.

Refund Bank/ Refund Banker

Bank which is / are clearing member(s) and registered with the SEBI as Bankers to
the Offer at which the Refund Account has been opened, in this case being Kotak
Mahindra Bank Limited.

Registered Broker

The stockbrokers registered with the stock exchange having nationwide terminals,
other than the members of the Syndicate and eligible to procure Bids.

Registrar/ Registrar to the
Offer / RTA

Registrar to the Offer being “MUFG Intime India Private Limited” (Formerly Link
Intime India Private Limited).

The agreement dated November 09, 2024 entered into between our Company, the

i;grtla?r:?gnt o the Offer Promotgr_S_gIIing Shar_eho!der and the Registrar to the Offer _in_ relation to the
responsibilities and obligations of the Registrar to the Offer pertaining to the Offer.

Regulation S Regulation S under the U.S. Securities Act of 1933, as amended from time to time.

Reserved Category/ | Categories of persons eligible for making application under reservation portion.

Categories

Retail Individual Bidders/ Individual Bidders, submij[ting Bids, Who_ ha_ve Bid _for E_quity Shares for an amount

RIBs' Retail Individual | ROt more than X 2 Lakhs in any of the bidding options in the Net Offer (including

Investors/ Rlls

HUFs applying through their Karta and Eligible NRIs and does not include NRIs
other than Eligible NRIs).

Retail Portion

The portion of the Offer being not less than 35% of the Net Offer, consisting of
minimum 21,87,600 Equity Shares, available for allocation to Retail Individual
Bidders.

Revision Form

The form used by the Applicants to modify the quantity of Equity Shares or the
Application Amount in any of their Applications or any previous Revision Form(s).

Page 17 of 437



QIB Bidders and Non-Institutional Bidders are not allowed to withdraw or lower their
Bids (in terms of quantity of Equity Shares or the Bid Amount) at any stage. Retail
Individual Bidders and Eligible Employees Bidding in the Employee Reservation Portion
can revise their Bids during the Bid/ Offer Period and withdraw their Bids until the Bid/
Offer Closing Date.

Registrar and Share Transfer
Agents or RTAs

Registrar and share transfer agents registered with SEBI and eligible to procure
Applications at the Designated RTA Locations in terms of circular no.
CIR/CFD/POLICYCELL/11/2015 DATED November 10, 2015 issued by SEBI.

SCSB Branches

Such branches of the SCSBs which shall collect the ASBA Application Form from
the Applicant and a list of which is available on the website of SEBI at
https://www.sebi.gov.in/sebiweb/other/OtherAction.do?doRecognised=yes.
Recognized-Intermediaries or at such other website as may be prescribed by SEBI
from time to time

Securities laws

Means the Act, the Securities Contracts (Regulation) Act, 1956, the Depositories Act,
1996 and the rules and regulations made thereunder and the general or special orders,
guidelines or circulars made or issued by the Board thereunder and the provisions of the
Companies Act, 2013 or any previous company law and any subordinate legislation
framed thereunder, which are administered by the Board.

SEBI Listing
Regulations

The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligation and Disclosure
Requirements) Regulations, 2015 as amended, including instructions and
clarifications issued by SEBI from time to time.

Self-Certified Syndicate
Bank(s) / SCSB(s)

Shall mean a Banker to the Offer registered under Securities and Exchange Board of
India (Bankers to an Issue) Regulations, 1994, as amended from time to time, and
which offer the service of making Application/s Supported by Blocked Amount
including blocking of bank account and a list of which is available on
https://www.sebi.gov.in/sebiweb/other/OtherAction.do?doRecognised=yes or at
such other website as may be prescribed by SEBI from time to time.

Share Escrow Agent

The share escrow agent namely “MUFG Intime India Private Limited” (Formerly
Link Intime India Private Limited) has been appointed pursuant to the Share Escrow
Agreement dated March 07, 2025

Share Escrow Agreement

The agreement has been entered into between our Company, the Promoter Selling
Shareholder and the Share Escrow Agent on March 07, 2025 in connection with the
transfer of the Offered Shares by the Promoter Selling Shareholder and credit of such
Equity Shares to the demat account of the Allottees in accordance with the Basis of
Allotment.

Specified Locations

Bidding centres where the Syndicate shall accept ASBA Forms from Bidders, a list
of which is available on the website of SEBI (www.sebi.gov.in) and updated from
time to time.

SME Exchange/ NSE Emerge

SME Platform of the NSE i.e. NSE Emerge.

SPOS

Special Pre-Open Session

Specified Securities

Equity shares offered through this Red Herring Prospectus.

Sponsor Bank

Sponsor Bank means a Banker to the Offer registered with SEBI, which is appointed
by the Issuer to act as a conduit between the Stock Exchange and NPCI (National
Payments Corporation of India) in order to push the mandate, collect requests and /
or payment instructions of the Retail Investors into the UPI.

Sub Syndicate Member

A SEBI Registered member of NSE appointed by the BRLM and/ or syndicate
member to act as a Sub Syndicate Member in the Offer.

Syndicate Includes the BRLM, Syndicate Members and Sub Syndicate Members.
Systemically Important | Systemically important non-banking financial company as defined under Regulation
Non- 2(1)(iii) of the SEBI ICDR Regulations.

Banking Financial

Company

Transaction Registration

The slip or document issued by the member of the Syndicate or SCSB (only on
demand) as the case may be, to the Applicant as proof of registration of the

Slip/TRS .
Application.
U.S. Securities Act U.S. Securities Act of 1933, as amended.
US Fed The Federal Reserve System is the central bank of the United States.

Underwriter

Indorient Financial Services Limited

Underwriting Agreement

The Agreement November 09, 2024 entered between the Underwriter, BRLM and
our Company.

UPI

UPI is an instant payment system developed by the NCPI, it enables merging several
banking features, seamless fund routing & merchant payment into one hood. UPI allow
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instant transfer of money between any two bank accounts using a payment address which
uniquely identifies a person’s bank account.

UPI Bidders

Collectively, individual investors who applied as (i) Retail Individual Bidders in the
Retail Portion; (ii) Non-Institutional Bidders with an application size of up to X 5 lakhs
and (iii) Eligible Employees who applied in the Employee Reservation Portion with an
application size of up to X 5 lakhs under the UPI Mechanism through ASBA Form(s)
submitted with Syndicate Members, Registered Brokers, Collecting Depository
Participants and Registrar and Share Transfer Agents.

Pursuant to SEBI circular no. SEBI/HO/CFD/DIL2/P/CIR/P/2022/45 dated April 5,
2022, all individual investors applying in public issues where the application amount is
up to X 5 Lakhs shall use UPI and shall provide their UPI ID in the bid-cum-application
form submitted with: (i) a syndicate member, (ii) a stock broker registered with
a recognized stock exchange (whose name is mentioned on the website of the
stock exchange as eligible for such activity), (iii) a depository participant (whose
name is mentioned on the website of the stock exchange as eligible for such activity),
and (iv) a registrar to an issue and share transfer agent (whose name is mentioned on the
website of the stock exchange as eligible for such activity).

UPI Circulars

SEBI circular no. CFD/DIL2/CIR/P/2018/22 dated February 15, 2018, SEBI circular
no. SEBI/HO/CFD/DIL2/CIR/P/2018/138 dated November 1, 2018, SEBI circular
no. SEBI/HO/CFD/DIL2/CIR/P/2019/50 dated April 3, 2019, SEBI circular no.
SEBI/HO/CFD/DIL2/CIR/P/2019/76 dated June 28, 2019, SEBI circular no.
SEBI/HO/CFD/DIL2/CIR/P/2019/85 dated July 26, 2019 SEBI circular no.
SEBI/HO/CFD/DCR2/CIR/P/2019/133 dated November 8, 2019, SEBI Circular no.
SEBI/HO/CFD/DIL2/CIR/P/2020/50 dated March 30, 2020, SEBI Circular no.
SEBI/HO/CFD/DIL2/CIR/P/2021/2480/1/M dated March 16, 2021, SEBI circular
no. SEBI/HO/CFD/DIL1/CIR/P/2021/47 dated March 31, 2021, SEBI circular no.
SEBI/HO/CFD/DIL2/P/CIR/2021/570 dated June 2, 2021, SEBI circular no.
SEBI/HO/CFD/DIL2/CIR/P/2022/45 dated April 5, 2022, SEBI circular no.
SEBI/HO/CFD/DIL2/CIR/P/2022/51 dated April 20, 2022 SEBI Circular No:
SEBI/HO/MIRSD/MIRSD_RTAMB/P/CIR/2022/76 dated May 30, 2022, SEBI
circular SEBI/HO/CFD/TPD1/CIR/P/2023/140 dated August 9, 2023, SEBI RTA
Master Circular (to the extent it pertains to UPl)and any subsequent circulars or
notifications issued by SEBI in this regard, along with the circulars issued by the
Stock Exchange in this regard, including the circular issued by the NSE having
reference number 25/2022 dated August 3, 2022 and any subsequent circulars or
notifications issued by SEBI or Stock Exchange in this regard.

UPI'ID

ID created on the UPI for single-window mobile payment system developed by the
NPCI

UPI Mandate Request

A request (intimating the UPI Bidder by way of a notification on the UPI application,
by way of a SMS directing the UPI Bidder to such UPI application) to the UPI
Bidder initiated by the Sponsor Bank(s) to authorize blocking of funds on the UPI
application equivalent to Bid Amount and subsequent debit of funds in case of
Allotment.

UPI Mechanism

The mechanism that was used by an RIB to make a Bid in the Offer in accordance with
the UPI Circulars on Streamlining of Public Issues

Venture Capital Fund/ VCF

Foreign Venture Capital Funds (as defined under the Securities and Exchange Board
of India (Venture Capital Funds) Regulations, 1996) registered with SEBI under
applicable laws in India.

Wilful Defaulter(s)  or
Fraudulent Borrower

Wilful defaulter or Fraudulent Borrower as defined under Regulation 2(1) (I1l) of the
SEBI ICDR Regulations.

Working Day

In accordance with Regulation 2(1) (mmm) of SEBI ICDR Regulations, working
days means, all days on which commercial banks in Chennai are open for business.
However, in respect of—

(a) announcement of Price Band; and

(b) Bid/Offer period, working days shall mean all days, excluding Saturdays,
Sundays and public holidays, on which commercial banks in Chennai are open for
business;

(c) the time period between the Bid/Offer Closing Date and the listing of the Equity
Shares on the Stock Exchange, working day shall mean all trading days of the Stock
Exchange, excluding Sundays and bank holidays, as per circulars issued by SEBI.
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Technical and Industry Related Terms

Term Description
ADR Average Daily Rate
Al Artificial Intelligence
ARR Average Room Rate
Bn Billion
CAGR Computed Annual Growth Rate
CY Calendar Year
E Estimated
ERP Enterprise Resource Planning
F Forecasted
FHRAI Federation of Hotel and Restaurant Associations of India
FSSAI Food Safety and Standards Authority of India
FTAs Foreign Tourist Arrivals
FY Financial Year
GDP Gross Domestic Product
GTIS Global Tourism Investors’ Summit
HMS Hotel Management System
HLFP Heat, Light, Fuel, Power
IMF International Monetary Fund
INR Indian Rupees
IT Information Technology
KPIs Key Performance Indicators
LOI Letter of Intent
ML Machine Learning
Mn Million
MPCE Monthly Per Capita Consumption Expenditure
OTA Online Travel Agencies
PAT Profit after Tax
RevPAR Revenue per Available Room
SAAS Software as a Service
SMEs Small and Medium-sized Enterprises
SWB Salary, Wages, Benefits
Tn Trillion
VR Virtual Reality

Conventional Terms and General Terms

Term

Description

AIF(s)

Alternative Investment Fund as defined in and registered with SEBI under the Securities
and Exchange Board of India (Alternative Investments Funds) Regulations, 2012

AIF Regulations

Securities and Exchange Board of India (Alternative Investments Funds) Regulations,
2012, as amended

Banking Regulation Act

Banking Regulation Act, 1949

CA

Chartered Accountant

Category | AlF

AlFs who are registered as “Category I Alternative Investment Funds” under the AIF
Regulations

Category | FPIs

FPIs who are registered as “Category I Foreign Portfolio Investors” under the FPI
Regulations

Category Il AIF

AlFs who are registered as “Category Il Alternative Investment Funds” under the AIF
Regulations

Category 1l FPIs

FPIs who are registered as “Category II Foreign Portfolio Investors” under the FPI
Regulations

Category 111 AIF

AlFs who are registered as “Category III Alternative Investment Funds” under the AIF

Regulations
CGST Central GST
CS Company Secretary
Competition Act Competition Act, 2002
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Consolidated FDI Policy

Consolidation FDI Policy Circular of 2020 dated October 15, 2020, issued by the
Department of Industrial Policy and Promotion, Ministry of Commerce and Industry,
Government of India, and any modifications thereto or substitutions thereof, issued
from time to time

DP ID Depository Participant’s identity number
DPIIT Department for Promotion of Industry and Internal Trade, Ministry of Commerce
and Industry (formerly Department of Industrial Policy and Promotion), Gol

EPF Employee Provident Fund

FDI Foreign Direct Investment

FEMA Foreign Exchange Management Act, 1999, read with rules and regulations thereunder
FEMA Non-Debt Instruments | Foreign Exchange Management (Non-debt Instruments) Rules, 2019 issued by the
Rules Ministry of Finance, Gol.

FEMA Regulations

Foreign Exchange Management (Transfer or Issue of Security by a Person Resident
Outside India) Regulations, 2017

FII(s)

Foreign Institutional Investor (as defined under SEBI (Foreign Institutional Investors)
Regulations, 1995, as amended) registered with SEBI under applicable laws in India

FIl Regulations

SEBI (Foreign Institutional Investors) Regulations, 1995, as amended

Fiscal Year/ Financial Year /
F.Y.

Period of twelve months ended March 31 of that particular year, unless otherwise stated

FPls

Foreign portfolio investor registered with SEBI pursuant to the SEBI FP1 Regulations

SEBI FVCI Regulations

Securities and Exchange Board of India (Foreign Venture Capital Investor)
Regulations, 2000, as amended

Gazette Gazette of India

ICAI Institute of Chartered Accountants of India

ICSI Institute of Company Secretaries of India

IFSC Code Indian Financial System Code

IGST Integrated Goods and Services Tax

IGST Act Integrated Goods and Services Tax Act, 2017

India Republic of India

Indian GAAP Generally Accepted Accounting Principles in India notified under Section 133 of
the Companies Act 2013 and read together with paragraph 7 of the Companies
(Accounts) Rules, 2014 and Companies (Accounting Standards) Amendment Rules,
2016

ISIN International Securities Identification Number

ISO International Organization for Standardization

IST Indian Standard Time

Merchant Banker

Merchant Banker as defined under the Securities and Exchange Board of India
(Merchant Bankers) Regulations, 1992

Merchant Banker Regulations

SEBI (Merchant Bankers) Regulations, 1992

Mutual Funds Regulations

Securities and Exchange Board of India (Mutual Funds) Regulations, 1996

NSE

National Stock Exchange of India Limited

NOC No objection certificate

PAN Permanent Account Number
R&D Research and Development

RBI Act Reserve Bank of India Act, 1934

RTA Regulations

Securities and Exchange Board of India (Registrar to an Issue and Share Transfer
Agent) Regulations, 1993

SEBI SBEBSE Regulations

Securities and Exchange Board of India (Share Based Employee Benefits and Sweat
Equity) Regulations, 2021

SCRA Securities Contract (Regulation) Act, 1956, as amended, from time to time
SCRR Securities Contracts (Regulation) Rules, 1957, as amended, from time to time
State Government The government of a state in India

SGST State Goods and Services Tax

SGST Act State Goods and Services Tax Act, 2017

SS Secretarial Standards as issued by Institute of Company Secretaries of India

Sub-account

Sub-accounts registered with SEBI under the FII Regulations other than sub-accounts
which are foreign corporate or foreign individuals

TAN Tax deduction and collection account number

TDS Tax Deducted at Source

UGST Union Territory Goods and Services Tax

UGST Act Union Territory Goods and Services Tax Act, 2017
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VCFs

Venture Capital Funds as defined in and registered with SEBI under the VCF
Regulations

KPI related terms

Terms

Descriptions

Occupancy

Total room nights sold during a relevant year/period divided by the total available room
nights during the same year/period.

Average room rate (ARR)

Room revenues during a given year/period divided by total number of room nights sold
in that year/period.

Average Room Revenue for a relevant period multiplied by Average Occupancy Rate

RevPAR :

for that period.
Total Keys Total keys refer to the number of rooms in our portfolio during the relevant period/year.
Total Income Total Income is used by Management to track the performance and growth of the

2

Company and is calculated as “sum of revenue from operations and other income.

Total Income Growth

The hotel industry's total income is expected to grow over a period of two years and is
calculated as a “percentage of total income of the relevant year/period minus Total
Income of the preceding year/period, divided by total income of the preceding
year/period.”

EBITDA

EBITDA gives a comprehensive view of the health of the company as it considers all
sources of Operating Income and is calculated as “Consolidated restated profit before
tax, depreciation and amortisation expense and finance costs, less other income, for the
relevant year and is calculated as Profit before Tax + finance costs + depreciation and
amortisation expense + exceptional loss less Other Income.”

EBITDA margin

EBITDA Margin is a financial ratio that measures the profitability of the company as
a percentage of its Revenue from Operations and is calculated as “EBITDA divided by
Revenue from Operations”.

EBITDA/Key

EBITDA/ key is an indicator of the operational efficiency of our business measured per
unit of inventory and is calculated by “dividing by average number of keys during the
year/ period.”

Restated Profit / (loss) for year

Profit after Tax gives the overall profitability of business and is calculated as “Total
Income less Total Expenses less Total Tax expenses for the year/period and adjustment
for minority Interest.”

Restated profit/(loss) for the year
Margin

PAT Margin is a ratio that measures the profitability of the company as a percentage
of its Total Revenue and is calculated as “Restated profit/(loss) for the year/period
divided by the total income for the year/period.”

Net debt provides information regarding the leverage and liquidity profile of our
Company and is calculated as “Long term borrowings (including current maturities of

Net debt long-term borrowings) + short term borrowings (excluding current maturities of long-
term borrowings) less Cash and cash equivalents.”
Total Equity Total equity, also known as shareholders' equity, net worth and is calculated as “Equity

Share Capital + Other Equity.”

Net Debt / Total Equity

Net borrowings to total equity is a measure of our Company’s leverage over equity
invested and earnings retained over time and is calculated as “Long term borrowings
(including current maturities of long-term borrowings) + short term borrowings
(excluding current maturities of long-term borrowings) less Cash and cash equivalents
/ Shareholders equity”.

Net debt / EBITDA

The net debt-to-EBITDA ratio is a financial metric that measures a company's leverage
and ability to pay off its debt and is calculated as “Long term borrowings (including
current maturities of long-term borrowings) + short term borrowings (excluding
current maturities of long-term borrowings) less Cash and cash equivalents /
EBITDA.”

Total assets

Total assets are the sum of all assets owned by a company or individual, and is a key
indicator of a company's financial health and is calculated as “Non-current assets +
Current assets”.

Total Borrowings

Total borrowings are the total amount of liabilities that a company has from borrowing
money from banks and other financial institutions and is calculated as “Long Term
Borrowings + Short Term Borrowings.”

Total Borrowings / Total Assets

Total debt-to-total assets ratio, shows how much of a company's assets are financed by
debt and is calculated as “Long Term Borrowings + Short Term Borrowings divided by
non-current assets + Current assets”.
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Abbreviations

Terms

Descriptions

T or Rupees or Rs. or INR

Rupees, the official currency of the Republic of India

Alc

Account

AGM

Annual General Meeting

AS/Accounting Standards

Accounting Standards issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India

AY.

Assessment year

CARO Companies (Auditor’s Report) Order, 2003

CAGR Compounded Annual Growth Rate

CDSL Central Depository Services (India) Limited

CFO Chief Financial Officer

CrPC Criminal Procedure Code, 1973, as amended

CSR Corporate Social Responsibility

C.Y. Calendar Year

DDT Dividend Distribution Tax

DIN Director Identification Number

ECS Electronic Clearing System

EHIPL and Elysium Holidays India Private Limited

EBITDA Earnings before Interest, Tax Depreciation and Amortisation
EGM Extraordinary General Meeting of the Shareholders of the Company
EPF Act Employees Provident Fund and Miscellaneous Provisions Act, 1952
EPS Earnings Per Share

FDI Foreign Direct Investment

GAAR General Anti Avoidance Rules

GBP Great Britain Pound

GHR Grand Hotels & Resort

Gol/Government Government of India

GST Goods & Service Tax

HNI High Net Worth Individual

HUF Hindu Undivided Family

IFRS International Financial Reporting Standards

IT Rules The Income Tax Rules, 1962, as amended

ISACA Information Systems Audit and Control Association

MoU Memorandum of Understanding

N.A. Not Applicable

NACH National Automated Clearing House

NAV/ Net Asset Value

Net asset value being paid up Equity Share capital plus free reserves (excluding
reserves created out of revaluation) less deferred expenditure not written off
(including miscellaneous expenses not written off) and debit balance of profit and
loss account, divided by number of issued Equity Shares

NECS National Electronic Clearing Services
NoC No Objection Certificate

No. Number

NSDL National Securities Depository Limited
NTA Net Tangible Assets

p.a. Per annum

PAT Profit After Tax

PBT Profit Before Tax

P/E Price per Earnings

Pvt. Private.

RoE Return on Equity

RoNW Return on Net Worth.

SCN Show Cause Notice.

STT Securities Transaction Tax

US/United States United States.

USD/ US$/ $ United States Dollar, the official currency of the Unites States of America
w.e.f. With effect from

Y-0-Y Year on Year
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The words and expressions used but not defined in this Red Herring Prospectus will have the same meaning as assigned to
such terms under the Companies Act, 2013, the Securities and Exchange Board of India Act, 1992, the SCRA, the
Depositories Act and the rules and regulations made thereunder.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the terms defined —

a)

b)

c)

d)

0)

h)

In the section titled ‘Risk Factors’ beginning on page 38 of this Red Herring Prospectus, shall have the meaning given
to such terms in that section;

In the section titled ‘Statement of Possible Tax Benefits’ beginning on page 137 of this Red Herring Prospectus, shall
have the meaning given to such terms in that section;

In the section titled ‘Our Industry’ beginning on page 143 of this Red Herring Prospectus, shall have the meaning given
to such terms in that section;

In the section titled ‘Key Industry Regulations and Policies’ beginning on page 188 of this Red Herring Prospectus,
shall have the meaning given to such terms in that section;

In the section titled ‘Financial Information’ beginning on page 234 of this Red Herring Prospectus, shall have the
meaning given to such terms in that section;

In the section titled ‘Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations’
beginning on page 268 of this Red Herring Prospectus, shall have the meaning given to such terms in that section; and

In the section titled ‘Outstanding Litigations and Material Developments’ beginning on page 300 of this Red Herring
Prospectus, shall have the meaning given to such terms in that section;

In the section titled ‘Main Provisions of the Articles of Association’ beginning on page 382 of this Red Herring
Prospectus, shall have the meaning given to such terms in that section;
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CERTAIN CONVENTIONS, CURRENCY OF PRESENTATION, USE OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION AND
MARKET DATA

In this Red Herring Prospectus, the terms “we”, “us”, “our”, the “Company”, “our Company”, “Grand Continent Hotels
Limited” and “GCHL”, unless the context otherwise indicates or implies, refers to Grand Continent Hotels Limited.

CERTAIN CONVENTIONS

All references in this Red Herring Prospectus to “India” are to the Republic of India and its territories and possessions and
all references herein to the “Government”, “Indian Government”, “Gol”, “Central Government” or the ‘State Government’
are to the Government of India, central or state, as applicable. All references in this Red Herring Prospectus to the “U.S.”,
“USA” or “United States” are to the United States of America.

FINANCIAL DATA

Unless stated otherwise, the financial data included in this Red Herring Prospectus are extracted from the Restated
Consolidated Financial Statements of our Company, prepared in accordance with the applicable provisions of the
Companies Act, 2013 Indian GAAP and restated in accordance with SEBI ICDR Regulations, as stated in the report of our
Peer Reviewed Auditors, set out in the section titled ‘Financial Information’ beginning on page 234 of this Red Herring
Prospectus. Our Restated Consolidated Financial Statements are derived from our audited financial statements prepared in
accordance with Indian GAAP and the Companies Act, 2013, and have been restated in accordance with the SEBI ICDR
Regulations and Guidance Note on “Reports in Company Prospectus (Revised 2019) issued by ICAI as amended from time
to time.

Our Financial Year commences on April 1% of each year and ends on March 31% of the following year, so all references to
a particular Financial Year are to the 12 month period ended March 31% of that year. In this Red Herring Prospectus,
discrepancies in any table, graphs or charts between the total and the sums of the amounts listed are due to rounding-off.
Further, figure represented in the BRACKET “( )” or with the sign “ — ” indicates NEGATIVE data in this Red Herring
Prospectus in relation to our Company and industry. There are significant differences between Indian GAAP, IFRS and
U.S. GAAP. Our Company has not attempted to explain those differences or quantify their impact on the financial data
included herein, nor do we provide a reconciliation of our financial statements to those under U.S. GAAP or IFRS and the
investors should consult their own advisors regarding such differences and their impact on the financial data. Accordingly,
the degree to which the Restated Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Red Herring Prospectus will provide
meaningful information is entirely dependent on the reader’s level of familiarity with Indian accounting practices/ Indian
GAAP, the Companies Act, 2013 and the SEBI ICDR Regulations. Any reliance by persons not familiar with Indian
accounting practices on the financial disclosures presented in this Red Herring Prospectus should accordingly be limited.

All figures in decimals (including percentages) have been rounded off up to second decimals and all percentage figures have
been rounded off to two decimal places. In certain instances, discrepancies in any table between the sums of the amounts
listed in the table and totals are due to rounding off. However, where any figures may have been sourced from third-party
industry sources, such figures may be rounded-off to such number of decimal points as provided in such respective
sources. In this Red Herring Prospectus, (i) the sum or percentage change of certain numbers may not conform exactly to
the total figure given; and (ii) the sum of the numbers in a column or row in certain tables may not conform exactly to the
total figure given for that column or row. Any such discrepancies are due to rounding off.

Any percentage amounts, as set forth in the sections titled ‘Risk Factors’, ‘Our Business’ and ‘Management’s Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations’ beginning on page 38, 162 and 268 of this Red Herring
Prospectus, respectively, and elsewhere in this Red Herring Prospectus, unless otherwise indicated, have been calculated
on the basis of our audited financial statements prepared in accordance with Indian GAAP and the Companies Act, 2013
and restated in accordance with the SEBI ICDR Regulations.

CURRENCY AND UNITS OF PRESENTATION

All references to “Rupee(s)”, “Rs.” or “X” or “INR” are to Indian Rupees, the official currency of the Republic of India.
All references to “U.S. Dollar(s)” or “USD” or “US Dollar” are to United States Dollars, the official currency of the United
States of America.

All references to the word “Lakh/ Lakhs or Lac” means “One Hundred Thousand”, the word “Crore/Crores” means
“Hundred Lakhs”, the word “Million (million) or Mn” means “Ten Lakhs”, the word “Crores” means “Ten Million” and
the word “Billion (bn)” means “One Hundred Crores”.

Our Company has presented certain numerical information in this Red Herring Prospectus in “Lakhs” or in whole numbers
where the numbers have been too small to present in lakhs unless stated otherwise. One lakh represents 1,00,000 and one
crore represents 1,00,00,000. Certain figures contained in this Red Herring Prospectus, including financial information,
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have been subject to rounding adjustments. Any discrepancies in any table between the totals and the sum of the amounts
listed are due to rounding off. All figures in decimals have been rounded off to the two decimal points. In certain instances,
(i) the sum or percentage change of such numbers may not conform exactly to the total figure given, and (ii) the sum of the
figures in a column or row in certain tables may not conform exactly to the total figure given for that column or row.
However, figures sourced from third party industry sources may be expressed in denominations other than thousand or may
be rounded off to other than two decimal points in the respective sources, and such figures have been expressed in this Red
Herring Prospectus in such denominations or rounded-off to such number of decimal points as provided in such respective
sources.

Unless the context otherwise indicates, any percentage amounts, as set forth in “Risk Factors”, “Our Business” and
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” beginning on pages 38, 162
and 268, respectively, and elsewhere in this Red Herring Prospectus have been calculated on the basis of amounts derived
from the Restated Consolidated Financial Statements.

Exchange Rates
This Red Herring Prospectus contains conversions of certain other currency amounts into Indian Rupees that have been
presented solely to comply with the SEBI ICDR Regulations. These conversions should not be construed as a representation

that these currency amounts could have been, or can be converted into Indian Rupees, at any particular rate or at all.

The table below sets forth, for the dates indicated, information with respect to the exchange rate between the Rupee and the
respective foreign currencies.

Currency Exchange Rate as on ®
September 30, 2024 March 31,2024 | March31,2023 | March 31, 2022
(in3)
1 USD® 83.79 83.37 | 82.22 | 75.81

@ Source: www.fbil.org.in
#Note: If the reference rate is not available on a particular date due to a public holiday, exchange rates of the previous working day has been disclosed.
$Note: Exchange rate is rounded off to decimal places.

TIME
All references to time in this Red Herring Prospectus are to Indian Standard Time.
INDUSTRY AND MARKET DATA

Unless stated otherwise, industry related information and market data contained in this Red Herring Prospectus, including
in “Risk Factors”, “Industry Overview”, “Our Business” and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations” on pages 38, 143, 162 and 268, respectively, have been obtained or derived
from the report titled “India Mid-scale Hotels Market” dated September 2024 that has been prepared by Ken Research
Private Limited (“Ken Research” and the report prepared by Ken Research be referred to as “Ken Research Report”) which
has been prepared exclusively for the purpose of understanding the industry in connection with the Offer and commissioned
by our Company. Ken Research does not have direct/ indirect interest or relationship with our Company, Promoters,
Directors, KMPs or SMPs of our Company except to the extent of issuing the Ken Research Report. For risks in relation to
the Ken Research Report, refer section titled “Risk Factor- 41. Certain sections of this Red Herring Prospectus disclose
information from the KEN Research which has been prepared exclusively for the Offer and commissioned in connection
with the Offer, and any reliance on such information for making an investment decision in the Offer is subject to inherent
risks. ” on page 38 of this Red Herring Prospectus.

The Ken Research Report is available on the website of our Company at https://grandcontinenthotels.com/, from the date
of the Draft Red Herring Prospectus until the Bid/ Offer Closing Date.

In accordance with the SEBI ICDR Regulations the section titled “Basis for Offer Price” on page 128 of this Red Herring
Prospectus includes information relating to our peer group companies. Such information has been derived from publicly
available sources, and neither we, nor the BRLM, have independently verified such information.

No part of this manual or any material appearing may be reproduced, stored in or transmitted on any other website without
written permission of Ken Research and any payments of a specified fee. Requests to republish any material may be sent
to Ken Research.

The Equity Shares have not been and will not be registered, listed or otherwise qualified in any other jurisdiction outside
India including in United States and may not be offered or sold, and Bids may not be made, by persons in any such
jurisdiction except in compliance with the applicable laws of such jurisdiction.
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Red Herring Prospectus contains certain “forward-looking statements”. All statements contained in this Red Herring
Prospectus that are not statements of historical fact constitute “forward-looking statements”. All statements regarding our
expected financial condition and results of operations, business, plans and prospects are “forward-looking statements”.

9

These forward-looking statements generally can be identified by words or phrases such as “aim”, “anticipate”, “believe”,
“expect”, “estimate”, “intend”, “likely to”, “seek to”, “shall”, “objective”, “plan”, “project”, “will”, “will continue”, “will
pursue” or other words or phrases of similar import. Similarly, statements that describe our strategies, objectives, plans or
goals are also forward-looking statements. All forward-looking statements whether made by us in this Red Herring
Prospectus are based on our current plans, estimates, presumptions and expectations and are subject to corresponding risks,
uncertainties and assumptions about us that could cause actual results to differ materially from those contemplated by the
relevant forward looking statement, including but not limited to, regulatory changes pertaining to the industries we serve
and our ability to respond to them, our ability to successfully implement our strategy, our growth and expansion,
technological changes, our exposure to market risks, general economic and political conditions, which have an impact on
our business activities or investments, the monetary and fiscal policies of India, inflation, deflation, unanticipated
turbulence in interest rates, foreign exchange rates, equity prices or other rates or prices, the performance of the financial
markets in India and globally, changes in domestic laws, regulations and taxes and changes in competition. Important
factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from our expectations include, but are not limited to, the following:

a) We plan to consolidate our hotel properties across Southern India to strengthen our presence in this region. At the
same time, we are actively pursuing expansion opportunities in Northern and Western India, focusing on major
business hubs and popular leisure destinations. Correspondingly we plan to use X 1,679.24 Lakhs from proceeds
of fresh issue towards our expansion strategy. We may not be able to execute our expansion plans successfully
which could impact our business and profitability.

b) The hospitality industry is experiencing strong tailwinds given trajectory of economic growth of India and private
consumption driven by socio-economic factors such as demographics and urbanization. India’s mid-scale hotels
market generated a revenue of ¥ 316.3 billion in 2023 and is projected to expand at a CAGR of 9.0% from 2023
to 2029, reaching an estimated revenue of X 530.1 billion by the end of the forecast period (source KEN Research)

c) Majority of our property are on long lease or license. If we are unable to comply with the terms of the lease or
license agreements, renew our agreements or enter into new agreements on favorable terms, our business, results
of operations and financial condition and cash flows may be adversely affected.

d) Some of our agreements may be under stamped or inadequately stamped or unregistered and if any financial or
judicial implication arises out of the same it may have an adverse effect on the Company’s business and reputation.

e) A majority of our properties are operating under Sarovar Brands /Royal Orchid Brands pursuant to the franchise/
trademark license agreements with the Sarovar/Royal Orchid, and we are subject to risks, including non-renewal,
termination and disputes, associated with such contracts.

f)  Out of the portfolio of 16 operational hotel properties as of September 30, 2024, a significant portion of such hotel
keys and revenue from operations is derived from hotels properties concentrated in the city of Bengaluru
(Karnataka) and Tirupati (Andhra Pradesh). Any adverse developments affecting these hotels or the regions in
which they operate, could have an adverse effect on our business, results of operation, cash flows and financial
condition.

g) We are subject to extensive government regulation with respect to safety, health, environment, real estate, food,
excise, property tax and labor laws. Any non-compliance with or changes in regulations applicable to us or failure
to obtain, maintain or renew our statutory and regulatory licenses, permits and approvals required to operate our
business may adversely affect our business, results of operations, cash flows and financial condition.

h) Negative customer experiences or negative publicity surrounding our hotel properties could have an impact on
ability to source customers. Thus, we may also incur higher expenses towards business promotion in the future, to
source more customers which may have an adverse impact on our business and financial condition.

i) Changes in travellers’ preferences due to cost of travel, spending habits, competition from alternative

accommodation, and other factors may adversely affect the demand for hotel rooms, thereby adversely impacting
our business, results of operations, financial condition, and cash flows.
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j)  Our business is capital intensive and may require additional financing to meet those requirements, which could
have an adverse effect on our results of operations, cash flows and financial condition.

k) India's mid-scale hotel market is highly competitive and our inability to compete effectively may adversely affect
our business, results of operations, cash flows and financial condition (source KEN Research)

For further discussion of factors that could cause the actual results to differ from the expectations, please refer the ‘Risk
Factors’, ‘Our Business’ and ‘Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations’
beginning on page 38, 162 and 268 respectively of this Red Herring Prospectus. By their nature, certain market risk
disclosures are only estimates and could be materially different from what actually occurs in the future. As a result, actual
future gains or losses could materially differ from those that have been estimated and are not a guarantee of future
performance.

Forward-looking statements reflect our current views as of the date of this Red Herring Prospectus and are not a guarantee
of our future performance. There can be no assurance to investors that the expectations reflected in these forward-looking
statements will prove to be correct. Given these uncertainties, investors are cautioned not to place undue reliance on such
forward-looking statements and not to regard such statements to be a guarantee of our future performance.

These statements are based on our management’s belief and assumptions, which in turn are based on currently available
information. Although we believe the assumptions upon which these forward looking statements are based on are
reasonable, any of these assumptions could prove to be inaccurate and the forward looking statements based on these
assumptions could be incorrect. Given these uncertainties, investors are cautioned not to place undue reliance on such
forward-looking statements and not to regard such statements as a guarantee of future performance. Neither our Company,
our Promoter, our Directors, the Book Running Lead Manager nor any of their respective affiliates have any obligation to
update or otherwise revise any statements reflecting circumstances arising after the date hereof or to reflect the occurrence
of underlying events, even if the underlying assumptions do not come to fruition. In accordance with the requirements of
SEBI, our Company (in respect of statements/ disclosures made by them in this Red Herring Prospectus) shall ensure that
investors in India are informed of material developments from the date of the Red Herring Prospectus until the date of
Allotment.

The Promoter Selling Shareholder will ensure that investors in India are informed of material developments in relation to
the statements relating to and undertakings confirmed or undertaken by the Promoter Selling Shareholder and its portion of
the Offered Shares in this Red Herring Prospectus, from the date thereof, until the receipt of final listing and trading
approvals from the Stock Exchange.
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SECTION II: SUMMARY OF THE RED HERRING PROSPECTUS

This section is a general summary of certain disclosures included in this Red Herring Prospectus and is not exhaustive,
nor does it purport to contain a summary of all the disclosures in this Red Herring Prospectus, Red Herring Prospectus or
the Prospectus when filed, or all details relevant to prospective investors. This summary should be read in conjunction
with, and is qualified in its entirety by, the more detailed information appearing elsewhere in this Red Herring Prospectus,

TS

including the sections titled “Risk Factors”, “The Offer”, “Capital Structure”, “Objects of the Offer”, “Our Industry”,
“Our Business”, “Outstanding Litigations and Material Developments”, “Offer Procedure”, and “Main Provisions Of
Articles Of Association” beginning on pages 38, 79, 100, 114, 143, 162, 300, 347 and 382 respectively of this Red Herring

Prospectus.
A. OVERVIEW OF INDUSTRY

India’s mid-scale hotels market generated a revenue of INR 316.3 billion in 2023 and is projected to expand at a
CAGR of 9.0% from 2023 to 2029, reaching an estimated revenue of INR 530.1 billion by the end of the forecast
period. Mid-Scale Hotels constitute approximately 56.0% of the total room supply, signifying their dominance in
catering to a broad spectrum of business and leisure travelers. As of 2023, the mid-scale hotels market in India offered
an estimated 230,000 rooms across both branded and independent properties. This supply is projected to grow at a
CAGR of 5.0% from 2023 to 2029, driven by an increasing number of hotel developments and expansions within this
category.

For further details please refer the section titled ‘Our Industry’ beginning on page 143 of this Red Herring Prospectus.
B. OVERVIEW OF BUSINESS

Our Company Grand Continent Hotels Limited operates in the mid-scale hotel sector, consisting of the upper-mid
priced, mid-priced and economy hotel segments. We seek to cater to Indian middle-class guests and business travellers
and to deliver differentiated yet superior service offerings, with a value-for-money proposition. Our Company has 16
operational hotels and operates a total of 753 keys as of September 30,2024 across states of Karnataka (Bengaluru),
Tamil Nadu (Hosur), Goa (Anjuna), Andhra Pradesh (Tirupati) and Telengana (Secunderabad). Our adjusted
occupancy across all properties is 72.33% for the six months period ended September 30, 2024, 75.17% for FY 2024,
79.00% for FY 2023 and 61.90% for FY 2022.

For further details please refer the section titled ‘Our Business’ beginning on page 162 of this Red Herring
Prospectus.

C. OURPROMOTERS
As on date of this Red Herring Prospectus, our Promoters are Mr. Ramesh Siva and Mrs. Vidya Ramesh.

For further details please refer the section titled ‘Our Promoters and Promoter Group’ beginning on page 226 of this
Red Herring Prospectus.

D. DETAILS OF THE OFFER

Offer of Equity Shares ) Up to 65,89,200 Equity Shares of face value of ¥ 10 each, aggregating up to Z [e]
Lakhs

comprising:

Fresh Issue Up to 62,60,400 Equity Shares of face value of ¥ 10 each, aggregating up to X [e]
Lakhs

Offer for Sale @ Up to 3,28,800 Equity Shares of face value of X 10 each, aggregating up to X [e]

Lakhs by the Promoter Selling Shareholder

which includes:

Market Maker Reservation 3,30,000 Equity Shares of face value of % 10 each, aggregating up to X [@] Lakhs
Portion
Employee Reservation Up to 12,000 Equity Shares of face value of % 10 each, aggregating up to X [e]
Portion @ Lakhs
Net Offer Up to 62,47,200 Equity Shares of face value of % 10 each, aggregating up to X [e]
Lakhs
Notes:

(1) The Offer has been authorized by a resolution of our Board dated November 06, 2024 and by our Shareholders
pursuant to a special resolution passed on November 08, 2024.

(2) Our Board has taken on record the consents for Offer for Sale of the Promoter Selling Shareholder pursuant to
its resolution passed in its meeting held on November 14, 2024 . The Promoter Selling Shareholder has confirmed
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that the Offered Shares have been held by them for a period of at least one year prior to the filing of the Draft
Red Herring Prospectus and are accordingly eligible for being offered for sale in the Offer in compliance with
the SEBI ICDR Regulations. The Promoter Selling Shareholder have authorized the inclusion of the Offered
Shares in the Offer for Sale. For details of authorizations received for the Offer for Sale, refer section titled
“Other Regulatory and Statutory Disclosures” beginning on page 318 of this Red Herring Prospectus.

(3) In the event of under-subscription in the Employee Reservation Portion (if any), the unsubscribed portion will be
available for allocation and Allotment, proportionately to all Eligible Employees who have Bid in excess of < 2
lakhs, subject to the maximum value of Allotment made to such Eligible Employee not exceeding I 5 lakhs. The
unsubscribed portion, if any, in the Employee Reservation Portion after allocation of up to X 5 lakhs, shall be
added to the Net Offer. For further details, refer sections titled “Offer Procedure” and “Offer Structure” on
pages 347 and 341, respectively.

The Offer and Net Offer shall constitute 26.44 % and 25.07 % of the post-Offer paid-up Equity Share capital of
our Company, respectively.

For further details, please refer “The Offer” and “Capital Structure” on page 79 and 100 respectively of this Red
Herring Prospectus.

Price Band

The Floor Price is X 107/- per Equity Share which is 10.70 times of the Face Value and the Cap Price is ¥ 113/-
per Equity Share which is 11.30 times of the Face Value.

OBJECTS OF THE OFFER
Our Company intends to utilize the Net Proceeds of the Offer (Offer Proceeds less the offer expenses) towards the

following objects:
(in % lakhs)

Sr. Particulars Estimated Amount ®
No.
1 | Repayment and/or prepayment, in full or in part, of certain outstanding borrowings 3,408.08
availed by our Company
2 | Expansion of our Hotel properties in India 1,679.24
3 | General Corporate Purpose * [e]
Total (Net Proceeds) [e]

* To be finalized upon determination of the Offer Price and updated in the Prospectus prior to filing with RoC. In
compliance with SEBI ICDR Regulations, the amounts utilized for general corporate purpose shall not exceed 25%
of the Gross Proceeds of the Fresh Issue.

For further details, refer section titled “Objects of the Offer” on page 114 of this Red Herring Prospectus.

PRE-OFFER SHAREHOLDING OF OUR PROMOTERS (INCLUDING THE PROMOTER SELLING
SHAREHOLDER), PROMOTER GROUP

The aggregate pre-offer shareholding of our Promoters (including the Promoter Selling Shareholder), Promoter Group
as a percentage of the pre-offer paid-up Equity Share capital of our Company is set out below:

Sr. | Name of the Shareholder(s) *Pre-Offer Post-Offer
No. Number of | % of the pre-offer | Number of | % of the
Equity Shares | paid-up Equity | Equity Shares | Post-Offer
held Share Capital held paid-up
Equity
Share
Capital
A) Promoter
1. | Mr. Ramesh Siva* 94,50,000 50.65 [o] [e]
2. Mrs. Vidya Ramesh 45,47,300 24.37 [e] [e]
Total (A) 1,39,97,300 75.02 [e] [o]
(B) Promoter Group Nil Nil
| Total (A) + (B) 1,39,97,300 75.02 [o] [o]

*After bonus issue.
# Also, the Promoter Selling Shareholder
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G. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Based on Restated Consolidated Financial Statements:

(< in Lakhs)

Particulars As at and for As at and for the year ended March 31
the six months 2024 2023 2022
period ended
September 30, 2024
Share Capital 1,865.90 399.03 101.00 101.00
Net Worth® 4,018.11 2,999.33 58.73 (163.21)
Revenue from Operation 3,183.98 3,123.69 1,680.15 602.69
Total Income 3,186.32 3,153.16 1,704.70 602.73
Profit After Tax 622.37 407.77 103.49 (79.29)
Earnings per share (basic and diluted)
(Face Value X 10/- each) (inX)
(i) Basic 3.74 2.54 0.70 (0.53)
(ii) Diluted 3.74 2.54 0.70 (0.53)
Net asset value (NAV) per Equity Share 21.53 75.17 5.81 (16.16)
(in3) O
Total borrowings 4,022.23 3,496.26 3,706.58 3,472.33

Amount in “()” indicates negative figures.

1) Net Worth has been defined as the aggregate value of the paid-up share capital and all reserves created out of the
profits and securities premium account and debit or credit balance of profit and loss account, after deducting the
aggregate value of the accumulated losses, deferred expenditure and miscellaneous expenditure not written off,
as per the audited balance sheet, but does not include reserves created out of revaluation of assets as attributable
to the owners of the holding company as on March 31, 2024. Net worth represents equity attributable to owners
of the holding company and does not include amounts attributable to non-controlling interests.

2) Basic & Diluted earnings per share (Rs) -Net profit after tax as restated for calculating basic EPS / Weighted
average number of equity shares outstanding at the end of the period or year

3) Net assets value per share — Net Worth at the end of the period or year / Total number of equity shares outstanding

at the end of the period or year.

4) Total Borrowing — aggregate value of Long term borrowing and short-term borrowings

For further details, refer section titled “Restated Consolidated Financial Statements” on page 234 of this Red Herring

Prospectus.

AUDITOR QUALIFICATIONS WHICH HAVE NOT BEEN GIVEN EFFECT TO IN THE RESTATED
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Auditor report of Restated Consolidated Financial Statements of our Company, for the six months ended
September 30, 2024 and for the Financial Year ended on March 31 2024, 2023 and 2022 does not contain any
qualification which have not been given effect to in Restated Consolidated Financial Statements.

SUMMARY OF OUTSTANDING LITIGATIONS

Except as stated below, as on the date of this Red Herring Prospectus, there are no outstanding litigations against our
Company, Directors, Promoters, Group Company and/or there are no outstanding litigations filed by our Company,

Directors, Promoters, Group Company:

Name Criminal Civil or | Statutory Disciplinary Tax Financial
Proceedings | Other or actions by the | claims Implications
Material Regulatory | SEBI or Stock to the Extent
Pending Actions Exchange against Quantifiable
Litigation the Promoter (Amount in X
Lakhs)™*

1. Company

Against  the Nil Nil Nil Nil 15 18.90

Company

Page 31 of 437



By the Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil
Company

2. JV Partner Entities

Against  JV Nil Nil Nil Nil 5 0.17
Partner

Entities

By JV Partner Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil
Entities

3. Directors/Promoters

Against  the Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil
directors/

promoter

By the Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil
directors/

promoter

4. Group Companies

Against  the Nil Nil Nil Nil 11 5.20
group

Companies

By the group Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil
Companies

Mo the extent quantifiable
*Amount includes interest and penalty.

Note:

As on the date of this Red Herring Prospectus there are no pending litigations involving our Group Company which will
have a material impact on our Company

For further details in relation to legal proceedings involving our Company, Promoters and Directors, please refer section
titled ‘Outstanding Litigations and Material Developments’ on beginning page 300 of this Red Herring Prospectus.

J. RISKFACTORS

Investors are advised to read the risk factors carefully before taking an investment decision in the Offer. Details of our
top 10 risk factors are set forth below.

1.
2.

o

We have issued Equity Shares during the preceding twelve months at a price which may be below the Offer Price.
Majority of our properties are on long lease or license. If we are unable to comply with the terms of the lease or
license agreements, renew our agreements or enter into new agreements on favorable terms, our business, results
of operations and financial condition and cash flows may be adversely affected.

Some of our agreements may be under stamped or inadequately stamped or unregistered and if any financial or
judicial implication arises out of the same it may have an adverse effect on the Company’s business and
reputation.

A majority of our properties are operating under Sarovar Brands /Royal Orchid Brands pursuant to the franchise/
trademark license agreements with the Sarovar/Royal Orchid, and we are subject to risks, including non-renewal,
termination and disputes, associated with such contracts

Our franchise/ trademark license agreements with the Sarovar/Royal Orchid are non-exclusive

As on September 30, 2024, a significant portion of our hotel keys and revenue from operations is derived from
hotels properties concentrated in the city of Bengaluru (Karnataka) and Tirupati (Andhra Pradesh) out of the
portfolio of 16 operational hotel properties, and any adverse developments affecting these hotels or the regions
in which they operate, could have an adverse effect on our business, results of operation, cash flows and financial
condition.

We are subject to extensive government regulation with respect to safety, health, environment, real estate, food,
excise, property tax and labor laws. Any non-compliance with or changes in regulations applicable to us or
failure to obtain, maintain or renew our statutory and regulatory licenses, permits and approvals required to
operate our business may adversely affect our business, results of operations, cash flows and financial condition
Negative customer experiences or negative publicity surrounding our hotel properties could have an impact on
ability to source customers. Thus, we may also incur higher expenses towards business promotion in the future,
to source more customers which may have an adverse impact on our business and financial condition.

Certain of our Joint Ventures, Group Company and Promoter Group entities incorporated in India or outside
India have common pursuits as they are engaged in similar business or industry segments and may compete with
us
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10. Changes in travellers’ preferences due to cost of travel, spending habits, competition from alternative
accommodation, and other factors may adversely affect the demand for hotel rooms, thereby adversely impacting
our business, results of operations, financial condition, and cash flows.

SUMMARY OF CONTIGENT LIABILITY AND CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

Details of the contingent liabilities of our Company as on September 30, 2024 derived from the Restated Consolidated
Financial Statement are set forth below:

(X in lakhs)
Particulars September 30, 2024
Estimated amount of unexecuted contracts on capital account not provided for 112.92
Amount of GST liability outstanding for the year 10.13
Amount of Income Tax liability outstanding for the year 18.99
Total 142.04

For further details, please refer to Note 28 — “contingent liabilities and capital commitments™ of the section titled
“Financial Information” of the” on page 234 of this Red Herring Prospectus.

SUMMARY OF RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The summary detail of the related party transactions entered by our Company as per the Restated Consolidated
Financial Statements.

List of Related parties

Names of the related parties with whom transactions were carried out during the years and description of
relationship:

Key managerial personnel | Mrs. Vidya Ramesh, Whole-Time Director

Mr. Ramesh Siva, Managing Director

Mrs. Deepthi Shiva, Non Executive Director

Mr. Prem G Rajani, Non-Executive Independent Director till October 28, 2024

Mr. V Swaminathan, Non-Executive Independent Director

Mr. Mithun Jayaraman, Non-Executive Independent Director till November 06, 2024
Mr. Ananthakrishnan V, Chief Financial Officer till November 06, 2024

Mr. Mithun Jayaraman, Chief Financial Officer with effect from November 06, 2024
Mr. Sambasivam, Relative of KMP

Mrs. Uma Jhawar, Company Secretary till September 24, 2024

Ms. Aastha Kocchar, Company Secretary with effect from September 24, 2024

Company/LLP/Firm  in | Grand Hotels and Resorts
which key managerial

person are Directors and

Elysium Holidays India Private Limited

Partner

Grand Cloud Hotels India LLP
Firms in which the | Grand Seven Hill Hotels
company exercises i
control or has significant | Grand Continent Hotels — 1
influence

The following transactions were carried out with the related parties in the ordinary course of business

(% in Lakhs)
For the six | For the | As at and for | As at and for
months year ended | the year ended | the year ended
El;' ¥?:rjmg:ctions of N:rr‘?e of related ended March 31, | March 31, | March 31,
: party September | 2024 2023 2022
30, 2024
1 Director Vidya Ramesh 15.00 30.00 6.00 6.00
Remuneration Ramesh Siva 24.00 30.00 2.50 -
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Remuneration to Ananthakrishnan 12.50 420 i
KMP \ '
Ramesh Siva - 308.17 531.25 -
o | Loan (liability) repaid | Vidya Ramesh - 221.07 201.85 -
during the year Grand Continent 6.42 ] ]
Hotels - 1
Ramesh Siva - - 501.50 -
o ) Vidya Ramesh - - 465.82 -
3 Loan (liability) given ["Grand Seven 45.69 _
during the year Hill Hotels 3.09
Grand Continent 56.07 - -
Hotels - 1
Grand Hotels 16.22 i 794 i
Repayment of money | and Resorts '
4 | collected on behalf of | Elysium 0.02
company Holidays India - 80.65 -
Private Limited
Elysium -
Money collected on Holidays India 21.97 66.77 -
5 | behalf of the Private Limited
company Grand  Hotels -
and Resorts 43.86 .
Grand Continent - 6.42
¢ | Short term loan taken Hotels - 1 '
during the year Grand Seven -
Hill Hotels - 148.83 -
) 9.31 - -
Ramesh Siva
7 | Salary Advance _ 2312 . .
Vidya Ramesh
_ Ramesh Siva ) 123.15 -
8 Private Placement
Shares issued . 23.00
Vidya Ramesh 91.25 -
g | Securities premium Ramesh Siva ) 49.26 -
on the shares issues
Vidya Ramesh 133.40 36.50 -
_ Ramesh Siva 735.00 - -
10| Bonus Shares issued -
Vidya Ramesh 335.79 - -
Expenses Elysium
11 reir%bursable Holidays  India - - 4774
Private Limited
Grand Continent
1| Drawings during the | Hotels - 1 35.00 68.78 i
year Grand Seven )
Hills Hotels 30.93 54.00
Grand Continent 60.00 59.85 )
13 Management Fees Hotels - 1 '
Income Grand  Seven 60.00 62.18 i
Hills Hotels '

Outstanding Balance as at six months period ended September 30, 2024 and as at March 31, 2024, March 31,
2023, March 31, 2022 with related parties

a) Balance payable at the year-end:

(< in Lakhs)
As at and | As at and | As at and | As at and
Sr. | Nature of .
. Name of related party | for the six | for the year | for  the | for  the
No. | Transactions
months ended year year
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ended March 31, | ended ended
September | 2024 March 31, | March 31,
30, 2024 2023 2022
1 | Salary Payable Ananthakrishnan V 2.08 2.10 - -
Elysium Holidays India
2 | Trade payable (net) Private Limited - - 3.03 10.85
Ramesh Siva - - 283.88 254.12
5 | Loan from related Vidya R.amesh - - 180.51 444.47
party Sambasivam - - - 16.05
Grand Continent Hotels i i i i
-1
4 | Capital Advances Grand Hotels & Resorts - - 7.04 _
b) Balance receivable at the year-end:
(% in Lakhs)
As at and | As at and | As at and | As at and
for the six | for the year | for the | for the
Sr. Nature of Name of related part months ended year ended | year
No. | Transactions Party | ended March 31, | March 31, | ended
September 2024 2023 March 31,
30, 2024 2022
Grand Continent Hotels 56.07
Long term loan | _q - - -
1 given to related -
Grand Seven Hills 206.48
party Hotels 134.64 148.83 -
Ramesh Siva 33.61 24.30 - -
2 | Salary Advance
Vidya Ramesh 63.69 40.56 - -
Elysium Holidays India
Lpan/ advances Private Limited 25.02 25.00 - -
3 | givento related Grand _ Hotels _and
party 67.41 51.20 - -
Resorts

For further details in relation of the same, please refer the section titled ‘Restated Consolidated Financial Statements’
beginning on page 234 of this Red Herring Prospectus.

DETAILS OF FINANCING ARRANGEMENTS

There are no financing arrangements whereby our Promoter, members of Promoter Group, the Directors of our
Company and their relatives have financed the purchase by any other person of securities of our Company other than
in the normal course of the business of the financing entity during the period of 6 (six) months immediately preceding
the date of filing of the Draft Red Herring Prospectus and this Red Herring Prospectus.

WEIGHTED AVERAGE PRICE AT WHICH THE EQUITY SHARES ACQUIRED BY EACH OF OUR
PROMOTERS IN THE LAST 1 (ONE) YEAR PRECEDING THE DATE OF THIS RED HERRING

PROSPECTUS.

Name of the Person(s)

No. of Equity share
held as on date of
RHP

No. of Equity Shares
acquired in the last one
year

Weighted average price
per equity share in the
last one year (in %)

Promoters
Mr. Ramesh Siva” 94,50,000 73,50,000 Nil
Mrs. Vidya Ramesh 45,47,300 35,87,900 4.36

Pursuant to the certificate dated March 13, 2025, issued by, M/s. Bhuta Shah & Co LLP., Chartered Accountants.

Note:

*Also, the Promoter Selling Shareholder
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AVERAGE COST OF ACQUISITION OF SHARES

As on the date of this Red Herring Prospectus, the average cost of acquisition of or subscription to Equity Shares by
our Promoters (including the Promoter Selling Shareholder) is set forth in the table below:

Name No. of Equity Shares held acquired / allotted till Average cost of acquisition™
date of this Red Herring Prospectus* (in %)

Mr. Ramesh Siva * 95,40,500 2.81

Mrs. Vidya Ramesh 45,51,400 6.36

Pursuant to the certificate dated March 13, 2025, issued by M/s. Bhuta Shah & Co LLP, Chartered Accountants

# Also, the Promoter Selling Shareholder

*After bonus issue.

** Computed based on the Equity Shares acquired/allotted/purchased (including acquisition pursuant to transfer).
However, the Equity Shares transferred/sold have not been considered while computing number of Equity Shares .

WEIGHTED AVERAGE COST OF ACQUISITION OF ALL SHARES TRANSACTED BY THE
PROMOTERS, PROMOTER GROUP AND THE PROMOTER SELLING SHAREHOLDER IN THE
THREE YEARS, 18 MONTHS AND ONE YEAR PRECEDING THE DATE OF THIS RED HERRING
PROSPECTUS

Period Weighted |Cap Price (R113/-) is Floor Price Range of acquisition
Average Cost ‘X’ times the (R107/-) is *X’ times the price: Lowest Price -
of Acquisition | Weighted Average [Weighted Average Cost of|  Highest Price (in )*

(in%) Cost of Acquisition Acquisition

Last 1 year 1.43 79.02 74.83 0.00 - 68.00

Last 3 years 3.57 31.65 29.97 0.00 - 68.00

Last 18 months 3.57 31.65 29.97 0.00 - 68.00

Pursuant to the certificate dated March 13, 2025, issued by M/s. Bhuta Shah & Co LLP, Chartered Accountants
$ Amounts are Post Bonus Issue Impact

ACQUISITION OF EQUITY SHARES IN THE LAST THREE YEARS
The details of price at which equity shares were acquired by Promoters (including the Promoter Selling Shareholder)

and the members of the Promoter Group in the last three years preceding the date of this Red Herring Prospectus is
set forth below:

Name of Nature of Date of Number of Equity Face | Acquisition
Shareholders Acquisition Acquisition Shares Acquired Value Price Per
(in%) Equity
Share
(in 3)*
Promoters
Mr.  Ramesh | Allotment — September 29, 12,31,500 10 14
Siva* Conversion of Loan to 2023
Equity
Allotment- Bonus July 11, 2024 73,50,000 10 Nil
Shares
Mrs. Vidya | Allotment - September 29, 9,12,500 10 14
Ramesh Conversion of Loan to 2023
Equity
Allotment- Bonus July 11, 2024 33,57,900 10 Nil
Shares
Allotment- Private | August 05, 2024 2,30,000 10 68
Placement
Promoter Group (other than Promoters)
Nil

# Also, the Promoter Selling Shareholder
*As certified by M/s. Bhuta Shah & Co LLP., Chartered Accountants, by way of their certificate dated March 13,
2025.

Page 36 of 437



DETAILS OF PRE-IPO PLACEMENT

Our Company has not made any pre-IPO placement. Further, our Company does not contemplate any issuance or
placement of Equity Shares from the date of this Red Herring Prospectus till the listing of the Equity Shares.

EQUITY SHARES ISSUED FOR CONSIDERATION OTHER THAN CASH IN LAST 1 (ONE) YEAR
Other than as disclosed in the section “Capital Structure” on page 100 of this Red Herring Prospectus, our Company
has not issued any Equity Shares for consideration other than cash except bonus issue in the 1 (one) year preceding
the date of this Red Herring Prospectus.

SPLIT / CONSOLIDATION OF EQUITY SHARES IN THE LAST 1 (ONE) YEAR

Our Company has not undertaken a split or consolidation of the Equity Shares in the one year preceding the date of
this Red Herring Prospectus.

EXEMPTION FROM COMPLYING WITH ANY PROVISIONS OF SECURITIES LAWS, IF ANY,
GRANTED BY SEBI

Our Company has not applied to SEBI for any exemption from complying with any provisions of securities laws, as
on the date of this Red Herring Prospectus.
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SECTION I1I: RISK FACTORS

An investment in Equity Shares involves a high degree of financial risk. You should carefully consider all information in
this Red Herring Prospectus, including the risks described below, before making an investment in our Equity Shares.

The risk factors set forth below do not purport to be complete or comprehensive in terms of all the risk factors that may
arise in connection with our business or any decision to purchase, own or dispose of the Equity Shares. This section
addresses general risks associated with the industry in which we operate and specific risks associated with our Company.
Any of the following risks, as well as the other risks and uncertainties discussed in this Red Herring Prospectus, could have
a material adverse effect on our business and could cause the trading price of our Equity Shares to decline and you may
lose all or part of your investment. In addition, the risks set out in this Red Herring Prospectus are not exhaustive.
Additional risks and uncertainties, whether known or unknown, may in the future have material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition and results of operations, or which we currently deem immaterial, may arise or become
material in the future. To obtain a complete understanding of our Company, prospective investors should read this section
in conjunction with the sections titled ‘Our Business’ and ‘Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations’ on page 162 and 268 of this Red Herring Prospectus respectively as well as other financial and
statistical information contained in this Red Herring Prospectus.

This Red Herring Prospectus also contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. Our
results could differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result of certain
factors, including events described below and elsewhere in this Red Herring Prospectus. Unless otherwise stated,
the financial information used in this section is derived from and should be read in conjunction with Restated
Consolidated Financial Statements of our Company prepared in accordance with the Companies Act, 2013 and
restated in accordance with the SEBI ICDR Regulations, including the schedules, annexure and notes thereto.

Materiality

The Risk factors have been determined on the basis of their materiality. The following factors have been considered for
determining the materiality.

1. Some events may have material impact qualitatively instead of quantitatively;
2. Some events may not be material individually but may be found material collectively;
3. Some events may not be material at present but may be having material impact in future.

The financial and other related implications of risks concerned, wherever quantifiable, have been disclosed in the risk
factors mentioned below. However, there are risk factors where the impact may not be quantifiable and hence the same has
not been disclosed in such risk factors. Unless otherwise stated, we are not in a position to specify or quantify the financial
or other risks mentioned herein. For capitalized terms used but not defined in this section, please refer to the section titled
‘Definitions and Abbreviations’ as described on the beginning of page 7 of this Red Herring Prospectus

The numbering of the risk factors has been done to facilitate ease of reading and reference and does not in any manner
indicate the importance of one risk factor over another.

In this Red Herring Prospectus, discrepancies, if any, between total and the sums of the amount listed are due to rounding
off.

INTERNAL RISKS

1. We have issued Equity Shares during the preceding twelve months at a price which may be below the Offer
Price.

We have issued Equity Shares in the preceding 12 months prior to the date of this Red Herring Prospectus at a price
which may be lower than the Offer Price. For further details, refer section titled “Capital Structure — Notes to the Capital
Structure - Issue of Equity Shares at a price lower than the Offer Price in the last one year” on page 100 of this Red
Herring Prospectus .

2. Majority of our properties are on long lease or license. If we are unable to comply with the terms of the lease or
license agreements, renew our agreements or enter into new agreements on favorable terms, our business, results
of operations and financial condition and cash flows may be adversely affected.

As of the date of this Red Herring Prospectus, out of 20 hotel properties in India including hotel properties of JV Partner

Entities, 2 owned hotel properties, 14 hotel properties are subject to lease arrangements and 4 hotel properties are subject
to license arrangements. Majority of hotel properties are on leased or licensed arrangements on long-term tenures for a
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period of 5 to 18 years (including lock in period of 2 to 7 years), which term may be extended for a further period of 3

to 7.5 years. The details of the license/lease for our hotels are set out below:

A) Lease/license Agreement with Our Company (Operational Properties)

Sr. | Document and | License/ Address of the property Rent/ License Purpose used
No. | Date Lease Fee
period (in %) per month

1. Lease July 01, No. 73, 1st main road, S.T. 1%Year, Hotel Regenta
Agreement 2022 till Bed, Koramangala 4th block, - first 2 months | Inn - 4th block
dated July 31, June 30, Koramangala, Bangalore, - No Rent, Koramangala
2024 2032 Karnataka, India. - next6

(10 Years) Pincode-560034 months — X
3,25,000 plus
Lock-in GST
Period: 5 - next4
years months — %
3,75,000 plus
Renewable GST
Period: 5
years 2" Year,
- %4,25,000
plus GST
3 Year onwards
- Anannual
escalation of
5%

2. Lease August 28, No. 75, Ward no 3, Bagalur 1% Year, Hotel Grand
Agreement 2023 till road, AvalapalliHudco, Hosur, | Fit out period (2 Continent —
dated August August 27, Tamil Nadu, India months) Hosur
28, 2023 2031 Pincode-635109 - NoRent,

(8 Years)
3 month
Lock-in onwards,
Period: 5 - %12,00,000
years including
GST,
Renewable
Period: 5 2" Year
years - %13,50,000
including
GST
39Year
- Rs14,17,500
including
GST.
4™ Year onwards
- Anannual
escalation of
5%

3. Lease 18 years [till | No. 115, site No. 43, Nagavara | 1% Year, Hotel Grand
Agreement June 30, Village, Kasabahobli, - Rs12,00,000 | Continent -
dated October 2041] Bengaluru, Karnataka, India. plus GST Hebbal Manyata
25, 2023 Pincode- 560045

Lock-in 2" Year,

Period: 7 - 13,00,000

years plus GST
3" Year,
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Renewable - Rs13,50,000
Period: 5 plus GST
years
4" Year onwards,
- Anescalation
of 10%
increase
every three
years
Lease February 01, | Building No./Flat No. 8-1-1 1% Year, Hotel Grand
Agreement 2024 till 2/1to 4 and 8-1-3/4 to 3, - first 6 months | Continent —
dated January 31, | Oxford Street, S.D. Road, - %9,00,000 | Secunderabad
November 19, 2033 Secunderabad, Hyderabad, plus GST,
2023 (9 Years) Telangana, India. Pincode- - nexté
500003 months -
Lock-in %.10,00,000
Period: 5 plus GST,
years 2" Year,
- %10,00,000
Renewable plus GST
Period: 3
years 3and 4" Year,
- %11,00,000
plus GST
5t and 6™ Year
- %12,10,000
plus GST
7" and 8" Year
- %13,31,000
plus GST
9™ Year
- %14,64,000
plus GST
Leave and April 01, H. No. 1702, Anjuna, Bardez, 1%t Year, Hotel Grand
License 2024 till Goa, India. Pincode- 403509 - ¥15,00,000 Continent —
Agreement March 31, plus GST Anjuna
dated February | 2034
23,2024 (10 Years Next 3 Years,
term of 11 - %16,00,000
months plus GST
each)
5" Year onwards,
Lock-in - Anescalation
Period: 5 of 15%
years increase
every 3 years.
Renewable
Period: As
mutually
agreed by
the Parties.
Lease October 01, | Municipal No. 9, 100 feet 12 Years Hotel Tulip Inn -
Agreement 2021 till Road, Ejipura, Bangalore, - %12,00,000 Ejipura
dated December | September Karnataka, India. Pincode- Koramangala
15, 2021 30, 2031 560047 3 Year onwards,
(10 Years) - Anescalation
) of 15% every
Loc_k-ln 3 Years.
Period: 7
years
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Renewable
Period: 5
years

Leave and
License
Agreement
dated February
06, 2024

December
04, 2023 till
December
03, 2032
(09 Years)

Lock-in
Period: 5
years

Renewable
Period: 5
years

No. 18 &19, 1% cross,
Malleswaram, Bangalore,
Karnataka, India. Pincode-
560003

1%t Year
- First2

months- No
Rent

- Next3
months — %
6,00,000 plus
GST

- Next7
months- %
6,50.000 plus
GST

2" Year
- First5

months- X
6,50,000 plus
GST

- Next7
months- %
7,00,000 plus
GST

3 Year
- First5

months- X
7,00,000 plus
GST

- Next7
months- X
7,50,000 plus
GST

41 Year
- First5

months- %
7,50,000 plus
GST

- Next7
months- %
7,87,500 plus
GST

5" Year
- First5

months- %
7,87,500 plus
GST

- Next7
months- %
8,26,875 plus
GST

6™ Year
- First5

months- %
8,26,875 plus
GST

Hotel Grand
Premier Suites -
Malleswaram
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- Next7
months- %
8,68,219 plus
GST

7™ Year
- First5

months- %
8,68,219 plus
GST

- Next7
months- %
9,11,630 plus
GST

8™ Year
- First5

months- %
9,11,630 plus
GST

- Next7
months- X
9,57,211 plus
GST

9™ Year
- First5

months-

%9,57,211
plus GST
- Next7

months- T
10,05,072
plus GST

Lease
Agreement
dated December
31, 2023

10 Years
from
January 01,
2024

(10 Years)

Lock-in
Period: 5
years

Renewable
Period: 5
years

No. 26, Bharat House Building
Co-operative Society, BTM
Layout, Bengaluru, Karnataka,
India. Pincode-560065

1%t Year
- First3

months- %
3,00,000 plus
GST

- 4"month
onwards (till
metro
construction
period ends)-
Z3,50,000
plus GST

- Post metro
construction
period
onwards-

An annual
escalation of
5% on X
3,50,000.

Hotel Grand
Continent -
Bannerghatta
Road

Leave and
License
Agreement
dated March 08,
2024

10 years
(Comprise
of initial
term of 11
months and
thereafter
Automatic

Survey No. 207/7,
Sakhribatle,Morjim, Pernem,
Goa, India. Pincode- 403509

1% Year,

- Fit out Period
(3 months) -
No Rent

- Next9
months-

Hotel Grand
Continent —
Morjim
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renewal for % 15,00,000
rest of term) plus GST
Next 2 term of 11
months,
- % 15,00,000
plus GST,
Thereafter,
An escalation of
12% every 3
terms of 11
months.

10. | Lease 11 Years Diya Sumana New No. 7, 1%t Year, Grand Continent
Agreement from ShalivahanaRoad, Nazarbad - Fitout Period | - Mysore
dated April 11, | agreement Mahalla, Mysore, Karnataka, (45 days) -

2024 dated April India. Pincode- 570010 No Rent,
11, 2024 - Post Fit out
Period —
Lock-in % 9,00,000
Period: 5 plus GST
years 2" Year onwards,
An escalation of
Renewable 10% every 3
Period: 5 years.
years

11. | Lease April 01, Sy no. 74/1, ITPL main road, 1t Year Hotel Grand
Agreement 2024 till Thubarahalli, Bangalore, - Fitout Period | Continent -
dated April 05, | March 31, Karnataka, India. Pincode- (45 days)- Brookfield
2024 2034 560066 No Rent,

(10 Years) - First6
. months (post
Lock-in fit out
Period: 5 period)-
years % 22,00,000
plus GST,
Renewable - Next6
Period: 5 months-
years % 23,50,000
plus GST
2" Year,
- %25,00,000
plus GST
3 Year onwards,
An annual
escalation of 5%.

12. | Lease March 01, No. 15, Downtown Park, 1% Year, Hotel Grand
Agreement 2024 till Sadahalli Road & Gate, - Fitout Period | Continent -
dated March 01, | February 28, | Bangalore International First month - | Devanhalli
2024 2034 Airport Road, Bengaluru, No Rent,

(10Years) Karnataka India.  Pincode- | -  Fit out Period

562157 Second
Lock-in month - Rs
Period: 5 4,87,500 plus
years GST,

- Third month

Renewable onwards —
Period: 5 %9,75,000
years plus GST

2" Year onwards
An escalation of
9% every 2 Years
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13 | Lease 78 months New S. No. 245/1A/1B, 1% Year, Hotel Grand
Agreement from the VenpurshamVillage, - Fitout Period | Continent -
dated date of MamallapuramVeeralapakkam, (60 days) - Mahabalipuram
October14, handover Thiruporur, Chengalpattu, No Rent
2024 ie. Tamil Nadu, India. Pincode- - Next4

September 603110 months-
30, 2024 % 15,00,000
(6.5 Years) plus taxes
- Next6
Lock-in months- <
Period: 2 17,00,000
Years plus taxes
2" Year,
Renewable - First6
Period: As months ¥
mutually 17,00,000
agreed by plus taxes,
the Parties - Next6
months
20,00,000
plus taxes
3 Year onwards,
%.20,00,000 plus
taxes.

14. | Leave and November No. 5-3/9P/15P, PTIN No. 1% Year, Hotel Grand
License 29, 2024 till | 1262607804, Survey No.222 | - Rs. 13,50,000 | Continent -
Agreement November (Old), 222(New), Sai Tulasi plus taxes Gachibowli
dated 28, 2029 Enclave -1, Vattinagulapally 2" Year
November29, (5 Years) Village, Gandipet Mandal, - Rs. 14,17,500
2024 Rangareddy, Telangana plus taxes

Lock-in 3 Year
Period: 5 - Rs.14,88,375
years plus taxes

4™ Year
Renewable - Rs.15,62,794
Period: 5 5"Year
years - Rs.16,40,933

15. | Lease March01, Survey No. 10 (Part), White 1t Year, Hotel Grand
Agreement 2025 till Fields, Kondapur Village, - Rs. 22,50,000 | Continent - Hi
dated February | February 28, | Serillingampally Mandal, Tech City
20, 2025 2033 Rangareddy, Telangana, India. | 2" Year onwards,

(8Years) An annual
escalation of 5%.

Lock-in

Period: 3

years

Renewable

Period: As

mutually

agreed.

B) Lease Agreement with JV Partner Entity (Operational Properties)

Sr. | Document and License/ Address of the | Rent/ License Fee Purpose used
No. Date Lease period | property (in %) per month
16. Lease Agreement 10 years from | Fern City Road, | 1% Year, Hotel Regenta
dated September 09, | date of Doddanekkundi, | - ¥9,50,000 plus | Inn-ORR
2022 handover K.R. Pura Hobli, GST Mahadevapura
Bengalury,
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Lock-in Karnataka, 2" Year,
Period: 5 years | India. Pincode- |- ¥10,50,000
560037 plus GST
Renewable
Period: 5 years 3Year onwards,
- Anannual
escalation of
5% of the last
paid rent.
17. Lease Agreement 9 years from Ward no. 20, 1% Year, Hotel Golden
dated July 17, 2022 | date of Siva jyothi - Fitout Period Tulip —
agreement Nagar, near (3 months) - Tirupati
Nandi Circle, No Rent,
Lock-in Tirupati, Andra | -  Next 6 months-
Period: 7 years | Pradesh, India. ¥ 16,00,000
Pincode- 517507 plus GST,
Renewable - Next 3 months-
Period: 6 years 21,00,000 plus
GST.
2" Year onwards,
- Anannual
escalation of
5%

C) Lease/license Agreement with Our Company (Properties yet to be Operational)

Sr. | Document and Date | License/ Address of the Rent/ License Fee Purpose used
No. Lease period property (in %) per month
18. | Lease Agreement 10 Years from No. 1/11, 1% Year, Hotel Grand
dated July 12, 2024 the date of Ramasamy Street, - Fit out Period Continent -
handover T. Nagar, Chennai, (30 days)- T. Nagar
Tamil Nadu, India. No Rent
Lock-in Period: | Pincode- 600017 - Next month
5 Years onwards-
% 12.00.000 plus
Renewable taxes
Period: 5 Years Thereafter,
- Anescalation of
20% every
3Years.

Our continued operation of these hotel properties is dependent on our continued enjoyment of these leases and licenses.
Since the lease or license agreements are subject to renewal from time to time, there may be increases in lease
premium/rentals payable due to factors such as inflation, increased competition in the property market or other market
forces. Any breach of the terms and conditions set out in these lease or license agreements could result in penalties and
may adversely affect our rights over such properties resulting in us failing to secure renewal of these arrangements. We
cannot assure you that we will be able to fully comply with all the terms of the lease deeds or leave and license agreement
which we have entered into in relation to these properties, renew such agreements or enter into new agreements in the
future, on terms commercially favorable to us, or not renew at all. For instance, our hotel property at Anjuna, Goa, have
been licensed to us by the original licensor who have been authorised by the landlords vide Memorandum of
Understanding dated October 13, 2022 (“MoU-Anjuna”) to enter into any leave and license agreement in respect of
Grand Continent — Anjuna. Although the landlord has agreed to enter into sale deed with the original licensor within 90
days of execution of the MoU-Anjuna, however, no such sale deed in respect of Grand Continent — Anjuna has been
executed till date. Further, our hotel property at Morjim, Goa, have been sub-licensed to us by the licensor who have
obtained the property from the landlords vide leave and license agreement dated December 21, 2022 for 12 rooms guest
house and construction of additional rooms upto 40 rooms.

While we have not faced any instances of disputes (including receipt of any default letters) from our lessors/licensors
in the stub period ended September 30, 2024 and Fiscals 2024, 2023, and 2022, in the event that any lease deed or
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license agreement is terminated due to our non-compliance with its terms, among others, for non-payment of lease
rental, subcontracting of commercial operations without consent of the lessor, appointment of receiver or not renewed,
we will be unable to utilize such properties for our business and we may be unable to benefit from the existing capital
expenditure and investments made by us in such hotels. Further, we may be required to allocate time and financial
resources to vacate such premises which will disrupt our operations and cash flows. We may also be unable to identify
hotel properties in such jurisdictions in a timely manner, and so we could lose our brand value and customer loyalty in
that jurisdiction.

Further, any regulatory non-compliance by the lessors/licensors or adverse development relating to the landlords” title
or ownership rights to such properties may entail significant disruptions to our operations, especially if we are forced
to vacate leased spaces following any such developments, and expose us to reputation risks. While we have not faced
any instances of regulatory non-compliance by the lessors/licensors or adverse development relating to the
lessors/licensors’ title or ownership rights in the stub period ended September 30, 2024 and Fiscals 2024, 2023, and
2022, there is no assurance that such events will not occur in the future. Any adverse impact on the title, ownership
rights, rights of the owners/landlords from whose premises we operate or breach of the contractual terms of any lease
and license agreements may adversely affect our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.

While none of our lease deeds or leave and license agreements were terminated prior to its tenure in the stub period
ended September 30, 2024 and Fiscals 2024, 2023, and 2022, in the event any of our lease deeds or license agreement
is terminated prior to its tenure, or if we are unable to secure renewal of the agreements on favorable terms or at all or
if we are required to re-negotiate and agree to higher rates for such lease or license, or if we are required to cease
business operations at a hotel property and for any reason whatsoever or the land is leased or sold to our competitor
after the termination of our lease, our business, financial condition, cash flows and results of operations may be
adversely affected. For more information on our hotel properties, refer section titled “Our Business — Land and
Property-Operational Leasehold Properties” on page 162 of this Red Herring Prospectus.

Some of our agreements may be under stamped or inadequately stamped or unregistered and if any financial or
judicial implication arises out of the same it may have an adverse effect on the Company’s business and
reputation.

Some of our lease/license agreements and Memorandum of Understandings with clients, joint venture partners etc. may
have certain irregularities such as inadequate stamping, incorrect registered office address and / or non-registration of
deeds and agreements and improper execution of deeds. An inadequately stamped document and non-registration of
documents affects their inadmissible as evidence before any judicial forum and we, as parties to that agreement, may
not be able to legally enforce the same, unless the defects are rectified and after paying a penalty for inadequate
stamping, non-registration, etc.

We have not faced any instances where unregistered and inadequately stamped lease agreements or other agreements
entered into by us faced challenges in enforcement or admitting the same as evidence in a court in India, which has then
caused disruptions in our operations or result in our inability to continue to operate from the relevant locations during
the past six months period ended September 30, 2024 and the Fiscals 2024, 2023, and 2022. However, in the event of
any dispute arising out of such unstamped, or inadequately stamped and/or unregistered agreements, we may not be
able to effectively enforce our rights arising out of such agreements which could materially and adversely affect our
business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

A majority of our properties are operating under Sarovar Brands /Royal Orchid Brands pursuant to the
franchise/ trademark license agreements with the Sarovar/Royal Orchid, and we are subject to risks, including
non-renewal, termination and disputes, associated with such contracts

Our Company have entered into 11 (eleven) franchise/ trademark license agreements with Sarovar/Royal Orchid to
operate ten of our key properties located in Karnataka (Bengaluru), Goa (Anjuna), Tamil Nadu (Hosur) and Telangana
(Secunderabad), under the Sarovar Brands /Royal Orchid Brands. Our Company has also entered into 1 (one) franchise
cum trademark license agreement with the Sarovar to operate one of our key property located in Karnataka, under the
Golden Tulip/Tulip Inn brand. Our JV Partner Entities have also entered into 2 (two) franchise/ trademark license
agreements with Sarovar/Royal Orchid to operate it key properties located in Tirupati (Andhra Pradesh) and Bengaluru
(Karnataka), under the Sarovar Brand/Royal Orchid Brand respectively. For more details, refer section titled “History
And Certain Other Corporate Matters — Other agreements” on page 196 of this Red Herring Prospectus. The franchise/
trademark license agreements allow us to facilitate/supplement our sales and marketing efforts and generate leads for
these hotel properties. Similarly, the franchise/license agreement also creates a continuing obligation on the Company
to maintain certain protocols and standards with reference to use of brand name, displays, reservations system know
how, marketing and promotional materials etc in connection with the operation of such properties. The
franchisor/licensor also conducts training and workshops programs for our hotel staff. Any breach of the terms and
conditions set out in these franchise/ license agreements could result in liquidation damages or termination
compensation and may adversely affect our rights over such brands resulting in us failing to secure renewal of these
arrangements.
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While none of our franchise/trademark license agreements were terminated prior to termination date and we have not
had any disputes with our franchisee partners in the stub period ended September 30, 2024 and Fiscals 2024, 2023, and
2022, should there be a dispute regarding our compliance with the SOP’s mandated by the franchisee partners, or should
these licenses be terminated or not renewed, we will not be able to continue using the Sarovar Brand /Royal Orchid
Brand names at our properties, or have access to the reservations system of such brands which could have a material
adverse impact on our ability to attract customers and impact our business and financial results.

Our franchise/ trademark license agreements with the Sarovar/Royal Orchid are non-exclusive

Since our franchise/ trademark license agreements with the Sarovar/Royal Orchid are non-exclusive, we may face the
risk of competing hotels operating under the same brand as our hotels in the cities - Tirupati (Andhra Pradesh),
Bengaluru (Karnataka), Anjuna (Goa), Hosur (Tamil Nadu), and Secunderabad (Telangana). If such hotels were to start
operating in cities where we have hotels under the same franchise/trademark license arrangement, it would undermine
our brand differentiation which would have a material adverse effect on our business and financial results.

As on September 30, 2024, a significant portion of our hotel keys and revenue from operations is derived from
hotels properties concentrated in the city of Bengaluru (Karnataka) and Tirupati (Andhra Pradesh) out of the
portfolio of 16 operational hotel properties, and any adverse developments affecting these hotels or the regions
in which they operate, could have an adverse effect on our business, results of operation, cash flows and financial
condition.

A significant portion of our hotel keys and revenue from operations during the stub period ended September 30, 2024
and last three Fiscals is derived from hotels properties located in the city of Bengaluru (Karnataka) and Tirupati (Andhra
Pradesh) out of the portfolio of 16 operational hotel properties, details of which are as follows:

Particulars For the stub period Fiscal 2024 Fiscal 2023 Fiscal 2022
ended September 30,
2024

Total operational Hotels 16 12 7 5
Hotels in Bengaluru 10 8 6 5
Hotel in Tirupati 1 1 1 0
% Hotels in Bengaluru to 62.5% 66.67% 85.71% 100%
Total Hotels

% Room revenues from 60.39% 69.24% 99.74% 100%

properties in Bengaluru

% Hotels in Tirupati to total 6.25% 8.33% 14.29% -
Hotels

% Room revenues from 17.32% 26.24% 0.26% 0%
properties in Tirupati

Total Keys of operational 753 531 329 192
properties

Keys from properties in 458 314 241 192
Bengaluru

% Keys in Bengaluru to Total 60.82% 59.13% 73.25% 100%
Keys

Keys from properties in 88 88 88 -
Tirupati

% Keys in Tirupati to Total 11.69% 16.57% 26.74% -
Keys

The hotel property located in the city of Tirupati is separate property operated by JV Partner Entity and operating under
Golden Tulip Brand. For further information on operating information pertaining to the above-mentioned hotels, refer
section titled “Our Business — Our Operational Hotel Properties” on page 162 of this Red Herring Prospectus.

Any decrease in our revenues from these hotels, including due to increased competition and supply or reduction in
demand in the regions in which these hotels operate, may have an adverse effect on our business, results of operation,
cash flows, and financial condition.
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We have not experienced any significant disruptions or shutdown of the hotels in the stub period ended September 30,
2024 and last three Fiscals, including due to social, political or economic factors or natural calamities or civil
disruptions, which may have impacted these hotels or regions. However, any such occurrences in the future may
adversely affect our business, results of operation, cash flows and financial condition. For details of the impact faced
by our Company due to the COVID-19 pandemic, refer section titled “Risk Factors — The COVID-19 pandemic affected
our business and operations and any future pandemic or widespread public health emergency in the future, could affect
our business, financial condition, cash flows and results of operations™ on page 38 of this Red Herring Prospectus. In
addition, changes in the policies of the state or local governments of the regions where these hotels are situated,
including any increase in property tax or imposition of COVID-19 related restrictions, may require us to incur significant
capital expenditure and change our business strategy. We cannot assure you that we will be able to reduce our reliance
on these hotels in the future.

We are subject to extensive government regulation with respect to safety, health, environment, real estate, food,
excise, property tax and labor laws. Any non-compliance with or changes in regulations applicable to us or failure
to obtain, maintain or renew our statutory and regulatory licenses, permits and approvals required to operate
our business may adversely affect our business, results of operations, cash flows and financial condition

We are subject to extensive government regulation with respect to safety, health, environmental, real estate, food, excise,
property tax and labor laws at a central and state level. These licenses differ on the basis of the location as well as the
nature of operations carried out at such locations. We provide hospitality services, including sale of food and beverage
including wine and liguor, cleaning and housekeeping, at our hotels. In rendering such services, we are subject to a
broad range of safety, environmental, food, real estate, taxation, excise, labor, property tax and related laws and
regulations. We are also subject to internal standard operating procedures under our hotel management agreements
which impose controls on our operations. While the day-to-day operations at our hotels are managed by Our Company,
we are responsible for obtaining and maintaining all government and regulatory approvals required in relation to the
operations and services provided at each of our hotels. For details of the key regulations applicable to us and the key
approvals and licenses we are required to maintain, refer section titled “Key Regulations and Policies” and “Government
and Other Approvals” beginning on pages 188 and 304, respectively. However, the Company is yet to obtain certain
license or approval or consent required for the operations of the hotels in India or has obtained certain license or
approvals in the name of the landlords/original licensor. For instance, under the municipal laws and local laws of the
hotels, we might be subject to obtaining No Objection Certificate from the local fire department, which we have not
obtained. Though no incidents have occurred, we cannot promise no incidents will occur in future. At each Hotel,
Company has strived to comply with fire safety norms by way of installation of necessary fire safety equipment. Further,
any regulatory actions for such pending approvals or non-compliances could entail significant disruptions to our
operations, fines/penalties, especially if we may be forced to vacate leased spaces following any such actions, and
expose us to reputation risks. While we have not faced any instances of regulatory non-compliance, there is no assurance
that such events will not occur in the future. Any regulatory actions in respect of the premises/hotels we operate may
adversely affect our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.

Further, regulations and policies in India may also impact the demand for, expenses related to and availability of our
hotel services and rooms, and food and beverage operations. We are also subject to regulations, which are periodically
amended, including relating to the sale, storage and service of food, alcoholic and non-alcoholic beverages and hosting
of events at our hotels. As a result of non-compliance with, or changes in, the applicable laws, such as changes in excise
policy, property tax and building regulations, we may incur increased costs, be subject to penalties, have our approvals
and permits revoked, be subject to enforced shutdowns or suffer a disruption in our operations or have other sanctions
imposed on us by the regulatory authorities.

While we obtain a number of necessary approvals for our operations, certain of such approvals are subject to renewal
in the ordinary course of business or may require updation.

For details on material approvals of our Company, including applications filed for renewal or modification of such
approvals, refer section titled “Government and Other Approvals — Material licenses/ approvals for which the Company
is yet to apply” and “Licenses for which application is made” on page 304 of this Red Herring Prospectus.

Further, the details in relation to the material approvals of our Company which are due to expire in FY 2025 and 2026,
are set forth below:

Name of the Property Type of License Applicable Law Date of Expiry
Hotel Grand Continent — | Registration The Tamil Nadu Shops | December 31, 2025
Hosur Certificate and Establishments Act,

under Shops and | 1947
Establishment Act

Page 48 of 437



Hotel Grand Continent

FSSAI License

Food Safety and

October 01, 2025

— Hosur Standards Act, 2006
Hotel Grand Continent - | FSSAI License Food Safety and | January 07, 2026
Hebbal Manyata Standards Act, 2006
Hotel Regenta Inn - | FSSAI License Food Safety and | November 20, 2025
ORR Mahadevapura Standards Act, 2006
Hotel Golden Tulip - | FSSAI License Food Safety and | March 22, 2025
Tirupati Standards Act, 2006
Hotel Grand Continent — | FSSAI License Food Safety and | May 14, 2025
Secunderabad Standards Act 2006
Hotel Grand Continent — | Trade License | Greater Hyderabad | December 31,2025
Secunderabad (Provisional Municipal

Certificate) CorporationAct, 1955
Hotel Tulip Inn - Ejipura | FSSAI License Food Safety and | November 29, 2025
Koramangala Standards Act, 2006
Hotel Grand Continent — | FSSAI License Food Safety and | July 15, 2025
Malleswaram Standards Act, 2006
Hotel Regenta Inn Grand | FSSAI License Food Safety and | October 15, 2025

- 8th Block Standards Act, 2006
Koramangala
Hotel Grand Continent - | Registration Karnataka Shops and | December 31, 2025
Bannerghatta Road Certificate Commercial
under Shops and | Establishments Act.
Establishment Act 1961
Hotel Grand Continent - | Tourism Certificate Goa Registration of | March 31, 2025

Mysore

Corporation Act, 1976

Morjim Tourist Trade Act, 1982

Hotel Grand Continent - | FSSAI License Food safety and | December 05, 2025
Morjim Standards Act,2006

Hotel Grand Continent - | Trade License Karnataka ~ Municipal | March 31, 2025

Mysore

Hotel Grand Continent -

FSSAI License

Food Safety and

Standards Act, 2006

October 03, 2025

Devanhalli

Hotel Grand Continent -

FSSAI License

Food Safety and

Standards Act, 2006

October 15, 2025

Devanhalli

Hotel Grand Continent -

Trade License

Karnataka Municipal
Corporation Act, 1976

March 31, 2025

Our Company and JV Partner Entities have made applications for the below mentioned licenses which are subject to

approval from the relevant statutory authorities:

Name of the Type of License Applicable Law Application date
Property
Hotel Grand | Shops and Commercial | Karnataka Shops and |December 03, 2024
Continent — | Establishment License Commercial
Brookfield Establishment Act,1961
Hotel Grand | GST Certificate Central Goods and |[March 03, 2025
Continent - Services Tax, 2017 and
Brookfield Karnataka Goods and
Services Tax, 2017
Hotel Grand | FSSAI License Food Safety and Standards |March 09, 2025

Continent — Hi-Tech

Authority of India
(Government of
Telangana)
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The material licenses/ approvals for properties yet to be operational are mentioned below for which our Company and
JV Partner Entities are yet to apply as on the date of this Red Herring Prospectus:

Name of the location of Description Applicable Laws

hotel

Hotel Grand Continent — GST Certificate Central Goods and Services Tax, 2017 and

Mahabalipuram Tamil Nadu Goods and Services Tax,
2017

Hotel Grand Continent — GST Certificate Central Goods and Services Tax, 2017 and

Gachibowli Telangana Goods and Services Tax, 2017

Hotel Grand Continent — Registration Certificate under Shops Telangana Shops and Establishments Act,

Gachibowli and Establishment Act 1988

Hotel Grand Continent — FSSAI License Food Safety and Standards Authority of

Gachibowli India (Government of Telangana)

Hotel Grand Continent — GST Certificate Central Goods and Services Tax, 2017 and

Hi-Tech Telangana Goods and Services Tax, 2017

Hotel Grand Continent — Registration Certificate under Shops Telangana Shops and Establishments Act,

Hi-Tech and Establishment Act 1988

We may also need to apply for additional approvals, including renewal or modification of existing approvals in the
ordinary course of business. Our hotels and related facilities (such as banquet halls) continue to be operated while the
relevant licenses may be in the process of renewal. Any delay in the issuance of such licenses or approvals, especially
licenses which are required to be renewed for an operating hotel, may adversely impact the revenue of such hotel. We
cannot assure you that such approvals will be issued or granted to us in a timely manner, or at all.

Further, the approvals required by us are subject to numerous eligibility conditions and ongoing compliance. In the
event of any non-compliance or alleged non-compliance with the terms and conditions thereof may result in such
approval being suspended or revoked. Further, if the laws governing our business are amended, we may need to obtain
additional approvals, incur increased costs, have our approvals and permits revoked or suffer a disruption in our
operations, which could adversely affect our business.

Negative customer experiences or negative publicity surrounding our hotel properties could have an impact on
ability to source customers. Thus, we may also incur higher expenses towards business promotion in the future,
to source more customers which may have an adverse impact on our business and financial condition.

Many online intermediaries allow customers to rate and review our hotels. Our hotel properties currently have average
customer rating of 4 on the website of intermediaries for hotel bookings. Negative customer experiences may have an
impact on our ability to source customers. Any adverse publicity, whether or not accurate, relating to hospitality
standards, quality of food or beverages we serve, public health concerns, illness, safety, injury or any news reports or
government or industry findings concerning our hotel properties, the locations in which we operate or others operating
across the hospitality industry supply chain could affect us. Further, while we have not faced any instances of incorrect
information being uploaded about our hotels by such intermediaries in the stub period ended September 30, 2024 and
Fiscals 2024, 2023, and 2022, any failure or delay on our part in scrutinizing and rectifying any incorrect details of our
hotels posted on travel portals in the future may adversely affect the reputation of our hotels and cause negative publicity

Further, Sarovar/Royal Orchid-branded hotels are operated globally, and any negative publicity in relation to the
Sarovar/Royal Orchid brands in any of the jurisdictions where they operate, could adversely affect our business,
reputation and financial condition. While we have not faced any negative publicity in relation to our hotel properties in
the stub period ended September 30, 2024 and Fiscals 2024, 2023, and 2022, which led to a material adverse effect on
our business or operations, any negative publicity in the future may lead to an effect on our business, financial condition,
results of operations, cash flows and prospects.

If we face any instances of adverse publicity, whether or not accurate, relating to hospitality standards, quality of food
or beverages we serve, public health concerns, illness, safety, injury or any news reports or government or industry
findings concerning our hotel properties, the locations in which we operate or others operating across the hospitality
industry supply chain, we may be required to incur additional expenses towards advertising and promotional activities
to attract customers. Further, we intend to develop and expanding our hospitality assets and accordingly, we may need
to make greater investments toward advertising and promotional activity in new markets where we establish our hotels.
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10.

11.

For further details in relation to our strategies on developing and expanding our hospitality assets, refer to section “Our
Business — Our Strategies” on page 162 of this Red Herring Prospectus.

Certain of our Joint Ventures, Group Company and Promoter Group entities incorporated in India or outside
India have common pursuits as they are engaged in similar business or industry segments and may compete with
us

Our Joint Ventures, Group Company and Promoter Group entities incorporated in India and outside India, are engaged
in businesses which are similar to that of our Company. Therefore, there may be conflict of interest in allocating business
opportunities between us, such Joint Ventures, Group Companies and Promoter Group entities.

The Company vide its letters dated June 19, 2024, July 18, 2024, have permitted Mr. Ramesh Siva and Mrs Vidya
Ramesh to use the words “Grand Continent” in the name of Grand Continent — FZCO, Grand Continent Hotels Limited
(England and Wales) and Grand Continent Hotel Management LLC, respectively. Pursuant to above letters, Grand
Continent — FZCO, Grand Continent Hotels Limited (England and Wales) and Grand Continent Hotel Management
LLC have been restricted to operate outside their respective jurisdictions viz., UAE and London, United Kingdom. The
Company can operate in the said jurisdictions without any restrictions.

We cannot assure you that there will not be any conflict of interest between our Company, Joint Ventures, Group
Companies and Promoter Group entities in the future. We have not entered into any non-compete agreements with such
Joint Ventures, Group Companies and Promoter Group entities and there can be no assurance that such entities will not
compete with our existing business or any future business that we might undertake or that we will be able to suitably
resolve such a conflict without an adverse effect on our business and financial performance. For further details, please
refer section titled, “History and Certain Corporate Matters —Joint Ventures of our Company” and “Group Companies”,
“Our Promoters and Promoter Group” at pages 196,230 and 226, respectively.

Changes in travellers’ preferences due to cost of travel, spending habits, competition from alternative
accommodation, and other factors may adversely affect the demand for hotel rooms, thereby adversely impacting
our business, results of operations, financial condition, and cash flows.

Changes in business spending and preferences of our international business, leisure customers and domestic tourism
and preferences of our guests due to evolving cost of travel, spending habits and consumption patterns may lead to a
change in the perceived attractiveness of our hotels, services, the locations at which our hotels are situated. Such changes
may impact the demand for our hotel rooms from domestic tourists and guests at our leisure hotels, and our business
may be adversely affected. We derive a significant portion of our revenue from large corporate key accounts.

Consequently, any reduction in growth or a slow-down in the business of such large corporate customers or an increase
in trend of virtual meetings and conferences, could result in a reduction of their requirement for our services. Similarly,
changes in business spending and preferences of our business and corporate customers due to evolving cost of travel,
spending habits and budgeting patterns may lead to a change in the perceived attractiveness of our hotels and services.

The diversified offerings from hospitality industry in terms of alternative accommodation option like homestays, villas,
hostels, short-term rentals are playing an important role in meeting the evolving demands of travellers. These
alternatives often offer unique experiences and competitive pricing, attracting a segment of travellers. seeking more
personalized or cost-effective options, posing a significant threat to mid-scale hotels. (Source: Ken Research)

The loss of such customers or a reduction in their demand for our services could adversely affect our business, results
of operations, financial condition, and cash flows. Currently, a majority of our hotels are located at important business
and financial hubs of India, however in the future such business hubs may shift, within a city or interstate, and as a
result our hotel locations may not be as attractive to business travellers and corporate customers, resulting in reduction
of demand for our services which may have an adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition,
and cash flows.

Our business prospects and continued growth depends on our ability to access financing at competitive rates and
competitive terms, which amongst other factors is dependent on our credit rating. Absence of our credit ratings
may restrict our access to capital and thereby adversely affect our business, cash flows and results of operations.

Our business depends on our ability to obtain funds at competitive rates. The cost and availability of capital, among
other factors, is also dependent on our current and future results of operations, cash flows and financial condition, our
ability to effectively manage risks, our brand and our credit ratings. We may not be able to avail the requisite amount
of financing or obtain financing at competitive interest rates if we fail to obtained credit rating for our credit facilites.

While our Company has not obtained any credit ratings during the stub period ended September 30, 2024 and Fiscals
2024, 2023 and 2022, this could increase the possibility of additional terms and conditions being added to any new or
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replacement financing arrangements and can lead to high borrowing costs and limit our access to capital and lending
markets and, as a result, could adversely affect our business. For more information, refer section titled “Financial
Indebtedness” on page 289 of this Red Herring Prospectus.

Our business is capital intensive and may require additional financing to meet those requirements, which could
have an adverse effect on our results of operations, cash flows and financial condition.

Our business is capital intensive as we require capital including working capital to operate and expand our hotel
properties and operations. One of the objects of the Offer is to expand our hotel footprint for which we have identified
five properties across India for which an amount of X 1,679.24 lakhs is being demarcated from the Net Proceeds of the
Fresh Issue. This translates to an approx. average spend of X335 lakhs per property. This amount covers the expenditure
to be incurred in getting the property ready for onboarding and welcoming guest. This spend broadly includes interiors
and furnishing, equipment including kitchen equipment, equipment for getting facilities | banquet halls and other utility
areas operational. For further information, refer section titled “Objects of the Offer — Details of the Objects of the Offer
— Expansion of our Hotel properties in India.” on page 114 of this Red Herring Prospectus. As we intend to grow our
business by expanding keys in new hotel properties, our growing scale of operation and planned expansion may result
in increase in the gquantum of working capital required. Our inability to maintain sufficient cash flows, credit facility
and other sourcing of finance for the same, could adversely affect our results of operations, financial conditions and
cash flows.

Simultaneously, it is worth noting that new mid-scale properties typically take 12 to 18 months to achieve stable
occupancy levels (60-70%), depending on factors such as the property's location in a high-demand tourist or business
hub, brand affiliation, seasonality, market conditions, and the effectiveness of its marketing, distribution strategy, and
guest experience. In cases where the location is favorable and guest experience is positive, this period can shorten to 6-
12 months (Source: Ken Research). Longer lead times to get optimal occupancy level could lead to additional financing
arrangements to cover working capital cost. Further, there is no assurance that these expenditures and enhancements
will result in increased revenues or profits in the near future or at all.

The actual amount and timing of our future capital requirements may differ from estimates as a result of, among other
factors, unforeseen delays or cost overruns, unanticipated expenses, regulatory changes, delay in obtaining regulatory
approvals, economic conditions, design changes, weather related delays, technological changes and additional market
developments. Any time or cost overruns in relation to our ongoing and future expansion may have a material adverse
effect on our business, results of operations, reputation, cash flows and financial condition.

Our inability to protect or use our intellectual property rights may adversely affect our business.

We rely on our intellectual property rights for the success of our business and in order to protect our intellectual property,
we obtain appropriate statutory registrations. We hold one registered Trademark and one trademark for which
application is made under the Trademarks Act. For further details in relation to our intellectual property approvals, refer
section titled “Our Business — Intellectual Property” on page 162, respectively of this Red Herring Prospectus. In
addition, we have entered into trademarks license agreements with Sarovar or Royal Orchid pursuant to which we have
been granted certain non-exclusive, non-transferable, revocable, limited licenses for usage of trademarks for the duration
of the relevant agreements.

Our failure to renew or protect our intellectual property rights may undermine our brand and hinder the growth of our
business. If any of our confidential or proprietary information were to be disclosed or misappropriated, or if a competitor
independently developed any such information, our competitive position could be harmed. In addition, our current and
future trademarks are subject to expiration and we cannot guarantee that we will be able to renew all of them prior to
expiration. Our inability to renew registration of certain trademarks, loss of such trademarks and/or expiry or termination
of the trademarks license agreements with Sarovar or Royal Orchid, could have an adverse effect on our business, results
of operations, financial condition and cash flows.

Successful infringement claims against us could result in significant monetary liability. Our defense of any such claim,
regardless of its merit, could also be time consuming and divert management resources. In addition, resolution of claims
may require us to cease using those rights altogether. In addition, there is no assurance that steps taken by us to protect
our intellectual property rights will be adequate to stop infringement by others, including imitation and misappropriation
of our brand. Furthermore, we cannot be certain that the equipment suppliers, from whom we purchase equipment
(including related software to operate such equipment), have all requisite third-party consents and licenses for the
intellectual property used in the equipment they manufacture. As a result, we may be exposed to risks associated with
intellectual property infringement and misappropriation claims by third parties. While we have not faced any
infringement or misappropriation claims in the stub period ended September 30, 2024 and Fiscals 2024, 2023 and 2022,
any such occurrence in the future could have an adverse effect on our business, reputation, financial condition, cash
flows and results of operations.
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There are certain discrepancies/errors noticed in some of our corporate records relating to forms filed with the
Registrar of Companies and other provisions of Companies Act, 2013.

Our company has missed on compliance with certain statutory provisions in the past including but not limited to the
details as mentioned in this risk factor. Although, our Company endeavours to comply with all compliance/ reporting
requirements, there may have been instances of delays/non-discourses/erroneous disclosures and non-filings of certain
forms which were required to be filed as per the reporting requirements under the Companies Act, 1956 and Companies
Act, 2013 with RoC. A few of these instances are listed below-

Form Discrepancy Rectification
PAS-3 Inadvertently selected “consideration other than cash” | The non-compliance being not
- conversion of loan for rights issue made in 2021 material, no rectification steps were
required
DPT-3 Certain forms are not filed -
ADT-1 Inaccuracy in the date of appointment of auditor in the | The non-compliance being not
form filed in 2024 material, no rectification steps were
required
E-CODS Filing of certain forms with delay viz, annual accounts | -
and annual returns for the financial years 2012 - 2013
to 2017- 2018 and form for appointment of auditor.
under the Condonation of Delay Scheme, 2018
(CODS, 2018)

There are few discrepancies noticed in some of our corporate records relating to adhering with the provisions of SS-1
and SS-2 of the Companies Act, 2013, however upon identifying such non-compliance, the company has rectified and
started complying with the provisions of SS-1 and SS-2 of Companies Act, 2013. Apart from the aforesaid non-
compliances, there have been certain procedural lapses in complying with the provisions of applicable laws. For
instance, our Company has regularized the appointment of Ms. Deepthi Shiva as director with a delay of one year, her
tenure was effective up to the date of annual general meeting held in the year 2018-109.

While as on the date of this Red Herring Prospectus, no legal proceedings or regulatory action has been initiated against
our Company in relation to the above mentioned discrepancies, we cannot assure you that the above-mentioned
corporate records will be available in the future, and that we will not be subject to any proceedings initiated by any
regulatory or statutory authority (including the RoC) in this respect.

With the expansion of our operations there can be no assurance that such delays or non-compliances will not happen in
the future, or that we will be able to implement, and continue to maintain, adequate measures to rectify or mitigate any
such non-compliances, in a timely manner or at all.

Any penalty or action taken by any regulatory authority in future for non- compliance with provisions of corporate and
other law could impact financial position of the company to that extent.

Our Company has incurred losses in the past.

Our Company has incurred losses in the past, details of which are set out below for the periods/years indicated:

(X In Lakhs)
Particulars For the stub period Fiscal 2024 Fiscal 2023 Fiscal 2022
ended September 30,
2024
Profit/(Loss) before 800.09 552.20 190.03 (164.07)
tax

Note: The above financial information has been derived from the restated consolidated financial statements of Our
Company for the periods/years indicated

In the event our Company, continue to incur losses, our consolidated results of operations, cash flows and financial
condition will continue to be adversely affected. For further details, refer section titled “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of our Financial Condition and Results of Operations” on page 268 of this Red Herring Prospectus.

Our Company have availed unsecured borrowings, certain of which may be recalled by the lender at any time,
which may have an adverse impact on our cash flows, business and financial condition.

Our Company has been availing unsecured loans from time to time. The total outstanding unsecured loan as on February
28, 2025 is amounting to ¥ 100 Lakhs. As per the terms of the said unsecured loan, it is repayable at the end of six
months from the date of availing the said loan which may be mutually extended to a period of twelve months. Although
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there are no terms and conditions prescribed for prepayment of unsecured loan, If the said funds are demanded for
repayment after expiry of 6 months period from the effective date or extended period as may be agreed between parties
before the end of 6™ month and our Company is not in a position to arrange for the interim funds for meeting its working
capital, such working capital funding may be temporarily impacted, which may have an adverse effect on our business,
results of operations, financial condition. While we have not faced any such instances where unsecured borrowings
were recalled by lenders in the Six-months period ended September 30, 2024, the Fiscal 2024, 2023, and 2022, there is
no assurance that this would not occur in the future.

We intend to utilize a substantial portion of the Net Proceeds towards the repayment and/ or prepayment of a portion of
the outstanding borrowings availed by us, including certain of the unsecured borrowings availed by our Company. For
further information, refer sections titled “Financial Indebtedness” on page 289 of this Red Herring Prospectus and
“Obijects of the Offer — Details of the Objects — Repayment/ prepayment/ redemption, in full or in part, of certain
outstanding borrowings availed by our Company.” on page 114 of this Red Herring Prospectus and “Risk Factors - A
substantial portion of the Net Proceeds will be utilized for the repayment, prepayment and/or redemption of certain
outstanding borrowings availed of by our Company. Any variation in the utilisation of the Net Proceeds would be
subject to certain compliance requirements, including prior shareholders’ approval. Further, our funding requirements
and the proposed deployment of Net Proceeds have not been appraised by any bank or financial institution or any other
independent agency and are based on internal management estimates based on current market conditions™ on page 38
of this Red Herring Prospectus.

India's mid-scale hotel market is highly competitive and our inability to compete effectively may adversely affect
our business, results of operations, cash flows and financial condition.

According to the KEN Research, India's mid-scale hotel market is highly competitive, with 40-45 hotel chains operating
across the country. Within this broad landscape, 20-25 domestic chains stand out by maintaining a strong presence in
both metros and expanding into Tier 1l & 11 cities. These chains are leveraging geographic diversification to tap into
high-growth regions beyond the major urban centers. A more focused segment of 12-15 chains targets budget-conscious
travelers, offering rooms with below-industry-average ADR (Average Daily Rate). These hotels prioritize affordability,
catering to the needs of cost-sensitive travelers looking for value-driven services. This rapid expansion, unmatched by
competitors, highlights its aggressive strategy to capture increasing demand in both metro and non-metro areas (Source:
KEN Research). We compete with large multinational and Indian hotel companies, in each of the regions/locations in
which we operate. Competitive factors at each hotel destination include room rates, quality of accommodation, name
recognition, service levels and convenience of location, and to a lesser extent, the quality and scope of other amenities
and services. Some of our competitors who are hotel owners may operate on a larger scale than us in such destinations
or otherwise, or develop alliances to compete against us, or have greater financial and other resources. We cannot assure
you that hotels owned or managed by new or existing competitors will not lower rates or offer a wider variety of services
or amenities or significantly expand or improve facilities in a market or location in which we operate, or that we will be
able to compete effectively in such conditions. While we have not faced any material adverse impact of the opening of
a new hotel in the vicinity of any one of our hotels in the stub period ended September 30, 2024 and Fiscals 2024, 2023,
and 2022, such occurrences may increase competition which would impact our occupancy levels and consequently our
revenues. We may also face increased competition from budget hotels, internet-based homestays and hostel aggregators
and alternative accommodation options such as luxury homestays and bed and breakfast.

Our success is largely dependent upon our ability to compete in areas such as room rates, location of the property,
quality of accommodation, service levels and the quality and scope of other amenities, including among others, food
and beverage facilities. In addition, our competitors may significantly increase their advertising budget and offer more
discounts or incentives to promote their hotels, which may require us to increase advertising and marketing expenses
and change pricing and promotional strategies. While we have not experienced any material instances of such increased
advertising and marketing expenses and changes in pricing strategies in the stub period ended September 30, 2024 and
Fiscals 2024, 2023, and 2022, such occurrences in the future may have an adverse effect on our results of operations
and cash flows. As a result, we cannot assure you that we will be able to compete successfully in the future against our
existing or potential competitors, or that our business, cash flows and results of operations will not be adversely affected
by increased competition.

The COVID-19 pandemic affected our business and operations and any future pandemic or widespread public
health emergency in the future, could affect our business, financial condition, cash flows and results of
operations.

The hospitality industry in India has been severely affected by the global outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic since
early 2020 due to reduced traveller traffic and government-mandated restrictions on movement. On March 14, 2020,
the Government of India declared COVID-19 as a “notified disaster” for the purposes of the Disaster Management Act,
2005 and imposed a nationwide lockdown beginning on March 25, 2020. The global impact of the COVID-19 pandemic
rapidly evolved and public health officials and government authorities responded by taking measures, including in India
where our hotels are based, such as prohibiting people from assembling in large numbers, instituting quarantines,
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restricting domestic and overseas travel, issuing “stay-at-home” orders and restricting the types of businesses that may
continue to operate, among many others. In response to new strains and subsequent waves of COVID-19 pandemic, the
Government of India and state governments periodically re-imposed lockdowns, with limited and progressive
relaxations.

The COVID-19 pandemic adversely affected our financial and operating performance and certain aspects of our
business operations in the following ways, among others:

. domestic and overseas travel restrictions, including airport closures, may result in lower demand for rooms at our
hotels and adversely affect our Average Occupancy and ARRs;

. increased cost of operations of our hotels to ensure higher standards of disinfection and cleanliness as well as
disinfection costs;

. reduced revenue from our food and beverage operations due to changing consumer behavior towards dining out
and greater usage of food delivery services;

. employees that are suspected of being infected with the COVID-19 pandemic as well as other employees that have
been in contact with those employees may be required to be quarantined, and our employees may be restricted by travel
and other lockdown measures imposed in India and overseas; this could result in a temporary reduction in the numbers
of personnel or delays and suspension of operations as a health measure, which could have an adverse effect on our
business and operations; and

. increased risks emanating from process changes being implemented, such as technology, oversight and
productivity challenges due to an increase in number of individuals working from home.

Any intensification of the COVID-19 pandemic or any future outbreak of another highly infectious or contagious disease
may adversely affect our business, financial condition, cash flows and results of operation

Our inability to manage our growth may disrupt our business and reduce our profitability.

From Fiscal 2022 to Fiscal 2024, our total revenue from operations has grown at a CAGR of 127.66%, our hotel keys
have grown at a CAGR of 66.30%. As part of our growth strategy to meet customer needs, we are committed to diversify
our product offerings expand our geographic footprint, improve operational efficiencies of our hotel portfolio’s and
optimise capital allocations through an asset light business model. This will in turn result in substantial demands on our
management, operational, and financial resources and our growth will require us to continuously invest in our operations
and improve our operational, financial and internal controls, employee costs, and administrative infrastructure. An
inability to manage our growth, may disrupt our business and reduce our profitability.

Our Promoters, Mr. Ramesh Siva and Mrs. Vidya Ramesh have been disqualified to act as directors in the past
by the RoC.

Our Promoters and Directors, namely Ramesh Siva and Vidya Ramesh were disqualified from directorship from January
11, 2016 to October 31, 2021 by Registrar of Companies, Chennai in relation to their directorship in the Company which
did not file financial statements or annual returns for continuous period of three (3) financial years. However,
consequently upon the Company's compliance with all requisite annual filings of accounts and annual returns under the
E-CODS scheme introduced by the MCA, disqualification from directorship for our Promoters has also ended on
October 31, 2021. Currently, their DIN is valid and active as seen on the MCA portal.

While Ramesh Siva and Vidya Ramesh are not presently disqualified to be directors, there is no assurance that statutory
or regulatory actions or legal proceeding will not be initiated against any of them for any such future non-compliance.
In future, in case of any actual or alleged non-compliance with regulatory requirements, our Promoters namely, Ramesh
Siva and Vidya Ramesh could be subject to administrative or judicial proceedings that may result in substantial penalties
and/ or diversion of management’s attention which could negatively affect our reputation and may have a material
adverse effect on our business operations.

Some of our Directors were director of companies which has been struck off from the register of companies
maintained by the RoC.

Some of our Directors were director of the following companies which have been struck off from the register of
companies maintained by the relevant RoC pursuant to Section 248(1) of the Companies Act, 2013:

Sr. | Name of [ Name of the Strike- | Reason for strike off Type of
No | Director & DIN | off Companies strike off
1) | Ramesh Siva Tantraa Inn Private | The company- was inoperative since the date of its | Voluntary
DIN: 02449456 | Limited incorporation Strike off
2) | Ramesh Siva Bon-Jour Hospitality | The company was inoperative since the date of its | Voluntary
DIN: 02449456 | Services Private | incorporation Strike off
Limited
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3) | V Swaminathan | Fiduciary Advisory | The company was not carrying on any business or | Mandatory
DIN: 00238629 | Services Private | operation for a period of two immediately | Strike off by
Limited preceding financial years and has not made | ROC
application within such period for obtaining the
status of a dormant company under section 455 of

the Companies Act, 2013

In the event of any action being taken against these companies or the directors of these companies, our Director(s) may
be held liable under the relevant provisions of the applicable law. Although, no notice has been received by our
Director(s) for the above, but there cannot be any assurance that the regulatory authority will not take any penal action
against those companies or our Director. In case any such action is taken it may have an adverse effect on our Director
and may affect the reputation of our Company.

We may be unable to successfully grow our business in new geographies in India, which may adversely affect our
business prospects, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.

We intend to expand our hotel portfolio to new geographies across India, with a focus on geographies which have
potential to attract significant traffic from business and leisure travellers including tourist destinations which will cater
to the domestic leisure traveller. For more details, refer section titled “Our Business — Our Growth Strategies” on page
162 of this Red Herring Prospectus. However, there is no assurance that we will be able to grow our business in these
geographies, which may adversely affect our business prospects, results of operations, financial condition and cash
flows. Inability to access infrastructure, certain logistical challenges in these regions and our relative inexperience with
certain new markets, may prevent us from expanding our presence in these regions. We may also be unable to compete
effectively with the services of our competitors who are already established in such regions. Our expansion plans may
also result in increased advertising and marketing expenditure and challenges caused by distance, language and cultural
differences.

Any failure to maintain the quality and hygiene standards of the food and beverages that we offer, will adversely
affect our F&B Revenue, overall business and financial performance.

Our operations depend on the quality of food and beverages served at our hotels and we focus on hygiene to ensure
safety of our customers. Our hotels feature Food and Beverages (F&B) services, including several establishments that
attract customers and guests staying at our hotels. Set out below are details of our F&B Revenue for the periods/years
indicated:

(X in Lakhs)
Particulars For the stub period ended Fiscal 2024 Fiscal 2023 Fiscal 2022
September 30, 2024
F&B Revenue* 208.88 104.32 72.57 12.26

Note: The above financial information has been derived from the Restated Consolidated Financial Statements of our
Company for the periods/years indicated

Further, we maintain an inventory of dry groceries, which are subject to expiry and may also be subject to contamination
or deterioration. Any contamination or deterioration of quality could result in customer dissatisfaction and/or criminal
or civil liabilities and restrict our ability to provide services which, in turn, could have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows and prospects

We have not had any complaints with our F&B offering for the stub period ended September 30, 2024 and Fiscal 2024,
2023 and 2022. We cannot assure you that we will not be involved in any other litigation or proceedings, or be held
liable in any litigation or proceedings in relation to the services provided by us. In addition, we may be subject to false
claims of contamination which could create negative publicity and adversely affect our reputation, business, financial
condition, results of operations, cash flows and Prospects.

We have a large workforce deployed across our hotels and may be exposed to service-related claims and losses
or employee disruptions and work stoppages that could have an adverse effect on our business and reputation.
Our Company has also witnessed delays in payment of statutory dues linked to our employees in the past.

We have a large workforce deployed across our hotels, for details relating to human resource, kindly refer section titled
“Our Business — Human Resource” on page 162. The risks associated with the utilization of a large workforce include
possible claims relating to:

* actions, inactions, errors or malicious acts by our personnel, including matters for which we may have to indemnify
our guests;

« failure of our personnel to adequately perform their duties, including for rendering deficient services;

* violation by our personnel of security, privacy, health and safety regulations and procedures;
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« any failure by us to adequately verify personnel backgrounds and qualifications;
* injury or damages to any guest’s person or property due to negligence of our personnel; and
« criminal acts, torts or other negligent acts by our personnel.

These claims may give rise to litigation and claims for damages, which could be costly and time consuming. Such labour
claims may result in negative publicity and adversely impact our reputation. In addition, we may also be affected by the
acts of third parties, including subcontractors and service providers. While we have not faced any such instances of
labour claims which led to a material adverse effect on our business, operations or reputation in the stub period ended
September 30, 2024 and Fiscals 2024, 2023, and 2022, any such instances in the future or any losses that we incur in
this regard may have an adverse effect on our business and reputation.

We are required to pay various statutory dues in respect of our employees, including employee provident fund
contributions, ESIC, tax deducted at source and other statutory deductions, in terms of applicable law. The table below
sets out details of No. of Employees covered under provident fund/ESIC by our Company for the period indicated along
with the number of employees employed with our Company as at the end of such period/year:

Particulars . .
As at six-month period ended September 30,
2024
No. of Employees* 538
No. of Employees covered under Provident Fund 54
No. of Employees covered under ESIC 63

*We had a total of 538 employees as on September 30, 2024 (which includes employees of GSHH and GCH-1), out of
which 430 were employees of our Company and 108 were employees of GSHH and GCH-1.

We have faced instances of delays in payments of certain of the above statutory dues.

There are certain instances of delays in and non-payment of statutory dues by us. Any further delay in and non-
payment of statutory dues may attract financial penalties from the respective government authorities and in turn
may have an adverse impact on our financial condition and cash flows.

During the stub period ended September 30, 2024 and last three Fiscal Years, we had instances of delays in payment of
certain statutory dues, including with respect to payment of GST, tax deducted at source, contributions towards
employee provident fund, and property tax. The table below provides details of statutory dues in relation to which there
have been delays in the years indicated:

For Stub period Fiscal
ended September
30, 2024 2024 2023 2022
Nature of
statutory | Amount ,fé(;r:]ount Amount QTount
Sr.no BUS for. Range which Range for. which Range
which f f which Range of f
ayment 0 payment | 0 payment | Number payment | 0
\[/)vas Number | was Number was of Days was Number
delayed <[))f ?ays delayed | of ?ays delayed | Delay delayed | of Pays
zi elay Delay i Delay
S ®in (a0 ®in
Lakhs) Lakhs) Lakhs) Lakhs)
1 Provident 11.89 1-21 10.18 1-46 2.04 3-46 0.96 2-33
Fund
2 Provident
Fund* 0.94 5-66 0.17 5-36 - - - -
3 Provident
Fund* 6.17 5-39 0.10 180-365 - - - -
4 ESIC 0.05 15-138 - - 0.06 13-74 # 18
S DS 12.11 | 180-360 | 43.75 3-22 8.44 1-365 3.81 3-365
6 TDs* 0.05 8 14.79 1-372 - - - -
7 TDS* 2.39 6 26.62 180-365 - - - -
8 GST 18.12 1-4 15.30 1 - - - -
9 GST* 3.98 2 9.79 1 0.28 2 - -
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10 GST* 1.81 1 0.84 1 - - - -

Total 57.51 121.54 10.82 4.77

*1t relates to delays in statutory dues by JV Partner Entities
# Rounding off less than thousand

As on date of the Red Herring Prospectus, our total outstanding amount of statutory dues (disputed and undisputed) was
% 19.06 lakhs. Set out below are details of our statutory dues (disputed and undisputed) which have been outstanding
for more than six months as on date of the Red Herring Prospectus:

Statutory Dues Name of authority g?ﬁ?:;f;tsmndmg :ﬁgﬂ?} tt ?;V;fsh the
Undisputed

TDS Income Tax # Fiscal 2013
TDS Income Tax 1.09 Fiscal 2014
TDS Income Tax 1.45 Fiscal 2015
TDS Income Tax 0.59 Fiscal 2016
TDS Income Tax 0.19 Fiscal 2017
TDS Income Tax 1.39 Fiscal 2018
TDS Income Tax 1.12 Fiscal 2019
TDS Income Tax 0.50 Fiscal 2020
TDS Income Tax 0.23 Fiscal 2021
TDS Income Tax 0.04 Fiscal 2022
TDS Income Tax 0.40 Fiscal 2023
TDS Income Tax 0.02 Fiscal 2023
TDS Income Tax 0.06 Fiscal 2023
TDS Income Tax 0.54 Fiscal 2024
TDS Income Tax 0.09 Fiscal 2024
TDS Income Tax 0.59 Fiscal 2025
TDS Income Tax # Fiscal 2025
TDS Income Tax # Fiscal 2025
GST GST 8.12 Fiscal 2020
Total 16.42

Disputed

GST GST 2.64 Fiscal 2019
Total statutory

Dues (disputed 19.06

and undisputed)

# Rounding off less than thousand

We are also subject to certain outstanding litigation alleging default in payment towards statutory dues. For further
details, refer section titled "Outstanding Litigation and Material Developments — I. Litigation involving our Company
—A. Litigation against our Company” on page 300 of this Red Herring Prospectus. There can be no assurance that these
legal proceedings will be settled in our favor. Further, any further default/ delay that may arise in the future could lead
to financial penalties from the relevant government authorities which in turn may have a material adverse impact on our
business, financial condition and cash flows.

Our operations are dependent on our ability to attract and retain qualified personnel which are in high demand

in India, and any inability to retain qualified personnel could adversely affect our business, results of operations,
cash flows and financial condition.
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Our operations are dependent on our ability to attract and retain qualified personnel with relevant experience in the
hospitality industry.

According to the Ken Research, most branded hotels in India today are severely underpowered. The current shortfall in
the branded hotels space is 80,000-100,000 people. These hotels require 1.2-1.5 million people every year and this
requirement is growing at a CAGR of 5.5-5.6%. This shortage hampers operational efficiency, impacts service quality,
and constrains growth potential, posing a critical challenge for maintaining competitive standards and meeting
increasing market demands.

While we believe that we currently have adequate qualified personnel for our operations, we may not be able to
continuously attract or retain such personnel, or retain them on acceptable terms, given the demand for such personnel.
Competition for qualified personnel with relevant industry expertise in India is intense and the loss of the services of
our key personnel may adversely affect our business, results of operations, cash flows and financial condition. We may
require a long period of time to hire and train replacement personnel when qualified personnel terminate their
employment with our Company. We may also be required to increase our levels of employee compensation more rapidly
than in the past to remain competitive in attracting employees that our business requires. Set out below are details of
our employee benefit expenses for the periods/years indicated.

Fiscal
For the stub
period ended
September
Particulars 30, 2024 2024 2023 2022
Employee benefits expense (X in Lakhs) 608.81 541.85 268.30 112.59
. 19.12 17.54 15.97 18.68
Employee benefits expense as a % of total
revenue from operations (%)
Employee benefits expense as a % of total 2551 21.06 1711 14.68
expenses (%)

Existing or planned amenities and transportation infrastructure at or near our other hotels could be closed,
relocated, terminated, delayed or not completed at all. Disruptions of basic infrastructure such as electricity and
water supply could adversely affect our operations

We require a continuous supply of basic amenities such as electricity and water, and any disruption in the supply thereof
could affect the operations of our hotels and the services to our guests. We currently source our water requirements
from governmental water supply undertakings and water tankers and depend on state electricity boards and private
suppliers for our energy requirements. Further, we rely on air-conditioning systems to maintain cooling standards,
operations and services to our guests and any interruption in the functioning of such air conditioning systems could
cause serious reputation and operational risks at our hotels. Although we have diesel generators and back-up generators
to meet exigencies at all of our hotels, we cannot assure you that our hotels will have sufficient back-up during power
failures. While we have not faced any such disruption which led to a material adverse effect on our business and
operations in the stub period ended September 30, 2024 and Fiscals 2024, 2023, and 2022, any disruption in the future
could adversely affect our business operations. Further, any failure on our part to obtain alternate sources of electricity
or water, or address mechanical, electrical and plumbing failure, in a timely manner, and at an acceptable cost in the
future, may have an adverse effect on our business, cash flows, results of operations and financial condition.

The location of our hotels and their accessibility through transport services and related infrastructure are of significant
relevance to us. We cannot assure you that the transportation infrastructure and services near, or anticipated to be near,
our hotels will not be closed, relocated, terminated, delayed or remain incomplete. While we have not faced such
instances in the stub period ended September 30, 2024 and Fiscals 2024, 2023, and 2022, if the accessibility of any of
our hotels is adversely affected in the future, it could negatively affect their attractiveness and marketability which may,
in turn, may impact our business, cash flows, results of operations and financial condition.

We are exposed to a variety of risks associated with safety, security and crisis management including risks
associated with natural or man-made threats and accidents, which could cause an adverse impact on our business
and operations.

We are committed to ensuring the safety and security of our guests, customers, employees, and assets against natural
and man-made threats. These include, but are not limited to, exceptional events such as extreme weather, civil or
political unrest, violence and terrorism, serious and organized crime, fraud, employee dishonesty, cybercrime,
pandemics, fire and day-to-day accidents, health crises of guests, sexual harassment at the workplace and petty crimes
which could affect guest or customer or employee experience, cause loss of life, sickness or injury and result in
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compensation claims, fines from governmental authorities, litigation and impact our reputation. Serious incidents or a
combination of events could escalate into a crisis which, if managed poorly, could further expose us to significant
reputational damage. For details in relation to the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on our business, refer section
titled “Risk Factors — The COVID-19 pandemic affected our business and operations and, or any future pandemic or
widespread public health emergency in the future, could affect our business, financial condition, cash flows and results
of operations” on page 38 of this Red Herring Prospectus. In the event that we face a similar incident in the future, our
operations may be disrupted in a similar manner, which may result in major loss of revenues. Such incidents, whether
natural or man-made, could disrupt business operations and have a material adverse effect on our business, cash flows
and financial condition.

Further, any accidents or any criminal activity at our hotels may result in personal injury or loss of life, substantial
damage to or destruction of property and equipment resulting in the suspension of operations. Any of the foregoing
could also subject us to litigation, which may increase our expenses in the event we are found liable and adversely
impact our results of operation, cash flows and financial condition. While we have not faced any such events that led to
a material effect on our business or shutdown of our operations in the stub period ended September 30, 2024 and Fiscals
2024, 2023, and 2022, any such events in the future could affect our reputation and cause a loss of consumer confidence
in our business

We depend on the skills and experience of our Promoters, Key Managerial Personnel, Senior Management and
employees with technical expertise, and any inability to retain our Key Managerial Personnel and Senior
Management could adversely affect our business, results of operations, cash flows and financial condition.

We benefit from the strategic guidance of our Promoters, Mr. Ramesh Siva, who is also our Chairman and Managing
Director and Mrs. Vidya Ramesh, who is also our Whole Time Director. For further information, refer section titled
“Our Management — Biographies of Directors” on page 205 of this Red Herring Prospectus. If his/her involvement in
our business reduces in the future, we may be unable to implement our plans as anticipated or maintain administrative
control as we currently do, which in turn could adversely affect our business, results of operations, cash flows, financial
condition and prospects. As our Promoters are presently engaged in entities that are engaged in businesses similar to
ours, any increased focus on such other entities may divert his/her attention from our business. For further information,
refer section titled “Our Promoters and Promoter Group — Interests of our Promoters” on page 226 of this Red Herring
Prospectus. They are further supported by an experienced management team with demonstrated execution capabilities.

Our performance is dependent on the efforts and abilities of our Key Managerial Personnel and Senior Management,
including, Mr. Mithun Jayaraman, Chief Financial Officer, Ms. Aastha Kochar, Company Secretary, Mr. Sunil Kumar
Mathur, Chief Operating Officer, among others. For further information, refer section titled “Our Management — Key
Managerial Personnel and Senior Management” on page 205 of this Red Herring Prospectus. We believe that the inputs
and experience of our Key Managerial Personnel and Senior Management are valuable for the development of our
business and operations and the strategic directions taken by our Company.

Any inability on our part to retain our Key Managerial Personnel and Senior Management could adversely affect our
business, results of operations, cash flows and financial condition

The success of our business is dependent on our ability to anticipate and respond to customer requirements. Our
business may be affected if we are unable to identify and understand contemporary and evolving customer
preferences or if we are unable to deliver quality service as compared to our competitors.

We are engaged in the hospitality industry and are driven by the quality of service we provide and the expectations of
our customers. The hospitality industry is affected by changes in consumer preferences, national, regional and local
economic conditions and demographic trends. We need to evolve the services offered by us in order to compete with
popular new hospitality services, operation formats, concepts or trends that emerge from time to time. We strive to keep
up with evolving customer requirements to enhance our existing business and level of customer service. For further
information, refer section titled “Our Business - Our Growth Strategies” on page 162 of this Red Herring Prospectus.
Our inability to identify, anticipate, understand and address contemporary and evolving customer preferences or to
deliver quality service as compared to our competitors could materially and adversely affect our business.

The market perception of our hotels and services may change and this could impact our continued business success and
future profitability. If we are unable to adapt our services successfully or meet changes in consumer demands and trends,
our business, financial condition, cash flows and results of operations may be materially and adversely affected.

The quality and delivery of our services at our hotels are critical to the success of our business, which requires
enhancement to match the evolving customer preferences. These factors depend significantly on the effectiveness of
our quality control systems and standard operating procedures, which in turn, depend on the skills and experience of
our hospitality personnel, the quality training program, and our ability to ensure that such personnel adhere to our
policies and guidelines. Any failure or deterioration of our quality control systems, or our inability to deliver quality
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services as compared to our competitors, could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition, results
of operations, cash flows and reputation.

Several expenses incurred in our operations are relatively fixed in nature, and our inability to effectively manage
such expenses may have an adverse effect on our business, results of operations, cash flows and financial
condition.

A portion of the expenses incurred in our operations, such as employee related costs, insurance costs, lease rentals for
land, power and fuel and finance costs are relatively fixed in nature. Even if the demand for our hotels, or other services
is adversely affected, we will be required to continue to incur such costs to maintain our properties. The table below
sets out the details of such expenses for the periods/years indicated:

Particulars* For the stub Fiscal
period 2024 2023 2022
September 30,
2024
Amount | % of | Amount % of Amount | % of | Amount % of
(in% total (in% total (in ¥ total (in% total
Lakhs) | expe Lakhs) expens Lakhs) | expens | Lakhs) expens
nses es e es
Employee benefits 608.81 | 26% 547.85 21% 268.30 18% 112.59 15%
expense
Rent 523.67 | 22% 561.80 22% 248.50 16% 37.50 5%
Power and fuel 157.94 7% 187.46 7% 120.24 8% 60.78 8%
Finance Costs® 212,51 9% 352.63 13% 352.61 23% 304.72 40%
Total 1,502.93 | 63% | 1,649.74 63% 989.65 65% 515.59 67%

*The above costs have been classified as fixed expenses based on their nature and may include semi-variable or variable
components of expenses.
A Finance costs consist of interest expenses on borrowings from banks/financial institutions including NBFCs

Our hotels may also be subject to increases in property charges, tax or regulatory charges, utility costs, insurance costs
and administrative expenses. While we have not incurred any such increase in costs which led to a material effect on
our business or operations in the stub period ended September 30, 2024 and Fiscals 2024, 2023, and 2022, any such
occurrences in the future may adversely affect our business, results of operations, cash flows and financial condition.

The hospitality industry experiences periodic changes in demand and supply, which we may not be able to predict
accurately. Consequently, we may be unable to reduce fixed and recurring costs in a timely manner, or at all, in response
to a reduction in the demand for our services. As a result, during periods when the demand for our hotels decreases, the
resulting decline in our revenues could have an adverse effect on our net cash flow, margins and profits. This effect can
be more pronounced during periods of economic contraction, or slow economic growth. Similarly, when the demand
for hotel rooms increases, our profitability increases disproportionately to the increase in revenues due to economies of
scale and operating leverage. Further, during periods when we shut down our hotels for refurbishment and rebranding,
we continue to incur certain fixed costs, while not deriving any revenue from such property. Such occurrences could
adversely affect our business, results of operations, cash flows and financial condition

We are subject to a number of conditions and restrictions under our financing agreements. Any breach of the
terms under our financing arrangements or our inability to meet our obligations, including financial and other
covenants under our financing arrangements could adversely affect our business and financial condition.

Our financing agreements contain certain restrictive covenants that limit our ability to undertake certain types of actions,
which could adversely affect our business and financial condition. For example, some of our financing agreements
require our Company to obtain prior written consent from, or intimate our lenders for, among other things:

« undertaking a change in ownership/ constitution/ shareholding pattern/ control/ management control of the Company,
as applicable;

« effecting reduction/ change in shareholding of the Promoters in the Company;

« undertaking a significant change in the composition of the Board;

« effecting a change in directorship of the Promoters resulting in change in management control of the Promoters in the
Company, including pledge of shares by Promoters which may potentially change management control;

» formulation or entering into any scheme of amalgamation, reconstruction, demerger, merger, consolidation or
compromise;
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* incurring any material capital expenditure;
« undertaking a change in name or trade name of the Company; and
* making any amendments to the Memorandum of Association and Articles of Association.

We have obtained necessary consents from our lenders for the Offer and related actions.

As of February 28, 2025, our total borrowings amounted to X 4,547.03 Lakhs. Out of the total borrowings, as of the
same date, our secured borrowings amounted to I 4,447.03 Lakhs (i.e. 97.80% of total borrowings). Further, our
Company has also provided security in the nature of hypothecation/ mortgage over our properties. For details on our
outstanding indebtedness, refer section titled “Financial Indebtedness” beginning on page 289 of this Red Herring
Prospectus. Our ability to meet our obligations under our debt financing arrangements, which comprise term loans
agreements from time to time, and repayment of our outstanding borrowings will depend primarily on the cash generated
by our business.

While we are currently in compliance with the financial covenants specified in our financing arrangements, we cannot
assure you that we will continue to comply with all covenants with respect to our financing arrangements in the future
or that we will be able to secure waivers for any such non-compliance in a timely manner or at all. Any future inability
to comply with the covenants under our financing arrangements or to obtain necessary consents required thereunder
may lead to the termination of our credit facilities, levy of penal interest, acceleration of all amounts due under such
facilities and the enforcement of any security provided. If the obligations under any of our financing agreements are
accelerated, we may have to dedicate a substantial portion of our cash flow from operations to make payments under
such financing documents, thereby reducing the availability of cash for our working capital requirements and other
general corporate purposes. Further, during any period in which we are in default, we may be unable to raise, or face
difficulties raising, further financing. In addition, other third parties may have concerns over our financial position, and
it may be difficult to market our financial products. Any of these circumstances or other consequences could adversely
affect our business.

A substantial portion of the Net Proceeds will be utilized for the repayment, prepayment and/or redemption of
certain outstanding borrowings availed of by our Company Further, our funding requirements and the proposed
deployment of Net Proceeds have not been appraised by any bank or financial institution or any other
independent agency and are based on internal management estimates based on current market conditions.

As of February 28, 2025, we have total outstanding borrowings of X 4,547.03 Lakhs. We intend to utilize ¥ 3408.08
Lakhs of the Net Proceeds towards the repayment, prepayment and/ or redemption of a portion of the outstanding
borrowings availed by our Company i.e. 74.95% of total outstanding borrowings proposed to be repaid from the Net
Proceeds. For further details, refer “Objects of the Offer — Details of the Objects” on page 114 of this Red Herring
Prospectus.

The funding requirements and deployment of the Net Proceeds mentioned as a part of the objects of the Offer towards
repayment / prepayment/ redemption of all or certain portion of outstanding borrowing are based on internal
management estimates and have not been appraised by any bank or financial institution or other independent agency.
The proposed repayment or prepayment of the loans is subject to various factors including: (i) cost of the borrowing to
our Company/JV Partner Entities including applicable interest rates, (ii) any conditions attached to the borrowings
restricting our ability to prepay or repay the borrowings and time taken to fulfil, or obtain waivers for fulfilment of such
conditions, (iii) receipt of consents for prepayment from the respective lenders, as applicable (iv) terms and conditions
of such consents and waivers, (v) levy of any prepayment penalties and the quantum thereof, (vi) provisions of any
laws, rules and regulations governing such borrowings, and (vii) other commercial considerations including, among
others, the amount of the loan outstanding and the remaining tenor of the loan. At this stage, we cannot determine with
any certainty if we would require the Net Proceeds to meet any other expenditure or fund any exigencies arising out of
changes in our competitive environment, business conditions, economic conditions or other factors beyond our control.
In accordance with the SEBI ICDR Regulations and Sections 13(8) and 27 of the Companies Act, 2013, we cannot
undertake any variation in the utilisation of the Net Proceeds without obtaining the shareholders’ approval through a
special resolution. In the event of any such circumstances that require us to undertake variation in the disclosed
utilisation of the Net Proceeds, we may not be able to obtain the shareholders’ approval in a timely manner, or at all.
Any delay or inability in obtaining such shareholders’ approval may adversely affect our business or operations.

Further, our Promoters would be required to provide an exit opportunity to Shareholders who do not agree with our
proposal to change the objects of the Offer or vary the terms of such contracts, at a price and manner as prescribed by
SEBI and in accordance with the Companies Act and the SEBI ICDR Regulations. Additionally, the requirement on
Promoters to provide an exit opportunity to such dissenting shareholders may deter the Promoters from agreeing to the
variation of the proposed utilisation of the Net Proceeds, even if such variation is in the interest of our Company. In
light of these factors, we may not be able to undertake variation of objects of the Offer to use any unutilized proceeds
of the Offer, if any, or vary the terms of any contract referred to in this Red Herring Prospectus, even if such variation
is in the interest of our Company. This may restrict our Company’s ability to respond to any change in our business or
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financial condition by re-deploying the unutilised portion of Net Proceeds, if any, or varying the terms of contract,
which may adversely affect our business, results of operations, cash flows and financial condition.

The music we play in our hotels’ lobbies and restaurant may be protected under the Copyright Act. As a result
of such infringement our Company’s reputation may be damaged and the damages we may be required to pay,
could have an impact on our cash flow.

We operate in the hotel and hospitality sector and provide a range of amenities designed to enhance the guest experience,
including the playing of music in various common areas such as the lobby and restaurant. This practice, while integral
to our service offering, carries a risk of copyright infringement.

Our use of pre-recorded music in common areas like lobbies and restaurants is governed by licensing agreements.
Currently, we have not obtained the necessary permissions from a collective licensing group to play these recordings.
This could impact our ability to continue playing this music, which may adversely affect the customer experience and
our operations.

Despite our efforts to adhere to copyright laws for the music we use, there is no absolute assurance that we will be
shielded from potential claims. Such claims could result in legal disputes, financial penalties, and additional costs
associated with obtaining licenses or negotiating settlements. Moreover, prolonged legal battles or repeated claims could
adversely impact our company's reputation and guest perception, potentially affecting our business operations and
revenue streams. This inherent risk of copyright disputes remains a challenge that could influence our financial
performance and operational stability.

Our Registered Office is located on premises taken on a lease basis. There can be no assurance that this or leased
agreement will be renewed upon termination, or that we will be able to obtain other premises on leave and
license or lease basis on same or similar commercial terms or at all.

Our Registered Office, are located on leased premises. The lease term for our Registered Office is valid for Seventy-
Eight months and thereafter renewable for subsequent terms. There can be no assurance that this lease agreement will
be renewed upon termination, or that we will be able to obtain other premises on leave and license/lease basis on same
or similar commercial terms or at all. While we renew this lease agreement periodically in the ordinary course of
business, in the event that this existing lease is terminated or they are not renewed on commercially acceptable terms
or at all, we may suffer a disruption in our operations. Our inability to renew the lease agreement on commercially
favourable terms may lead to disruptions to our business and have a material adverse impact on our financial condition
and results of operations.

We are required to comply with data privacy regulations and any non-compliance in the future may have an
adverse impact on business, results of operations, cash flows and financial condition.

We are subject to data privacy laws, rules and regulations that regulate the use of customer data. Compliance with these
laws, rules and regulations may restrict our business activities, require us to incur significant expenditure and devote
considerable time to compliance efforts. The existing and emerging data privacy laws, rules and regulations limit the
extent to which we can use personal identifiable information and limit our ability to use third-party firms in connection
with customer data. Compliance with these regulations may require changes in the way data is collected, monitored,
shared and used, which could increase operating costs or limit the advantages from processing such data. In addition,
non-compliance with data privacy regulations may result in fines, damage to reputation or restrictions on the use or
transfer of information. Certain of these laws, rules and regulations are relatively new and their interpretation and
application remain uncertain and are also subject to change and may become more restrictive in the future. For instance,
the Digital Personal Data Protection Act, 2023 (“PDP Act”) which has received the assent of the President on August
11, 2023, provides for personal data protection and privacy of individuals, regulates cross border data transfer, and
provides several exemptions for personal data processing by the Government. It also provides for the establishment of
a Data Protection Board of India for taking remedial actions and imposing penalties for breach of the provisions of the
PDP Act. It imposes restrictions and obligations on data fiduciaries, resulting from dealing with personal data and
further, provides for levy of penalties for breach of obligations prescribed under the PDP Act.

In addition, our systems and proprietary data stored electronically, including our guests’ sensitive personal and
financial information, may be vulnerable to computer viruses, cybercrime, computer hacking and similar disruptions
from unauthorized tampering. Such technology systems may also be vulnerable to ransomware attacks, which may
block or restrict access to these systems and impair their functionality, unless certain ransom money is paid. If such
unauthorized use of our systems were to occur, data related to our customers and other proprietary information could
be compromised. The integrity and protection of our customer, employee and company data is critical to our business.
Our customers expect that we will adequately protect their personal information. A theft, loss, fraudulent or unlawful
use of customer, employee or company data could harm our reputation or result in remedial and other costs, liabilities,
fines or lawsuits.
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provide services, which could damage our reputation and adversely affect our business and operations.

We seek to improve our operational efficiencies by implementing holistic asset management plans for our hotels. These
include rationalizing sourcing costs, effective workforce management using technology to enhance productivity and
drive occupancy and efficient energy management. For instance, on technology front, the company intends to undertake
the following projects (a) Back-end process being integrated on cloud based SAAS platform for accounting,
procurement, HR etc (b) Planning for a full-blown cloud based SAAS HMS to enable revenue management, reservation
management, loyalty management. We have implemented some information technology (“IT”) to cover key areas of
our services. Our ability to provide consistent and high-quality services is dependent on our IT system for online
distribution, central reservation, customer relationship management system and financial accounting. We rely on our
IT infrastructure to provide us with connectivity and data backup across our locations and functions. Our operations
are vulnerable to interruption by events beyond our control such as fire, earthquake, power loss, telecommunications
or internet failures, terrorist attacks and computer viruses. Any breaches of our IT systems may require us to incur
further expenditure on repairs or more advanced security systems. A significant system failure could adversely affect
our ability to manage overall operations, thereby affecting our ability to deliver our services to our clients, affecting
our reputation and revenues.

Furthermore, our systems and technologies, including our website and database, could contain undetected errors or
‘bugs’ that could adversely affect the performance or could become outdated. We may not be able to replace or
introduce upgraded system quickly or within the budgeted costs for such systems/ upgrades. If we experience system
failures, our quality of service, customer satisfaction and operational efficiency could be severely harmed, which could
also affect our reputation.

Our inability to collect receivables in time or at all and default in payment from our corporate customers could
result in the reduction of our profits and affect our cash flows.

Our business depends on our ability to successfully obtain payments from our corporate customers for services
provided and settlement of transaction with franchisee partners and online portals. We provide credit periods to certain
of our corporate or private sector customers. In the hospitality sector, we extend credit to our customers based on
agreements entered into with them, which may lead to high receivables.

Set out below are details of our trade receivables including unbilled receivables and receivables less than 6 months as
of and for the Fiscals indicated:

[ In Lakhs
Particulars For the stub Fiscal
period ended 2024 2023 2022
September 30,
2024

Trade receivables 683.51 315.27 124.75 253.11
(including
unbilled revenue)
-Undisputed 94.11 22.69 23.25 18.81
Trade receivables
— considered good
- Unbilled
- Less Than 6 549.12 292.58 101.50 234.30
months

Macroeconomic conditions could result in financial difficulties, including insolvency or bankruptcy, for our customers,
and as a result could cause customers to delay payments to us, request modifications to their payment arrangements,
all of which could increase our receivables or default on their payment obligations to us.

Any increase in defaults by our customers in the future may compel us to utilize greater amounts of our operating
working capital, thereby adversely affecting our business, results of operations and cash flows.

We have not entered into any arrangements for alternate source of raising the funds required for our “Objects

of the Offer”. Any shortfall in raising/meeting the same could adversely affect our growth plans, operations and
financial performance.
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Our Company has not entered into any definitive arrangement for alternate source of funding and hence any failure or
delay on our part to mobilize the required resources or any shortfall in the Offer proceeds can adversely affect our
growth plan and profitability. The delay/shortfall in raising these Gross Proceeds could result in delay in implementing
the project and may require us to borrow the funds on unfavourable terms, both of which scenarios may affect the
business operation and financial performance of the Company.

40. An inability to maintain adequate insurance coverage in connection with our business may adversely affect our
operations and profitability.

We have obtained a number of insurance policies in connection with our operations and Hotels including property
insurance, furniture and fixture insurance, fire insurance and loss of profit. While we are of the opinion that the
insurance coverage which our Company maintains for its business would be reasonably adequate to cover the normal
risks associated with the operations of our business, we cannot assure you that any claim under the insurance policies
maintained by us will be honoured fully, in part or on time, or that we have taken out sufficient insurance to cover all
our losses. Our Company’s insurance policies may not provide adequate coverage in certain circumstances and are
subject to certain deductibles, exclusions and limits on coverage. In addition, our insurance coverage expires from time
to time.

We apply for the renewal of our insurance coverage in the normal course of our business, but we cannot assure you
that such renewals will be granted in a timely manner, at acceptable cost or at all. Further, we do not have a key man’s
insurance policy covering risks for our key managerial employees. To the extent that we suffer loss or damage for
which we did not obtain or maintain insurance, and which is not covered by insurance or exceeds our insurance
coverage or where our insurance claims are rejected, the loss would have to be borne by us and our results of operations,
cash flows and financial condition may be adversely affected.

41. Certain sections of this Red Herring Prospectus disclose information from the KEN Research which has been
prepared exclusively for the Offer and commissioned in connection with the Offer, and any reliance on such
information for making an investment decision in the Offer is subject to inherent risks.

We have commissioned and availed the services of an independent third party research agency KEN Research to prepare
the report titled “Industry Report - India Mid-Scale Hotels Market” dated September 25, 2024 (the “KEN Research”),
for purposes of inclusion of such information in this Red Herring Prospectus to understand the industry in which we
operate. A copy of the KEN Research is available on the website of our Company at https://grandcontinenthotels.com/.
The KEN Research has been exclusively commissioned and paid for by our Company for the purpose of confirming the
understanding on the Indian hospitality business and the future outlook of the industry in India. Certain information in
“Our Business” “Our Industry,” and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations”, on pages 162, 143 and 268, respectively, have been derived from the KEN Research. Further, the KEN
Research is prepared based on information as of specific dates, which may no longer be current or reflect current trends.
The KEN Research may also base its opinion on estimates, projections, forecasts and assumptions that may prove to be
incorrect. The KEN Research also highlights certain industry, peer and market data, which may be subject to
assumptions.

There are no standard data gathering methodologies in the industry in which we conduct our business, and
methodologies and assumptions vary widely amongst different industry sources. Furthermore, such assumptions may
change based on various factors. Further, the commissioned report is not a recommendation to invest or disinvest in our
Company and shall not be construed as specialist advice or investment advice. The KEN Research is a paid report and
is subject to various limitations and based upon certain assumptions that are subjective in nature. In addition, statements
from third parties that involve estimates are subject to change, and actual amounts may differ materially from those
included in this Red Herring Prospectus. In addition, we have not independently verified such third-party information.
Prospective investors are advised not to unduly rely on the KEN Research or extracts thereof as included in this Red
Herring Prospectus, when making their investment decisions.

This Red Herring Prospectus includes information derived from third party industry sources and from the KEN
Research, prepared by KEN India, pursuant to an engagement with our Company. We commissioned the KEN Research
for the purpose of confirming our understanding on the Indian hospitality business, together with the future outlook of
the hospitality industry in India. Neither we, nor the Promoters, nor Directors, nor any of the BRLM, nor any other
person connected with the Offer has independently verified the information in these reports and other industry sources
quoted in this Red Herring Prospectus, and while we believe them to be true, we cannot guarantee the accuracy,
adequacy or completeness of any such information. Moreover, these industry sources contain certain industry and
market data, based on certain assumptions. Accordingly, investors should read the industry-related disclosure in this
Prospectus in this context.

Further, the reports use certain methodologies for market sizing and forecasting. There are no standard data gathering
methodologies in the hospitality or commercial and retail sector, and methodologies and assumptions vary widely
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among different industry sources. Such assumptions may change based on various factors. We cannot assure you that
such assumptions are correct or will not change and, accordingly, our position in the market may differ from that
presented in this Red Herring Prospectus. Further, these reports or any other industry data or sources are not
recommendations to invest in our Company. Prospective investors are advised not to place undue reliance on the
industry reports or extracts thereof as included in this Prospectus, when making their investment decisions. Also, refer
sections titled “Certain Conventions, Use of Financial Information and Market Data and Currency of Presentation”
and “Our Industry” on pages 25 and 143, respectively.

We have in past entered into related party transactions and we may continue to do so in the future that may
involve conflicts of interest

As of March 31, 2024, we have entered into several related party transactions with our Promoters, Directors, etc. In
addition, we have in the past also entered into transactions with other related parties. For further details, please refer
Note 33 — in the section titled— “Restated Consolidated Financial Information” at page 234 of this Red Herring
Prospectus.While we believe that all our related party transactions have been conducted on an arm’s length basis, and
we confirm that the related party transactions entered into by the Company are in compliance with the relevant
provisions of Companies Act and other applicable laws, we cannot assure you that we may not have achieved more
favourable terms had such transactions been entered into with unrelated parties. There can be no assurance that such
transactions, individually or taken together, will not have an adverse effect on our business, prospects, results of
operations and financial condition, including because of potential conflicts of interest or otherwise. In addition, our
business and growth prospects may decline if we cannot benefit from our relationships with them in the future.

An inability to establish and maintain effective internal controls could lead to an adverse effect on our business,
results of operations, cash flows and financial condition.

Our success depends on our ability to effectively utilize our resources and maintain internal controls. We take reasonable
steps to maintain appropriate procedures for compliance and disclosure. We also maintain effective internal controls
over our financial reporting, to enable us to produce reliable financial reports and prevent financial fraud. We
periodically test and update our internal processes and systems and are exposed to operational risks arising from the
potential inadequacy or failure of internal processes or systems, and our actions may not be sufficient to ensure effective
internal checks and balances in all circumstances. Maintaining such internal controls requires human diligence and
compliance and is therefore subject to lapses in judgment and failures that result from human error. Our efforts in
improving our internal control systems may not result in eliminating all risks. If we are not successful in discovering
and eliminating weaknesses in our internal controls, our ability to manage our business effectively may materially and
adversely be affected. While we have not faced any lapses in or internal controls in the stub period ended September
30, 2024 and Fiscals 2024, 2023, and 2022, any such lapses in the future may lead to an adverse effect on our business,
financial condition, cash flows and results of operations.

There is outstanding litigation pending against our Company, the promoter/ promoter group/ directors of the
Company/ group companies by any regulatory authority in India or overseas which, if determined adversely,
could affect our business, results of operations, cash flows and financial condition

Our Company is currently involved in legal proceedings that are pending at different levels of adjudication before
various courts. In the event of any adverse rulings or the levying of penalties, we may need to make payments or
provisions for future payments, which could potentially increase our expenses and current or contingent liabilities.
Additionally, there are outstanding litigation proceedings involving our company, our promoter, our directors and our
group companies.

A summary of these legal and other proceedings is given as follows:

Name Criminal Civil or | Statutory Disciplinary Tax Financial
Proceedings | Other or actions by the | claims Implications
Material Regulatory | SEBI or Stock to the Extent
pending Actions Exchange against Quantifiable
Litigation the Promoter (Amount in ¥
Lakhs)™*
1. Company
Against  the Nil Nil Nil Nil 15 18.90
Company
By the Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil
Company
2. JV Partner Entities
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Against  JV Nil Nil Nil Nil 5 0.17
Partner
Entities

By JV Partner Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil
Entities

3. Directors/Promoters

Against  the Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil
directors/
promoter

By the Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil
directors/
promoter
4. Group Companies
Against  the Nil Nil Nil Nil 11 5.20
group

Companies
By the group Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil

Companies
to the extent quantifiable
*Amount includes interest and penalty.

As on the date of this Red Herring Prospectus, there are no outstanding litigation proceedings against our Group
Companies, the outcome of which may have a material impact on our Company. Further, the above-mentioned
litigations in relation to the Company are not so major that the survival of the Company is dependent on these cases.

The amount mentioned above may be subject to additional interest, rates or penalties being levied by the concerned
authorities for delay in making payment or otherwise. For further details relating to outstanding litigations, refer chapter
titled ““Outstanding Litigation and Material Development” beginning on page 300 of this Red Herring Prospectus.

There can be no assurance that the Objects of the Offer will be achieved within the time frame anticipated or at
all, or that the deployment of the Net Proceeds in the manner intended by us will result in any increase in the
value of your investment. Further, the plan for deployment of the Net Proceeds has not been appraised by any
bank or financial institution.

Our Company intends to use approximately X 5,087.32 lakhs of the Net Proceeds excluding General Corporate Purpose,
for Expansion of our Hotel properties in India, Repayment/ prepayment, in full or in part, of certain outstanding
borrowings availed by our Company. Our Board will have flexibility in temporarily investing the Net Proceeds as well
as its inter se allocation across various heads, as disclosed in the section titled “Objects of the Offer” on page 114 of this
Red Herring Prospectus. Further, the plans for deployment of the Net Proceeds are in accordance with our management’s
estimates and have not been appraised by any bank or any financial institution. Although we have obtained Cost
Assessment Reports which highlights the estimated cost of the project that will be utilised from the Net Proceeds, our
Company may have to revise its management estimates from time to time on account of various factors beyond its
control, such as market conditions, competitive environment, and interest or exchange rate fluctuations and
consequently its requirements may change.

In the event there is a shortfall in the Gross Proceeds raised from this Offer, we may be unable to commission hotel
properties mentioned in the section titled “Objects of the Offer”” on page 114 of this Red Herring Prospectus. In case of
any shortfall of the proceeds raised from this Offer, there can be no assurance that we will be able to raise the funds
through other sources to complete the same. In case of shortfall in the proceeds of this Offer which are to be utilized for
meeting the objects of the Offer, the shortfall will be met by such means as are available to our Company at such future
time and at the discretion of the management, including by way of cash available with us or by any other means
permissible under law. We cannot assure that we will be able to arrange for adequate cash or will be able to procure
further loans to meet the funding requirements. Any failure to meet the additional funding requirements will have a
material adverse effect on the implementation of the stated object.

We may also be required to adhere to certain restrictive covenants as regards raising of finance for the facility from
means other than those sanctioned under our present financing documents. Any failure or delay on our part to raise
funds from the Offer or any shortfall in the Fresh Issue proceeds and subsequent inability of our Company to source
alternate means of finance may delay the implementation of our object and could adversely affect our growth plans.

Our Promoter & Promoter Group have extended personal guarantees and personal properties as collateral

security with respect to various loan facilities availed by our Company. Revocation of any or all of these personal
guarantees may adversely affect our business operations and financial condition.
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Our Promoters, have provided personal guarantees for the working capital and term loan facilities availed by the
Company. Further, the properties charged with the bank for the working capital and term loan availed by the Company,
are owned by Our Company. In the event any of these guarantees are revoked or if the personal property charged with
the Bank is withdrawn, the Bank may require us to furnish alternate guarantees or may demand a repayment of the
outstanding amounts under the said facilities sanctioned or may even terminate the facilities sanctioned to us. There can
be no assurance that our Company will be able to arrange such alternative securities in a timely manner or at all. If the
guarantees are invoked or if the repayment of loan is accelerated or the Bank enforces any of the restrictive covenants
or exercise their options under the relevant debt financing arrangement the ability of our Company to continue its
business operations could be adversely affected, carrying our operations and use of assets may be hampered significantly
and the Bank may demand the repayment of the entire outstanding amount and this in turn may also affect our further
borrowing abilities. For further details please refer to the chapter titled “Financial Indebtedness” on page 289 of this
Red Herring Prospectus.

Our Promoters and Promoter Group will continue to exert voting control over our Company after completion
of the Offer, which may limit your ability to influence the outcome of matters submitted for approval of our
shareholders.

As on the date of this Red Herring Prospectus, our Promoters and Promoter Group held 75.02% of the pre-issued,
subscribed, and paid-up equity share capital of our Company. Post listing, our Promoters and Promoter Group will
continue to exercise influence over us through their shareholding after the Offer. The post-Offer shareholding of our
Promoter and Promoter Group will be [e] %. In accordance with applicable laws and regulations, our Promoters will
have the ability to exercise, directly or indirectly, an influence over our business.

The average cost of acquisition of Equity Shares held by our Promoter could be significantly lower than the offer
Price.

Our Promoters’ average cost of acquisition of Equity Shares in our Company is as follows:

Name of the Promoter & Promoter | No. of Shares held Average Cost of Acquisition per
Group Share (In 3)*

Mr. Ramesh Siva * 94,50,000 2.81
Mrs. Vidya Ramesh 45,47,300 6.36

*Data as certified by Statutory Auditor, Bhuta Shah & Co LLP, Chartered Accountants by way of their certificate dated
March 13, 2025.

This average cost of acquisition may be lower than the offer price as may be decided by our Company in consultation
with the Lead Manager.

Our Company will not receive any proceeds from the Offer for Sale. The Selling Shareholder will receive the net
proceeds from the Offer for Sale.

This Offer comprises an Offer for Sale of up to 3,28,800 Equity Shares aggregating up to X [e] Lakhs. The proceeds
from the Offer for Sale will be paid to Promoter Selling Shareholder (after deducting applicable Offer related expenses
and relevant taxes thereon) and our Company will not receive any such proceeds. For further details, refer sections titled
“Obijects of the Offer” and “Capital Structure” beginning on pages 114 and 100, respectively.

Our Equity Shares have never been publicly traded, and after the Offer, the Equity Shares may experience price
and volume fluctuations, and an active trading market for the Equity Shares may not develop. Further, the Offer
Price may not be indicative of the market price of the Equity Shares after the Offer

Prior to the Offer, there has been no public market for the Equity Shares, and an active trading market on the Stock
Exchange may not develop or be sustained after the Offer. Listing and quotation does not guarantee that a market for
the Equity Shares will develop, or if developed, the liquidity of such market for the Equity Shares. Although we currently
intend that the Equity Shares will remain listed on the Stock Exchange, there is no guarantee of the continued listing of
the Equity Shares. Failure to maintain our listing on the Stock Exchange or other securities markets could adversely
affect the market value of the Equity Shares.

The Offer Price of the Equity Shares is proposed to be determined through a fixed price process in accordance with the
SEBI ICDR Regulations and may not be indicative of the market price of the Equity Shares at the time of
commencement of trading of the Equity Shares or at any time thereafter. The market price of the Equity Shares may be
subject to significant fluctuations in response to, among other factors, variations in our operating results of our
Company, market conditions specific to the industry we operate in, developments relating to India, volatility in securities
markets in jurisdictions other than India, variations in the growth rate of financial indicators, variations in revenue or
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earnings estimates by research publications, and changes in economic, legal and other regulatory factors. You may not
be able to resell your Equity Shares at a price that is attractive to you.

There is no guarantee that the Equity Shares issued pursuant to the Offer will be listed on the SME Platform of
NSE Limited in a timely manner or at all.

In accordance with Indian law and practice, permission for listing and trading of the Equity Shares issued pursuant to
the Offer will not be granted until after the Equity Shares have been issued and allotted. Approval for listing and trading
will require all relevant documents authorizing the issuance of Equity Shares to be submitted. There could be a failure
or delay in listing the Equity Shares on the SME Platform of NSE Limited due to delay in submission of required
documents/ completion of formalities/compliance with required laws by the issuer. Any failure or delay in obtaining
the approval would restrict your ability to dispose of your Equity Shares.

Our future fund requirements, in the form of further issue of capital or securities and/or loans taken by us, may
be prejudicial to the interest of the Shareholders depending upon the terms on which they are eventually raised.

We may require additional capital from time to time depending on our business needs. Any further issue of Equity
Shares or convertible securities would dilute the shareholding of the existing Shareholders and such issuance may be
done on terms and conditions, which may not be favourable to the then existing Shareholders.

If such funds are raised in the form of loans or debt or preference shares, then it may substantially increase our fixed
interest/dividend burden and decrease our cash flows, thus adversely affecting our business, results of operations and
financial condition.

Our Company has not paid dividends on Equity Shares in the past and our ability to pay dividends in the future
will depend upon future earnings, financial condition, cash flows, working capital requirements, capital
expenditures and restrictive covenants in our financing arrangements.

The amount of our future dividend payments, if any, will depend upon various factors including our future earnings,
financial condition, cash flows, working capital requirements and capital expenditures. Since incorporation, our
Company has not paid any dividend as the profits of our Company were invested in our Company for the purposes of
incurring capital expenditure. There can be no assurance that we will be able to declare dividends. Any future
determination as to the declaration and payment of dividends will be at the discretion of our Board of Directors and will
depend on various factors.

None of the directors of our Company have any prior experience of directorship of any listed entity. Inexperience
of director(s) to act as directors in any other listed entity within India may impact the business operations and
performance of the company

Majority of our Directors do not have prior experience as directors of companies listed on recognized stock exchange.
While our Directors have experience in the hospitality industry, directors of listed companies have a wide range of
responsibilities, including, among others, ensuring compliance with continuing listing obligations, monitoring and
overseeing management, operations, financial condition and trajectory of the company. We cannot assure you that our
Directors will be able to adequately manage our Company after we become a listed company, due to their lack of prior
experience as directors of companies listed on recognized stock exchange. Accordingly, we will get limited guidance
from them and accordingly, may fail to maintain and improve the effectiveness of our disclosure controls, procedures
and internal control as required for a listed entity under the applicable law.

We have certain contingent liabilities and capital commitments disclosed in our financial statements and our
financial condition could be adversely affected if any of these contingent liabilities or capital commitments
materialize.

The following is a summary table of our contingent liabilities and capital commitments as per AS — Provisions,
Contingent Liabilities, as of the dates indicated:

[T in lakhs]

Particulars For the stub | Fiscal 2024 Fiscal 2023 Fiscal 2022

period

ended

September

30, 2024
Estimated amount of unexecuted contracts 112.92 83.56 4.47 -
on capital account not provided for
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Amount of liability outstanding for the year 18.99 18.98 13.16 11.97
under Income Tax Act
Amount of liability outstanding for the year 10.13 10.13 10.13 10.13
under GST Act

Our contingent liabilities may become actual liabilities. We cannot assure you that we will not incur similar or increased
levels of contingent liabilities or capital commitments in the future. If any of these contingent liabilities materialize or
if at any time, we are compelled to pay all or a material proportion of these contingent liabilities, our financial condition,
cash flows and results of operation may be adversely affected.

We have undertaken, and may continue to undertake, strategic acquisitions, joint ventures and investments,
which may not perform in line with our expectations or may be prone to other contingencies.

We have historically undertaken joint ventures to expand portfolio of our hotel properties and service offerings. As part
of our growth strategy, we are focused on evaluating opportunities to grow through inorganic means, in particular
through joint venture arrangement or acquisitions of existing hotel properties, which can be operated by us.

Our Company has entered into a joint venture (JV) arrangement structured as a partnership firm under the name M/s
Grand Seven Hill Hotels (GSHH) through a partnership deed with Mr. R. Vijay Raghava Reddy, Mr. Ayush Vijay
Reddy and Mr. Adith Vijay Reddy to operate one of our key properties namely Hotel Golden Tulip — Tirupati, located
in Andhra Pradesh (Tirupati). Our Company has also entered into another JV arrangement structured as a partnership
firm under the name ‘M/s Grand Continent Hotels - 1’(GCH-1) through a partnership deed with LiftX and to operate
one of our key property namely Hotel Regenta Inn - ORR Mahadevapura located in Karnataka, under the Golden
Tulip/Tulip Inn brand. For further details, refer section titled “History and Certain Corporate Matters — Joint Venture
Agreements” beginning on page 196 of this Red Herring Prospectus.

The success of joint ventures that we undertake depends, in part, on our ability to realize the anticipated growth
opportunities, financial and operational, and synergies from these businesses, which require substantial management
attention and efforts as well as additional expenditures. In the event that we are not able to pursue any opportunities on
account of the terms and conditions stipulated in the joint venture agreement/ partnership deed, our business, financial
condition and results of operations may be adversely affected.

We could be adversely affected due to misconduct, errors or frauds of our employees that are difficult to detect
and any such incidents could adversely affect our financial condition, results of operations and reputation.

Employee misconduct, errors or frauds could expose us to business risks or losses, including regulatory sanctions and
damage our reputation. There can be no assurance that we will be able to detect or deter such misconduct. Moreover,
the precautions we take to prevent and detect such activity may not be effective in all cases. Our employees may also
commit errors that could subject us to claims and proceedings for alleged negligence, as well as regulatory actions on
account of which our business, financial condition, results of operations and goodwill could be adversely affected.

Our business is also exposed to the risk of theft, fraud, pilferage by employees, misappropriation of funds or inventory,
and other similar misconduct which could result in losses at the hotels in our portfolio. We have not experienced any
instances of employee theft, fraud, misappropriation of funds or other similar misconduct in the past three Financial
Years and the six months period ended September 30, 2024 that materially affected our business and results of
operations. However, an increase in the levels of misappropriation at the hotels in our portfolio may require us to deploy
more security staff and increase surveillance, which would increase our operational costs and adversely affect our
profitability. While we incur expenses on hiring security personnel and installing surveillance equipment at the hotels
in our portfolio in order to mitigate the risk of theft, fraud, pilferage by employees, misappropriation of funds or
inventory, and other similar incidents which result in misappropriation at the hotels in our portfolio, we cannot assure
you that we will be successful in preventing all such incidents in the future, which may expose us to litigation and/or
have an adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows. In addition, while we
maintain insurance coverage for burglary in our portfolio, such insurance may not be sufficient to cover losses on
account of any significant thefts.

We rely on independent contractors for renovation of our hotel properties and any failure on their part to
perform their obligations could adversely affect our business, results of operations, and cash flows

We utilize independent contractors for renovation of our hotel properties. If a contractor fails to perform its obligations
satisfactorily or within the prescribed time periods with regard to a project, or terminates its arrangement with us, we
may be unable to complete the project within the intended timeframe and at the intended cost. In the past three Financial
Years, we have not incurred any losses as a result of our independent contractor’s failure to perform their obligations.
However, we cannot assure you that the services rendered by any of our contractors will always be satisfactory or match
our requirements for quality and complete the project work in timely manner.
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The requirements of being a public listed company may strain our resources and impose additional
requirements.

With the increased scrutiny of the affairs of a public listed company by shareholders, regulators and the public at large,
we will incur significant legal, accounting, corporate governance and other expenses that we did not incur in the past.
We will also be subject to the provisions of the listing agreements signed with the Stock Exchange. In order to meet our
financial control and disclosure obligations, significant resources and management supervision will be required. As a
result, management’s attention may be diverted from other business concerns, which could have an adverse effect on
our business and operations. There can be no assurance that we will be able to satisfy our reporting obligations and/or
readily determine and report any changes to our results of operations in a timely manner as other listed companies. In
addition, we will need to increase the strength of our management team and hire additional legal and accounting staff
with appropriate public company experience and accounting knowledge, and we cannot assure that we will be able to
do so in a timely manner. Failure of our Company to meet the listing requirements of stock exchange could lead to
imposition of huge penalties, if any including suspension of trading, imposed by the Stock Exchange.

We have not yet placed orders in relation to the funding capital expenditure requirements towards hotel
properties which is proposed to be financed from the Net Proceeds of the Offer. In the event of any delay in
placing the orders, or in the event the vendors are not able to execute the contract in a timely manner, or at all,
may result in time and cost over-runs and our business, prospects and results of operations may be adversely
affected.

We intend to use a part of the Net Proceeds from the Offer for funding capital expenditure requirements of five hotel
premises aggregating to X 1,679.24 Lakhs (100% of the capital expenditure that is proposed to be funded through Net
Proceeds), for further details, refer section titled “Objects of the Offer — Details of the Objects of the Offer — Expansion
of our Hotel properties in India” on page 114 of this Red Herring Prospectus. We are yet to place orders for the capital
expenditure for the proposed plan. We have not entered into any definitive contract to utilize the net proceeds for this
object of the Offer. Additionally, in the event of any delay in placement of such orders, the proposed schedule of
implementation and deployment of the Net Proceeds may be extended or may vary accordingly. We cannot assure you
that we will be able to undertake such capital expenditure within the cost indicated by such quotations or that there will
not be cost escalations. Our proposed plan may be subject to potential problems and uncertainties that projects may face
including cost overruns or delays. Problems that could adversely affect our plans include increased costs of materials
or manpower, delays in completion, defects in design or construction, the possibility of unanticipated future regulatory
restrictions, delays in receiving governmental, statutory, environmental and other regulatory approvals, incremental pre-
operating expenses, taxes and duties, environment and ecology costs and other external factors which may not be within
the control of our management. Further, there can be no assurance that our budgeted costs may be sufficient to meet our
proposed capital expenditure requirements. If our actual capital expenditures significantly exceed our budgets, or even
if our budgets were sufficient to cover these projects, we may not be able to achieve the intended economic benefits of
these hotel properties, which in turn may materially and adversely affect our financial condition, results of operations,
cash flows, and prospects.

EXTERNAL RISKS

1.

A substantial portion of our business and operations are located in India and as such, we are subject to
regulatory, economic, social and political uncertainties in India, many of which are beyond our control.

The Indian economy and capital markets are influenced by economic, political and market conditions in India and
globally. We are incorporated in India, and almost all of our business and all of our personnel are located in India.
Consequently, our business, cash flows and results of operations will be affected by a number of macroeconomic and
demographic factors in India which are beyond our control. In particular, our total income and profitability are strongly
correlated to consumer discretionary spending in India, which is influenced by general economic conditions, salaries
and employment levels and consumer confidence. Recessionary economic cycles, a protracted economic slowdown, a
worsening economy, increased unemployment, increased energy prices, rising interest rates or other industry-wide cost
pressures could also affect consumer behaviour and spending for BPC products and lead to a decline in our total income
and profitability.

While our results may not necessarily track India’s economic growth figures, the Indian economy’s performance affects

the environment in which we operate. These factors could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition,
cash flows and results of operations.
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Any slowdown or perceived slowdown in the Indian economy, or in specific sectors of the Indian economy, could
adversely affect our business, results of operations, cash flows and financial condition and the price of the Equity Shares.

Any Penalty or demand raised by statutory authorities in future will affect financial position of the Company

Our Company is engaged in the hospitality industry, which attracts tax liability such as Goods and Service tax and
Income tax as per the applicable provisions of Law. We are also subject to the labour laws like depositing of
contributions with Provident Fund (PF), Employee State Insurance (ESI) etc. Any demand or penalty raised by the
concerned authority in future for late payments or non-payments for any previous year and current year will affect the
financial position of the Company. For instance, our company in the past had delayed filing of GSTR1/ GSTR3B due
to operational reasons and accordingly paid late fees and penalties on the same. Any demand or penalty raised by the
concerned GST/ Income Tax/ EPF/ESI/PF or any other statutory authority for such late filings may affect the financial
position of the company. The Company has now implemented strict monitoring and improved processes to ensure timely
filing of returns and timely statutory payments in the future.

Changing laws, rules and regulations and legal uncertainties, including any adverse application of corporate
and tax laws, may adversely affect our business, cash flows, prospects and results of operations.

The regulatory and policy environment in which we operate is evolving and subject to change. Such changes, including
the instances mentioned below, may adversely affect our business, cash flows, results of operations and prospects, to
the extent that we are unable to suitably respond to and comply with any such changes in applicable law and policy.

For instance, Gol has notified the Finance Act, 2021 (“Finance Act”), which introduced various amendments to the
taxation laws in India. Under the Finance Act, in the absence of a specific provision under an agreement, the liability to
pay stamp duty in case of sale of securities through stock exchange will be on the buyer, while in other cases of transfer
for consideration through a depository, the onus will be on the transferor. The stamp duty for transfer of securities other
than debentures, on a delivery basis is specified at 0.015% and on a non-delivery basis is specified at 0.003% of the
consideration amount. Further, Gol has announced the union budget for Fiscal 2025 and the Ministry of Finance has
notified the Finance Act, 2024 (“Finance Act 2024”). There is no certainty on the impact that the Finance Act 2024 may
have on our business and operations or on the industry in which we operate. We cannot predict whether any amendments
made pursuant to the Finance Act 2024 would have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and
results of operations. Unfavourable changes in or interpretations of existing, or the promulgation of new, laws, rules
and regulations including foreign investment and stamp duty laws governing our business and operations could result
in us being deemed to be in contravention of such laws and may require us to apply for additional approvals.

In India, the Supreme Court, in a judgment delivered on 24 August 2017, has held that the right to privacy is a
fundamental right. Following this judgment, the Government of India is considering the enactment of the Personal Data
Protection Bill, 2022 on personal data protection for implementing organizational and technical measures in processing
personal data and lays down norms for cross-border transfer of personal data and to ensure the accountability of entities
processing personal data. The enactment of the aforesaid bill may introduce stricter data protection norms for a company
such as us and may impact our processes.

Further, the Gol introduced new laws relating to social security, occupational safety, industrial relations and wages
namely, the Code on Social Security, 2020 (“Social Security Code”), the Occupational Safety, Health and Working
Conditions Code, 2020, the Industrial Relations Code, 2020 and the Code on Wages, 2019, which consolidate, subsume
and replace numerous existing central labor legislations, were to take effect from April 1,2021 (collectively, the “Labour
Codes”). The Gol has deferred the effective date of implementation of the respective Labour Codes, and they shall come
into force from such dates as may be notified. Different dates may also be appointed for the coming into force of
different provisions of the Labour Codes. While the rules for implementation under these codes have not been finalized,
as an immediate consequence, the coming into force of these codes could increase the financial burden on our Company,
which may adversely impact our profitability. For instance, under the Social Security Code, a new concept of deemed
remuneration has been introduced, such that where an employee receives more than half (or such other percentage as
may be notified by the Central Government) of their total remuneration in the form of allowances and other amounts
that are not included within the definition of wages under the Social Security Code, the excess amount received shall
be deemed as remuneration and accordingly be added to wages for the purposes of the Social Security Code and the
compulsory contribution to be made towards the employees’ provident fund.

Unfavourable changes in or interpretations of existing, or the promulgation of new, laws, rules and regulations including
foreign investment and stamp duty laws governing our business and operations could result in us being deemed to be in
contravention of such laws and may require us to apply for additional approvals. We may incur increased costs and
other burdens relating to compliance with new requirements, which may also require significant management time and
other resources, and any failure to comply may adversely affect our business, cash flows, results of operations and
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prospects. Uncertainty in the application, interpretation or implementation of any amendment to, or change in, governing
law, regulation or policy, including by reason of an absence, or a limited body, of administrative or judicial precedent
may be time consuming as well as costly for us to resolve and may impact the viability of our current business or restrict
our ability to grow our businesses in the future.

A downgrade in ratings of India, may affect the trading price of the Equity Shares.

India’s sovereign debt rating could be downgraded due to several factors, including changes in tax or fiscal policy or a
decline in India’s foreign exchange reserves, all which are outside the control of our Company. Our borrowing costs
and our access to the debt capital markets depend significantly on the sovereign credit ratings of India. Any adverse
revisions to India’s credit ratings for domestic and overseas debt by international rating agencies may adversely impact
our ability to raise additional external financing, and the interest rates and other commercial terms at which such
additional financing is available. This could have an adverse effect on our business and future financial performance,
our ability to obtain financing for capital expenditures and the trading price of the Equity Shares.

Our ability to raise foreign debt may be constrained by Indian law.

As an Indian company, we are subject to exchange controls that regulate borrowing in foreign currencies. Such
regulatory restrictions limit our financing sources and could constrain our ability to obtain financings on competitive
terms and refinance existing indebtedness. In addition, we cannot assure you that any required regulatory approvals for
borrowing in foreign currencies will be granted to us without onerous conditions, or at all. Limitations on raising foreign
debt may have an adverse effect on our business growth, financial condition, cash flows and results of operations.

Financial instability in other countries may cause increased volatility in Indian financial markets

The Indian market and the Indian economy are influenced by economic and market conditions in other countries,
including conditions in the United States, Europe and certain emerging economies in Asia. Financial turmoil in Asia,
Russia and elsewhere in the world in recent years has adversely affected the Indian economy. Any worldwide financial
instability may cause increased volatility in the Indian financial markets and, directly or indirectly, adversely affect the
Indian economy and financial sector and us.

Furthermore, economic developments globally can have a significant impact on India. In particular, the global economy
has been negatively impacted by the conflict between Russia and Ukraine. Governments in the United States, United
Kingdom, and European Union have imposed sanctions on certain products, industry sectors, and parties in Russia. The
conflict could negatively impact regional and global financial markets and economic conditions, and result in global
economic uncertainty and increased costs of various commodities, raw materials, energy and transportation. In addition,
recent increases in inflation and interest rates globally, including in India, could adversely affect the Indian economy.

In addition, China is one of India’s major trading partners and there are rising concerns of a possible slowdown in the
Chinese economy as well as a strained relationship with India, which could have an adverse impact on the trade relations
between the two countries. The sovereign rating downgrades for Brazil and Russia (and the imposition of sanctions on
Russia) have also added to the growth risks for these markets. These factors may also result in a slowdown in India’s
export growth. Any significant financial disruption could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition,
cash flows and results of operation.

If inflation rises in India, increased costs may result in a decline in profits and result of operations may
be adversely affected.

Inflation rates in India have been volatile in recent years, and such volatility may continue. Increasing inflation in India
could cause arise in the costs of third-party suppliers and contract manufacturers, rents, wages, raw materials and other
expenses. In recent years, India has experienced consistently high inflation, especially and increasingly so in recent
months, which has increased the price of, among other things, our rent, raw materials and wages. Further, while the
Government of India has previously initiated economic measures to combat high inflation rates, it is unclear whether
these measures will remain in effect, and there can be no assurance that Indian inflation levels will not worsen and rise
in the future. If we are unable to increase our revenues sufficiently to offset our increased costs due to inflation, it could
have an adverse effect on our business, prospects, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

Subsequent to the listing of the Equity Shares, we may be subject to pre-emptive surveillance measures, such as
the Additional Surveillance Measures and the Graded Surveillance Measures by the Stock Exchange in order to
enhance the integrity of the market and safeguard the interest of investors.

Subsequent to the listing of the Equity Shares, we may be subject to Additional Surveillance Measures (“ASM”) and
Graded Surveillance Measures (“GSM”) by the Stock Exchange. These measures are in place to enhance the integrity
of the market and safeguard the interest of investors. The criteria for shortlisting any security trading on the Stock
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Exchange for ASM is based on objective criteria, which includes market based parameters such as high low price
variation, concentration of client accounts, close to close price variation, market capitalization, average daily trading
volume and its change, and average delivery percentage, among others. Securities are subject to GSM when its price is
not commensurate with the financial health and fundamentals of the issuer. Specific parameters for GSM include net
worth, net fixed assets, price to earnings ratio, market capitalization and price to book value, among others. Factors
within and beyond our control may lead to our securities being subject to GSM or ASM. In the event our Equity Shares
are subject to such surveillance measures implemented by any of the Stock Exchange, we may be subject to certain
additional restrictions in connection with trading of our Equity Shares such as limiting trading frequency (for example,
trading either allowed once in a week or a month) or freezing of price on upper side of trading which may have an
adverse effect on the market price of our Equity Shares or may in general cause disruptions in the development of an
active trading market for our Equity Shares.

Our business may be adversely affected by adverse application or interpretation of competition laws in India.

The Competition Act, 2002, as amended (“Competition Act”), regulates and was enacted for the purpose of preventing
practices that have or are likely to have an appreciable adverse effect on competition (“AAEC”) in the relevant market
in India and mandates the Competition Commission of India (the “CCI”) to separate such practices. Under the
Competition Act, any formal or informal arrangement, understanding or action in concert, which causes or is likely to
cause an AAEC, is considered void and results in the imposition of substantial monetary penalties. Further, any
agreement among competitors which directly or indirectly involves the determination of purchase or sale prices, limits
or controls production, supply, markets, technical development, investment or provision of services, shares the market
or source of production or provision of services, including by way of allocation of geographical area, type of goods or
services in the relevant market or directly or indirectly results in bid-rigging or collusive bidding, is presumed to have
an AAEC and is considered void. The Competition Act also prohibits abuse of a dominant position by any enterprise.
If it is proved that the contravention committed by a company took place with the consent or connivance or is attributable
to any neglect on the part of any director, manager, secretary or other officer of such company, that person shall also be
guilty of the contravention and may be punished.

The Competition Act aims to, among other things, prohibit all agreements and transactions which may have an AAEC
on competition in India. The Competition Act also includes provisions in relation to combinations which require any
acquisition of shares, voting rights, assets or control or mergers or amalgamations, which cross the prescribed asset and
turnover based thresholds, to be mandatorily notified to and pre-approved by the CCI. While certain agreements entered
into by us could be within the purview of the Competition Act, the impact of the provisions of the Competition Act on
the agreements entered into by us cannot be predicted with certainty at this stage. Further, the CCI has extra-territorial
powers and can investigate any agreements, abusive conduct or combination occurring outside India if such agreement,
conduct or combination has an AAEC in India. In the event we pursue an acquisition in the future, we may be affected,
directly or indirectly, by the application or interpretation of any provision of the Competition Act, or any enforcement
proceedings initiated by the CClI, or any adverse publicity that may be generated due to scrutiny or prosecution by the
CCl, or if any prohibition or substantial penalties are levied under the Competition Act, it would adversely affect our
business, financial condition, cash flows and results of operations. The manner in which the Competition Act and the
CCl affect the business environment in India may also adversely affect our business, financial condition, cash flows and
results of operations.

Investors may be subject to Indian taxes arising out of capital gains on the sale of our Equity Shares and dividend
received.

Under current Indian tax laws, unless specifically exempted, capital gains arising from the sale of equity shares in an
Indian company is generally taxable in India. A securities transaction tax (“STT”) is levied on and collected by an Indian
stock exchange on which equity shares are sold. Any gain realized on the sale of listed equity shares held for more than
12 months may be subject to long-term capital gains tax in India at the specified rates depending on certain factors, such
as STT paid, the quantum of gains and any available treaty exemptions. Accordingly, you may be subject to payment
of long-term capital gains tax in India, in addition to payment of STT, on the sale of any Equity Shares held for more
than 12 months. Further, any gain realized on the sale of our Equity Shares held for a period of 12 months or less will
be subject to short-term capital gains tax in India. While non-residents may claim tax treaty benefits in relation to such
capital gains income, generally, Indian tax treaties do not limit India’s right to impose tax on capital gains arising from
the sale of shares of an Indian company.

Pursuant to the Finance Act, 2020 and after March 31, 2020, dividends declared, distributed or paid by a domestic
company would not be exempt in the hands of both resident and non-resident shareholders and are subject to tax
deduction at source. Our Company may or may not grant the benefit of a tax treaty (where applicable) to a non-resident
shareholder for the purposes of deducting tax at source pursuant to any corporate action including dividends. Further,
the Finance Act, 2019 introduced new provisions under the Indian Stamp Act, 1899, which provide that in the absence
of a specific provision under an agreement, the liability to pay stamp duty in case of sale of securities through stock
exchange will be on the buyer, while in other cases of transfer for consideration through a depository, the onus will be

Page 74 of 437



11.

12.

13.

on the transferor. The stamp duty for transfer of securities other than debentures, on a delivery basis is specified at
0.015% and on a non-delivery basis is specified at 0.003% of the consideration amount.

We cannot predict whether any tax laws or other regulations impacting it will be enacted, or predict the nature and
impact of any such laws or regulations or whether, if at all, any laws or regulations would have a material adverse effect
on our business, financial condition, cash flows and results of operations.

Foreign investors are subject to foreign investment restrictions under Indian law that limit our ability to attract
foreign investors, which may adversely impact the market price of our Equity Shares.

As an Indian company, we are subject to exchange controls that regulate borrowing in foreign currencies, including
those specified under FEMA and the rules thereunder. Under foreign exchange regulations currently in force in India,
transfer of shares between non-residents and residents are freely permitted (subject to certain restrictions), if they
comply with the pricing guidelines and reporting requirements specified by the RBI. If the transfer of shares, which are
sought to be transferred, is not in compliance with such pricing guidelines or reporting requirements or falls under any
of the exceptions referred to above, then a prior regulatory approval of the RBI will be required. Additionally,
shareholders who seek to convert Rupee proceeds from a sale of shares in India into foreign currency and repatriate that
foreign currency from India require a no-objection or a tax clearance certificate from the Indian income tax authorities.

Further, in accordance with Press Note No. 3 (2020 Series), dated April 17, 2020 issued by the DPIIT as consolidated
in the FDI Policy with effect from October 15, 2020, and the Foreign Exchange Management (Non-debt Instruments)
Amendment Rules, 2020 which came into effect from April 22, 2020, any investment, subscription, purchase or sale of
equity instruments by entities of a country which share a land border with India or where the beneficial owner of an
investment into India is situated in or is a citizen of any such country, will require prior approval of the Government of
India. Any such approval(s) would be subject to the discretion of the regulatory authorities. Restrictions on foreign
investment activities and impact on our ability to attract foreign investors may cause uncertainty and delays in our future
investment plans and initiatives.

Further, in the event of transfer of ownership of any existing or future foreign direct investment in an entity in India,
directly or indirectly, resulting in the beneficial ownership falling within the aforesaid restriction/purview, such
subsequent change in the beneficial ownership will also require approval of the Government of India. These investment
restrictions shall also apply to subscribers of offshore derivative instruments.

We cannot assure you that any required approval from the RBI or any other governmental agency can be obtained on
any particular terms or at all. For further information, refer section titled “Restrictions on Foreign Ownership of Indian
Securities” on page 379 of this Red Herring Prospectus.

The determination of the Price Band is based on various factors and assumptions, and the Offer Price of our
Equity Shares may not be indicative of the market price of our Equity Shares after the Offer.

The determination of the Price Band is based on various factors and assumptions, and has been determined by our
Company in consultation with the BRLM. Furthermore, the Offer Price of the Equity Shares will be determined by our
Company in consultation with the BRLM through the book building process prescribed under the SEBI ICDR
Regulations. The Offer Price will be based on numerous factors, as described under section titled “Basis for Offer Price”
on page 128 and may not be indicative of the market price for our Equity Shares after the Offer. The market price of our
Equity Shares could be subject to significant fluctuations after the Offer and may decline below the Offer Price. In
addition, the stock market often experiences price and volume fluctuations that are unrelated or disproportionate
to the operating performance of a particular company. These broad market fluctuations and industry factors may
materially reduce the market price of the Equity Shares, regardless of our Company’s performance. As a result of these
factors, there can be no assurance that investors will be able to resell their Equity Shares at or above the Offer Price.

Any future issuance of our Equity Shares or convertible securities or other equity linked instruments by our
Company may dilute prospective investors’ shareholding, and sales of our Equity Shares by our major
shareholders may adversely affect the trading price of our Equity Shares.

We may be required to finance our growth through future equity offerings. Any future equity that we issue, including a
primary offering of Equity Shares, convertible securities or securities linked to Equity Shares, including through the
exercise of employee stock options, may lead to the dilution of investors’ shareholdings in our Company. Any future
issuances of Equity Shares or the disposal of Equity Shares by our major shareholders including our Promoters, or the
perception that such issuance or sales may occur, may adversely affect the trading price of our Equity Shares, which
may lead to other adverse consequences including difficulty in raising capital through offering of our Equity Shares or
incurring additional debt. There can be no assurance that we will not issue further Equity Shares or that the shareholders
will not dispose of, pledge or encumber their Equity Shares. Any future issuances could also dilute the value of your
investment in our Equity Shares. In addition, any perception by investors that such issuances or sales might occur may
also affect the market price of our Equity Shares.
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The current market price of some securities listed pursuant to certain previous issues managed by the BRLM is
below their respective issue prices.

The current market price of securities listed pursuant to certain previous initial public offerings managed by the BRLM
is below their respective issue prices. For further information, refer section titled “Other Regulatory and Statutory
Disclosures — Price information of past issues handled by the BRLM” on page 318 of this Red Herring Prospectus. The
factors that could affect the market price of our Equity Shares include, among others, broad market trends, financial
performance and results of our Company post-listing, and other factors beyond our control. We cannot assure you that
an active market will develop or that sustained trading will take place in our Equity Shares, or provide any assurance
regarding the price at which our Equity Shares will be traded after listing.

QIBs and Non-Institutional Bidders are not permitted to withdraw or lower their bids (in terms of quantity of
Equity Shares or the Bid Amount) at any stage after submitting a Bid, and Retail Individual Bidders are not
permitted to withdraw their bids after Bid/Issue Closing Date.

Pursuant to the SEBI ICDR Regulations, QIBs and Non-Institutional Investors are required to pay the Bid amount on
submission of the Bid and are not permitted to withdraw or lower their Bids (in terms of quantity of Equity Shares or
the Bid amount) at any stage after submitting a Bid. Similarly, Retail Individual Investors can revise or withdraw their
bids at any time during the Bid/lssue Period and until the Bid/Issue Closing Date, but not thereafter. While we are
required to complete all necessary formalities for listing and commencement of trading of our Equity Shares on all
Stock Exchange where such Equity Shares are proposed to be listed, including Allotment, within such period as may be
prescribed under applicable law, adverse events affecting the investors’ decision to invest in our Equity Shares may
arise between the date of submission of the Bid and Allotment. Therefore, QIBs and Non-Institutional Investors will
not be able to withdraw or lower their bids following adverse developments in international or national monetary policy,
financial, political or economic conditions, our business, results of operations, cash flows or otherwise at any stage after
the submission of their bids. Our Company may complete the Allotment of our Equity Shares even if such events occur,
and such events limit the Bidders’ ability to sell our Equity Shares Allotted pursuant to the Offer or cause the trading
price of our Equity Shares to decline on listing.

Holders of Equity Shares may be restricted in their ability to exercise pre-emptive rights under Indian law and
thereby suffer future dilution of their ownership position.

Under the Companies Act, a company incorporated in India and having share capital must offer its equity shareholders
pre-emptive rights to subscribe and pay for a proportionate number of equity shares to maintain their existing ownership
percentages prior to issuance of any new equity shares, unless the pre-emptive rights have been waived by the adoption
of a special resolution by holders of three-fourths of the equity shares voting on such resolution. However, if the law of
the jurisdiction that you are in does not permit the exercise of such pre-emptive rights without our filing an offering
document or registration statement with the applicable authority in such jurisdiction, you will be unable to exercise such
pre-emptive rights unless we make such a filing. If we elect not to file a registration statement, the new securities may
be issued to a custodian, who may sell the securities for your benefit. The value such custodian receives on the sale of
any such securities and the related transaction costs cannot be predicted. To the extent that you are unable to exercise
pre-emptive rights granted in respect of our Equity Shares, your proportional equity interests in us may be reduced.

A third party could be prevented from acquiring control of our Company because of anti-takeover provisions
under Indian law.

Certain provisions in Indian law may delay, deter or prevent a future takeover or change in control of our Company,
even if a change in control would result in the purchase of your Equity Shares at a premium to the market price or would
otherwise be beneficial to you. Such provisions may discourage or prevent certain types of transactions involving actual
or threatened change in control of our Company. Under the Takeover Regulations, an acquirer has been defined as any
person who, directly or indirectly, acquires or agrees to acquire shares or voting rights or control over a company,
whether individually or acting in concert with others. Although these provisions have been formulated to ensure that
interests of investors/shareholders are protected, these provisions may also discourage a third party from attempting to
take control of our Company. Consequently, even if a potential takeover of our Company would result in the purchase
of our Equity Shares at a premium to their market price or would otherwise be beneficial to its stakeholders, it is possible
that such a takeover would not be attempted or consummated because of the SEBI Takeover Regulations.

Investors may have difficulty enforcing foreign judgments in India against us or our management

Our Company is a company incorporated under the laws of India and most of our Directors, Key Managerial Personnel,
members of Senior Management and officers are residents of India. A substantial portion of our assets are located in
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India. As a result, it may be difficult for investors to effect service of process upon our Company or such persons in
jurisdictions outside India, or to enforce judgments obtained against such parties outside India predicated upon civil
liabilities on us or such directors and executive officers under laws other than Indian Law.

Recognition and enforcement of foreign judgments is provided for under Section 13 and Section 44A of the Code of
Civil Procedure, 1908. India is not party to any international treaty in relation to the recognition or enforcement of
foreign judgments. India has reciprocal recognition and enforcement of judgments in civil and commercial matters with
only a limited number of jurisdictions, such as the United Kingdom, United Arab Emirates, Singapore and Hong Kong.
In order to be enforceable, a judgment from a jurisdiction with reciprocity must meet certain requirements established
in the Indian Code of Civil Procedure, 1908. The CPC only permits the enforcement and execution of monetary decrees
in the reciprocating jurisdiction, not being in the nature of any amounts payable in respect of taxes, other charges, fines
or penalties. Judgments or decrees from jurisdictions which do not have reciprocal recognition with India, including the
United States, cannot be enforced by proceedings in execution in India. Therefore, a final judgment for the payment of
money rendered by any court in a non-reciprocating territory for civil liability, whether or not predicated solely upon
the general laws of the non-reciprocating territory, would not be directly enforceable in India. The party in whose favor
a final foreign judgment in a non-reciprocating territory is rendered may bring a fresh suit in a competent court in India
based on the final judgment within three years of obtaining such final judgment. However, it is unlikely that a court in
India would award damages on the same basis as a foreign court if an action were brought in India or that an Indian
court would enforce foreign judgments if it viewed the amount of damages as excessive or inconsistent with the public
policy in India. Further, there is no assurance that a suit brought in an Indian court in relation to a foreign judgment will
be disposed of in a timely manner. In addition, any person seeking to enforce a foreign judgment in India is required to
obtain the prior approval of the RBI to repatriate any amount recovered, and we cannot assure that such approval will
be forthcoming within a reasonable period of time, or at all, or that conditions of such approval would be acceptable.
Such amount may also be subject to income tax in accordance with applicable law.

The ability of investors to acquire and sell Equity Shares is restricted by the distribution and transfer restrictions
set forth in this Red Herring Prospectus.

No actions have been taken to permit a public offering of our Equity Shares in any jurisdiction, other than India. As
such, our Equity Shares have not and will not be registered under the U.S. Securities Act, any state securities laws or
the law of any jurisdiction other than India. Furthermore, our Equity Shares are subject to restrictions on transferability
and resale. You are required to inform yourself about and observe these restrictions. Refer section titled “Other
Regulatory and Statutory Disclosures — Disclaimer in Respect of Jurisdiction” on page 318 of this Red Herring
Prospectus. We, our representatives and our agents will not be obligated to recognize any acquisition, transfer or resale
of our Equity Shares made other than in compliance with the restrictions set forth herein.

Investors will not be able to sell any Equity Shares they purchase in the Offer until we receive the appropriate
listing and trading approvals.

Our Equity Shares will be listed on the Stock Exchange. Pursuant to applicable Indian laws, certain actions must be
completed before our Equity Shares can be listed and trading of our Equity Shares may commence, including the
crediting of the Investors’ “demat” accounts within the timeline specified under applicable law. Further, in accordance
with Indian law, permission for listing of our Equity Shares will not be granted until after our Equity Shares in this
Offer have been Allotted and submission of all other relevant documents authorizing the issuing of our Equity Shares.
There could be a failure or delay in listing of our Equity Shares on the Stock Exchange. Any failure or delay in obtaining
the approval or otherwise to commence trading in our Equity Shares would restrict investors’ ability to dispose of their
Equity Shares. There can be no assurance that our Equity Shares will be credited to investors’ demat accounts, or that
trading in our Equity Shares will commence, within the prescribed time periods or at all. We could also be required to
pay interest at the applicable rates if allotment is not made, refund orders are not dispatched or demat credits are not
made to investors within the prescribed time periods.

Rights of shareholders of companies under Indian law may be different compared to the laws of other
jurisdictions.

Our Atrticles of Association, composition of our Board, Indian laws governing our corporate affairs, the validity of
corporate procedures, directors’ fiduciary duties, responsibilities and liabilities, and shareholders’ rights may differ from
those that would apply to a company in another jurisdiction. Shareholders’ rights under Indian law may not be as
extensive and widespread as shareholders’ rights under the laws of other countries or jurisdictions. Investors may face
challenges in asserting their rights as a shareholder in an Indian company rather than as a shareholder of an entity in
another jurisdiction.

We cannot guarantee the accuracy or completeness of facts and other statistics with respect to India, the Indian
economy and industry in which we operate contained in the Red Herring Prospectus.
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While facts and other statistics in the Red Herring Prospectus relating to India, the Indian economy and the industry in
which we operate has been based on various web site data and KEN Research that we believe are reliable, we cannot
guarantee the quality or reliability of such materials. While we have taken reasonable care in the reproduction of such
information, industry facts and other statistics have not been prepared or independently verified by us or any of our
respective affiliates or advisors and, therefore we make no representation as to their accuracy or completeness. These
facts and other statistics include the facts and statistics included in the chapter titled “Our Industry” beginning on page
143 of this Red Herring Prospectus. Due to possibly flawed or ineffective data collection methods or discrepancies
between published information and market practice and other problems, the statistics herein may be inaccurate or may
not be comparable to statistics produced elsewhere and should not be unduly relied upon. Further, there is no assurance
that they are stated or compiled on the same basis or with the same degree of accuracy, as the case may be, elsewhere.

Global economic, political and social conditions may harm our ability to do business, increase our costs and
negatively affect our stock price.

Global economic and political factors that are beyond our control, influence forecasts and directly affect performance.
These factors include interest rates, rates of economic growth, fiscal and monetary policies of governments, inflation,
deflation, foreign exchange fluctuations, consumer credit availability, fluctuations in commodities markets, consumer
debt levels, unemployment trends and other matters that influence consumer confidence, spending and tourism.
Increasing volatility in financial markets may cause these factors to change with a greater degree of frequency and
magnitude, which may negatively affect our stock prices.
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SECTION IV: INTRODUCTION

THE OFFER

The following is the summary of the Offer:

PRESENT OFFER IN TERMS OF THIS RED HERRING PROSPECTUS

The Offer® @

Upto 65,89,200 Equity Shares of face value X 10/- each, aggregating up to X [e]
Lakhs.

consists of:

Fresh Issue Upto 62,60,400 Equity Shares of face value X 10/- each, aggregating up to X [e]
Lakhs.

Offer for Sale® Upto 3,28,800 Equity Shares of face value X 10/- each, aggregating up to X [e]

Lakhs.

which includes:

Market Maker Reservation Portion

3,30,000 Equity Shares of face value X 10/- each, aggregating up to I [e] Lakhs.

Employee Reservation Portion®)

Upto 12,000 Equity Shares of face value X 10/- each, aggregating up to X [e]
Lakhs.

Net Offer to the Public

Upto 62,47,200 Equity Shares of face value X 10/- each, aggregating up to X [e]
Lakhs.

The Net Offer Comprises of:*

A. QIB Portion ¥ ©®

Not more than 31,22,400 Equity Shares of face value X 10/- each, aggregating up
to ¥ [e] Lakhs.

of which:

i) Anchor Investor Portion

Upto 18,73,200 Equity Shares of face value X 10/- each, aggregating up to X [e]
Lakhs.

ii) Net QIB Portion (assuming
Anchor Investor Portion is
fully subscribed)

12,49,200 Equity Shares of face value X 10/- each, aggregating up to X [e] Lakhs.

of which:

(a) Available for allocation to
Mutual Funds only (5% of
the Net QIB Portion).

Upto 63,600 Equity Shares of face value X 10/- each, aggregating up to X [e]
Lakhs.

(b) Balance of QIB Portion for
all QIBs including Mutual
Funds

11,85,600 Equity Shares of face value X 10/- each, aggregating up to X [e] Lakhs.

B. Non-Institutional Portion

Not less than 9,37,200 Equity Shares of face value X 10/- each, aggregating up to
Z [e] Lakhs.

C. Retail Portion

Not less than 21,87,600 Equity Shares of face value % 10/- each, aggregating up to
 [e] Lakhs.

Pre and Post — Offer Equity Shares

Equity Shares outstanding prior to the
Offer.

1,86,59,003 Equity Shares of face value of X 10/- each.

Equity Shares outstanding after the
Offer.

2,49,19,403 Equity Shares of face value % 10/- each.

Use of Net Proceeds by our Company.

Please refer section titled “Objects of the Offer” on page 114 of this Red Herring
Prospectus.

Subject to finalization of the Basis of Allotment. Number of shares may need to be adjusted for lot size upon determination of
Offer price. The face value of Equity Shares is < 10/- each. The Floor Price is ¥ 107/- per Equity Share which is 10.70 times
of the Face Value and the Cap Price is % 113 per Equity Share which is 11.30 times of the Face Value.

Notes:

1) The Offer is being made in terms of Chapter 1X of the SEBI ICDR Regulations, as amended from time to time. This
Offer is being made by our Company in terms of Regulation of 229 (2) of SEBI ICDR Regulations read with Rule
19(2)(b) of SCRR wherein not less than 25% of the post — Offer paid up equity share capital of our Company are
being offered to the public for subscription.

2)

The Offer has been authorized by the Board of Directors vide a resolution passed at its meeting held on November

06, 2024 and by the Shareholder of our Company, vide a special resolution passed pursuant to Section 62(1)(c)
of the Companies Act, 2013 at the Extra-Ordinary General Meeting held on November 08, 2024.
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3) Our Board has taken on record the consent for the Offer for Sale of the Promoter Selling Shareholder pursuant to
its resolution dated November 14, 2024. The Promoter Selling Shareholder have confirmed that the Offered Shares
have been held by them for a period of at least one year prior to the filing of the Draft Red Herring Prospectus
and are accordingly eligible for being offered for sale in the Offer in compliance with the SEBI ICDR Regulations.
The Promoter Selling Shareholder has authorized the inclusion of the Offered Shares in the Offer for Sale as

follows-
Sr.No. | Name of the Promoter Selling | Maximum  aggregate | Date of Consent Letter
Shareholder number of Equity
Shares being offered in
the Offer for Sale
1. Mr. Ramesh Siva 3,28,800 November 11, 2024
Total 3,28,800

For details of authorizations received for the Offer for Sale, refer section titled “Other Regulatory and Statutory
Disclosures- Authority of the Offer” beginning on page 318 of this Red Herring Prospectus.

4) The SEBI ICDR Regulations permit the Offer of securities to the public through the Book Building Process, which
states that, not less than 15% of the Net Offer shall be available for allocation on a proportionate basis to Non-
Institutional Bidders and not less than 35% of the Net Offer shall be available for allocation on a proportionate
basis to Retail Individual Bidders and not more than 50% of the Net Offer shall be allotted on a proportionate
basis to QIBs, subject to valid Bids being received at or above the Offer Price. Accordingly, we have allocated the
Net Offer i.e. not more than 50% of the Net Offer to QIB and not less than 35% of the Net Offer shall be available
for allocation to Retail Individual Investors and not less than 15% of the Net Offer shall be available for allocation
to Non-institutional bidders.

5) Subject to valid Bids being received at or above the Offer Price, under subscription, if any, in any category, except
in the QIB Portion, would be allowed to be met with spill-over from any other category or combination of
categories of Bidders at the discretion of our Company in consultation with the Book Running Lead Manager and
the Designated Stock Exchange, subject to applicable laws.

6) The Employee Reservation Portion shall not exceed 5% of our post-Offer paid-up Equity Share capital. In the
event of under-subscription in the Employee Reservation Portion (if any), the unsubscribed portion will be
available for allocation proportionately to all Eligible Employees who have Bid in excess of T 2 lakhs, subject to
the maximum value of allocation made to such Eligible Employee not exceeding ¥ 5 lakhs. The unsubscribed
portion, if any, in the Employee Reservation Portion (after allocation up to < 5 lakhs), shall be added to the Net
Offer. For further details, refer section titled “Offer Procedure” and “Offer Structure” on pages 347 and 341,
respectively.

Our Company may, in consultation with the Book Running Lead Manager, allocate up to 60% of the QIB Portion to
Anchor Investors on a discretionary basis in accordance with the SEBI ICDR Regulations. One-third of the Anchor
Investor Portion shall be reserved for domestic Mutual Funds, subject to valid Bids being received from domestic Mutual
Funds at or above the Anchor Investor Allocation Price. In the event of under-subscription in the Anchor Investor Portion,
the remaining Equity Shares shall be added to the QIB Portion. Further, 5% of the Net QIB Portion shall be available for
allocation on a proportionate basis to Mutual Funds only, and the remainder of the QIB Portion shall be available for
allocation on a proportionate basis to all QIB Bidders (other than Anchor Investors), including Mutual Funds, subject to
valid Bids being received at or above the Offer Price. However, if the aggregate demand from Mutual Funds is less than
5% of the Net QIB Portion, the balance Equity Shares available for allotment in the Mutual Fund Portion will be added
to the Net QIB Portion and allocated proportionately to the QIB Bidders (other than Anchor Investors) in proportion to
their Bids.

Allocation to Retail Individual Bidders shall not be less than the minimum Bid Lot, subject to availability of Equity Shares
in the Retail Portion, and the remaining available Equity Shares, if any, shall be allocated on a proportionate basis.
Allocation to Anchor Investors shall be on a discretionary basis in accordance with the SEBI ICDR Regulations.

The allotment to each Non-Institutional Bidder shall not be less than the minimum application size, subject to the
availability of Equity Shares in the Non-Institutional Portion, and the remaining Equity Shares, if any, shall be allotted
on a proportionate basis in accordance with the SEBI ICDR Regulations.

For further details, please refer section titled “Offer Procedure” beginning on page 347 of this Red Herring Prospectus.
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SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The following tables set forth summary financial information derived from Restated Consolidated Financial Statements as
at and for the six-month period ended September 30, 2024 and as at and for the Financial Year ended on March 31, 2024,
2023, and 2022. These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Indian GAAP, the Companies Act,
2013 and the SEBI ICDR Regulations.

The summary financial information presented below should be read in conjunction with the sections and notes mentioned
therein titled ‘Other Financial Information’ and ‘Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Conditions and
Results of Operations’ beginning on page 267 and 268, respectively of this Red Herring Prospectus.

[The remainder of this page has intentionally been left blank]
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CONSOLIDATED RESTATED SUMMARY STATEMENT OF ASSET AND LIABILITIES

(T in Lakhs)
Particulars As at As at March 31, | As at March 31, | As at March
September 2024 2023 31, 2022
30, 2024

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
(a) Shareholders' Funds
i. Share capital 1,865.90 399.03 101.00 101.00
ii. Reserves and surplus 2,235.56 2,600.30 (42.27) (264.21)
Minority Interest 632.20 94.81 101.38 -
Total (a) 4,733.66 3,094.14 160.11 (163.21)
(b) Non-current liabilities
i. Long-term borrowings 3,480.70 3,137.91 3,343.76 3,111.76
ii. Deferred tax liabilities (net) 201.90 214.23 83.45 -
iii. Long term provisions 19.42 18.06 4.65 2.96
Total (b) 3,702.02 3,370.20 3,431.86 3,114.72
(c) Current Liabilities
i. Short term borrowings 541.53 358.35 362.82 360.57
ii. Trade payables
- Total outstanding dues to Micro, 83.01 29.41 - -

Small and Medium Enterprises
- Total outstanding dues of creditors 319.72 161.37 95.31 70.27

other than Micro, Small and Medium

Enterprises
iii. Other current liabilities 272.77 361.18 172.28 52.91
iv. Short term provisions 140.92 16.78 3.72 1.32
Total (c) 1, 357.95 927.09 634.13 485.07
Total (a+b +¢) 9,793.63 7,391.43 4,226.10 3,436.58
ASSETS
(a) Non-current assets
Property plant and equipment and Intangible
assets
i. Property, Plant and Equipment 4,534.92 3,459.27 3,077.64 2,750.08
ii. Capital work-in-progress 921.37 487.39 38.36 -
iii. Intangible Assets 4.20 0.37 481 -
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Long-Term loans and advances 367.79 369.97 277.22 -
Other non-current assets 2,092.65 1,544.13 597.97 220.25
Total (a) 7,920.93 5,861.13 3,996.00 2,970.33
(b) Current Assets

i. Trade receivables 683.51 315.27 124.75 253.11
ii. Cash and cash equivalents 728.02 843.07 45.10 42.18
iii. Inventories 17.25 14.96 - -
iv. Short-term loans and advances 441.20 347.08 60.25 170.96
v. Other current assets 2.72 9.92 - -
Total (b) 1,872.70 1,530.30 230.10 466.25
Total (a + b) 9,793.63 7,391.43 4,226.10 3,436.58

Page 83 of 437



CONSOLIDATED RESTATED SUMMARY STATEMENT OF PROFIT AND LOSS

(T in Lakhs)
Particulars For the six- For the year For the year For the year
months period | ended March | ended March | ended March
ended 31, 2024 31, 2023 31, 2022
September 30,
2024
(1) Income
a. Revenue from Operations 3,183.98 3,123.69 1,680.15 602.69
b. Other Income 2.34 29.47 24.55 0.04
Total Income (1) 3,186.32 3,153.16 1,704.70 602.73
(11) Expenses
a. Employee benefit expenses 608.81 547.85 268.30 112.59
b. Finance costs 212,51 352.63 352.61 304.72
c. Depreciation and amortization expenses 114.34 111.12 107.22 97.83
d. Other expenses 1,450.57 1,589.36 786.54 251.66
Total expenses (1) 2,386.23 2,600.96 1,514.67 766.80
(110) Profit before tax (1 - 1) 800.09 552.20 190.03 (164.07)
(IV) Tax Expenses: 118.88 140.70 85.16 (84.78)
(i) Current tax 131.21 9.92 1.71 -
(ii) Deferred tax charge/ (credit) (12.33) 130.78 83.45 (84.78)
(V) Profit/(Loss) for the period / year 681.21 411.50 104.87 (79.29)
(before adjustment for minority interest)
(11-1Vv)
(V1) Less: Share of Profit transferred to 58.84 3.73 1.38 -
minority Interest
(V1) Profit for the period / year after 622.37 407.77 103.49 (79.29)
adjustment for minority Interest (V- VI)
Earnings per Equity Share (face value X
10 each)
-Basic (in Rupees) 3.74 2.54 0.70 (0.53)
-Diluted (in Rupees) 3.74 2.54 0.70 (0.53)
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CONSOLIDATED RESTATED SUMMARY STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW

(T in Lakhs)

Particulars

For the six-months
period ended

For the year
ended March

For the year
ended March

For the year
ended March

September 30, 2024 31, 2024 31, 2023 31, 2022
A. Cash flow from operating
activities
Profit before tax 800.09 552.20 190.03 (164.07)
Adjustments for:
Add: Depreciation & 114.34 111.12 107.22 97.83
amortization expenses
Interest Income (0.42) (0.11) (0.55) -
Provision for Bad 0.12 0.05 - -
debts
Gratuity 4.69 16.41 2.39 4.28
Finance Cost 21251 352.63 352.61 304.69
Operating Profit Before Working 1,131.33 1,032.30 651.70 242.73
Capital Changes
Adjustments for net changes in
working capital:
Decrease/(Increase) in other current 7.02 (9.94) (0.02) -
assets
(Increase)/Decrease in trade (368.37) (190.56) 128.36 (156.73)
receivables
(Increase)/Decrease in short-term (133.69) (251.12) 132.90 -
loans and advances
(Increase) / Decrease in long-term 2.18 (92.75) (277.22) -
loans and advances
Increase in inventories (2.49) (14.96) - -
Increase in Other Current Liabilities (88.42) 188.89 119.37 -
(Increase)/Decrease in Trade 211.76 95.47 25.04 (13.23)
Payables
Increase in Long term provisions (3.34) (3.00) (0.70) -
Increase in Short term provisions 124.13 3.14 0.70 -
Net (Increase)/Decrease in (251.22) (274.83) 128.44 (169.96)
Working Capital
Cash generated from operating 880.11 757.47 780.14 72.77
activities
Less: taxes paid (net of refund) (91.64) (35.70) (22.19) -
Net cash generated from 788.98 721.77 757.95 72.77
operating activities (A)
B. Cash flow from investing
activities:
Purchase of property plant and (1,189.38) (492.98) (434.13) (73.15)
equipment
Purchase of intangible assets (3.84) - (5.49) -
Interest Income 0.42 0.11 0.55 -
Addition of Capital Work in (433.99) (449.03) (38.36) -
Progress
Sale of Intangible Assets - 4.44 - -
Security Deposit given (548.53) (945.91) (377.70) -
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Net cash generated used in (2,175.32) (1,883.38) (855.12) (73.15)
investing activities (B)

C. Cash flow from financing

activities:

Interest & finance charges paid (212.51) (352.63) (352.61) (304.69)
Transactions with non-controlling 478.55 (10.30) 100.02 -
interests

Proceeds from issue of equity 68.51 298.03 - -
Securities Premium 408.89 2,244.77 - -
Capital Reserve 8.35 - - -
Drawings by partners (5.97) (9.97) 118.43 -
Proceed/ (Repayments) from Short- 183.19 (4.47) 234.25 335.29
term borrowings

Proceed/ (Repayments) of Long- 342.79 (205.85) - -
term borrowings

Net cash generated from 1,271.80 1,959.58 100.09 30.60
financing activities (C)

Net increase in cash and cash (115.05) 797.97 2.92 30.22
equivalents (A) + (B) + (C)

Cash and cash equivalents at the 843.07 45.10 42.18 11.96
beginning of the year/period

Cash & Cash Equivalent at the 728.02 843.07 45.10 42.18
End of the period/year

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash-in-Hand 2.90 2.40 19.61 26.69
Balances with banks - - - -
- in current accounts 722.91 838.46 23.39 1.09
- in Bank Deposits with original 221 221 2.10 14.40
maturity less than 3 months

Cash and Cash Equivalents 728.02 843.07 45.10 42.18
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SECTION V: GENERAL INFORMATION

Our Company was originally incorporated as a private limited company under the Companies Act, 1956 in the name and
style of “Grand Continent Hotels Private Limited” pursuant to certificate of incorporation dated November 11, 2011, issued

by the RoC, Chennai, Tamil Nadu.

Subsequently, our Company was converted into public limited company pursuant special resolution passed by the
shareholders at the EGM held on May 27, 2024, and the name of our Company was changed to “Grand Continent Hotels
Limited” and a fresh certificate of incorporation dated August 30, 2024, consequent upon conversion from private company
to public company was issued by RoC, Central Processing Centre bearing CIN U55101TN2011PLC083100.

For further details, please refer to the section titled ‘History and Certain Corporate Matters’ beginning on page 196 of this

Red Herring Prospectus.

REGISTERED AND CORPORATE OFFICE OF OUR COMPANY

The address and certain other details of our Registered Office and Corporate Office are as follows:

GRAND CONTINENT HOTELS LIMITED

Reqistered Office:

S No. 245/1A/1B, Venpursham Village, Veeralapakkam,
Thiruporur, Chengalpattu, Mamallapuram, Kanchipuram,
Tirukalikundram - 603110, Tamil Nadu, India.

Tel No: +91 44-35808280

E-mail: infoblr@grandcontinenthotels.com

Website: www.grandcontinenthotels.com

Corporate Office:

Municipal No 3, 3rd Main Road, K R Garden,
Koramangala, Bengaluru - 560095, Karnataka, India.

Tel No: +91 80 41656491

E-mail: shiva@grandcontinenthotels.com

Website: www.grandcontinenthotels.com

For details of the changes in our Registered and Corporate Office, refer section titled “History and Certain Corporate
Matters — Changes in the Registered Office” at page 196 of this Red Herring Prospectus.

COMPANY REGISTRATION NUMBER AND CORPORATE IDENTITY NUMBER

The registration number and corporate identity number of our Company are as follows:

Corporate Registration Number: 083100

Corporate Identification Number: U55101TN2011PLC083100

REGISTRAR OF COMPANIES

Our Company is registered with the Registrar of Companies, Chennai which is situated at the following address:

Registrar of Companies, Block No.6, B Wing 2™ Floor, Shastri Bhawan 26, Haddows Road, Chennai - 600034, Tamil

Nadu, India.

Tel No: 044-28270071/28276654
Fax No: 044-28234298

Email ID: roc.chennai@mca.gov.in
Website: www.mca.gov.in

DESIGNATED STOCK EXCHANGE

SME Platform of National Stock Exchange of India Limited i.e. “NSE Emerge”
Exchange Plaza, C/1, G Block, Bandra Kurla Complex, Bandra (East),
Mumbai - 400 051, Maharashtra, India. Website: www.nseindia.com
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OUR BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The following table sets out details regarding our Board as on the date of this Red Herring Prospectus:

E;_ Name Designation DIN Address
1. Mr. Ramesh Siva Chairman and 02449456 | B 1301, Vaishnavi Terraces, 4" Cross, Dollars
Managing Colony, Behind Rainbow Hospital, 4™ Phase, J P
Director Nagar, Bengaluru South, Bengaluru - 560078,
Karnataka, India.
2. Mrs. Vidya Ramesh Whole-time 02127241 | B 1301, Vaishnavi Terraces, 4" Cross, Dollars
Director Colony, Behind Rainbow Hospital, 4™ Phase, J P
Nagar, Bengaluru South, Bengaluru - 560078,
Karnataka, India.
3. Ms. Deepthi Shiva Non-Executive | 08416405 | B 1301, Vaishnavi Terraces, 4™ Cross, Dollars
Non- Colony, J P Nagar, 4™ Phase, Behind Rainbow
Independent Childrens Hospital, Bengaluru South, Bengaluru -
Director 560078, Karnataka, India.
4, Mr. V Swaminathan Non-Executive 00238629 | C-121, DLF Capital Greens, 15 Shivaji Marg,
Independent Moti Nagar, Ramesh Nagar, West Delhi-110015
Director Delhi, India.
5. Mr. Chandrasekhar Non-Executive | 00024184 | B-7-604, L and T South City, Reliance Mart
Sundaram Independent Arekere Mico Layout, Bengaluru South,
Director Bannerghatta Road, Bengaluru, Bengaluru —
560076, Karnataka, India

For further details of our Directors, please refer to the section titled ‘Our Management’ beginning on page 205 of this Red
Herring Prospectus.

CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

Mr. Mithun Jayaraman

Grand Continent Hotels Limited

Municipal No 3, 3rd Main Road, K R Garden,
Koramangala, Bengaluru - 560095, Karnataka, India.
Tel No.: +91 80 4165 6491

E-mail: cfo@grandcontinenthotels.com

COMPANY SECRETARY AND COMPLIANCE OFFICER
Ms. Aastha Kochar

Grand Continent Hotels Limited

Municipal No 3, 3rd Main Road, K R Garden, Koramangala,
Bengaluru - 560095, Karnataka, India.

Tel No.: +91 80 4165 6491

E-mail: cs@grandcontinenthotels.com

Investor Grievances:

Investors may contact our Company Secretary and Compliance Officer and/or the Registrar to the Offer and/or the
Book Running Lead Manager, in case of any pre-offer or post-offer related problems, such as non-receipt of letters
of allotment, credit of allotted Equity Shares in the respective beneficiary account or refund orders, etc.

For all Offer related queries and for redressal of complaints, Applicants may also write to the Book Running Lead Manager.
All complaints, queries or comments received by Stock Exchange/SEBI shall be forwarded to the Book Running Lead
Manager, who shall respond to the same.

All grievances relating to the Anchor Investors may be addressed to the Registrar to the Offer, giving full details such as
name of the sole or first Applicant, Bid cum Application Form number, Applicants DP ID, Client ID, PAN, date of the
Anchor Investor Application Form, address of the Applicant, number of Equity Shares applied for, Bid Amount paid on
submission of the Anchor Investor Application Form and the name and address of the relevant BRLM where the Anchor
Investor Application Form was submitted by the Anchor Investor. For all Offer-related queries and for redressal of
complaints, investors may also write to the BRLM.
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DETAILS OF KEY INTERMEDIARIES PERTAINING TO THIS OFFER OF OUR COMPANY

BOOK RUNNING LEAD MANAGER OF THE OFFER

Indorient

REGISTRAR TO THE OFFER

(®) MUFG o

INDORIENT FINANCIAL SERVICES LIMITED

B/805, Rustomjee Central Park, Andheri Kurla Road, Chakala, Mumbai — 400093,
Maharashtra, India.

Tel No.: +91-79772 12186

E-mail: compliance-ifsi@indorient.in

Investor Grievance Email: wecare@indorient.in

Website: www.indorient.in

Contact Person: Mr. Ivor Anil Misquith

SEBI Registration No.: INM000012661

CIN: U67190DL1993PLC052085

MUFG Intime India Private Limited (Formerly Link Intime India Private
Limited)

C-101, 1st Floor, 247 Park, Lal Bahadur Shastri Marg, Vikhroli (West), Mumbai,
Maharashtra, India — 400 083.

Tel No.: +91 — 810 811 4949

Fax No. +91 22 4918 6060

E-mail: grandcontinent.ipo@Ilinkintime.co.in

Investor Grievance Email: grandcontinent.ipo@linkintime.co.in

Website: www.linkintime.co.in

Contact Person: Ms. Shanti Gopalkrishnan

SEBI Registration No: INR000004058

CIN: U67190MH1999PTC118368

LEGAL COUNSEL TO THE OFFER

%g Steeling Lato Fssoriates TLP

Corpovate, To ond Busines Afvsry Lo Firm

STERLING LAW ASSOCIATES LLP

601 Umarji House No-1, CTS No. 404A-404B, Telli Gally Opp Masjid, Andheri
East, Mumbai, Maharashtra, India, 400069

Tel No.: +91 91720 75003

E-mail: ajay.yadav@sterlingassociates.in

Contact Person: Mr. Ajay Yadav

STATUTORY AND PEER REVIEW AUDITORS

M/S. BHUTA SHAH & CO LLP

Chartered Accountants

3 floor, 302, Regent Chambers, Jamnalal Bajaj Road, Nariman Point, Mumbai —
400021, Maharashtra, India.

Tel: 022 43439191

E-mail: jay.jhaveri@bhutashah.com
Website: www.bhutashah.com

Contact Person: Mr. Jay Jhaveri

Firm Registration No: 101474W / W100100
Membership No: 134864

Peer Review Certificate No: 017101

UNDERWRITER(S) TO THE OFFER

Indorient

INDORIENT FINANCIAL SERVICES LIMITED

B/805, Rustomjee Central Park, Andheri Kurla Road, Chakala, Mumbai —
400093, Maharashtra, India.

Tel No.: +91-79772 12186

E-mail: compliance-ifsi@indorient.in
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Investor Grievance Email: wecare@indorient.in
Website: www.indorient.in

Contact Person: Mr. Ivor Anil Misquith

SEBI Registration No.: INM000012661

CIN: U67190DL1993PLC052085

MARKET MAKER TO THE OFFER

i

BANKER TO OUR COMPANY

ALACRITY SECURITIES LIMITED

101-102/B, Hari Darshan, Bhogilal Fadia Road, Kandivali West, Mumbai —
400067, Maharashtra, India.

Tel No.: 022-69527500

E-mail: alacritysec@gmail.com

Website: www.alacritysec.com

Contact Person: Mr. Kishore V. Shah

SEBI Registration No.: INZ000215936

CIN: L99999MH1994PL.C083912

NSE Market Maker Registration No. NSE/MEM/09098

Name ICICI Bank Limited

Address No. 584, 80 Feet Road, Opp to Bethany High School, Koramangala 8%
Block Bengaluru-560095, Karnataka, India.

Tel No. 9353294005

E-mail sachin.kumar22@icicibank.com

Website www.icicibank.com

BANKERS TO THE OFFER/ PUBLIC OFFER BANK/ REFUND BANKER/ SPONSOR BANK

Name Kotak Mahindra Bank Limited

Address Intellion Square, 501, 5th Floor, A Wing, Infinity IT Park, Gen. A.K.
Valdya Marg, Malad — East, Mumbal -400097, Maharashtra, India

CIN L65110MH1985PL.C038137

Tel No. +91 022 66056603

E-mail cmsipo@kotak.com

Contact Person Siddhesh Shirodkar

Website www.kotak.com

SEBI Registration No.

INB100000927

MONITORING AGENCY TO THE OFFER

Name Acuite Ratings & Research Limited

Address 708, Lodha Supremus, Lodha iThink Techno Campus, Kanjurmarg (East),
Mumbai — 400042, Maharashtra, India.

CIN U74999MH2005PLC155683

Tel No. +91 99698 98000

E-mail chitra.mohan@acuite.in

Investor Grievance E-mail

grievances@acuite.in

Contact Person

Ms. Chitra Mohan

Website

WWW.acuite.in

SEBI Registration No.

IN/CRA/006/2011

DESIGNATED INTERMEDIARIES

Self-Certified Syndicate Banks (SCSB’s)

The list of banks that have been notified by SEBI to act as SCSBs for the ASBA process is provided on the website of the
SEBI (https://www.sebi.gov.in/sebiweb/other/OtherAction.do?doRecognised=yes) and updated from time to time. For

details on Designated Branches of SCSBs collecting the Bid-cum-Application Forms, refer to the above-mentioned SEBI

link.
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Eligible SCSBs as Sponsor Banks and mobile applications enabled for UPI Mechanism

In accordance with SEBI circular no. SEBI/HO/CFD/DIL2/CIR/P/2019/76 dated June 28, 2019 and SEBI circular no.
SEBI/HO/CFD/DIL2/CIR/P/2019/85 dated July 26, 2019 read with SEBI circular no. SEBI/HO/CFD/DIL2/CIR/P/2022/45
dated April 5, 2022, UPI Bidders may only apply through mobile applications using UPI handles or through SCSBs whose
names appear on the website of the SEBI
(https://www.sebi.gov.in/sebiweb/other/OtherAction.do?doRecognisedFpi=yes&intmld=40), which may be updated from
time to time. A list of SCSBs and mobile applications, which are live for applying in public issues using UPI mechanism,
is provided as ‘Annexure A’ for SEBI circular number SEBI/HO/CFD/DIL2/CIR/P/2019/85 dated July 26,2019 and is also
available on https://www.sebi.gov.in/sebiweb/other/OtherAction.do?doRecognisedFpi=yes&intmld=35 for SCSBs and
https://www.sebi.gov.in/sebiweb/other/OtherAction.do?doRecognisedFpi=yes&intmld=43 for applications or at such
other websites as may be prescribed by SEBI from time to time.

Syndicate SCSB Branches

In relation to ASBA Bids submitted to a member of the Syndicate, the list of branches of the SCSBs at the ASBA Specified
Locations named by the respective SCSBs to receive deposits of Bid cum Application Forms from the members of the
Syndicate is available on the website of the SEBI
(https://www.sebi.gov.in/sebiweb/other/OtherAction.do?doRecognisedFpi=yes&intmld=40) and updated from time to
time. For more information on such branches collecting Bid-cum-Application Forms from the Syndicate at ASBA Specified
Locations, refer to the above-mentioned SEBI link.

Registered Brokers

The list of the Registered Brokers eligible to accept ASBA forms, including details such as postal address, telephone number
and email address, is provided on the website of the SEBI at
(https://www.sebi.gov.in/sebiweb/other/OtherAction.do?doRecognised=yes), respectively, as updated from time to time.

Registrar to the Offer and Share Transfer Agents

The list of the RTAs eligible to accept ASBA Forms at the Designated RTA Locations, including details such as address,
telephone  number and  e-mail  address, is provided on the website of SEBI i.e.
(https://www.sebi.gov.in/sebiweb/other/OtherAction.do?doRecognisedFpi=yes&intmld=10), respectively, as updated
from time to time.

Collecting Depository Participants

The list of the CDPs eligible to accept ASBA Forms at the Designated CDP Locations, including details such as name and
contact details, is provided on the website of SEBI on
(https://www.sebi.gov.in/sebiweb/other/OtherAction.do?doRecognised=yes) from time to time.

STATEMENT OF INTER SE ALLOCATION OF RESPONSIBILITIES

Since, Indorient Financial Services Limited is the sole Book Running Lead Manager to this Offer, a statement of inter se
allocation of responsibilities amongst Book Running Lead Manager is not applicable.

CREDIT RATING
As this is an Offer of Equity Shares, there is no credit rating required for the Offer.
IPO GRADING

Since the Offer is being made in terms of Chapter 1X of the SEBI ICDR Regulations, there is no requirement of appointing
an IPO Grading agency.

EXPERT OPINION
Except as stated below, our Company has not obtained any expert opinions:

1. Our Company has received written consent dated November 19, 2024 from the Statutory Auditors namely, M/s.
Bhuta Shah & Co LLP., Chartered Accountant to include their name as an “expert” as required under Section 26
(5) of the Companies Act, 2013 read with the SEBI ICDR Regulations and as defined under Section 2 (38) of the
Companies Act, 2013, in respect of the reports of the Statutory Auditors on the Restated Consolidated Financial
Statements, dated November 14, 2024 and the Statement of Special Tax Benefits dated November 19, 2024,
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included in this Red Herring Prospectus and such consent has not been withdrawn as on the date of this Red
Herring Prospectus.

2. Our Company has received a written consent dated November 06, 2024 from Adroit Associates acting through its
proprietor Mr. Srinivas T. Ramappa, Independent Chartered Engineer, to include their name as required under
Section 26 (5) of the Companies Act 2013 read with SEBI ICDR Regulations, in this Red Herring Prospectus and
an “expert”, as defined under Section 2(38) of the Companies Act 2013 in respect of cost assessment report issued
by them in their capacity as an Independent Chartered Engineer and details derived therefrom as included in this
Red Herring Prospectus.

However, the term “expert” shall not be construed to mean an “expert” as defined under the U.S. Securities Act.

GREEN SHOE OPTION

No green shoe option is contemplated under the Offer.

DEBENTURE TRUSTEES

This is an Offer of Equity Shares hence appointment of debenture trustees is not required.

MONITORING AGENCY

Our Company has appointed Acuite Ratings & Research Limited as the Monitoring Agency to monitor the utilisation of
the Net Proceeds, in accordance with Regulation 262 of the SEBI ICDR Regulations. For details in relation to the
monitoring agency, refer section titled “Monitoring Agency to the Offer” above and for the proposed utilisation of the Net
Proceeds, refer section titled “Objects of the Offer” on page 114 of this Red Herring Prospectus.

APPRAISAL AGENCY

The objects of the Offer and deployment of funds are not appraised by any independent agency/ bank/ financial institution.
TYPE OF OFFER

The present Offer is considered to be 100% Book Building Process.

FILING OF DRAFT RED HERRING PROSPECTUS / RED HERRING PROSPECTUS/ PROSPECTUS WITH
THE DESIGNATED STOCK EXCHANGE / SEBI/ROC

The Red Herring Prospectus is being filed with National Stock Exchange of India Limited, Exchange Plaza, C-1, Block-
G, Bandra Kurla Complex, Bandra (East), Mumbai 400051, Maharashtra, India.

The Draft Red Herring Prospectus has not been filed with SEBI, nor has SEBI issued any observation on the Offer
Document in terms of Regulation 246(2) of SEBI ICDR Regulations. Pursuant to Regulation 246(5) of SEBI ICDR
Regulations and SEBI Circular Number SEBI/HO/CFD/DIL1/CIR/P/2018/011 dated January 19, 2018, a copy of Red
Herring Prospectus/ Prospectus will be filed online through SEBI Intermediary Portal at https://siportal.sebi.gov.in.

A copy of the Red Herring Prospectus, along with the material contracts and documents has been filed in accordance with
Section 32 of the Companies Act, 2013 and a copy of the Prospectus shall be filed with the RoC situated at Registrar of
Companies, Chennai at Block No.6,B Wing 2nd Floor, Shastri Bhawan 26, Haddows Road, Chennai - 600034, Tamil Nadu,
India as required wunder Section 26 of the Companies Act and through the electronic portal at
https://www.mca.gov.in/content/mca/global/en/home.html

Book Building Process

Book Building, with reference to the Offer, refers to the process of collection of Bids on the basis of the Red Herring
Prospectus within the Price Band. The Price Band has been determined by our Company in consultation with the Book
Running Lead Manager, and advertised in all editions of the English national newspaper Financial Express , all editions of
Hindi national newspaper Jansatta and Chennai Edition of Regional newspaper Dina Kural where our registered office is
situated at least two working days prior to the Bid/ Offer Opening date. The Offer Price shall be determined by our
Company, in consultation with the Book Running Lead Manager in accordance with the Book Building Process after the
Bid/ Offer Closing Date. Principal parties involved in the Book Building Process are:-

e Our Company;
e The Book Running Lead Manager in this case being Indorient Financial Services Limited.
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e The Syndicate Member(s) who are intermediaries registered with SEBI/ registered as brokers with NSE and eligible
to act as Underwriters. The Syndicate Member(s) may be appointed by the Book Running Lead Manager;

e The Registrar to the Offer and;

e The Designated Intermediaries and Sponsor bank.

The SEBI ICDR Regulations have permitted the Offer of securities to the public through the Book Building Process,
wherein allocation to the public shall be made as per Regulation 253 of the SEBI ICDR Regulations.

The Offer is being made through the Book Building Process wherein not more than 50% of the Net Offer shall be available
for allocation on a proportionate basis to QIBs, provided that our Company may in consultation with the BRLM allocate
upto 60% of the QIB Portion to Anchor Investors on a discretionary basis in accordance with the SEBI ICDR Regulations
(the “Anchor Investor Portion”), out of which one third shall be reserved for domestic Mutual Funds, subject to valid
Bids being received from domestic Mutual Funds at or above the Anchor Investor Offer Price. 5% of the QIB Portion shall
be available for allocation on a proportionate basis to Mutual Funds only, and the remainder of the QIB Portion shall be
available for allocation on a proportionate basis to all QIB Bidders, including Mutual Funds, subject to valid Bids being
received at or above the Offer Price. Further, not less than 15% of the Net Offer shall be available for allocation on a
proportionate basis to Non-Institutional Bidders and not less than 35% of the Net Offer shall be available for allocation to
Retail Individual Bidders, in accordance with the SEBI Regulations, subject to valid Bids being received at or above the
Offer Price. All potential Bidders may participate in the Offer through an ASBA process by providing details of their
respective bank account which will be blocked by the SCSBs. All Bidders are mandatorily required to utilize the ASBA
process to participate in the Offer. Under-subscription if any, in any category, except in the QIB Category, would be allowed
to be met with spill over from any other category or a combination of categories at the discretion of our Company in
consultation with the BRLM and the Designated Stock Exchange. However, under-subscription, if any, in the QIB Portion
will not be allowed to be met with spill over from other categories or a combination of categories.

All Bidders, except Anchor Investors, are mandatorily required to use the ASBA process for participating in the
Offer. In accordance with the SEBI ICDR Regulations, QIBs bidding in the QIB Portion and Non-Institutional
Bidders bidding in the Non-Institutional Portion are not allowed to withdraw or lower the size of their Bids (in terms
of the quantity of the Equity Shares or the Bid Amount) at any stage. Retail Individual Bidders and Eligible
Employees Bidding in the Employee Reservation Portion (subject to the Bid Amount being up to ¥ 5 lakhs) can
revise their Bids during the Bid/ Offer Period and withdraw their Bids until the Bid/ Offer Closing Date. Further,
Anchor Investors cannot withdraw their Bids after the Anchor Investor Bid/ Offer Period. Allocation to the Anchor
Investors will be on a discretionary basis.

Subject to valid Bids being received at or above the Offer Price, allocation to all categories in the Net Offer, shall be made
on a proportionate basis, except for Retail Portion where allotment to each Retail Individual Bidders shall not be less than
the minimum bid lot, subject to availability of Equity Shares in Retail Portion, and the remaining available Equity Shares,
if any, shall be allotted on a proportionate basis.

In terms of SEBI Circular No. CIR/CFD/POLICYCELL/11/2015 dated November 10, 2015 and the SEBI (Issue of Capital
and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2018, all the investors (except Anchor Investors) applying in a public issue
shall use only Application Supported by Blocked Amount (ASBA) process for application providing details of the bank
account which will be blocked by the Self Certified Syndicate Banks (SCSBs) for the same. Further, pursuant to SEBI
Circular No. SEBI/HO/CFD/DIL2/CIR/P/2018/138 dated November 01, 2018, Retail Individual Investors and Non-
Institutional Bidders upto X5 Lakhs applying in public issue may use either Application Supported by Blocked Amount
(ASBA) facility for making application or also can use UPI as a payment mechanism with Application Supported by
Blocked Amount for making application. For details in this regards, specific attention is invited to the section titled “Offer
Procedure” beginning on page 347 of this Red Herring Prospectus.

The process of Book Building under the SEBI ICDR Regulations is subject to change from time to time and the investors
are advised to make their own judgment about investment through this process prior to making a Bid or application in the
Offer.

For further details on the method and procedure for Bidding, please refer section entitled “Offer Procedure” on page 347
of this Red Herring Prospectus

Illustration of the Book Building and Price Discovery Process: Bidders should note that this example is solely for
illustrative purposes and is not specific to the Offer; it also excludes Bidding by Anchor Investors. Bidders can bid at any
price within the Price Band. For instance, assume a Price Band of 320 to X 24 per share, Offer size of 3,000 Equity Shares
and receipt of five Bids from Bidders, details of which are shown in the table below. The illustrative book given below
shows the demand for the Equity Shares of the Issuer at various prices and is collated from Bids received from various
investors.
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Bid Quantity Bid Amount (%) Cumulative Quantity Subscription
500 24 500 16.67%
1000 23 1500 50.00%
1500 22 3000 100.00%
2000 21 5000 166.67%
2500 20 7500 250.00%

The price discovery is a function of demand at various prices. The highest price at which the Issuer is able to Offer the
desired number of Equity Shares is the price at which the book cuts off, i.e., ¥ 22.00 in the above example. The Issuer, in
consultation with the BRLM, may finalise the Offer Price at or below such Cut-Off Price, i.¢., at or below Z 22.00. All Bids
at or above this Offer Price and cut-off Bids are valid Bids and are considered for allocation in the respective categories.

Steps to be taken by the Bidders for Bidding:

o Check eligibility for making a Bid (see section titled “Offer Procedure” on page 347 of this Red Herring Prospectus);

e Ensure that you have a demat account and the demat account details are correctly mentioned in the Bid cum Application
Form;

e Ensure correctness of your PAN, DP ID and Client ID mentioned in the Bid cum Application Form. Based on these
parameters, the Registrar to the Offer will obtain the Demographic Details of the Bidders from the Depositories.

o Except for Bids on behalf of the Central or State Government officials, residents of Sikkim and the officials appointed
by the courts, who may be exempt from specifying their PAN for transacting in the securities market, for Bids of all
values ensure that you have mentioned your PAN allotted under the Income Tax Act in the Bid cum Application Form.
The exemption for Central or State Governments and officials appointed by the courts and for investors residing in
Sikkim is subject to the Depositary Participant’s verification of the veracity of such claims of the investors by collecting
sufficient documentary evidence in support of their claims.

e Ensure that the Bid cum Application Form is duly completed as per instructions given in this Red Herring Prospectus
and in the Bid cum Application Form

BID/OFFER PROGRAMME

An indicative timetable in respect of the Offer is set out below:

EVENT INDICATIVE DATE
Bid/ Offer Opening Date Thursday, March 20, 2025
Bid/ Offer Closing Date Monday, March 24, 2025
Finalization of Basis of Allotment with the Designated Stock Exchange On or about Tuesday, March 25, 2025

Initiation of Allotment/ Refunds / Unblocking of Funds from ASBA | On or about Wednesday, March 26, 2025
Account or UPI ID linked bank account
Credit of Equity Shares to demat accounts of Allottees On or about Wednesday, March 26, 2025
Commencement of trading of the Equity Shares on the Stock Exchange On or about Thursday, March 27, 2025
@) Our Company in consultation with the Book Running Lead Manager may consider participation by Anchor Investors in
accordance with the SEBI ICDR Regulations. The Anchor Investor Bid/ Offer Period shall be one Working Day prior to
the Bid/ Offer Opening Date in accordance with the SEBI ICDR Regulations.

The above timetable is indicative and does not constitute any obligation on our Company or the Book Running Lead
Manager. Whilst our Company shall ensure that all steps for the completion of the necessary formalities for the listing and
the commencement of trading of the Equity Shares on the Stock Exchange are taken within 3 (three) Working Days of the
Bid/ Offer Closing Date, the timetable may change due to various factors, such as extension of the Bid/ Offer Period by our
Company, revision of the Price Band or any delays in receiving the final listing and trading approval from the Stock
Exchange. The Commencement of trading of the Equity Shares will be entirely at the discretion of the Stock Exchange and
in accordance with the applicable laws.

Bid Cum Application Forms and any revisions to the same will be accepted only between 10.00 A.M. to 5.00 P.M. (IST)
during the Offer Period (except for the Bid/ Offer Closing Date). On the Bid/ Offer Closing Date, the Bid Cum Application
Forms will be accepted only between 10.00 A.M. to 3.00 P.M. (IST) for retail and non-retail Bidders. The time for applying
for Retail Individual Applicant on Bid/ Offer Closing Date maybe extended in consultation with the BRLM, RTA and NSE
Emerge taking into account the total number of applications received up to the closure of timings.

Due to the limitation of time available for uploading the Bid Cum Application Forms on the Bid/ Offer Closing Date,
Bidders are advised to submit their applications 1 (one) day prior to the Bid/ Offer Closing Date and, in any case, not later
than 3.00 P.M. (IST) on the Bid/ Offer Closing Date. Any time mentioned in this Red Herring Prospectus is IST. Bidders
are cautioned that, in the event a large number of Bid Cum Application Forms are received on the Bid/ Offer Closing Date,
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as is typically experienced in public Offer, some Bid Cum Application Forms may not get uploaded due to the lack of
sufficient time. Such Bid Cum Application Forms that cannot be uploaded will not be considered for allocation under this
Offer. Applications will be accepted only on Working Days, i.e., Monday to Friday (excluding any public holidays). Neither
our Company nor the BRLM is liable for any failure in uploading the Bid Cum Application Forms due to faults in any
software/hardware system or otherwise.

In accordance with SEBI ICDR Regulations, QIBs and Non-Institutional Applicants are not allowed to withdraw or lower
the size of their Application (in terms of the quantity of the Equity Shares or the Application amount) at any stage. Retail
Individual Applicants can revise or withdraw their Bid Cum Application Forms prior to the Bid/ Offer Closing Date.
Allocation to Retail Individual Applicants, in this Offer will be on a proportionate basis

In case of discrepancy in the data entered in the electronic book vis-a-vis the data contained in the physical Bid Cum
Application Form, for a particular Applicant, the details as per the file received from Stock Exchange may be taken as the
final data for the purpose of Allotment. In case of discrepancy in the data entered in the electronic book vis-a-vis the data
contained in the physical or electronic Bid Cum Application Form, for a particular ASBA Applicant, the Registrar to the
Offer shall ask the relevant SCSBs/ RTAs / DPs / stock brokers, as the case may be, for the rectified data.

UNDERWRITING AGREEMENT

Our Company and the Book Running Lead Manager to the Offer hereby confirm that, this Offer is 100% underwritten by
the Underwriter.

Pursuant to the terms of the Underwriting Agreement dated November 09, 2024 , obligations of the Underwriter are subject
to certain conditions specified therein.

The Underwriter have indicated their intention to underwrite the following number of Equity Shares being offered
through this Offer:

No. of shares Amount % of the Total
Details of the Underwriter(s) Underwritten* Underwritten | Offer Size
(R in Lakhs) Underwritten

INDORIENT FINANCIAL SERVICES LIMITED

B/805, Rustomjee Central Park, Andheri Kurla Road, Chakala,
Mumbai — 400093, Maharashtra, India.

Tel No.: +91-79772 12186

E-mail: compliance-ifsi@indorient.in

Investor Grievance Email: wecare@indorient.in

Website: www.indorient.in

Contact Person: Mr. Ivor Anil Misquith

SEBI Registration No.: INM000012661

CIN: U67190DL1993PLC052085

Upto 65,89,200 [o] 100%

*Includes 3,30,000 Equity shares for cash of the Market Maker Reservation Portion which are to be subscribed by the
Market Maker in its own account in order to claim compliance with the requirements of Regulation 261 of the SEBI ICDR
Regulations, as amended.

As per Regulation 260 of SEBI ICDR Regulations, the Book Running Lead Manager has agreed to underwrite to a minimum
extent of 15% of the Offer out of its own account.

In the opinion of the Board, the resources of the above-mentioned Underwriter are sufficient to enable them to discharge
their respective underwriting obligations in full.

Changes in Auditors during last 3 Years

M/s. Bhuta Shah & Co LLP are appointed as Peer Review Auditors of our Company in compliance with Regulation 229
(3) (b) of Chapter 1X of SEBI ICDR Regulations and hold a valid peer review certificate no. 017101 dated June 14, 2024
issued by the “Peer Review Board” of the ICAI

Except as mentioned below, there has been no change in the auditors of our Company during the last 3 years:

ST Particulars of Auditor . Reason

No. change

1 M/s. Bhuta Shah & Co LLP June 27,2024 | Appointment as the Statutory
' Chartered Accountants Auditors of the Company for a
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3" floor, 302, Regent Chambers, Jamnalal Bajaj Road, period of five years from April 01,
Nariman Point, Mumbai — 400021, Maharashtra. 2024 to March 31, 2029

Tel: 022 43439191

E-mail: jay.jhaveri@bhutashah.com
Website: www.bhutashah.com

Contact Person: Mr. Jay Jhaveri

Firm Registration No: 101474W / W100100
Membership No: 134864

Peer Review Certificate No: 017101

2. M/s. Bhuta Shah & Co LLP March 18, Appointment as the Statutory
Chartered Accountants 2024* Auditors for one financial year
3 floor, 302, Regent Chambers, Jamnalal Bajaj Road, from April 01, 2023 to March 31,
Nariman Point, Mumbai — 400021, Maharashtra. 2024 to fill the casual vacancy
Tel: 022 43439191 caused by the resignation of the

E-mail: jay.jhaveri@bhutashah.com
Website: www.bhutashah.com

Contact Person: Mr. Jay Jhaveri

Firm Registration No: 101474W / W100100
Membership No: 134864

Peer Review Certificate No: 017101

3. M/s. K Srirangarajan & Associates March 05, Resignation due to preoccupation
Chartered Accountants 2024 in other assignments

SF-02, RAR Furniture, No.47, 1% Main Road Royan
Circle Chamrajpet, Bengaluru- 560018, Karnataka.

Tel: 080-41900118, 98453-90780

E-mail: ksrirangarajan@gmail.com

Website: Not Available

Contact Person: K Srirangarajan

Firm Registration No: 004067S

Membership No: 026104

Peer Review Certificate No: Not Available

*Date of approval of shareholders in the EGM has been considered.

previous statutory auditor, M/s. K
Srirangarajan & Associates

WITHDRAWAL OF THE OFFER

Our Company in consultation with the BRLM, reserve the right to not to proceed with the Offer at any time before the Bid/
Offer Opening Date without assigning any reason thereof.

If our Company withdraws the Offer anytime after the Bid/ Offer Opening Date but before the allotment of Equity Shares,
a public notice within 2 (two) Working Days of the Bid/ Offer Closing Date, providing reasons for not proceeding with the
Offer shall be issued by our Company. The notice of withdrawal will be issued in the same newspapers where the pre- Offer
advertisements have appeared and the Stock Exchange will also be informed promptly. The BRLM, through the Registrar
to the Offer, will instruct the SCSBs to unblock the ASBA Accounts within 1 (one) Working Day from the day of receipt
of such instruction.

If our Company withdraws the Offer after the Bid/ Offer Closing Date and subsequently decides to proceed with an Offer
of the Equity Shares, our Company will have to file a fresh Draft Red Herring Prospectus with the stock exchange where
the Equity Shares may be proposed to be listed.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Offer is subject to obtaining (i) the final listing and trading approvals of the Stock
Exchange with respect to the Equity Shares issued through the Red Herring Prospectus, which our Company will apply for
only after Allotment; and (ii) the filing of Red Herring Prospectus/ Prospectus with RoC.

DETAILS OF THE MARKET MAKING ARRANGEMENT FOR THIS OFFER

Our Company has entered into Market Making Agreement dated November 09, 2024, with the Book Running Lead
Manager and Market Maker to fulfill the obligations of Market Making.

Name Alacrity Securities Limited

Registered Office Address 101-102/B, Hari Darshan, Bhogilal Fadia Road, Kandivali West, Mumbai
— 400067, Maharashtra, India.

Tel No. 022-69527500

E-mail alacritysec@gmail.com
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Website www.alacritysec.com

Contact Person Mr. Kishore V. Shah
SEBI Registration INZ000215936
CIN L99999MH1994PLC083912

NSE Market Maker Registration No. NSE/MEM/09098

Market Maker Registration No. (SME Segment of NSE — NSE EMERGE):

Alacrity Securities Limited, registered with EMERGE platform of National Stock Exchange of India Limited will act as
the Market Maker and has agreed to receive or deliver of the specified securities in the market making process for a period
of three years from the date of listing of our Equity Shares or for a period as may be notified by any amendment to SEBI
ICDR Regulations.

The Market Maker shall fulfil the applicable obligations and conditions as specified in the SEBI ICDR Regulations, as
amended from time to time and the circulars issued by National Stock Exchange of India Limited and SEBI in this matter
from time to time.

Following is a summary of the key details pertaining to the Market Making arrangement:

(i) The Market Maker(s) (individually or jointly) shall be required to provide a 2-way quote for 75% of the time in a
day. The same shall be monitored by NSE. Further, the Market Maker(s) shall inform NSE in advance for each and
every black out period when the quotes are not being offered by the Market Maker(s).

(i) The prices quoted by Market Maker shall be in compliance with the Market Maker Spread Requirements and other
particulars as specified or as per the requirements of the NSE Emerge (SME platform of NSE) and SEBI from time
to time.

(iii) The minimum depth of the quote shall be %1,00,000/-. However, the investors with holdings of value less than
%1,00,000/- shall be allowed to offer their holding to the Market Maker(s) (individually or jointly) in that scrip
provided that he sells his entire holding in that scrip in one lot along with a declaration to the effect to the selling
broker.

(iv) After completion of the first three months of market making, in terms of SEBI Circular No. CIR/MRD/DSA/31/2012
dated November 27, 2012; the Market Maker shall be exempt from providing buy quote if the Shares of Market
Maker in the Company reaches to 25% of Offer Size. Any Equity Shares allotted to Market Maker under this Offer
over and above 25% of the Offer Size would not be taken in to consideration for computing the threshold of 25% of
Offer Size. As soon as the Shares of Market Maker in the Company reduces to 24% of Offer Size, the Market Maker
will resume providing two (2) way quotes. Further, the Market Maker can offer buy quotes only after the Market
Maker complies with prescribed re-entry threshold limits. Only those Equity Shares which have been acquired by
the Market Maker on the NSE EMERGE during market making process shall be counted towards the Market Maker's
threshold. The Market Maker shall be required to provide two-way quotes during the first three months of the market
making irrespective of the level of holding.

(v) There shall be no exemption/ threshold on downside. However, in the event the Market Maker exhausts his inventory
through market making process, NSE may intimate the same to SEBI after due verification.

(vi) The Market Maker shall not sell in lots less than the minimum contract size allowed for trading on the NSE Emerge
(in this case currently the minimum trading lot size is 1,200 Equity Shares; however the same may be changed by
the NSE Emerge from time to time).

(vii) Execution of the order at the quoted price and quantity must be guaranteed by the Market Maker(s), for the quotes
given by him.

(viii) The shares of the Company will be traded in continuous trading session from the time and day the Company gets
listed on NSE EMERGE and Market Maker will remain present as per the guidelines mentioned under NSE and
SEBI circulars.

(ix) The Market Maker shall start providing quotes from the day of the listing / the day when designated as the Market

Maker for the respective scrip and shall be subject to the guidelines laid down for market making by the NSE
EMERGE.

(X) There will be special circumstances under which the Market Maker may be allowed to withdraw temporarily/fully
from the market — for instance due to system problems or any other problems. All controllable reasons require prior
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approval from the Exchange, while force-mcfrure will be applicable for non-controllable reasons. The decision of
the Exchange for deciding controllable and non-controllable reasons would be final.

(xi) The Market Maker shall not buy the Equity Shares from the Promoters or Persons belonging to promoter group of
the Company or any person who has acquired shares from such Promoter or person belonging to Promoter Group,
during the compulsory market making period.

(xii) The Promoters holding of the Company shall not be eligible for offering to the Market Maker during the Compulsory
Market Making Period. However, the promoters' holding of Company which is not locked-in as per the SEBI (ICDR)
Regulations, 2018 as amended, can be traded with prior permission of the NSE EMERGE, in the manner specified
by SERI from time to time.

(xiii) The Market Maker(s) shall have the right to terminate said arrangement by giving a 3 (three) months’ notice or on
mutually acceptable terms to the Merchant Banker, who shall then be responsible to appoint a replacement Market
Maker(s) and execute a fresh arrangement.

In case of termination of the above mentioned Market Making agreement prior to the completion of the compulsory
Market Making period, it shall be the responsibility of the BRLM to arrange for another Market Maker in
replacement during the term of the notice period being served by the Market Maker but prior to the date of releasing
the existing Market Maker from its duties in order to ensure compliance with the requirements of regulation 261 of
the SEBI ICDR Regulations, as amended. Further our Company and the BRLM reserve the right to appoint other
Market Makers either as a replacement of the current Market Maker or as an additional Market Maker subject to the
total number of Designated Market Makers does not exceed five or as specified by the relevant laws and regulations
applicable at that particulars point of time. The Market Making Agreement is available for inspection at our office
from 10.00 A.M. to 5.00 P.M. on working days.

(xiv) The Market Maker shall not be responsible to maintain the price of the Equity Shares of the Issuer at any particular
level and is purely supposed to facilitate liquidity on the counter of the Company via its 2-way quotes. The price of
the Equity Shares shall be determined and be subject to market forces.

(xv) The Marker Maker may also be present in the opening call auction, but there is no obligation on him to do so. On
the first day of the listing, there will be pre-opening session (call auction) and there after the trading will happen as
per the equity market hours. The circuits will apply from the first day of the listing on the discovered price during
the pie-open call auction.

(xvi) There would not be more than one Market Maker per scrip at any point of time.
(xvii) The Market Maker has to act in that capacity for a period of three years.

(xviii) Risk containment measures and monitoring for Market Makers: NSE Emerge will have all margins, which
are applicable on NSE main board viz., Mark-to-Market, Value-At-Risk (VAR) Margin, Extreme Loss Margin,
Special Margins and Base Minimum Capital etc. NSE can impose any other margins as deemed necessary from time-
to-time.

(xix) Punitive Action in case of default by Market Makers: NSE Emerge will monitor the obligations on a real time
basis and punitive action will be initiated for any exceptions and/or non-compliances. Penalties/ fines may be
imposed by the Exchange on the Market Maker, in case he is not able to provide the desired liquidity in a particular
security as per the specified guidelines. These penalties/ fines will be set by the Exchange from time to time. The
Exchange will impose a penalty on the Market Maker in case he is not present in the market (offering two way
quotes) for at least 75% of the time. The nature of the penalty will be monetary as well as suspension in market
making activities/ trading membership. The Department of Surveillance and Supervision of the Exchange would
decide and publish the penalties/ fines/ suspension for any type of misconduct/ manipulation/ other irregularities by
the Market Maker from time to time.

(xx) Price Band and Spreads: The price band shall be between 20% and the market maker spread (difference between
the sell and the buy quote) shall be within 10% or as intimated by Exchange from time to time.

(xxi) Further, the following shall apply to market makers while managing their inventory during the process of market
making:

a. The exemption from threshold as per table below shall not be applicable for the first three months of market
making and the market maker shall be required to provide two-way quotes during this period irrespective of the
level of holding.

b. Threshold for market making as per table below will be inclusive of mandatory inventory of 5% of Offer size
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at the time of allotment in the Offer.

c. Any initial holdings over and above such 5% of Offer size would not be counted towards the inventory levels
prescribed.

d. Apart from the above mandatory inventory, only those shares which have been acquired on the platform of the
exchange during market making process shall be counted towards the Market Maker's threshold.

e. Threshold limit will take into consideration, the inventory level across market makers.

f. The market maker shall give two-way quotes till he reaches the upper limit threshold, thereafter he has the option
to give only sell quotes.

g. Two-way quotes shall be resumed the moment inventory reaches the prescribed re-entry threshold.

h. In view of the market making obligation, there shall be no exemption/threshold on downside. However, in the
event the market maker exhausts his inventory through market making process on the platform of the exchange,
the concerned stock exchange may intimate the same to SEBI after due verification.

(xxii) Pursuant to SEBI Circular number CIR/MRD/DSA/31/2012 dated November 27, 2012, limits on the upper side
for market makers during market making process has been made applicable, based on the Offer size and as follows:

Buy quote exemption Re-Entry threshold for buy
Offer Size thrgs_hol_d (including mandatory quote (including mandatory ini_tial
initial inventory of 5% of the inventory of 5% of the Offer Size)
Offer Size)

Up to X 20 Crore 25% 24%
% 20 Crore to X 50 Crore 20% 19%
% 50 Crore to X 80 Crore 15% 14%
Above X 80 Crore 12% 11%

All the above-mentioned conditions and systems regarding the Market Making Arrangement are subject to change based
on changes or additional regulations and guidelines from SEBI and Stock Exchange from time to time.
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SECTION VI: CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The Share capital of our Company, as on the date of this Red Herring Prospectus and after giving effect to the Offer is set
forth below:
Amount (in , except share data)

Sr. Particulars Aggregate Aggregate value
No. value at face at Offer Price
value c*
®)
A AUTHORIZED SHARE CAPITAL®
2,50,00,000 Equity Shares having face value of X 10 /- each 25,00,00,000 -
Total 25,00,00,000
B. ISSUED, SUBSCRIBED AND PAID-UP SHARE CAPITAL
BEFORE THE OFFER
1,86,59,003 Equity Shares having face value of X 10/- each 18,65,90,030 -
Total 18,65,90,030
C. PRESENT OFFER IN TERMS OF THIS RED HERRING
PROSPECTUS
Offer of up to 65,89,200 Equity Shares of face value of X 10/- each* 6,58,92,000 [o]
Of Which:
Fresh Issue up to 62,60,400 Equity Shares having Face Value of % 6,26,04,000 [®]
10/-each @
Offer for Sale of up to 3,28,800 Equity Shares of face value of ¥ 10 32,88,000 [e]
each by the Promoter Selling Shareholder ? ©
Consisting:
D. Market Maker Reservation Portion — 33,00,000 [e]
3,30,000 Equity Shares reserved as Market Maker Reservation
Portion at a price of X [e] per Equity Share
E. Employee Reservation Portion — 1,20,000
12,000 Equity Shares reserved as Employee Reservation Portion at a
price of % [e] per Equity Share ©
F. Net Offer to the Public - 6,24,72,000 [e]
62,47,200 Equity Shares at a price of X [e] per Equity Share
Of the Net Offer to the Public: @
At least 21,87,600 Equity Shares aggregating up to X [e] lakhs will 2,18,76,000 [e]
be available for allocation to Retail Individual Investors
At least 9,37,200 Equity Shares aggregating up to X [e] lakhs will be 93,72,000 [e]
available for allocation to Non-Institutional Investors
Not more than 31,22,400 Equity Shares aggregating up to Z [e] lakhs 3,12,24,000 [e]
will be available for allocation to Qualified Institutional Buyers, five
per cent. Of which shall be allocated to mutual funds.
G. ISSUED, SUBSCRIBED AND PAID-UP SHARE CAPITAL
AFTER THE OFFER
Upto 2,49,19,403 Equity Shares of face value of X 10/- each
(assuming full subscription in the Offer)
H. SECURITIES PREMIUM ACCOUNT
Before the Offer (as on date of this Red Herring Prospectus)® 12,55,28,250
After the Offer [e]

*To be updated upon finalization of the Offer Price. The face value of equity shares is X 10/- each. The floor price is X 107/-
per equity share which is 10.70 times of the face value and the cap price is X 113/- per equity share which is 11.30 times
of the face value.

(1) For details in relation to the changes in the authorised share capital of our Company, please refer the section titled
‘History and Certain Other Corporate Matters — Amendments to the Memorandum of Association’ beginning on page
196 of this Red Herring Prospectus.
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(2) The Offer has been authorised by our Board vide a resolution passed at its meeting held on November 06, 2024 and
by the shareholders of our Company vide a special resolution passed pursuant to Section 62(1)(c) of the Companies
Act, 2013 at the EGM held on November 08, 2024.

Our Board taken on record the consent for the Offer for Sale of the Promoter Selling Shareholder pursuant to its
resolution dated November 14, 2024.Promoter Selling Shareholder confirms that their respective portion of the
Offered Shares have been held by them for a period of at least one year prior to the filing of the Draft Red Herring
Prospectus with SEBI and are eligible in accordance with the SEBI ICDR Regulations. Promoter Selling Shareholder
confirms compliance with and will comply with the conditions of the SEBI ICDR Regulations, to the extent applicable.
For details of the authorization of Promoter Selling Shareholder in relation to their respective Offered Shares, refer
section titled “Other Regulatory and Statutory Disclosures” on page 318 of this Red Herring Prospectus.

For detailed information on the Net Offer and its allocation various categories, please refer the section titled ‘The
Offer’ beginning on page 79 of this Red Herring Prospectus.

Amount is Unaudited

In the event of under-subscription in the Employee Reservation Portion (if any), the unsubscribed portion will be
available for allocation proportionately to all Eligible Employees who have Bid in excess of T 2 lakhs, subject to the
maximum value of allocation made to such Eligible Employee not exceeding I 5 lakhs. The unsubscribed portion, if
any, in the Employee Reservation Portion, shall be added to the Net Offer. For further details, refer “Offer
Procedure” and “Offer Structure” on pages 347 and 341, respectively.

®3)

(4)

(5)
(6)

Class of the Shares

Our Company has one class of share capital i.e. Equity Shares of face value of ¥ 10/- each. All the issued Equity Shares are
fully paid-up. Our Company has no outstanding convertible instruments as on the date of this Red Herring Prospectus.

There are no outstanding convertible securities or any warrant, option or right to convert a debenture, loan or other
instrument which would entitle any person any option to receive Equity Shares, as on the date of this Red Herring
Prospectus.

NOTES TO CAPITAL STRUCTURE

1. Details of changes in authorised share capital:

Since the incorporation of our Company, the authorised share capital of our Company has been altered in the manner
set forth below:

Particulars of change Date of
From To Shareholders AGM/EGM
Meeting
The authorized share capital of our Company on incorporation comprised On Incorporation o
of % 1,00,000/-consisting of 10,000 Equity Shares of ¥ 10/- each.
%1,00,000/- consisting of 10,000 | %1,01,00,000/- consisting of
Equity Shares of % 10/- each 10,10,000 Equity Shares of X 10/- March 01, 2021 EGM
each
%1,01,00,000/- consisting of | %6,00,00,000/- consisting of
10,10,000 Equity Shares of X 10/- | 60,00,000 Equity Shares of X 10/- | September 13, 2023 EGM
each each
%6,00,00,000/-  consisting of | %25,00,00,000/- consisting of May 27, 2024 EGM
60,00,000 Equity Shares of X 10/- | 2,50,00,000 Equity Shares of X 10/-
each each

2.

(a) Equity Shares capital

History of Share capital of our Company

The history of the Equity Share capital of our Company is set forth in the table below:
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Sr.| Dateof | Number of |Face| Issue price Total Nature of Nature of | Cumulativ| Cumulative
No.| allotment Equity | valu | per Equity | Consideratio | consideration allotment | e number paid-up
Shares |eper| Share n () of Equity | Equity Share
allotted |Equi ® Shares Capital
ty | including Q)
Shar| Premium
e
®)
1, | Incorporati | 46500 | 10 10 1,00,000 Cash Subscription |, 0 1,00,000
on of MOA
March 31, F_ilghts Iss_ue
2. 10,00,000 | 10 10 1,00,00,000 Cash in the ratio | 10,10,000 | 1,01,00,000
2021
of 100:1
3 September Consideration Conversion
P 21,44,000 | 10 14 3,00,16,000 from loan to | 31,54,000 | 3,15,40,000
29, 2023 other than cash o
equity®
4 panuary 03,15 15500 | 10 258 | 550,83, 000 Cash Private | 53 67500 | 3,36,75,000
2024 Placement
5. [January 08| 4 45750 | 19 258 3,50,23,500 Cash Private | 55 43950 | 3,50,32,500
2024 Placement
6. | February | 2,57,000 | 10 258 6,63,06,000 Cash Private 37,60,250 | 3,76,02,500
20, 2024 Placement
7. | March 28, | 2,30,000 | 10 295 6,78,50,000 Private 39,90,250 | 3,99,02,500
Cash
2024 Placement
8. July 05, 5,084 10 295 14,99,780 Conversion of Private 39,95,334 | 3,99,53,340
2024 Warrants @ Placement
9. July 11, |1,39,83,669 | 10 Not Not Consideration | Bonus Issue |1,79,79,003 | 17,97,90,030
2024 Applicable | Applicable | other than cash @
10. July 24, 2,25,000 | 10 68 1,53,00,000 Cash Private |1,82,04,003| 18,20,40,030
2024 Placement
11. | August05, | 4,55,000 | 10 68 3,09,40,000 Cash Private |1,86,59,003| 18,65,90,030
2024 Placement
(1) Conversion of Loan to Equity was approved by the shareholders of the Company vide resolution dated September 13, 2023.

@
®

Equity Shares were fully paid after conversion of warrants into Equity Shares as per agreed terms of conversion approved by the
shareholders’ of the Company at their Extra-Ordinary General Meeting held on March 18, 2024
Bonus Issue in the ratio of 7 Equity Shares for every 2 Equity Shares held.

Equity Shares:
(1) Initial subscribers to Memorandum of Association subscribed 10,000 Equity Shares at par as per the details given

below:
Sr. No. | Name of allottees No. of Equity Shares
allotted
1. Mr. Ramesh Siva 9,000
2. Mrs. Vidya Ramesh 1,000
Total 10,000

(2) Rights Issue made in ratio of 100:1 i.e. 100 Equity Shares issued for 1 Equity Share held, of 10,00,000 Equity
Shares of face value of Z10/- each issued at par for consideration in cash as per the details given below:

Sr. No. | Name of allottees No. of Equity Shares
allotted
1. Mr. Ramesh Siva 9,50,000
2. Mrs. Vidya Ramesh 50,000
Total 10,00,000

(3) Conversion of Loan into 21,44,000 Equity Shares of face value of 210/- each issued at an issue price of 14/-
each including a premium of ¥4/- on each Equity Share as per the details given below:

Sr. No. | Name of allottees No. of Equity Shares
allotted

1. Mr. Ramesh Siva 12,31,500

2. Mrs. Vidya Ramesh 9,12,500
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| Total

21,44,000

(4) Private Placement of 2,13,500 Equity Shares of face value of ¥10/- each issued at an issue price of X 258/- each

including a premium of X 248/- on each Equity Share for consideration in cash as per the details given below:

Sr. No. | Name of allottees No. of Equity Shares
allotted
1. M/s Negen Undiscovered Value Fund 1,94,000
2. Ms. Nipa Prashant Sheth 9,750
3. Mr. Dhruv Gandhi 9,750
Total 2,13,500

(5) Private Placement of 1,35,750 Equity Shares of face value of ¥10/- each issued at an issue price of ¥258/- including

a premium of X 248/- on each Equity Share for consideration in cash as per the details given below:

Sr. No. | Name of allottees No. of Equity Shares
allotted
1. M/s Odyssey Corporation Limited 1,26,000
2. Ms. Meeta Hiten Mehta 9,750
Total 1,35,750

(6) Private Placement of 2,57,000 Equity Shares of face value of 10/- each issued at an issue price of I258/- each

including a premium of % 248/- on each Equity Share for consideration in cash as per the details given below:

Sr. No. | Name of allottees No. of Equity Shares
allotted
1. M/s Negen Undiscovered Value Fund 1,16,000
2. Mr. Ajay Jaisinghani 24,500
3. Ms. Reina Jaisinghani 77,500
4. Ms. Ritika Jaisinghani 29,250
5. Ms. Diypti Bharwani 9,750
Total 2,57,000

(7) Private Placement of 2,30,000 Equity Shares of face value of 210/- each issued at an issue price of T 295/- each

including a premium of % 285/- on each Equity Share for consideration in cash as per the details given below:

Sr. No. | Name of allottees No. of Equity Shares
allotted
1. Mr. Ajay Jaisinghani 33,750
2. Ms. Reina Jaisinghani 33,750
3. Mr. Giridhari Jaisinghani 17,000
4. Ms. Monisha Khanchandani 8,500
5. M/s Meher Kukreja Trust 7,000
6. M/s Mittal Analytics Private Limited 80,000
7. Mr. Rahul Agarwal 30,000
8. Ms. Charu Agarwal 20,000
Total 2,30,000

(8) Issue of 5,084 Equity Shares pursuant to conversion of 1 (one) warrant into 1 (one) equity share of face value 10/-
each, issued at a price of X 295/- each including a premium of % 285/- on each Equity Share as per the details given

below:
Sr. No. | Name of allottee No. of Equity Shares
allotted
1. Mr. Rahul Agarwal 5,084
Total 5,084

(9) Bonus allotment of 1,39,83,669 Equity Shares by way of bonus issue to the existing shareholders in the ratio of 7
(Seven) Equity Shares for every 2 (Two) Equity Share held by capitalizing X13,98,36,690 out of the free reserves
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of our Company and pursuant to the approvals received from shareholders of our Company vide resolution dated

June 27, 2024. The details of the allotment are as follows:

Sr. No. | Name of allottees No. of Equity Shares allotted
1. Mr. Ramesh Siva 73,50,000
2 Mrs. Vidya Ramesh 33,57,900
3. Mr. Hiten Mehta 2,26,100
4 Ms. Rekha Yogesh Gandhi 12,250
5. Ms. Bhavana Sunil Koradia 12,250
6. Ms. Payal Viral Gandhi 12,250
7 Mr. Fenil Rajeshbhai Shah 12,250
8. Mr. Viral Yogesh Gandhi 56,000
0. M/s Negen Undiscovered Value Fund 10,85,000
10. | M/s Alacrity Securities Ltd 2,13,500
11. | Ms. Nipa Prashant Sheth 34,125
12. | Ms. Meeta Hiten Mehta 34,125
13. | Mr. Dhruv Gandhi 34,125
14. | Mr. Ajay Jaisinghani 2,03,875
15. | Ms. Reina R Jaisinghani 3,65,575
16. Ms. Ritika Jaisinghani 1,02,375
17. | Ms. Diypti Bharwani 34,125
18. | Mr. Giridhari Jaisinghani 59,500
19. | Ms. Monisha Khanchandani 29,750
20. | M/s Meher Kukreja Trust 24,500
21. | M/s Mittal Analytics Pvt Ltd 3,93,750
2o | Mr. Rahul Agarwal 1,22,794
23. | Ms. Charu Agarwal 70,000
24 | Mr. Sandeep Navinchandra Patel 59,500
o5 | Mr. Patel Dushyant Navinbhai 12,250
26. | Mr. Ayush Agarwal 23,800
27. | Mr. Yogansh Jeswani 18,200
2g. | Ms. Reshma Manish Kukreja 23,800

Total 1,39,83,669

(10)Private Placement of 2,25,000 Equity Shares of face value of X10/- each issued at an issue price of X68/- each
including a premium of ¥58/- on each Equity Share as per the details given below:

Sr. No. | Name of allottee No. of Equity Shares
allotted
1. M/s Negen Undiscovered Value Fund 2,25,000
Total 2,25,000

(11)Private Placement of 4,55,000 Equity Shares of face value of Z10/- each issued at an issue price of X68/- each
including a premium of ¥58/- on each Equity Share as per the details given below:

Sr. No. | Name of allottees No. of Equity Shares
allotted
1. | Mr. Neil Madan Bahal 2,25,000
2. | Mrs. Vidya Ramesh 2,30,000
Total 4,55,000

Page 104 of 437




(b) Preference share capital

As on the date of this Red Herring Prospectus, our Company does not have any issued Preference share capital.

Issue of shares for consideration other than cash or out of revaluation of reserves

Except as disclosed below, our Company has not issued any Equity Shares for consideration other than cash.

Date of Number of | Face | Issue | Reason for Benefits Name of No. of shares
Allotment Equity value | Price | Allotment Accrued to the Allotted
Shares per per our Company | Allottees

equit | equit
y y
share | share
® ®)
September 21,44,000 10 14 Conversion Improvement | Mr. 12,31,500
29, 2023 from loan to in debt to Ramesh
equity equity ratio Siva
Mrs. Vidya 9,12,500
Ramesh
Total 21,44,000
July 11, 1,39,83,669 10 NA | Bonusinthe | Capitalization Refer Note 1 Below
2024 ratio of 7:2 | of Reserves &
ie,7 Surplus
Equity
Share for
every 2
Equity
Shares held
Note 1:
Sr. No. | Name of allottees No. of Equity Shares allotted
1. Mr. Ramesh Siva 73,50,000
2 Mrs. Vidya Ramesh 33,57,900
3. Mr. Hiten Mehta 2,26,100
4. Ms. Rekha Yogesh Gandhi 12,250
5. Ms. Bhavana Sunil Koradia 12,250
6. Ms. Payal Viral Gandhi 12,250
7 Mr. Fenil Rajeshbhai Shah 12,250
8. Mr. Viral Yogesh Gandhi 56,000
0. M/s Negen Undiscovered Value Fund 10,85,000
10. M/s Alacrity Securities Ltd 2,13,500
11. Ms. Nipa Prashant Sheth 34,125
12. Ms. Meeta Hiten Mehta 34,125
13. Mr. Dhruv Gandhi 34,125
14. Mr. Ajay Jaisinghani 2,03,875
15. Ms. Reina R Jaisinghani 3,65,575
16. Ms. Ritika Jaisinghani 1,02,375
17. Ms. Diypti Bharwani 34,125
18. Mr. Giridhari Jaisinghani 59,500
19. Ms. Monisha Khanchandani 29,750
20. M/s Meher Kukreja Trust 24,500
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21. M/s Mittal Analytics Pvt Ltd 3,93,750
22, Mr. Rahul Agarwal 1,22,794
23. Ms. Charu Agarwal 70,000
24. Mr. Sandeep Navinchandra Patel 59,500
5, Mr. Patel Dushyant Navinbhai 12,250
26. Mr. Ayush Agarwal 23,800
27. Mr. Yogansh Jeswani 18,200
28. Ms. Reshma Manish Kukreja 23,800
Total 1,39,83,669

Issue of Equity Shares at a price lower than the Offer Price in the last 1 (one) year

Except as mentioned above in point number 2(a) of ‘Notes to Capital Structure’, we have not issued any Equity Shares
at price below Offer Price within last 1 year from the date of this Red Herring Prospectus.

Issue of preference shares or equity shares having superior voting rights

Our Company has not issued any equity shares having superior voting rights compared to all other Equity Shares
issued, as on the date of this Red Herring Prospectus.

Issue of Equity Shares pursuant to schemes of arrangement

No Equity Shares have been allotted pursuant to any scheme approved under Section 391-394 of the Companies Act,
1956 or Section 230-240 of the Companies Act, 2013 as on the date of this Red Herring Prospectus.

Build-up of Promoter’s shareholding, Promoter’s contribution and lock-in

(i) Build-up of Promoter’s shareholding

As on the date of this Red Herring Prospectus, our Promoters hold an aggregate of 1,39,97,300 Equity Shares,
aggregating to 75.02 % of the issued, subscribed and paid-up Equity Share capital of our Company. For further
details, refer “Our Promoter and Promoter Group” on page 226 of this Red Herring Prospectus:

Nature of Nature of Date of No. of No. of Face Issue | Percenta | Percentag
transaction considera | allotment/ equity cumulative Value | Price | geof the e of the
tion Transfer shares equity shares per per pre- post-
allotted/ Equit | Equit Offer Offer
transferred y y capital capital
Share | Share (%) (%)
®) ®)
(1) Mr. Ramesh Siva

Subscriber to Cash November 9,000 9,000 10 10 0.05 [e]
MOA 11,2011

Allotment Cash March 31, 9,50,000 9,59,000 10 10 5.09 [e]

2021

Allotment Conversio | September 12,31,500 21,90,500 10 14 6.60 [e]
n of loan 29, 2023

Transfer Cash November (64,600) * 21,25,900 10 14 -0.35 [e]
20, 2023

Transfer Cash November | (16,000) * 21,09,900 10 14 -0.09 [e]
20, 2023

Transfer Cash November (3,500) * 21,06,400 10 14 -0.02 [e]
20, 2023

Transfer Cash November (3,500) * 21,02,900 10 14 -0.02 [e]
20, 2023

Transfer Cash November (2,900) * 21,00,000 10 14 -0.02 [e]
20, 2023
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(i)

Allotment Bonus July 11, 73,50,000 94,50,000 10 NA 39.39 [e]
2024
(2) Mrs. Vidya Ramesh
Subscriber to Cash November 1,000 1,000 10 10 0.01 [e]
MOA 11,2011
Allotment Cash March 31, 50,000 51,000 10 10 0.27 [e]
2021
Allotment Conversio | September 9,12,500 9,63,500 10 14 4.89 [e]
n of loan 29, 2023
Transfer Cash November (3,500) * 9,60,000 10 14 -0.02 [e]
20, 2023
Transfer Cash November (600) * 9,59,400 10 14 Negligibl [e]
20, 2023 e
Allotment Bonus July 11, 33,57,900 43,17,300 10 NA 18.00 [e]
2024
Allotment Cash August 2,30,000 45,47,300 10 68 1.23 [e]
05, 2024

*Amounts in bracket “()” signify negative figures

Our Promoters have confirmed to our Company and the Book Running Lead Manager that the Equity Shares held
by our Promoters have been financed from their owned funds and no loans or financial assistance from any bank or
financial institution has been availed of by them for such purpose.

Details of Promoters’ contribution locked in for 3 years:

Pursuant to Regulation 236 and Regulation 238 of SEBI ICDR Regulations, an aggregate of 20% of the fully diluted
post-Offer Equity Share capital of our Company held by our Promoters shall be considered as minimum Promoters’
contribution (“Minimum Promoters Contribution”) and shall be locked-in for a period of 3 years from the date
of Allotment. Promoters’ shareholding in excess of 20% of the fully diluted post-Offer Equity Share capital shall
be locked in for a period of one year from the date of Allotment. The lock-in of the Minimum Promoters
Contribution would be created as per applicable law and procedure and details of the same shall also be provided
to the Designated Stock Exchange before listing of the Equity Shares.

All the Equity Shares of our Company held by our Promoters and the Promoter Group are in dematerialized form.
Our Promoters have consented to the inclusion of such number of the Equity Shares held by them, in aggregate, as
may constitute 20% of the post-Offer capital of our Company as Promoters’ contribution and the Equity Shares
proposed to form part of Promoters’ contribution subject to lock-in shall not be disposed of / sold / transferred /
pledged or otherwise disposed of in any manner by our Promoters during the period starting from the date of filing
this Red Herring Prospectus with the Stock Exchange until the date of commencement of the lock-in period.

Accordingly, Equity Shares aggregating to 20% of the post-Offer capital of our Company, held by our Promoters
shall be locked-in for a period of 3 years from the date of Allotment in the Offer as follows:

Name of | Number | Date of | Nature Face Issue | % of pre-| % of post- | Date

the of Equity | allotmen | of Value | Price | Offer Offer up to

Promote | Shares t of | allotmen | per per shareholdin | shareholding | which

r locked-in | Equity t Equit | Equit | g * Equity
Shares / y y Shares
Date of Share | Share are
Transfer (€3) ® subjec
of Equity t to
Shares lock-in

Mr. July 11, Bonus 10 NA 18.39 13.77 [ )

Ramesh 34’352’04 2024 Issue @]

Siva

Mrs. July 11, Bonus 10 NA 8.40 6.29 [ )

Vidya 15.67,95 23)/24 Issue @]

5
Ramesh
TOTAL 50,000,00 26.80 20.06

*Assuming full subscription of Offer

The minimum Promoter’s contribution has been brought in to the extent of not less than the specified minimum
lot and from the persons defined as promoters’ under the SEBI ICDR Regulations.
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The

Equity Shares that are being locked in are not ineligible for computation of Promoter’s contribution in terms

of Regulation 237 of the SEBI ICDR Regulations. In connection, our Company hereby confirms that the Equity
Shares locked-in do not consist of:

a)

b)
c)
d)

Equity Shares acquired during the preceding 3 years from the date of filing this Red Herring Prospectus for
consideration other than cash and revaluation of assets or capitalization of intangible assets nor resulted from
a bonus shares issued out of revaluations reserves or unrealized profits of our Company or bonus issue against
Equity Shares which are otherwise ineligible for computation of Promoter’s Contribution;

Equity Shares acquired during the preceding 1 year from the date of filing this Red Herring Prospectus, at a
price lower than the price at which the Equity Shares are being offered to the public in the Offer;

Equity Shares held by our Promoters and offered for minimum Promoters’ contribution are subject to any
pledge; and

Equity Shares for which specific written consent has not been obtained from the respective Promoters for
inclusion of their subscription in the Promoters’ Contribution subject to lock-in.

(iii) Details of Equity Shares locked-in for 1 year

In terms of Regulation 238 (b) and 239 of the SEBI ICDR Regulations other than the Equity Shares held by our
Promoters for the Minimum Promoter’s Contribution, which will be locked-in as minimum Promoters’
contribution for 3 years, all the pre-Offer Equity Shares shall be subject to lock-in for a period of 1 year from the
date of allotment in the Offer except as required under applicable law.

(iv) Other requirements in respect of lock-in

a) Inscription or Recording of non-transferability:

In terms of Regulation 241 of the SEBI ICDR Regulations, our Company shall ensure that the lock in is
recorded by the Depositories for pre-IPO Equity Shares which are in dematerialized form.

b) Pledge of Locked-in Equity Shares:

c)

Pursuant to Regulation 242 of the SEBI ICDR Regulations, the locked-in Equity Shares held by our
Promoters, can be pledged with any scheduled commercial banks or public financial institutions as collateral
security for loans granted by such scheduled commercial banks or financial institutions or a systemically
important non-banking finance company or a housing finance company as collateral security for loans
granted by them, provided that:

i. If the Equity Shares are locked-in in terms of clause (a) of Regulation 238, the loan has been granted to
the Issuer or its Subsidiary for the purpose of financing one or more of the objects of the Offer and
pledge of Equity Shares is one of the terms of sanction of the loan;

ii. If the Equity Shares are locked-in in terms of clause (b) of Regulation 238 and the pledge of specified
securities is one of the terms of sanction of the loan.

Provided that such lock-in shall continue pursuant to the invocation of the pledge and such transferee shall
not be eligible to transfer the Equity Shares till the lock-in period stipulated in these Regulations has expired.

Transfer of Locked-in Equity Shares:

In terms of Regulation 243 of the SEBI ICDR Regulations, the Equity Shares held by our Promoters which
are locked-in as per the provisions of Regulation 238 of the SEBI ICDR Regulations, may be transferred to
and amongst Promoters or persons/ members of the Promoter Group or to a new promoter or persons in
control of our Company, subject to continuation of lock-in in the hands of transferees for the remaining
period and compliance of SEBI SAST Regulations, as applicable.

In terms of Regulation 243 of the SEBI ICDR Regulations, the Equity Shares held by persons other than our
Promoters and Promoter Group prior to the Offer may be transferred to any other person holding the Equity
Shares which are locked-in as per Regulation 239 of the SEBI ICDR Regulations, subject to continuation of
the lock-in in the hands of the transferees for the remaining period and compliance with the SEBI SAST
Regulations, as applicable.
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8. Our Shareholding Pattern
The table below represents the shareholding pattern of our Company as per Regulation 31 of SEBI Listing Regulations:

Summary of Shareholding Pattern as on date of this Red Herring Prospectus:
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DR any | av) N V) [ vID=av) | vin) (x) ) X1) = (VID+(X) | (XIN) XTI (XIV)
+ (V) + (VD)
(A) Promoter and Promoter 2 1,39,97,300 --- - 1,39,97,300 75.02 1,39,97,300 | 1,39,97,300 75.02 - - -—- -—- -—- -—- 1,39,97,300
Group
(B) Public 29 46,61,703 - - 46,61,703 24.98 46,61,703 46,61,703 24.98 - - - - - - 46,61,703
(©) Non Promoter- Non
Public
(C1) | Shares underlying DRs
(C2) | Shares held by Employee
Trusts
Total 31 1,86,59,003 --- -—- 1,86,59,003 100 1,86,59,003 | 1,86,59,003 100 Nil Nil -—- -—- -—- -—- 1,86,59,003

Note:
a) As on the date of this Red Herring Prospectus 1 Equity Share holds 1 vote.
b) PAN of the shareholders will be provided by our Company prior to listing of Equity Share on the Designated Stock Exchange.
c) Our Company will file the shareholding pattern of our Company, in the form prescribed under Regulation 31 of the SEBI Listing Regulations, 1 day prior to the listing of the Equity
Shares. The shareholding pattern will be uploaded on the website of the NSE before commencement of trading of such Equity Shares.
d) The term “Encumbrance” has the same meaning as assigned under Regulation 28(3) of SEBI SAST Regulations.
e) All pre-IPO Equity Shares of our Company will be locked-in prior to listing of Equity Shares on SME Platform of NSE.
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10.

11.

12.

13.

14.

15.

Details of Equity Shares held by our Directors, Key Managerial Personnel and Senior Management

Except as set out below, none of the Directors or Key Managerial Personnel or Senior Management of our Company are
holding any Equity Shares in our Company:

Sr. No. Name Designation No. of Equity % of the pre- % of the post-
Shares Offer Equity Offer
Share capital expanded
Equity Share
capital
1. Mr. Ramesh Siva Chairman & Managing 94,50,000 50.65 [e]
Director
2. Mrs. Vidya Ramesh Whole-time Director 45,47,300 24.37 [e]
Total 1,39,97,300 75.02 [e]

Acquisition and sale/transfer of Equity Shares by our Promoters, Promoter Group, Directors and their relatives in
last 6 months:

None of the members of the Promoter Group, the Promoters, or the Directors and their relatives have purchased or sold any
securities of our Company during the period of six months immediately preceding the date of this Red Herring Prospectus:

The average cost of acquisition of or subscription to Equity Shares by our Promoters is set forth in the table below:
Name of our Promoters No. of Equity Shares held Average cost of acquisition*
(in %)
Mr. Ramesh Siva 94,50,000 2.81
Mrs. Vidya Ramesh 45,47,300 6.36

*As certified by M/s Bhuta Shah & Co LLP., Chartered Accountants, by way of their certificate dated March 13, 2025.
None of the Equity Shares of our Company are subject to any pledge as on the date of this Red Herring Prospectus.

There are no other persons belonging to the category “Person Acting in Concert” who are holding the Equity Shares of our
Company more than 5% of the total number of shares as on the date of this Red Herring Prospectus.

Except as disclosed below, there are no persons belonging to the category “Public” who are holding the Equity Shares of
our Company more than 1% of the total number of shares as on the date of this Red Herring Prospectus.

Name of Shareholders Number of Equity % of the pre-Offer paid-up
Shares held of face Equity Share Capital
value of ¥10/- each

M/s Negen Undiscovered Value Fund 16,20,000 8.68

M/s Mittal Analytics Pvt Ltd 5,06,250 2.71

Ms. Reina Jaisinghani 4,70,025 2.52

Mr. Hiten Mehta 2,90,700 1.56

M/s Alacrity Securities Ltd 2,74,500 147

Mr. Ajay Jaisinghani 2,62,125 1.40

Mr. Neil Madan Bahal 2,25,000 1.21

Total 36,48,600 19.55

Details of Major Shareholders

a) List of shareholders holding 1% or more of the paid-up Equity Share capital of our Company as on date of the Red
Herring Prospectus:

Name of Shareholders Number of Equity Pre-Offer
Shares held of face % of the paid-up Equity
value of ¥10/- each Share Capital

Mr. Ramesh Siva 94,50,000 50.65
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Mrs. Vidya Ramesh 45,47,300 24.37
M/s Negen Undiscovered Value Fund 16,20,000 8.68
M/s Mittal Analytics Pvt Ltd 5,06,250 2.71
Ms. Reina Jaisinghani 4,70,025 2.52
Mr. Hiten Mehta 2,90,700 1.56
M/s Alacrity Securities Ltd 2,74,500 1.47
Mr. Ajay Jaisinghani 2,62,125 1.40
Mr. Neil Madan Bahal 2,25,000 121

b) List of shareholders holding 1% or more of the Paid-up Capital of our Company as on a date 10 days prior to the date

of the Red Herring Prospectus:

Name of Shareholders

Number of Equity Pre-Offer
Shares held of face % of the paid-up Equity
value of ¥10/- each Share Capital
Mr. Ramesh Siva 94,50,000 50.65
Mrs. Vidya Ramesh 45,47,300 24.37
M/s Negen Undiscovered Value Fund 16,20,000 8.68
M/s Mittal Analytics Pvt Ltd 5,06,250 2.71
Ms. Reina Jaisinghani 4,70,025 2.52
Mr. Hiten Mehta 2,90,700 1.56
M/s Alacrity Securities Ltd 2,74,500 147
Mr. Ajay Jaisinghani 2,62,125 1.40
Mr. Neil Madan Bahal 2,25,000 1.21

c) List of shareholders holding 1% or more of the paid-up Equity Share capital of our Company as on a date 1-year prior

to the date of the Red Herring Prospectus

Name of Shareholders

Number of Equity Pre-Offer

Shares held of face % of the paid-up Equity
value of ¥10/- each Share Capital

Mr. Ramesh Siva 21,00,000 55.85

Mrs. Vidya Ramesh 9,59,400 25.51

M/s Negen Undiscovered Value Fund 3,10,000 8.24

M/s Odyssey Corporation Limited 1,26,000 3.35

Ms. Reina Jaisinghani 77,500 2.06

Mr. Hiten Mehta 64,600 1.72

d) List of shareholders holding 1% or more of the paid-up Equity Share capital of our Company 2 years prior to the date

of filing of this Red Herring Prospectus:

Category of Shareholders

Number of Equity Pre-Offer
Shares held of face | o4 of the paid-up Equity Share
value of ¥10/- each Capital
Mr. Ramesh Siva 9,59,000 94.95
Mrs. Vidya Ramesh 51,000 5.05

16. As on the date of this Red Herring Prospectus, our Company does not have an employee stock option plan.

17. Neither the Book Running Lead Manager nor their associates (as defined under the Securities and Exchange Board of India
(Merchant Bankers) Regulations, 1992) hold any Equity Shares of our Company as on the date of the Red Herring

Prospectus.

18. There are no Equity Shares against which depository receipts have been issued.

Page 111 of 437




19.

20.

21.

22.

23.

24.

25.

26.

217.

28.

29.
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31.

There will be no further issue of capital, whether by way of issue of bonus shares, preferential allotment, rights issue or in
any other manner during the period commencing from the date of filing of this Red Herring Prospectus until the listing of
Equity Shares on the Designated Stock Exchange pursuant to this Offer.

Our Company presently does not have any intention or proposal and is not under negotiations or considerations to alter our
capital structure for a period of 6 months from the date of opening of the Offer, by way of split/ consolidation of the
denomination of Equity Shares or further issue of Equity Shares (including issue of securities convertible into exchangeable,
directly or indirectly, for our Equity Shares) whether on a preferential basis or by way of issue of bonus shares or on rights
issue basis or by way of further public issue of Equity Shares or qualified institutions placements or otherwise. Provided,
however, that the foregoing restrictions do not apply to the issuance of any Equity Shares under the Offer; Provided further
that if our Company enters into acquisition(s) or Joint Venture(s) or if the business needs otherwise arise, we may, subject
to necessary approvals, consider raising additional capital to fund such activities or to use Equity Shares as a currency for
acquisition or participation in such Joint Ventures or for regulatory compliance or such other scheme of arrangement or any
other purpose as the Board may deem fit, if an opportunity of such nature is determined by our Board to be in the interest of
our Company.

There have been no financing arrangements whereby our Promoters, Promoter Group, our Directors or their relatives have
financed the purchase by any other person of securities of our Company other than in the normal course of the business of
any such entity / individual or otherwise, during the period of 6 months immediately preceding the date of filing of this Red
Herring Prospectus.

Our Company, our Promoters, our Directors and the Book Running Lead Manager have not entered into any buy-back or
standby or similar arrangements for the purchase of Equity Shares being offered through the Offer from any person.

All securities offered through the Offer shall be made fully paid-up, if applicable, or may be forfeited for non-payment of
calls within twelve months from the date of allotment of Equity Shares.

An over-subscription to the extent of 10% of the Net Offer can be retained for the purpose of rounding off to the nearest
integer during finalizing the Allotment subject to minimum Allotment, which is the minimum application size.
Consequently, the actual Allotment may go up by a maximum of 10% of the Net Offer, as a result of which, the post- Offer
paid-up capital after the Offer would also increase by the excess amount of Allotment so made. In such an event, the Equity
Shares held by our Promoters and subject to lock-in shall be suitably increased; so as to ensure that a minimum of 20% of
the post-Offer paid-up capital is locked in.

The Book Running Lead Manager and their associates may engage in the transactions with and perform services for our
Company in the ordinary course of business or may in the future engage in commercial banking and investment banking
transactions with our Company for which they may in the future receive customary compensation.

Investors may note that in case of over-subscription, Allotment will be on proportionate basis as detailed under ‘Basis of
Allotment’ in the section titled ‘Offer Procedure’ beginning on page 347 of this Red Herring Prospectus. In case of over-
subscription in all categories the allocation in the Offer shall be as per the requirements of Regulation 253(2) of SEBI ICDR
Regulations.

There are no outstanding convertible securities or any other right which would entitle any person any option to receive
Equity Shares, as on the date of this Red Herring Prospectus.

All the Equity Shares of our Company are fully paid-up and there are no partly paid-up Equity Shares as on the date of filing
of this Red Herring Prospectus. Further, since the entire Offer Price in respect of the Offer is payable on Application, all the
successful Applicants will be issued fully paid-up Equity Shares and thus all Equity Shares offered through this Offer shall
be fully paid-up.

As per RBI regulations, OCBs are not allowed to participate in this Offer.

As on the date of the Red Herring Prospectus, we have not raised any bridge loans which are proposed to be repaid from the
Net Proceeds.

Our Company undertakes that at any given time, there shall be only one denomination for our Equity Shares, unless
otherwise permitted by law.
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42,

Our Company shall comply with such accounting and disclosure norms as specified by NSE, SEBI and other regulatory
authorities from time to time.

An Applicant cannot make an Application for more than the number of Equity Shares being issued through this Offer,
subject to the maximum limit of investment prescribed under relevant laws applicable to each category of investors.

Our Company, Directors, Promoters or members of our Promoter Group shall not make any payments, direct or indirect,
discounts, commissions, allowances or otherwise under this Offer except as disclosed in this Red Herring Prospectus.

We have 31 (Thirty - One) Shareholders as on the date of filing of the Red Herring Prospectus

Our Promoters and the members of our Promoter Group will not participate in this Offer, other than to the extent of the
Promoter Selling Shareholder participating in the Offer for Sale in his capacity as a ‘selling shareholder’.

Our Company has not made any public issue since its incorporation and has not made any rights issue of any kind or class
of securities since its incorporation.

Our Company has not revalued its assets since its incorporation.
This Offer is being made through the Book Building Method.

As on date of this Red Herring Prospectus, there are no outstanding financial instruments or any other rights, that would
entitle the existing Promoter or Shareholders or any other person, any option to receive Equity Shares after the Offer.

Our Company shall ensure that transactions in the Equity Shares by our Promoters and the Promoter Group between the date
of filing this Red Herring Prospectus and the Offer Closing Date shall be reported to the Designated Stock Exchange within
24 hours of such transaction.

Up to 12,000 Equity Shares aggregating up to X [e] lakhs (which shall not exceed 5% of the post-Offer Equity Share Capital
of our Company) shall be reserved for allocation to Eligible Employees under the Employee Reservation Portion, subject to
valid Bids being received at or above the Offer Price as applicable for the Employee Reservation Portion). Only Eligible
Employees would be eligible to apply in the Offer under the Employee Reservation Portion. Bids by Eligible Employees
can also be made in the Net Offer and such Bids shall not be treated as multiple Bids. Unless the Employee Reservation
Portion is undersubscribed, the value of allocation to an Eligible Employee shall not exceed X 2 lakhs. In the event of
undersubscription in the Employee Reservation Portion, the unsubscribed portion may be allocated, on a proportionate basis,
to Eligible Employees for value exceeding X 2 lakhs up to X 5 lakhs.

For the details of transactions by our Company with our Promoter Group during the six months period ended September 30,
2024 and Financial Years ended March 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022, please refer to the paragraph titled ‘Related Party
Transactions’ in the section titled ‘Financial Information’ beginning on page 234 of this Red Herring Prospectus. None of our
Directors or Key Managerial Personnel holds Equity Shares in our Company, except as stated in the section titled ‘Our
Management’ beginning on page 205 of the Red Herring Prospectus.
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SECTION VII: PARTICULARS OF THE OFFER
OBJECTS OF THE OFFER

The Offer comprises of a Fresh Issue of up to 62,60,400 Equity Shares of face value 210 each aggregating up to X [e] by our
Company and an Offer for Sale of up to 3,28,800 Equity Shares of face value 210 each aggregating to X [e] by the Selling
Shareholder. For details, please refer chapter titled “Summary of this Red Herring Prospectus” and “The Offer” on page 29 and
79 respectively of this Red Herring Prospectus.

OFFER FOR SALE
The object of the Offer for Sale is to allow the Promoter Selling Shareholder to sell up to 3,28,800 Equity Shares held by it
aggregating up to X [e] Lakhs. Our Company will not receive any proceeds from the Offer for Sale. The Promoter Selling
Shareholder will be entitled to the proceeds of the Offer for Sale, net of the proportion of the Offer-related expenses and the
relevant taxes thereon.

The details of the Offer for Sale are set out below:

Name of the Selling | Aggregate amount of Offer | Number of Equity Shares | Date of consent letter
Shareholder* for Sale offered in the Offer for

Sale
Ramesh Siva Upto[e] Up to 3,28,800 November 11, 2024

* The Selling shareholder has confirmed and authorized his participation in the Offer for Sale in relation to the Offered Shares.
The Shareholder confirms that the Offered Shared have been held by him for a period of at least one year prior to the filing of
the Draft Red Herring Prospectus with SEBI in accordance with SEBI ICDR Regulations.

FRESH ISSUE

Our Company proposes to utilize the net proceeds, being the Gross Proceeds of the Fresh Issue less the Offer related expenses
(“Net Proceeds”), towards funding the following objects (collectively, the “Objects”):

1. Repayment/ prepayment, in full or in part, of certain outstanding borrowings availed by our Company
2. Expansion of our Hotel properties in India
3. General Corporate Purpose

In addition, our Company expects to achieve the benefits of listing of Equity Shares on the NSE Emerge including enhancing
our visibility and our brand image amongst our existing and potential customers and creating a public market for our Equity
Shares in India.

The main objects and objects incidental and ancillary to the main objects clause, as set out in our Memorandum of Association,
enables us to undertake the existing business activities and the activities for which funds are being raised by us through the Offer.
Further, we confirm that the activities which we have been carrying out till date are in accordance with the object clause of our
MoA.

Net Proceeds

After deducting the offer related expenses from the gross proceeds of the Fresh Issue, we estimate the Net Proceeds of the Fresh
Issue to be X [®]. The details of the Net Proceeds of the Offer are summarized in the table below:

(% in Lakhs)
Particulars Amount
Gross Proceeds from the Fresh Issue @ [o]
Less: Offer related expenses in relation to the Fresh Issue to be borne by our Company @ [e]
Net Proceeds ® [o]

@ To be finalized upon determination of the Offer Price and updated in the Prospectus prior to filing with RoC.
@ The Offer related expenses shall vary depending upon the final offer size and the allotment of Equity Shares. For further
details, please refer to heading titled *- Offer Related Expenses’ mentioned below.
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Proposed schedule of implementation and utilisation of Net Proceeds

We propose to deploy the Net Proceeds towards the Objects in accordance with the estimated schedule of implementation and
deployment of funds as set forth in the table below:

(< in Lakhs)
Particulars Total Proposed Estimated schedule of
estimated | Utilization from deployment of Net Proceeds in
cost Net Proceeds
Financial Year | Financial Year
2025 2026

Repayment and/or prepayment, in full or in part, of | 3,408.08 3,408.08 3,408.08 --
certain outstanding borrowings availed by our
Company
Expansion of our Hotel properties in India 1,679.24 1,679.24 717.08 962.16
General Corporate Purpose * [e] [e] [e] [e]
Net Proceeds* [e] [e] [e] [e]

* To be finalized upon determination of the Offer Price and updated in the Prospectus prior to filing with RoC. In compliance
with SEBI ICDR Regulations, the amounts utilized for general corporate purpose shall not exceed 25% of the Gross Proceeds
of the Fresh Issue.

In case of any increase in the actual utilization of funds earmarked for the Objects, such additional funds for a particular activity
will be met by way of means available to our Company, including from internal accruals and any additional equity and/or debt
arrangements. If the actual utilization towards any of the Objects is lower than the proposed deployment, such balance will be
used for future growth opportunities, if required and general corporate purposes in accordance with applicable laws.

In the event that estimated utilization out of the Net Proceeds in a Fiscal is not completely met due to factors such as (i) the
timing of completion of the Offer; (ii) market conditions outside the control of our Company; and (iii) any other economic,
business and commercial considerations, the remaining Net Proceeds shall be utilized (in full or in part) in subsequent periods
as may be determined by our Company, in accordance with applicable laws. The deployment of funds indicated above is based
on management estimates, current circumstances of our business and prevailing market conditions, which are subject to change.
Further, the deployment of funds described herein has not been appraised by any bank or financial institution or any other
independent agency.

We may have to revise our funding requirements and deployment on account of a variety of factors such as our financial and
market condition, our business and growth strategies, our ability to identify and implement growth initiatives, competitive
landscape, general factors affecting our results of operations, financial condition and access to capital and other external factors
such as changes in the business environment or regulatory climate and interest or exchange rate fluctuations, which may not be
within the control of our management. This may entail rescheduling the proposed utilisation of the Net Proceeds and changing
the allocation of funds from its planned allocation at the discretion of our management, subject to compliance with applicable
law. For details, refer section titled “Risk Factors — A substantial portion of the Net Proceeds will be utilized for the repayment
and/or prepayment of certain outstanding borrowings availed of by our Company. Any variation in the utilisation of the Net
Proceeds Would be subject to certain compliance requirements, including prior shareholders’ approval. Further, our funding
requirements and the proposed deployment of Net Proceeds have not been appraised by any bank or financial institution or any
other independent agency and are based on internal management estimates based on current market conditions.” on page 38 of
this Red Herring Prospectus.

Means of Finance

The amount shall be financed the manner set forth below:

SI. No. Particulars Amount
1 Net Proceeds [e]
2 Internal Accruals NIL

Subject to applicable law, if the actual utilization towards the Objects is lower than the proposed deployment, such balance will
be used for general corporate purposes to the extent that the total amount to be utilized towards general corporate purposes will
not exceed 25% of the Gross Proceeds in accordance with Regulation 230(2) of the SEBI ICDR Regulations. In case of a shortfall
in raising the requisite capital from the Net Proceeds or an increase in the total estimated cost of the Objects, business
considerations may require us to explore a range of options including utilizing our internal accruals and seeking additional debt
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from existing and/or future lender or fresh issue of equity shares, subject to applicable laws and regulations. We believe that such
alternate arrangements would be available to fund any such shortfalls. Further, in case of variations in the actual utilisation of
funds earmarked for the purpose set forth above, increased funding requirements for a particular purpose may be financed by
surplus funds, if any, available in respect of other purposes for which funds are being raised in the Fresh Issue. Any variation in
the utilisation of the Net Proceeds as disclosed in this Red Herring Prospectus shall be subject to certain compliance requirements,
including prior approval of the shareholders of our Company. However, we confirm that no bridge financing has been availed as
on date, which is subject to being repaid from the Issue Proceeds. As we operate in competitive environment, our Company may
have to revise its business plan from time to time and consequently our fund requirements may also change. Our Company’s
historical expenditure may not be reflective of our future expenditure plans. Our Company may have to revise its estimated costs,
fund allocation and fund requirements owing to various factors such as economic and business conditions, increased competition
and other external factors which may not be within the control of our management. This may entail rescheduling or revising the
planned expenditure and funding requirements, including the expenditure for a particular purpose at the discretion of the
Company’s management. For further details on the risks involved in our business plans and executing our business strategies,
please refer section titled “Risk Factors” beginning on page 38 of this Red Herring Prospectus.

Details of the Objects of the Fresh Issue
. Repayment and/or prepayment, in full or in part, of certain outstanding borrowings availed by our Company

Our Company has entered into various borrowing arrangements with banks, financial institutions, and non-banking financial
companies in the ordinary course of business. As of February 28, 2025, the Company had total outstanding borrowings of
%4,547.03 Lakhs (including secured or unsecured borrowings), of which the facilities earmarked for repayment/ prepayment
from Net Proceeds has an outstanding amount of 33,440.53 Lakhs. This amount is subject to change as of March 31, 2025, based
on the repayment schedules provided by the respective lenders.

Our Company intends to utilize an aggregate amount of 33,408.08 Lakhs from the Net Proceeds towards repayment/ prepayment
of all or a portion of certain earmarked outstanding borrowings availed by the Company. Pursuant to the terms of the borrowing
arrangements, prepayment of certain indebtedness may attract prepayment charges as prescribed by the respective lender. Such
prepayment charges, as applicable, will also be funded out of the Net Proceeds. Given the nature of the borrowings and the terms
of repayment/ prepayment, the aggregate outstanding amounts under the borrowings may vary from time to time and our
Company may, in accordance with the relevant repayment schedule, repay or refinance some of their existing borrowings prior
to Allotment. We believe that such repayment or prepayment or redemption will help reduce our outstanding indebtedness on a
consolidated basis and debt servicing costs and enable utilization of the internal accruals for further investment towards business
growth and expansion. In addition, we believe that this would improve our ability to raise further resources in the future to fund
potential business development opportunities.

The selection of borrowings proposed to be prepaid or repaid or redeemed amongst our borrowing arrangements will be based
on various factors, including (i) maturity profile and the remaining tenor of the loan, (ii) cost of the borrowing, including
applicable interest rates, (iii) any conditions attached to the borrowings, restricting our ability to prepay/ repay the borrowings
and time taken to fulfil, or obtain waivers for fulfilment of such conditions, or relating to the terms of repayment, (iv) levy of
any prepayment penalties and the quantum thereof, (v) provisions of any laws, rules and regulations governing such borrowings,
and (vi) other commercial considerations including, among others, the amount of the loan outstanding.

The abovementioned factors will also determine the form of investment undertaken by our Company for prepayment/ repayment

of the borrowing arrangements availed by our recent acquisitions. The details of the borrowings availed by our Company, which
are proposed to be fully repaid from the Net Proceeds is mentioned below:
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Sr. Name of | Date of Date of Nature | Rate of Sanctioned Total Repayme | Prepaymen | Purpose for which the Whethe
No. the Sanction | Disbursement | of loan | interestason | amount (in principal nt t loan was sanctioned r the
Lender letter/ of Loan date of this Lakh) loan Schedule | penalty/co loan is
facility certificate (% outstandi nditions utilised
agreemen per annum) ng as on for the
t 28 purpos
February e for
2025 (in X which
Lakh) it was
availed
1 Bank of 04-01- 11-01-2017 Term 12.15% 70.00 4.14 60 months | NA To start hotel lodging at Yes
Baroda 2017 loan Malleswaram, Bengaluru
2 Bank of 18-05-2021 Term 9.25% 8.70 4.71 36 months [ NA Working Capital Yes
Baroda 15-05- loan
2021
3 Aditya 28-11- 04-12-2018 Term 12.50% 1,015.00 877.61* 236 NA Refinancing of TL of Rs. Yes
Birla 2018 loan months 615 Lakhs from IVL
Finance Finance Limited and Rs.
limited 400 Lakhs for construction
of hotel at Indira nagar
4 Aditya 28-11- 21-08-2019 Line of | 12.50% 85.00 131.41* Yearly NA Day to day operationsand | Yes
Birla 2018 Credit Renewal working capital
Finance
limited
5 Aditya 25-03- 31-03-2021 Line of | 12.50% 60.00 Yearly NA Short Term working capital | Yes
Birla 2021 Credit Renewal requirement
Finance
limited
6 Aditya 22-11- 28-11-2022 Term 11.30% 200.00 192.84* 155 1% Business Operations and Yes
Birla 2022 loan months Working Capital
Finance management of the
limited Company
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7 Aditya 22-11- 30-11-2022 Term 11.30% 250.00 240.95* 155 1% Business Operations and Yes
Birla 2022 loan months Working Capital
Finance management of the
limited Company
8 Aditya 22-10- 24-10-2020 Term 12.50% 76.07 78.23* 159 NA The original purpose of the | Yes
Birla 2020 loan months loan having sanction
Finance amount 1,015 Lakhs was
limited*> Refinancing of TL of Rs.
615 Lakhs from IVL
Finance Limited and Rs.
400 Lakhs for construction
of hotel at Indira nagar of
which the Covid period
moratorium payment has
been converted into new
loan
9 Hinduja 19-06- 13-06-2023 & | Term 12.50% 1,100.00 1,034.35 144 3% Refinancing of existing Yes
Leyland | 2023 19-06-2023 loan months debt from SBI and addition
Finance of 1 leased property in
Limited Manyata Tech Park
10 Hinduja 13-10- 13-10-2023 Term 12.00% 50.00 47.48 144 3% Working Capital Yes
Leyland 2023 loan months
Finance
Limited
11 ucC 27-03- 27-03-2024 Term 17.00% 500.00 401.45 33 months | 2% [only For business expansion & Yes
Inclusive | 2024 loan after 12 meeting working capital
Credit months requirements
Private allowed]
Limited
12 BMW 11-04- 17-04-2024 Car 9.25% 30.00 27.36 84 months | NA Vehicle Purchase Yes
India 2024 loan
Financial
Services
Pvt. Ltd.
13 ucC 30-10- 31-10-2024 Term 17.00% 300.00 300.00% 33 months | 2% For business expansion & Yes
Inclusive | 2024 Loan meeting working capital
Credit requirements of the
Private Company
Limited
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14 Ayesspea | 15-9-2024 | 19-09-2024 & | Inter 25% at the time | 100.00 100.00 6 months | NA Financing for business Yes
Holdings 23-09-2024 Compa | of repayment needs
and ny
Investme deposit
nt Private
Limited
Total 3,440.53

*The outstanding balances of loans includes TDS overdues and/or other overdues.

#The repayment of the principal amount for the loan shall commence after moratorium period of 3 months.

Our Statutory Auditors, Bhuta Shah & Co LLP, have confirmed that the above borrowing has been utilised for the purpose of which they are availed pursuant to their certificate

dated March 13, 2025.

There has been no instance of delays, defaults and rescheduling/restructuring of the aforementioned borrowings of our Company. Considering that the Net Proceeds will be utilised
towards repayment of borrowings of our Company. In addition to the above, we may, from time to time, enter into further financing arrangements and draw down funds thereunder. In
such cases or in case the identified loans mentioned above (excluding interest thereon) is repaid/prepaid or refinanced prior to the completion of the Issue, we may utilise Net Proceeds

of the Issue towards repayment / prepayment of such additional and/ or re-financed indebtedness availed by us.
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2. Expansion of our Hotel properties in India.

We intend to set up of new hotels on lease in different locations i.e. Chennai, Kanchipuram, Hyderabad and Goa. This strategic
step is driven by our objective to increase the revenue, allow us to tap into new markets or demographics, attracting different
types of guests and enhancing our brand's visibility, etc.

Our Company has identified five hotel properties to be acquired on lease. These properties are located in Chennai, Kanchipuram,
Hyderabad and Goa. The Company has signed Memorandum of Understanding for each of these properties and intends to use
a sum of %1,679.24 lakhs towards expenditures on getting these properties to be ready for onboarding and welcoming guest.

(Zin Lakhs)
DETAILS Property 1 | Property 2 | Property 3 | Property 4 | Property 5 | Total
No of Keys 60 65 75 59 87 346
Nature of Work
Interiors and furnishings
Carpentry 19.08 5.20 6.00 18.76 - 49.04
Bathroom refurbishment 0.00 18.69 21.56 0.00 0.00 40.25
Upholstery and fabric 0.00 36.40 42.00 0.00 48.72 127.12
Artwork and accessories 2.40 2.60 3.00 2.36 3.48 13.84
;Z;usrblshment of reception and lobby 511 6.0 6.09 511 511 2751
Refurbishment of restaurant 9.63 9.63 9.63 9.63 0.00 38.52
Gymnasium 1.42 1.42 1.42 1.42 1.42 7.10
Design fee 7.50 7.50 7.50 7.50 10.00 40.00
Total 45.14 87.53 97.20 44.78 68.73 343.38
Guest Rooms and Lobby 6.76 14.84 17.12 13.47 9.80 61.99
(TV, mini bar, safe locker, hair dryer,
electrical kettle, AC's etc)
Banquet Hall and Conference room 5.22 5.22 5.22 5.22 5.22 26.10
(tables, chairs, screen, mikes, projectors,
white board, TV, AC etc)
IT equipment 6.34 6.34 6.34 6.34 8.70 34.06
(desktop, laptop, printers, server, IDS, Wi-
Fi etc)
Restaurant
(cutlery, fittings and furnishing etc) 3.95 3.95 3.95 7.91 9.88 29.64
Kitchen Equipment 11.07 11.07 11.07 16.61 22.14 71.96
(Burner, Refrigerator, sink, microwave etc)
Deposit fee (payable to property owner) 200.00 210.00 150.00 120.00 300.00 980.00
Registration charges (government) 15.52 18.51 13.45 8.79 25.84 82.11
Fee to Franchisee Partner 10.00 10.00 10.00 10.00 10.00 50.00
Total 304.00 367.46 314.35 233.12 460.31 | 1,679.24
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Note 1: Property 5 — Restaurant refurbishment cost — cost differential as compared to other properties due to the property having
one coffee lounge, one roof top dining and one bar in addition to the restaurant.

Note 2: Property 4 — The unit will have two restaurants and the Company has to spend on furnishing on one restaurant.

Note 3: Property 4 & 5 — Property 4 has two Restaurants and Property 5 has two restaurants and one with a bar. Hence the
incremental cost for cutlery etc.

Note 4: Registration cost in
- Tamil Nadu (Chennai and Kanchipuram) are 1% of deposit and annual lease value
- Telangana (Hyderabad) is 0.4% on total lease payable in the agreement
- Goa, for lease agreement covering period between 5 — 10 years, 2% of 4 times average annual rent

Year -wise expenditure is as follows:-

(in INR Lakhs)
DETAILS No of keys Total Cost FY 2024 - 25 FY 2025 - 26
Property 1 60 304.00 304.00 -
Property 2 65 367.46 104.96 262.50
Property 3 75 314.35 75.00 239.35
Property 4 59 233.12 233.12 -
Property 5 87 460.31 - 460.31
TOTAL 346 1,679.24 717.08 962.16
Details Description Location Status of the agreement
for the property

Property 1 mid-priced with 60 rooms business hotel Chennai, MoU signed

Tamil Nadu
Property 2 mid-priced with 65 rooms business hotel Chennai, Term Sheet signed

Tamil Nadu
Property 3 mid-priced with 75 rooms business hotel Kanchipuram, Tamil | Term Sheet signed

Nadu
Property 4 mid-priced with 59 rooms business hotel Hyderabad, Telangana MoU signed
Property 5 Upper mid-priced with 87 rooms resort Goa MoU signed

An indicative list of such machinery that we intend to purchase, along with details of the quotations we have received in this
respect is set forth below:

Nature of Expense Name of | Date Validity | Total units/ basis of | Total
Vendor of of Estimate Cost (In
Quota | Quotati % lakhs)
tion on
Interior design consultancy, | IDA 07- 01-Sep- T 343.34
woodworks, electrical works, interior | Interior Sep-24 | 25
fitouts Design
Associates
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-Carpentry work- Headboard/Small coffee
table

Headboard: 119 rooms
Coffee table: 140 rooms

-Bathroom Hardware and Fixtures

140 rooms

-UPHOLSTERY & FABRICS (chairs, 227 rooms
curtains, wall papers)
-ARTWORK/ ACCESSORIES 346 rooms

- RECEPTION & LIFT LOBBY works

5 Properties

- Restaurant Civil

furnitures

work, Carpentry,

4 Properties

-GYM room work

5 gyms (1 in each Property)

-Design Fees 5 Properties
F&B, Kitchen small and large ware United 14- 6 ¥101.65
Glass & | Nov- months
Crockery 24
-Restaurant & Banquet service ware 2333 pieces (pcs) x 7.5
restaurant count & 24 pcs per
banguet x 5 properties
-Kitchen equipments 92 pcs x 6.5 kitchen count
-Kitchen utensils 391 pcs x 6.5 kitchen count
Guest room infra & Banquet furniture | Giret 16- 1 year ¥54.37
Internation | Nov-
al 24
-1 mini bar, 1 safe locker, 1 hair dryer, 1 4 pcs per room X 346 rooms
electric kettle kit per room
-Banquet furniture (round & rectangular 246 pcs per banquet x 5
tables, table cloths, chairs & chair covers) properties
Conference/Office chairs/table MK 04- 1 year 60 conference chairs, | ¥ 6.46
Enterprises | Nov- 63 office chairs, and
24 5 conference tables
TV and Wall mounts for guest rooms MB Smart | 05- 05- 199 Qty (1 each for 199 | ¥23.01
Zone Nov- May-25 | rooms)
24
Conference room TV MB Smart | 16- 16- 5 Qty (1 each for 5 |%0.68
Zone Nov- May-25 | Conference rooms)
24
IT Infrastructure Royal Elite | 12- 6 5 servers (1 per property), | ¥11.16
Technologi | Nov- Months | 9 wifi zones (1 per property, 4
es 24 for property 5)
Banquet Infrastructure Vinayaka 19- 31-Mar- ¥5.95
Infotech Nov- 25
24
- Projector 5 numbers(nos) (1 per
Property)
- Podium 5 nos (1 per Property)
- Screen 5 nos (1 per Property)
- Chair Trolley 10 nos (2 per Property)
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- Other ancilliary Infra such as
Hand/Collar Mike, White board/Magnetic
Board with Stand and EZAL stand

7 pcs per banquet x 5
properties

IT Infrastructure Vinayaka 20- 31-Mar- ¥11.68
Infotech Nov- 25

24

-Desktop 36 nos. (7 nos. per property 1
to 4 and 8 nos for property 5)

-Laptop 10 nos. (2 nos. per Property)
-Printer 10 nos. (2 nos. per Property)
Reservation &  Sales  Software | IDS 20- 31-Mar- | 5 licenses (1 license each for | ¥ 8.75
(INTERFACE WITH WIFI & Nov- 25 5 Properties)
CHANNEL MANAGER) 24
TOTAL 2567.05

Material Approvals

As the capital expenditure planned by our Company involves the establishment of new hotels, we do not anticipate any
requirement for additional material approvals beyond those disclosed under “Government and Other Approvals” beginning on
page 304 this Red Herring Prospectus. All quotations received from the vendors mentioned above remain valid as of the date of
this Red Herring Prospectus. The Company has signed a Memorandum of Understanding for all properties. In the event of an
increase in expenditure costs for expansion, any additional expense will be borne by our Company through its internal accruals.
The quantity of equipment to be purchased is based on our management’s current estimates. Our Company retains the flexibility
to allocate such equipment towards capital expenditure or other necessary equipment, as deemed appropriate for business needs,
provided that the total expenditure for the expansion of our hotel properties in India does not exceed 1,679.24 lakhs.

General Corporate Purposes (GCP)

The Net Proceeds will first be utilized for the Object as set out above. Our Company intends to deploy any balance left out of
the Net Proceeds towards general corporate purposes, as approved by our management, from time to time, subject to such
utilization for general corporate purposes not exceeding 25% of the Gross Proceeds, in compliance with the SEBI ICDR

Regulations.

Such general corporate purposes may include, but are not restricted to, the following:

i strategic initiatives;

i funding organic and inorganic growth opportunities, including acquisitions;

iii strengthening marketing capabilities and brand building exercises;
iv funding working capital requirements of our Company;

Vv meeting ongoing general corporate purposes or contingencies; and/or
vi any other purpose as may be approved by the Board or a duly appointed committee from time to time, subject to compliance

with the Companies Act.

The allocation or quantum of utilization of funds towards the specific purposes described above will also be determined by our
Board, based on our business requirements and other relevant considerations, from time to time. Our management, in
accordance with the policies of the Board, shall have the flexibility in utilising surplus amounts, if any. In the event that our
Company is unable to utilise the entire amount that our Company has currently estimated for use out of Net Proceeds in a
Fiscal, our Company will utilise such unutilised amount in the next Fiscal.
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Estimated Offer Related Expenses

The total expenses for this Offer are estimated not to exceed X [®] Lakhs which is [®] % of Offer Size. The details of Offer
expenses are tabulated below:

(< in Lakhs)
Particulars Amount % of Total % of Total
Offer Expenses Offer size

Fees payable to the BRLM and commissions including underwriting [e] [e] [e]
commission, brokerage and selling commission, as applicable
Commission/ processing fees for SCSBs, Sponsor Banks and [e] [e] [e]
Bankers to the Offer @@ brokerage, underwriting and selling
commission and bidding Charges for Members of the Syndicate,
Registered Brokers, RTAs and CDPs®®®)6)
Fees payable to Registrar to the Offer [e] [e] [e]
Fees to the legal advisor, audit / chartered accountant fees [e] [e] [e]
Advertising and marketing expenses [e] [e] [e]
Fees payable to regulators including stock exchange [e] [e] [e]
Printing and distribution expenses [e] [e] [o]
Fees payable to Industry Report provider [e] [e] [o]
Miscellaneous [e] [e] [o]
Total Expenses [e] [o] [o]

Issue expenses include goods and services tax, where applicable. Issue expenses will be incorporated at the time of filing of
the Prospectus. Issue expenses are estimates and are subject to change.

1) Selling commission payable to the SCSBs on the portion for RIBs and Non-Institutional Bidders which are directly procured
and uploaded by the SCSBs, would be as follows:
Portion for RIBs* 0.20% of the Amount Allotted (plus applicable taxes)

Portion for Non-Institutional Bidders* 0.10% of the Amount Allotted (plus applicable taxes)

* Amount Allotted is the product of the number of Equity Shares Allotted and the Issue Price.
Selling commission payable to the SCSBs will be determined on the basis of the bidding terminal ID as captured in the bid book
of NSE. No additional processing fees shall be payable to the SCSBs on the applications directly procured by them.

2) Processing fees payable to the SCSBs on the portion for RIBs and Non-Institutional Bidders (excluding UPI Bids) which are
procured by the members of the Syndicate / sub-Syndicate / Registered Broker / CRTAs / CDPs and submitted to SCSB for
blocking, would be as follows:

Portion for Retail Bidders* Z 10 per valid application (plus applicable taxes)

Portion for Non-Institutional Bidders* Z 10 per valid application (plus applicable taxes)
* Processing fees payable to the SCSBs on the ASBA Form for Non-Institutional Bidder and Qualified Institutional

Bidders with bids above T 1.00 Lakh would be < 10 plus applicable taxes, per valid Bid cum Application Form
Notwithstanding anything contained above the total processing fee payable under this clause will not exceed X 0.5 lakh (plus
applicable taxes) and in case if the total processing fees exceeds T 0.5 lakh (plus applicable taxes) then processing fees will be
paid on pro-rata basis for Retail Individual Investors and Non-Institutional Investors, as applicable.

3) Brokerage Selling commission and processing/ uploading charges on the portion for Retail Individual Investors and Non-
Institutional Investors which are procured by members of the Syndicate Members, Registered Brokers, CRTAs and CDPs or for
using 3-in-1 type accounts- linked online trading, demat & bank account provided by some of the Registered Brokers would be
as follows:

Portion for RIBs* 0.20% of the Amount Allotted (plus applicable taxes)
Portion for Non-Institutional Bidders* 0.10% of the Amount Allotted (plus applicable taxes)

* Amount Allotted is the product of the number of Equity Shares Allotted and the Issue Price.
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The Selling Commission payable to the brokers will be determined (i) for RIBs and Non-Institutional Bidders (up to ¥ 5.00
Lakh), on the basis of the application form number / series, provided that the application is also bid by the respective Syndicate
Member. For clarification, if a Syndicate ASBA application on the application form number / series of a Syndicate / Sub-
Syndicate Member, is bid by an SCSB, the selling commission will be payable to the SCSB and not the Syndicate / Sub-Syndicate
Member,” and (ii) for Non-Institutional Bidders (above T 5.0 Lakh), Syndicate ASBA Form bearing SM Code & Sub-Syndicate
Code of the application form submitted to SCSBs for Blocking of the Fund and uploading on the Exchanges platform by SCSBs.
For clarification, if a Syndicate ASBA application on the application form number, is bid by an SCSB, the Selling Commission
will be payable to the Syndicate / Sub-Syndicate Member and not the SCSB.

Bidding charges payable to Registered Brokers on the applications made using 3-in-1 accounts, would be ¥ 5 plus applicable
taxes, per valid application bid by the Broker. Bidding charges payable to SCSBs on the QIB Portion and Non-Institutional
Bidders (excluding UPI Bids) which are procured by the Syndicate/sub-Syndicate/Registered Broker/RTAs/ CDPs and submitted
to SCSBs for blocking and uploading would be T 5 per valid application (plus applicable taxes). Bidding charges payable on
the application made using 3-in-1 accounts will be subject to a maximum cap of ¥ 0.50 lakh (plus applicable taxes). The selling
commission and bidding charges payable to Registered Brokers, the RTAs and CDPs will be determined on the basis of the
bidding terminal id as captured in the Bid Book of NSE.

The Selling commission / bidding charges payable to the Registered Brokers on the portion for RIBs and Non-Institutional
Bidders which are directly procured by the Registered Broker and submitted to SCSB for processing, would be as follows:

Portion for RIBs and Non-Institutional Bidder T 10 per valid application (plus applicable taxes

Bidding charges / processing fees for applications made by UPI Bidders would be as under

Payable to members of the Syndicate (including < 10 per valid application (plus applicable taxes)

their sub-Syndicate Members)/ RTAs / CDPs

Payable to Sponsor Bank Z 6.5 per valid application (plus applicable taxes) The Sponsor Banks
shall be responsible for making payments to the third parties such as
remitter bank, NPCI and such other parties as required in connection
with the performance of its duties under applicable SEBI circulars,
agreements and other Applicable Laws

The total uploading charges / processing fees payable to Members of the Syndicate, RTAs, CDPs, Registered Brokers as listed
under (4) will be subject to a maximum cap of T0.50 lakh (plus applicable taxes). In case the total uploading charges/processing
fees payable exceeds 30.50 lakh, then the amount payable to Members of the Syndicate, RTAs, CDPs, Registered Brokers would
be proportionately distributed based on the number of valid applications such that the total uploading charges / processing fees
payable does not exceed 30.50 lakh.

All such commissions and processing fees set out above shall be paid as per the timelines in terms of the Syndicate Agreement
and Escrow and Sponsor Banks Agreement. The processing fees for applications made by UPI Bidders may be released to the
remitter banks (SCSBs) only after such banks provide a written confirmation on compliance with SEBI circular no.
SEBI/HO/CFD/DIL2/CIR/P/2022/51 dated April 20, 2022 read with SEBI Circular No: SEBI/HO/CFD/DIL2/CIR/P/2021/570
dated June 02, 2021 read with SEBI Circular No: SEBI/HO/CFD/DIL2/CIR/P/2021/2480/I/M dated March 16, 2021.

The terminal from which the application has been uploaded will be taken into account in order to determine the total processing
fees payable to the relevant registered broker and other intermediaries.

Further, in terms of SEBI circular no. SEBI/HO/CFD/DIL2/CIR/P/2022/51 dated April 20, 2022, the payment of processing
fees to the SCSBs shall be undertaken pursuant to an application made by the SCSBs to the BRLM, and such application shall

be made only after (i) unblocking of application amounts for each application received by the SCSB has been fully completed,
and (ii) applicable compensation relating to investor complaints has been paid by the SCSB.

Firm Arrangements

The Company intends to finance the entire Objects from the Net Proceeds and internal accruals, there is no requirement to make
firm arrangements of finance as prescribed under Regulation 230(1)(e) of the SEBI ICDR Regulations through verifiable means
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towards 75% of the stated means of finance, excluding the amount to be raised through the Offer and existing internal accruals
and the Company is in compliance with the requirements prescribed under Regulation 230(1)(e) of the SEBI ICDR Regulations.

Interim Use of Net Proceeds

Pending utilisation of the Net Proceeds for the purposes described above, our Company will temporarily invest the Net Proceeds
in deposits in one or more scheduled commercial banks included in the Second Schedule of Reserve Bank of India Act, 1934,
as may be approved by our Board or a duly constituted committee thereof.

In accordance with Section 27 of the Companies Act, 2013, our Company confirms that it shall not use the Net Proceeds for
buying, trading or otherwise dealing in equity shares of any other listed company.

Shortfall of Funds
Any shortfall in meeting the fund requirements will be met by way of internal accruals and or unsecured Loans.
Bridge Financing Facilities

As on the date of this Red Herring Prospectus, our Company has not raised any bridge loans from any bank or financial institution
which are proposed to be repaid from the Net Proceeds.

Appraising entity

None of the Objects for which the Net Proceeds will be utilized have been appraised by any bank or financial institution. The
funding requirements of our Company and the deployment of the proceeds of the Offer are currently based on available
quotations and management estimates. The funding requirements of our Company are dependent on a number of factors which
may not be in the control of our management, including but not limited to variations in interest rate structures, changes in our
financial condition and current commercial conditions of our Business and are subject to change in light of changes in external
circumstances or in our financial condition, business or strategy.

Monitoring of Utilisation of Funds

Our Company has appointed Acuite Ratings & Research Limited as the Monitoring Agency to monitor the utilisation of the Net
Proceeds. Our Company undertakes to place the Net Proceeds in a separate bank account which shall be monitored by the
Monitoring Agency for utilisation of the Net Proceeds.

Pursuant to Regulation 32 of the Listing Regulations, our Company shall on a half yearly basis disclose to the Audit Committee
the uses and application of the Net Proceeds. Until such time as any part of the Net Proceeds remains unutilized, our Company
will disclose the utilization of the Net Proceeds under separate heads in our Company’s balance sheet(s) clearly specifying the
amount of and purpose for which Net Proceeds have been utilized so far, and details of amounts out of the Net Proceeds that
have not been utilized so far, also indicating interim investments, if any, of such unutilized Net Proceeds. In the event that our
Company is unable to utilize the entire amount that we have currently estimated for use out of the Net Proceeds in a particular
Fiscal, we will utilize such unutilized amount in the next Fiscal. Further, in accordance with Regulation 32(1)(a) of the Listing
Regulations, our Company shall furnish to the Stock Exchanges on a half yearly basis, a statement indicating material deviations,
if any, in the utilization of the Net Proceeds for the objects stated in this Prospectus.

Variations in Objects

In accordance with Section 27 of the Companies Act, 2013, our Company shall not vary the objects of the Issue without our
Company being authorized to do so by the Shareholders by way of a special resolution. In addition, the notice issued to the
Shareholders in relation to the passing of such special resolution shall specify the prescribed details as required under the
Companies Act and shall be published in accordance with the Companies Act and the rules there under. As per the current
provisions of the Companies Act, our Promoters or controlling Shareholders would be required to provide an exit opportunity
to such shareholders who do not agree to the proposal to vary the objects, at such price, and in such manner, as may be prescribed
by SEBI, in this regard.
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Other Confirmations

There are no material existing or anticipated transactions with our Promoters, our Directors, our Company’s Key Managerial
Personnel, in relation to the utilization of the Net Proceeds. No part of the Net Proceeds will be paid by us as consideration to
our Promoters, our directors or Key Managerial Personnel except in the normal course of business and in compliance with the
applicable laws.
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BASIS FOR OFFER PRICE

The Offer Price will be determined by our Company in consultation with the Book Running Lead Manager on the basis of the
assessment of market demand for the Equity Shares through the Book Building Process. Furthermore, the Price Band has been
determined by our Company in consultation with the Book Running Lead Manager on the basis of the quantitative and
qualitative factors as described below. The face value of the Equity Shares is ¥ 10 each and Floor Price is 10.70 times of the
face value and the Cap Price is 11.30 times of the face value.

Investors should refer to “Risk Factors”, “Our Business”, “Financial Statements” and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” on page 38,162 , 234 and 268, respectively, of this Red Herring Prospectus
to have an informed view before making an investment decision.

Qualitative Factors

Some of the qualitative factors and our strengths which form the basis for the Offer Price are:
Qualitative Factors Favouring the Company:

e Lowest Entry Cost per Key: Over the years, the Company has perfected its model to set up rooms at the lowest cost in
a timely manner, managing approximately 40 to 100 rooms per hotel.

e High Occupancy Rates: The Company collaborates with a wide range of marketing partners and establishes direct
relationships with corporate clients, leading to high occupancy rates and reasonable per-room profitability.

e Cost Control on Room Operating Expenses: The Company has developed a unique model to ensure low costs for
operating and servicing rooms and restaurants, while maintaining guest comfort and convenience.

For further details, refer section titled “Risk Factors” and “Our Business” on pages 38 and 162, respectively of this Red Herring
Prospectus.

Quantitative Factors:

Some of the quantitative factors which may form the basis for computing the Offer Price are as follows:

1. Basic and Diluted Earnings per share (EPS), as adjusted for changes in capital (Post Bonus)

(in %)
Fiscal Basic EPS Diluted EPS Weight
March 31, 2022 (0.53) (0.53) 1
March 31, 2023 0.70 0.70 2
March 31, 2024 2.54 2.54 3
Weighted Average 1.42 1.42 -
Period ended September 30, 2024 (Not Annualised) 3.74 3.74 -

Notes:

a) The figures disclosed above are based on the Restated Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company.

b) The face value of each Equity share is Z10.

c) Weighted average = Aggregate of year-wise weighted EPS divided by the aggregate of weights i.e. (EPS x Weight) for
each year/Total of weights.

d) Basic Earnings Per Share = Restated Net Profit after tax / Weighted average number of equity shares outstanding during
the year or period.

e) Diluted Earnings Per Share = Restated Net Profit after tax / Weighted average number of diluted potential equity shares
outstanding during the year or period.

f)  Basic and Diluted EPS calculations are in accordance with Accounting Standard 20 “Earnings per Share”, notified
under section 133 of Companies Act, 2013 read together along with paragraph 7 of Companies (Accounting) Rules, 2014
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2. Price/ Earning (P/E) Ratio in relation to the Price Band of ¥ 107 to ¥ 113 per equity share:

Particulars (P/E) Ratio at the | (P/E) Ratio at the
lower end of the | higher end of the
Floor Price Price Band (no. of
(no. of times)® times) ®

Based on Basic and Diluted EPS as per the Restated Consolidated 42.13 44.49

Financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 2024

Based on Weighted Average Basic and Diluted EPS 75.35 79.58

$As certified by M/s Bhuta Shah & Co LLP, Chartered Accountants, by way of their certificate dated March 13, 2025.

3. Industry Peer Group P/E ratio

Particulars P/E Ratio
Highest 67.79
Lowest 21.99
Average 44.89

*P/E ratio for the peer group has been computed based on the closing market price of equity shares on BSE Limited as on
March 12, 2025, divided by the diluted EPS for financial year ended March 31, 2024.

4. Average Return on Net Worth (RoNW)

Fiscal RoNW (%0)® Weight®

March 31, 2022* 64.17 1
March 31, 2023# (198.10) 2
March 31, 2024 26.67 3
Weighted Average** (42.00) -
Period ended September 30, 2024 (Not Annualised) 17.74 -

Notes:
a) RoNW has been computed by dividing restated net profit after tax [excluding minority interest] with the average restated
Net worth of beginning and the end of the year / period
b) Weighted average = Aggregate of year-wise weighted RONW divided by the aggregate of weights i.e. (RONW x Weight)
for each year / Total of weights.
* The value of RONW (%) in FY 22 is a positive figure due to arithmetical reasons, Since the average restated Net worth and
Net profit after tax both are negative.
#The value of RONW (%) in FY 23 is a negative figure due to arithmetical reasons is a negative figure, Since the average
restated Net worth is Negative but the Net profit after tax is a positive figure.
** Weighted Average RONW (%) is negative due to arithmetical reasons, because the weight of Negative RoONW in FY 23 being
more compared to the other years.
$As certified by M/s Bhuta Shah & Co LLP, Chartered Accountants, by way of their certificate dated March 13, 2025.

5. Net Asset Value (NAYV) per Equity Share (Face Value of 10 each)

Particulars NAV })*
Year Ended March 31, 2022 (16.16)
Year Ended March 31, 2023 5.81
Year Ended March 31, 2024 75.17
Six-month period ended September 30, 2024 (Not Annualised) 21.53
NAV per Equity Share at Floor Price 43.01
NAV per Equity Share at Cap Price 44.51
Offer Price per share* [o]

*To be updated at Prospectus
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$As certified by M/s Bhuta Shah & Co LLP, Chartered Accountants, by way of their certificate dated March 13, 2025.

Note:
a) NAV per equity share =Restated Net worth at the end of the year (or period) / number of Equity shares outstanding at
the end of the year / period.
b) Networth is computed as the sum of the aggregate of paid-up Equity share capital, all reserves created out of the profits,
securities premium account received in respect of equity shares

6. Comparison of Accounting Ratios with Listed Industry Peers:

The comparison of Accounting Ratios with Listed industry peers is given below:

Name of the Current Face Basic Diluted | P/E (X) RoNW(%) | Net Asset
Company Market Price Value EPS EPS times Value per

® ® ® ® share %)
Grand Continent [e]# 10 2.54 2.54 [e]# 26.67% 75.17
Hotels Limited
Peer Group
Lemon Tree Hotels 127.45 * 10 1.88 1.88 67.79 12.28% 19.52
Limited
Sayaji Hotels 264.85* 10 8.18 8.18 32.38 7.04% 90.49
Limited
Royal Orchids 388.85* 10 17.68 17.68 21.99 25.09% 75.88
Hotels Limited

*as on March 12, 2025 taken from www.bseindia.com

# to be determined at Prospectus stage
Notes:

(a) The figures for our company are based on Restated Consolidated Financial Statements for the period ended March 31,
2024.

(b) The figures for the Peer Group are based on / computed based on the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year
ended March 31, 2024.

(c) Current Market Price (CMP) is the closing price as on March 12, 2025, and is sourced from www.bseindia.com. For
the company, CMP = Offer Price.

(d) P/E ratio for the peer group has been computed based on the closing market price of equity shares on BSE Limited as
on March 12, 2025, divided by the diluted EPS for financial year ended March 31, 2024.

(e) RoNW has been computed by dividing restated net profit after tax with the average restated Net worth of beginning and
the end of the year / period.

() The face value of the Equity Shares is Z10/- per share.

(9) Listed peers are as identified by us on the basis of similar line of business with the Company.

(h) Net assets value per share has been computed by dividing Net Worth at the end of the period or year with total number
of equity shares outstanding at the end of the period or year.

Key Performance Indicators (KPIs)

The KPIs disclosed below have been used historically by our Company to understand and analyze the business performance,
which in result, help us in analysing the growth in comparison to our peers. The KPIs disclosed below have been approved, by
a resolution of our Audit Committee dated March 13, 2025 and the members of the Audit Committee have verified the details
of all KPIs pertaining to our Company. Further, the members of the Audit Committee have confirmed that there are no KPIs
pertaining to our Company that have been disclosed to any investors at any point of time during the three years period prior to
the date of filing of the Draft Red Herring Prospectus. Further, the KPIs herein have been certified by M/s Bhuta Shah & Co
LLP, Chartered Accountants, the Statutory Auditor of our Company pursuant to their certificate dated March 13, 2025. Our
Company confirms that it shall continue to disclose all the KPIs included in this section on a periodic basis, at least once in a
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year (or any lesser period as determined by the Board of our Company), for a duration of one year after the date of listing of
the Equity Shares on the Stock Exchange or till the complete utilisation of the proceeds of the Fresh Issue as per the disclosure
made in the Objects of the Offer Section, whichever is later or for such other duration as may be required under the SEBI ICDR
Regulations. Further, the ongoing KPIs will continue to be certified by a member of an expert body as required under the SEBI

ICDR Regulations.

KEY OPERATIONAL DATA

The following table sets out our key operational data as of/for the years indicated. All operational data below is provided as for
the six-month period ended September 30, 2024, and as at March 31, 2024, March 31, 2023 and March 31, 2022, respectively
(other than ARR, Occupancy and RevPAR which are provided for FY 2024, FY 2023 and FY 2022, respectively).

Details Six month FY 2024 FY 2023 FY 2022
ended
September
30, 2024
Total Number of hospitality assets 16 12 7 5
Total Number of keys 753 531 329 192
Hospitality Assets — Upper Mid-Priced
Number of hospitality assets 4 3 1 0
Number of keys 218 180 88 n/a
Occupancy (%) 55.82% 67.18% 3.38% ¥ n/a
ARR (3) @ 3,969.02 3,883.51 3,971.15 n/a
RevPAR (?) ® 2,215.52 2,609.10 134.09 n/a
Hospitality Assets — Mid Priced
Number of hospitality assets 11 8 5 4
Number of keys 511 327 217 168
Occupancy (%) 73.90% 73.28% 77.74% 59.65%
ARR (3) @ 3,512.610 3,409.85 2,783.77 1,971.63
RevPAR (?) ® 2,595.86 2,498.68 2,164.08 1,176.16
Hospitality Assets — Economy
Number of hospitality assets 1 1 1 1
Number of keys 24 24 24 24
Occupancy (%) 76.31% 77.91% 68.92% 68.08%
ARR (3) @ 1,549.79 1,467.90 1,471.43 911.47
RevPAR (?) ® 1,182.72 1,143.71 1,014.04 620.55
Notes

(D) Occupancy = Total room nights sold during a relevant year/period divided by the total available room nights during the

same year/period.

(2)  Average room rate (ARR) = being room revenues during a given year/period divided by total number of room nights

sold in that year/period.

(3) RevPAR = calculated as Average Room Revenue for a relevant period multiplied by Average Occupancy Rate for that

period.

(4)  Property went live on 24™ February 2023 with a total of 104 room nights billed for FY 2023.
(5)  One of the four hospitality properties classified as “Upper Mid-Priced” and accounting for 38 keys were active for less
than six months during Six months period ended September 30, 2024.
(6)  Three of the eleven hospitality properties classified as “Mid-Priced” and accounting for 184 keys were active for less
than six months during Six months period ended September 30, 2024.
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KPI Description

KPI DESCRIPTIOM
Total Keys Total keys refer to the number of rooms in our portfolio during the relevant period/year.
T(%t?:l IE;EE;G Total Income is used by Management to track the performance and growth of the Company.
Total Income Growth he h . , . . .
(Y-0-Y) The hotel industry's total income is expected to grow over a period of two years.
EBITDA gives a comprehensive view of the health of the company as it considers all sources of
EBITDA Operating Income. It's the aggregate of the consolidated restated profit before tax, depreciation and

amortisation expense and finance costs, less other income, for the relevant year.

EBITDA margin

EBITDA Margin is a financial ratio that measures the profitability of the company as a percentage
of its Revenue from Operations

EBITDA/ key is an indicator of the operational efficiency of our business measured per unit of

EBITDA/Key -
inventory.
Restate(ijI:r;J;trl (loss) Profit after Tax gives the overall profitability of business.

Restated profit/(loss)
for the year Margin

PAT Margin is a ratio that measures the profitability of the company as a percentage of its Total
Revenue

Net debt Net debt provides information regarding the leverage and liquidity profile of our Company
Total Equity Total equity, also known as shareholders' equity, net worth
Net Debt / Total Net borrowings to total equity is a measure of our Company’s leverage over equity invested and
Equity earnings retained over time.

Net debt / EBITDA

The net debt-to-EBITDA ratio is a financial metric that measures a company's leverage and ability
to pay off its debt.

Total assets

Total assets are the sum of all assets owned by a company or individual, and is a key indicator of
a company's financial health

Total Borrowings

Total borrowings are the total amount of liabilities that a company has from borrowing money
from banks and other financial institutions

Total Borrowings /
Total Assets

Total debt-to-total assets ratio, shows how much of a company's assets are financed by debt.

As approved by resolution of the Audit Committee of our Board dated March 13, 2025 and as certified by M/s Bhuta Shah &
Co LLP, Chartered Accountants, the Statutory Auditor of our Company pursuant to their certificate dated March 13, 2025.

KEY FINANCIAL DATA

As at and for

Six months
Details Unit period ended | FY 2024 FY 2023 FY 2022

September

30, 2024

Total Keys Number 753 531 329 192
Revenue from Operations (X in Lakh) 3,183.98 3,123.69 1,680.15 602.69
Total Income® (% in Lakh) 3,186.32 3,153.16 1,704.70 602.73
Total Income Growth (Y_O_Y)(Z) % NA 84.97% 182.83% 110.40%
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EBITDA® (Z in Lakh) 1,124.60 086.48 625.31 238.44
EBITDA margin® % 35.32% 31.58% 37.22% 39.56%
EBITDA/Key® (% in Lakh) 149 1.86 1.90 1.24
Restated Profit / (loss) for year © (% in Lakh) 622.37 407.77 103.49 (79.29)
Restated profit/(loss) for the year Margin® % 19.53% 12.93% 6.07% (13.16) %
Net debt® (% in Lakh) 3,294.21 2,653.19 3,661.48 3,430.15
Total Equity® @ in Lakh) 4,101.46 2,999.33 58.73 (163.21)
Net Debt / Total Equity@® Number 0.80 0.88 62.34 (21.02)
Net debt / EBITDA®) Number 293 2.69 5.86 14.39
Total assets(? (% in Lakh) 9,793.63 7,391.43 4,226.10 3,436.58
Total Borrowings®® ( in Lakh) 4,022.23 3,496.26 3,706.58 3,472.33
Total Borrowings / Total Assets Number 041 0.47 0.88 1.01

Notes

(1) Total income means the sum of revenue from operations and other income.

)
®)
(4)
()
(6)
Y]
®)
(9)
(10)
(11)
(12)

(13)
(14)

Total Income Growth (%) is calculated as a percentage of total income of the relevant year/period minus Total Income
of the preceding year/period, divided by total income of the preceding year/period.

EBITDA =Profit before Tax + finance costs + depreciation and amortisation expense + exceptional loss less Other
Income.

EBITDA margin (%) = EBITDA divided by Revenue from Operations.

EBITDA / key= EBITDA divided by average number of keys during the year/period.

Restated profit / (loss) for the period/ year = Total Income less Total Expenses less Total Tax expenses for the
year/period and adjustment for minority Interest.

Restated profit/(loss) margin for the period/ year Margin (%) = Restated profit/(loss) for the year/period divided by
the total income for the year/period.

Net debt = Long term borrowings (including current maturities of long-term borrowings) + short term borrowings
(excluding current maturities of long-term borrowings) less Cash and cash equivalents

Total Equity = Equity Share Capital + Other Equity

Net Debt / Total Equity = Long term borrowings (including current maturities of long-term borrowings) + short term
borrowings (excluding current maturities of long-term borrowings) less Cash and cash equivalents / Shareholders
equity

Net debt / EBITDA = Long term borrowings (including current maturities of long-term borrowings) + short term
borrowings (excluding current maturities of long-term borrowings) less Cash and cash equivalents / EBITDA

Total Assets = Non-current assets + Current assets

Total Borrowings = Long Term Borrowings + Short Term Borrowings

Total Borrowings / Total Assets = Long Term Borrowings + Short Term Borrowings divided by non-current assets +
Current assets

Comparison of key performance of indicators with listed industry peer:

We follow an asset light model with properties under direct lease model and operates in the mid-scale hotel sector, consisting
of the upper-mid priced, mid-priced and economy hotel segments. Other than disclosed below, we do not perceive any listed
peer, Indian or otherwise, of a comparable size from the same industry and with similar business model.
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Grand Continent Hotels Limited Lemon Tree Limited Sayaji Hotels Limited Royal Orchids Hotels Limited
Particulars Unit
FY 2024 | FY2023 | FY2022 | FY2024 FY 2023 FY 2022 FY 2024 FY 2023 FY 2022 FY 2024 FY 2023 FY 2022
g‘;::t‘ifrgom (% in Lakh) 3,123.69 | 1,680.15 602.69 | 1,07,112.29 87,498.95 40,224.01 11,176.32 11,49821 | 16,314.92 29,361.05 26,354.88 13,852.39
Total Income (% in Lakh) 3,153.16 1,704.70 602.73 | 1,08,361.44 88,374.01 42,322.92 11,662.40 11,813.89 | 17,199.92 31,269.92 27,968.76 15,593.13
Total Income % 84.97% | 182.83% | 110.40% 22.62% 108.81% 59.72% (128)% | (3131)% 97.83% 11.80% 79.37% 75.52%
Growth (Y-0-Y)
E‘IE}IIZ)DA Rin (% in Lakh) 986.48 625.31 238.44 52,324.19 44,756.69 11,866.25 3,716.12 331276 | 473442 7,607.13 8,188.66 2,295.15
gf)ITDA Margin |, 3158% | 37.22% | 39.56% 48.85% 51.15% 29.50% 33.25% 28.81% 29.02% 25.91% 31.07% 16.57%
0
PAT ( in Lakh) 4115 104.87 (79.29) 18,170.66 14,054.00 | (13,736.17) 1,433.66 3,509.49 3,305.28 5,082.35 492231 2,678.46
0,
Growth (%) % 292.39% | 23226% |  64.84% 29.29% 202.31% 26.36% (59.15)% 6.18% 162.90% 3.25% 83.77% 166.94%
PAT Margin % 13.05% 6.15% | (13.16) % 16.77% 15.90% (32.46)% 12.29% 29.71% 19.22% 16.25% 17.60% 17.18%
EPS ®) 2.54 0.70 (0.53) 1.88 1.45 (1.11) 8.18 18.66 18.3 17.68 17.15 10.71
ﬁggg onEquity | s 0.25 (67.66) 0.64 0.12 0.10 (0.09) 0.07 0.15 0.21 0.25 0.29 0.17
PE Ratio Number NA NA NA 69.55 53.30 (57.21) 35.09 16.45 15.01 20.49 15.78 11.41
Net debt ( in Lakh) 2,653.19 | 3,661.48 | 3430.15 | 1,85,547.23 | 1,72,204.71 | 1,64,436.34 (231.14) 1,909.88 |  2,109.00 4,323.04 3491.10 6,142.33
(Tlfj’;?‘lvﬁgg;y ( in Lakh) 2,999.33 5873 | (163.21) 96,689.03 85,372.77 83,124.88 15,852.07 24,898.07 | 21,486.58 19,073.99 17,296.65 12,519.46
Eg;i[t)yebt / Total Number 0.88 62.34 (21.02) 1.92 2.02 1.98 (0.01) 0.08 0.10 0.23 0.20 0.49
Last Trading Price NA NA NA 130.75 77.28 63.5 287.05 307.05 274.6 362.2 270.7 122.25
of the Year
Isg’k}fsf)s‘hares (in 39.90 10.10 10.10 7,922.46 7,922.46 7,922.46 175.18 175.18 175.18 274.25 274.25 27425
NAV per share 75.17 5.81 (16.16) 12.20 10.78 10.49 90.49 142.13 122.65 69.55 63.07 45.65
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Note:

1) Financial Information of our Company is taken from Restated Consolidated Financial Statements.

2) Financial information for listed industry peers mentioned above is sourced from the Annual report of Peer for the Fiscal
2024, 2023 and 2022.

3) Average Equity is considered for ROE Calculation.

Comparison of KPIs over time based on additions or dispositions to the business

Our Company has not undertaken a material acquisition or disposition of assets / business for the periods that are covered by
the KPIs and accordingly, no comparison of KPIs over time based on additions or dispositions to the business, have been
provided.

Weighted average cost of acquisition, Floor price and cap price

Price per share of our Company (as adjusted for corporate actions, including split, bonus issuances) based on primary
Transaction of Equity Shares or convertible securities (excluding Equity Shares issued under Employee Stock Option Plan
and issuance of Equity Shares pursuant to a bonus issue) during the 18 months preceding the date of this Red Herring
Prospectus, where such issuance is equal to or more than 5% of the fully diluted paid-up share capital of our Company
(calculated based on the pre-Offer capital before such transaction(s) and excluding ESOPs granted but not vested) in a single
transaction or multiple transactions combined together over a span of rolling 30 days (“Primary Transactions”)

Date of Nature of Nature of Issue Price | Face No. of | Cost per Total
Allotment Transactio Consideration per Equity | value | Equity Equity | Consideratio
n Share per shares Share n
Equit (includin ®
y g
Share securities
S premium
)
September 29, Conversion | Consideration other 14 10 21,44,00 14 3,00,16,000
2023 from Loan than Cash 0
to Equity
WACA 14

Price per share of our Company (as adjusted for corporate actions, including bonus issuances) based on secondary sale or
acquisition of equity shares or convertible securities (excluding gifts) involving the Promoters, members of the Promoter
Group, any of the Promoter Selling Shareholder or other Shareholders of our Company with rights to nominate directors on
our Board during the 18 months preceding the date of filing of this Red Herring Prospectus, where the acquisition or sale is
equal to or more than 5% of the fully diluted paid-up share capital of our Company (calculated based on the pre-Offer capital
before such transaction/s, and excluding ESOPs granted but not vested) in a single transaction or multiple transactions
combined together over a span of rolling 30 days (“Secondary Transactions”)

Nil»
MAs certified by M/s Bhuta Shah & Co LLP, Chartered Accountants, Statutory Auditors of our Company, by way of their
certificate dated March 13, 2025.

If there are no such transactions to report under (i) and (ii) above, the following are the details of the price per share of our
Company basis the last five primary or secondary transactions (secondary transactions where our Promoters, members of
the Promoter Group, Selling Shareholder or other Shareholder(s) having the right to nominate director(s) on our Board, are
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a party to the transaction), not older than three years prior to the date of this Red Herring Prospectus irrespective of the size
of transactions

Not Applicable”
"As certified by M/s Bhuta Shah & Co LLP, Chartered Accountants, Statutory Auditors of our Company, by way of their
certificate dated March 13, 2025.

Weighted average cost of acquisition, floor price and cap price

Types of transactions Weighted average cost Floor price Cap price
of acquisition (X per (i.e., ¥ 107) (i.e., T 113)
Equity Share)
WACA of Primary Transactions 14 7.64 8.07
WACA of Secondary Transactions Nil Nil Nil

The Offer Price is [e] times of the face value of the equity shares

The face value of our share is X10/- per share and the Offer Price is of X[®] per share are [®] times of the face value. Our
Company in consultation with the Book Running Lead Manager believes that the Offer Price of X[e] per share for the Public
Offer is justified in view of the above quantitative and qualitative parameters. Investor should read the abovementioned
information along with the section titled “Risk Factors” beginning on page 38 of this Red Herring Prospectus and the
financials of our Company as set out in the section titled “Restated Consolidated Financial Statements” beginning on page
234 of this Red Herring Prospectus.
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STATEMENT OF SPECIAL TAX BENEFITS

To

The Board of Directors

Grand Continent Hotels Limited

(formerly known as Grand Continent Hotels Private Limited)
S No. 245/1A/1B, Venpursham Village, Veeralapakkam,
Thiruporur, Chengalpattu, Mamallapuram, Kanchipuram,
Tirukalikundram - 603110, Tamil Nadu, India.

INDORIENT FINANCIAL SERVICES LIMITED
B/805, Rustomjee Central Park,

Andheri Kurla Road, Chakala, Mumbai — 400093,
Maharashtra, India.

(the “Lead Manager”)

Ref: Proposed initial public offering of equity shares of face value of ¥10 each (the “Equity Shares”) of Grand Continent
Hotels Limited (formerly known as Grand Continent Hotels Private Limited) (the “Company”/ “the “Issuer”)
comprising a fresh issue of the Equity Shares by the Company (the “Fresh Issue”) and offer for sale of Equity
Shares by the Promoter Selling Shareholder (the “Offer for Sale”, and together with the Fresh Issue, the “Offer”).

Sub: Statement of Special Tax Benefits (‘The Statement’) available to Grand Continent Hotels Limited (“The
Company”) and its shareholders under the Direct and Indirect Tax Laws in India.

This report is issued in accordance with the engagement letter dated September 11, 2024,

We hereby confirm that the enclosed annexure of the Statement prepared by the management of the Company, states the possible
special tax benefits available to the Company and its shareholders under the Income-Tax Act, 1961, the Central Goods and
Services Tax Act, 2017, the Integrated Goods and Services Tax Act, 2017, the Union Territory Goods and Services Tax Act,
2017, respective State Goods and Services Tax Act, 2017 (collectively the “GST Act”) and Customs Act, 1962, presently in
force in India as on the signing date (collectively the “Act”). Several of these benefits are dependent on the Company or its
shareholders fulfilling the conditions prescribed under the relevant provisions of the Act. Hence, the ability of the Company or
its shareholders to derive the tax benefits is dependent upon fulfilling such conditions which, based on business imperatives
which the Company may face in the future, the Company may or may not choose to fulfill. The Company does not have any
material subsidiary.

The benefits discussed in the Statement enclosed under Annexure cover only possible special tax benefits available to the
Company, its shareholders and do not cover any general tax benefits available to the Company, its shareholders. Further, the
preparation of enclosed Statement and the contents stated therein is the responsibility of the Company’s management. We are
informed that, this Statement is only intended to provide general information to the investors and is neither designed nor
intended to be a substitute for professional tax advice. In view of the individual nature of the tax consequences and the changing
tax laws, each investor is advised to consult his or her own tax consultant with respect to the specific tax implications arising
out of their participation in the proposed initial public offering of Equity shares by the Company.

We conducted our examination in accordance with the “Guidance Note on Reports or certificates for Special Purposes (Revised
2016)” (the “Guidance Note”) issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India. The Guidance Note requires that we
comply with the ethical requirements of the Code of Ethics issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India.

We have complied with the relevant applicable requirements of the Standard on Quality Control (SQC 1), Quality Control for

Firms that Perform Audits and Reviews of Historical Financial Information, and Other Assurance and Related Services
Engagements.
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We do not express any opinion or provide any assurance as to whether:
a) The Company or its shareholders will continue to obtain these possible special tax benefits in future; or
b)  The conditions prescribed for availing the possible special tax benefits where applicable, have been/would be met with.

The contents of the enclosed Annexure are based on information, explanations and representations obtained from the Company,
and on the basis of our understanding of the business activities and operations of the Company. We have relied upon the
information and documents of the Company being true, correct and complete and have not audited them.

Our views are based on facts and assumptions indicated to us and the existing provisions of tax law and its interpretations, which
are subject to change or modification from time to time by subsequent legislative, regulatory, administrative, or judicial
decisions. Any such changes, which could also be retrospective, could have an effect on the validity of our views stated herein.
We do not assume responsibility to update the views consequent to such changes. Further, we give no assurance that the revenue
authorities / courts will concur with our views expressed herein.

This report including enclosed annexure are intended solely for your information and for the inclusion in the draft red herring
prospectus, red herring prospectus, prospectus and in any other material used in connection with the Offer (“Offer Document™)
and is not to be used, referred to or distributed for any other purpose without our prior written consent.

We also consent to the references to us as “experts” as defined under Section 2(38) of the Companies Act, 2013, read with
Section 26(5) of the Companies Act, 2013 to the extent of the certification provided hereunder and included in the Offer
Document.

This certificate can be relied on by the Company, the Lead Manager and the legal counsel to the Offer and the Lead Manager
appointed in relation to the Offer. We hereby consent to this certificate being disclosed by the Lead Manager, if required (i)
by reason of any law, regulation, order or request of a court or by any governmental or competent regulatory authority, or (ii)
in seeking to establish a defense in connection with, or to avoid, any actual, potential or threatened legal, arbitral or regulatory
proceeding or investigation.

We undertake to immediately update you, in writing, of any changes in the abovementioned information until the date the
Equity Shares issued pursuant to the Offer commences trading on the relevant stock exchange. In the absence of any such
communication, you may assume that there is no change in respect of the matters covered in this certificate until the date on
which the Equity Shares commence trading on the relevant stock exchange.

All capitalized terms used but not defined herein shall have the meaning assigned to them in the Offer Document.

For Bhuta Shah and Co LLP
Chartered Accountants
Firm’s Registration No: 101474W / W100100

Jay Jhaveri

Partner

Membership No: 134864
UDIN: 2413486BKBNNW4902
Date: November 19, 2024
Place: Mumbai
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Annexure

STATEMENT OF POSSIBLE SPECIAL TAX BENEFITS AVAILABLE TO THE COMPANY AND ITS
SHAREHOLDERS UNDER THE APPLICABLE DIRECT AND INDIRECT TAXES (“TAX LAWS”)

Outlined below are the Possible Special Tax Benefits available to the Company and its shareholders under the Tax Laws. These
Possible Special Tax Benefits are dependent on the Company and its shareholders fulfilling the conditions prescribed under the
Tax Laws. Hence, the ability of the Company and its shareholders to derive the Possible Special Tax Benefits is dependent upon
fulfilling such conditions, which are based on business imperatives it faces in the future, it may or may not choose to fulfill.

UNDER THE TAX LAWS

SPECIAL TAX BENEFITS AVAILABLE TO THE COMPANY

DIRECT TAX LAWS

Income arising from the business of Infrastructure facilities (Section 801A of the IT Act)

As per the provisions of section 80-1A of the IT Act (under Chapter VI-A), the Company, engaged in the business of developing
or operating and maintaining or developing, operating and maintaining an infrastructure facility, are eligible for a deduction of
100 percent of its profits for a period of 10 consecutive years, subject to fulfilment of the conditions stipulated therein.

The Company is in the business of hospitality (Owning and Development of Hotels) which is entitled to claim a deduction,
subject to compliance of conditions laid down therein, to the extent of 100 percent of the profits derived from business of
hospitality as per Section 80-1A (4) (iv) of the Income-tax Act (the IT Act) for ten consecutive years out of first fifteen years
from the beginning of the operation, under the IT Act.

Tax Benefits under Section 35AD of the IT Act Section 35AD of the IT Act provides for deduction of 100 percent of the
expenditure of capital nature, which is incurred wholly and exclusively for the purpose of any specified business carried on by
the Company during the previous year in which such expenditure is incurred subject to specified conditions. The specified
business has been inter-alia defined to include building and operating, anywhere in India, a hotel of two star or above category
as classified by the Central Government.

MAT Credit

Minimum Alternative Tax (‘MAT?) is payable by a company when the income-tax payable on the total income as computed
under the IT Act is less than 15% (plus applicable Surcharge + Education and Secondary & Higher Education cess) of its book
profit computed as per the specified method.

As per Section 115JAA of the IT Act, certain tax paid as per MAT provisions (i.e. section 115JB of the IT Act) could be allowed
as credit for taxes payable in succeeding years under the general provisions of the IT Act. The eligible credit for carry forward
is the difference between MAT and the tax computed as per the general provisions of the IT Act. Such tax credit shall not be
available for set-off beyond 15 assessment years succeeding the assessment year in which the tax credit becomes available. The
Company shall be eligible to ‘set-off” the tax credit only to the extent of the difference between the tax payable under the general
provisions of the IT Act and MAT in that year.

Concessional Tax Rate under section 115BAA

Concessional corporate tax rate under Section 115BAA of the IT Act In terms of section 115BAA of the IT Act, domestic
companies are entitled to avail a concessional tax rate of 22% (plus 10% surcharge and 4% cess) on fulfillment of certain
conditions. The option to apply this tax rate was available from Financial Year (‘FY’) 2019-20 relevant to Assessment Year
(‘AY’) 2020-21 and the option once exercised shall apply to subsequent AYs. The concessional rate is subject to a company not
availing specified deductions.
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Further, provisions of MAT under section 115JB of the IT Act shall not be applicable to companies availing this tax rate, thus,
any carried forward MAT credit also cannot be claimed.

Deduction under Section 80JJAA of the Income-tax Act, 1961 (“the Act”)

Subject to fulfilment of prescribed conditions, the Company (subject to tax audit under section 44AB of the Act) is entitled to
claim deduction, under the provisions of Section 80JJAA of the Act, of an amount equal to thirty per cent of additional employee
cost (relating to specified category of employees) incurred in the course of business in the previous year, for three assessment
years including the assessment year relevant to the previous year in which such employment is provided.

Section 80M of the IT Act

Under Section 80M of the Act, in respect of dividend received by the Company from any other domestic company or a foreign
company or a business trust and included in the Company’s total income, a deduction is available to the Company of an amount
equal to so much of the dividends received from such other domestic company or foreign company or business trust as does not
exceed the amount of dividend distributed by the Company on or before one month prior to due date of furnishing the income-
tax return for the relevant year.

Deduction under section 35D of the IT Act

The Company is entitled to amortize preliminary expenditure, being expenditure incurred in connection with the issue for public
subscription, under section 35D of the Act, subject to the limit specified in section 35D (3) of the Act. The deduction is allowable
for an amount equal to one-fifth of such expenditure for each of five successive assessment years beginning with the assessment
year in which the business commences or as the case may be, the previous year in which the extension of the undertaking is
completed, or the new unit commences production or operation. The aforesaid deduction is not available while computing
MAT liability of the Company under section 115JB of the Act. In accordance with and subject to fulfilment of conditions as
laid out under section 35D of the Act, the Company has an option to claim such expenses as allowable expenditure in the
computation of taxable income while filing appropriate tax returns in India.

Buy-back taxation aspect w.e.f. 01 October 2024

With effect from 1st October 2024, it is proposed that any buyback undertaken by the Company would be not taxable in the
hands of the Company, but instead the gross buyback proceeds shall be taxable in the hands of the shareholders as deemed
dividend at applicable tax rates. For resident shareholders, the Company shall withhold tax at the rate of 10% under section 194
of the Act. For non-resident shareholders, the Company shall withhold tax at the rate of 20% under Section 195 of the Act. It
needs to be analysed whether the beneficial dividend tax rate under the Double Taxation Avoidance Agreement ("DTAA") can
be availed.

INDIRECT TAX LAWS
There are no special tax benefits available to the Company under Indirect Tax Laws.

SPECIAL TAX BENEFITS AVAILABLE TO SHAREHOLDERS
Taxability of dividend income in hands of shareholders

Dividend income earned by the shareholders would be taxable in their hands at the applicable rates. However, in case of domestic
corporate shareholders, deduction under section 80M of the Act would be available on fulfilling the conditions (as discussed
above). Further, in case of shareholders who are individuals, Hindu Undivided Family, Association of Persons (AOP), Body of
Individuals (BOI), whether incorporated or not and every artificial juridical person, surcharge on such tax would be restricted
to 15%, irrespective of the amount of total income.

Following are the rates applicable on sale of listed equity shares on recognised stock exchange in India as per Finance (No. 2)
Act, 2024 for sale of equity shares taking place on or after 23 July 2024
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Particulars Long Term Short Term

Tax rate 12.5% (plus applicable surcharge and | 20% (plus applicable surcharge and
cess) cess)

Period of holding More than 12 months Less than or equal to 12 months

Basic exemption limit INR 1,25,000 -

In case of non-resident (not being a company) or a foreign company, the amount of income tax on long term capital gains arising
from the transfer of a capital asset (being unlisted securities or shares of a company not being a company in which the
public are substantially interested) shall be calculated at the rate of 12.5% without giving effect to the first and second proviso
to section 48 of the Act.

Further, where the tax is payable in respect of any income arising from the transfer of a long-term capital asset, being listed
securities (other than a unit) or zero-coupon bond, then such income will be subject to tax at the rate of 10% of the amount of
capital gains before giving effect to the provisions of the second proviso to section 48 of the Act.

The gross proceeds from buy-back of equity share shall be taxable in the hands of shareholder as dividend income. The sale
proceeds for computation of capital gain on buy-back of shares shall be Nil.

Any income by way of capital gains or dividend accruing to non-residents may be subject to withholding tax per the provisions
of the IT Act or under the relevant DTAA, whichever is beneficial to such non-resident. However, where such non-resident has
obtained a lower withholding tax certificate from the tax authorities, the withholding tax rate would be as per the said certificate.
The non-resident shareholders can also avail credit of any taxes paid by them, subject to local laws of the country in which such
shareholder is resident.

As per Section 115BAC of the IT Act, subject to conditions an option to opt for simplified/new tax regime is available to
individuals and Hindu Undivided Family, Association of Persons, Body of Individuals, whether incorporated or not and every
artificial juridical person is available. Certain additional benefits have been provided which are listed as under:

e Basic exemption limit has increased from INR 250,000 to INR 3,00,000;
¢ Highest applicable surcharge on income above has been reduced from 37% to 25%;
¢ Income threshold for the tax rebate available for resident individuals has been increased from INR 5,00,000 to INR 7,00,000;

It may be noted that the shareholders have the discretion to exercise the simplified tax regime. Except the above, there are no
other possible special tax benefits available to the Shareholders of the Company for investing in the shares of the Company.

NOTES:
1. The above is as per the current Tax Laws prevalent as on the date of issuance of this certificate.

2. The above Statement of possible special tax benefits sets out the provisions of Tax Laws in a summary manner only and is
not a complete analysis or listing of all the existing and potential tax consequences of the purchase, ownership and disposal
of equity shares of the Company.

3. This Statement does not discuss any tax consequences in any country outside India of an investment in the equity shares of
the Company. The shareholders / investors in any country outside India are advised to consult their own professional advisors
regarding possible income tax consequences that apply to them under the laws of such jurisdiction.

4. The possible special tax benefits are subject to conditions and eligibility criteria which need to be examined for tax
implications.

5. The tax benefits discussed in the Statement are not exhaustive and are only intended to provide general information to the
investors and hence, is neither designed nor intended to be a substitute for professional tax advice. In view of the individual
nature of the tax consequences and the changing tax laws, each investor is advised to consult his or her own tax consultant
with respect to the specific tax implications arising out of their participation in the issue.
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6. The stated benefits will be available only to the sole/ first named holder in case the equity shares are held by joint holders.

7. Inrespect of non-residents, the tax rates and the consequent taxation mentioned above will be further subject to any benefits
available under the relevant Double Taxation Avoidance Agreement, if any, between India and the country in which the
non-resident has fiscal domicile.

8. For the purpose of reporting here, we have not considered the general tax benefits available to the company or shareholders.
9. The above statement covers only certain relevant direct tax law benefits and indirect tax law benefits or benefit.

10. No assurance is given that the revenue authorities/courts will concur with the views expressed herein. Our views are based
on the existing provisions of law and its interpretation, which are subject to changes from time to time. We do not assume
responsibility to update the views consequent to such changes.

For Grand Continent Hotels Limited
(formerly known as Grand Continent Hotels Private Limited)

Ramesh Siva

DIN:- 02449456

Director

Date:- November 19, 2024
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SECTION VIII: ABOUT THE ISSUER
OUR INDUSTRY

Unless otherwise indicated, the industry and market data contained in this Red Herring Prospectus is derived from
the “Ken Research Report”, which has been commissioned by our Company. We have received the consent to use
the extracts from this report vide Consent Letter dated September 26, 2024. Unless otherwise indicated, all financial,
operational, industry and other related information derived from the Ken Research Report and included herein with
respect to any particular year, refers to such information for the relevant calendar year.

INDUSTRY OVERVIEW
Global Macroeconomic Outlook

The global economy has shown remarkable resilience as it bounces back from the challenges posed by the COVID-19
pandemic. After a strong initial rebound from the depths of the COVID-19 pandemic, the pace of recovery has moderated.
Several forces are holding back the recovery. Some reflect the long-term consequences of the pandemic, Russia’s war in
Ukraine, and increasing geo-economic fragmentation. Others are more cyclical, including the effects of monetary policy
tightening necessary to reduce inflation, withdrawal of fiscal support amid high debt, and extreme weather events.

According to the International Monetary Fund (IMF)’s World Economic Outlook growth projections, the global economic
growth for CY23 was 4.1% year-on-year (y-0-y), up from 3.8% in CY22 (Figure 2.1) due to recovery from the COVID-19
pandemic, fiscal and monetary stimulus, stabilized supply chains, increased consumer spending, digital transformation, a
rebound in international trade, and renewed business investments in technology and healthcare. The global economic growth
for CY24 is projected to stand at 4.5%, attributed to growth resilience in major economies driven by high government and
private spending, rapidly subsiding inflation rates, and advanced economies easing their fiscal policies. Global inflation is
forecast to decline steadily, from 6.2%in 2023 to 5.3% in 2024 and 4.0% in 2025.

For advanced economies, growth is expected to slow down from 5.5% in 2023 to 4.0% in 2024. The United States, the world’s
largest economy, is expected to see a drop in GDP growth from 6.3% in 2023 to 5.2% in 2024. Consumer spending, a key
driver of its economy, is likely to weaken due to various factors, including high interest rates and a softening labor market.
The Euro area experienced a significant growth of 9.0% in 2023 and is expected to stabilize at 3.4% growth rate in 2024 &
2025 after a decline of 3.6% in 2022. This recovery is underpinned by stronger household consumption as the impact of energy
price shocks diminishes, coupled with a decrease in inflation, thereby bolstering real income growth. Japan & Germany also
face significant economic headwinds, with growth rates forecasted at -2.4% & 2.9% respectively in 2024.

Global nominal GDP has grown at a CAGR of 4.6% over the past five years (Figure 2.1). Three years post the largest
economic shock, recovery continues with widening regional growth disparities.

Figure 2.1 Global GDP (at current prices) Outlook, 2019-2029F
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INDIAN ECONOMIC OUTLOOK

GDP Growth and Outlook
Strong economic growth in the first quarter of FY23 helped India overcome the UK to become the fifth-largest economy after
it recovered from the COVID-19 pandemic shock. India's appeal as a destination for investments has grown stronger and more

sustainable because of the current period of global unpredictability and volatility, and the record amounts of money raised by
India-focused funds in 2022 are evidence of investor faith in the "Invest in India" narrative.

Figure 2.3 India’s GDP (at current prices) Outlook, in INR Tn FY20-FY30F
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Source: Ministry of Statistics and Progranime Implementation (MoSPI), Word Economic Outlook, 2024 (IMF),
Ken Research Analysis;
Note: F represents Forecasted figures, FY represents the Financial Year ending on March 31

Sectoral Gross Value Addition Composition Of the three major sectors, the service sector has been the fastest-growing
sector in the last 5 years registering a CAGR of 9.8%.

Figure 2.9 Sectoral Gross Value Addition to Indian Economy in INR Tn and Growth
Scenario, FY20-FY24
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The agriculture sector was holding growth momentum till FY18. In FY'19, the acreage for the rabi crop was marginally lower
than the previous year, which affected agricultural performance. FY20 witnessed growth on account of improved production.

During the pandemic-impacted period of FY21, the agriculture sector was largely insulated as timely and proactive exemptions
from COVID-induced lockdowns facilitated uninterrupted harvesting of rabi crops and sowing of kharif crops. However,
supply chain disruptions impacted the flow of agricultural goods, leading to high food inflation and an adverse initial impact
on some major agricultural exports. Performance remained steady in FY22.

In FY23, the agriculture (including livestock, forestry & fishing) sector performed well despite weather-related disruptions,
such as uneven monsoon and unseasonal rainfall, impacting yields of some major crops. It clocked a growth of 9.4% y-o-y,
garnering INR 44.8 trillion. In FY24, this sector expanded at a slower pace of 5.4%, with the weakest monsoon experience
caused by EI Nino conditions (Figure 2.9).

In the Interim Budget 2024-25, the government plans to boost private and public investment in post-harvest activities and
expand the application of Nano-DAP across agro-climatic zones. Strategies for self-reliance in oilseeds and dairy development
are to be formulated, alongside ramping up the Pradhan Mantri Matsaya Sampada Yojana and establishing Integrated
Aquaparks. Allocation for the PM-Formalisation of Micro Food Processing Enterprises scheme has increased from INR 639
crores in FY24 to INR 880 crores in FY25.

The industrial sector witnessed a CAGR of 9.8% for the period FY16 to FY19. From March 2020 onwards, the nationwide
lockdown due to the pandemic significantly impacted industrial activities. In FY20 and FY21, this sector experienced
turbulence due to the pandemic, recording growth rates of -1.0% and 0.9% respectively, on a y-o-y basis. With the opening
up of the economy and resumption of industrial activities, it registered y-o0-y growth of 25.2% in FY22.

The industrial output in FY23 grew by 9.1%, with an estimated value of INR 68.1 trillion, owing to a rebound in manufacturing
activities and healthy growth in the construction sector. The industrial sector grew by 8.5% in FY24 owing to positive business
optimism and strong growth in new orders that supported manufacturing output. (Figure 2.9) The industrial growth was mainly
supported by sustained momentum in the manufacturing and construction sectors. Within manufacturing, industries such as
pharma, motor vehicles, metals, and petroleum witnessed higher production growth during the quarter.

India’s industrial sector is experiencing strong growth, driven by significant expansion in manufacturing, mining, and
construction. This growth is supported by positive business sentiment, declining commodity prices, beneficial government
policies like production-linked incentive schemes, and efforts to boost infrastructure development. These factors collectively
contribute to the sustained buoyancy in industrial growth.

The Services sector recorded a CAGR of 11.2% for the period FY16 to FY20, led by trade, hotels, transport,
communication, services related to broadcasting, finance, real estate, and professional services. This sector was the
hardest hit by the pandemic and registered an 5.5% y-0-y decline in FY21. The easing of restrictions aided a fast rebound in
this sector, with y-o0-y growth of 18.6% and 18.3% witnessed in FY22 and FY23 respectively.

Overall, in FY24, benefiting from pent-up demand, the service sector was valued at INR 146.4 trillion and registered growth
of 9.6% y-o0-y. (Figure 2.9) Within services, there was a broad-based improvement in growth across different sub-sectors.
However, the sharpest jump was seen in financial, real estate, and professional services. Trade, hotels, and transport sub-
sectors expanded at a healthy pace, gaining from strength in discretionary demand.
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Figure 2.11 Average Monthly Per Capita Consumption Expenditure (MPCE) in INR,
Current Prices
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Source: Ministry of Statistics and Programme Implementation (MoSPI) & Ken Research Analysis
Note: FY represents the Financial Year ending on March 31

The bottom 5% of India’s rural population, ranked by MPCE, has an average MPCE of INR 1,373 while it is INR 2,001 for
the same category of population in the urban areas. (Figure 2.11)
INDIA HOTELS INDUSTRY LANDSCAPE AND POSITIONING OF MID-SCALE HOTELS

India’s hotel industry has witnessed a robust turnaround in demand after the pandemic, led by the rising discretionary spending
on tours and travels, revenge tourism, improving economic environment fuelling corporate travels and revival of mega
wedding season and other cultural events.

As of 2023, India has over 400,000 keys including branded hotels and independently run hotels. Of this, the current
branded inventory market size as of 2023 stands at ~180,000, accounting for around 44% of the overall market.

Figure 4.1 India Hotels Industry KPIs, 2023

Rooms Supply Occupancy Rate Average Daily Rate
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Source: Ken Research Analysis

Classification of India Hotels Market:
India’s hotel industry can be classified into various segments based on their market positioning by Average Daily Rate (ADR).

These segments cater to diverse traveller preferences, offering distinct levels of services and amenities. Each segment plays a
crucial role in meeting the needs of different traveller demographics and enhancing the overall hospitality landscape in India.
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Figure 4.2 India Hotels Market Classification basis ADR classes
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Mid-Scale Hotels (Mid-priced and Upper Mid-priced together) constitute approximately 56.0% of the total room
supply, signifying their dominance in catering to a broad spectrum of business and leisure travelers. This trend
underscores the growing preference among travelers for value-driven options that offer a balance of quality service,
convenience, and affordability.

Figure 4.3 Segmentation of India Hotels Industry by Hotel types basis Room Supply, 2023
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Note: The market segments within the box collectively represent the mid-scale hotels market
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Figure 4.3 illustrates the segmentation of India's hotel room supply across these segments. Hotel rooms in the INR 3,000-
5,000 ADR range are particularly prominent, reflecting strong demand for affordable yet comfortable accommodations.

The Indian mid-scale hotels segment has emerged as a critical growth driver within the broader hospitality industry, fueled by
a combination of rising domestic travel, changing consumer preferences, and increasing disposable incomes. This segment
caters to the rapidly growing middle-class and value-conscious travelers, positioning itself between the budget and
luxury hotel categories, offering a balance of affordability and comfort.
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INDIA MID-SCALE HOTELS MARKET

Travelers today are seeking more than just basic accommodation; they expect comfortable stays, modern amenities,
and services that align with international standards, all while remaining cost-conscious. This shift has significantly
contributed to the growth of the mid-scale market, transforming it into one of the most competitive and innovative segments
in India.

The growth of domestic tourism, changing lifestyles, increasing affinity towards competitively priced branded hotels
and expansion of business activity to Tier 2 & 3 cities have bolstered the popularity of Mid-market or Midscale hotels
in India in the recent past. Both domestic and international hotel companies with established as well as new midscale brands
have increased their presence in the country to leverage the growing demand from middle-income domestic travelers and
international budget travelers, especially in Tier 2, 3 & 4 cities.

The India mid-scale hotels market has evolved significantly over the past decade. Initially dominated by independent hotels
and regional players, the segment saw a shift as international and national hotel chains recognized the potential in catering to
middle-income travelers. Indian hotel chains such as Bloom hotels, Fortune Park, Ginger, Lemon Tree Hotels, Royal Orchids,
Sarovar Hotels Sayaji Hotels, The Grand Continent Hotel and more have established a strong presence across the country,
offering standardized yet affordable experiences. At the same time, global brands like Holiday Inn Express, ibis, and Fairfield
by Marriott have expanded their mid-scale portfolios in India.

Mid-scale hotels in India are increasingly transitioning from the traditional economy select-service model to a more
comprehensive full-service approach, driven by evolving customer expectations and heightened competition. Originally, these
hotels focused primarily on offering basic services such as clean rooms, limited dining options, and essential amenities at
affordable prices. However, as travelers seek more enriched experiences, mid-market hotels have expanded their offerings to
enhanced facilities like multiple dining options, wellness centers, meeting spaces, and recreational services.

Trends such as flexible booking options, dynamic pricing, standardized guest experience, integrated leisure and business
amenities are becoming vital differentiators for mid-scale hotels in capturing the evolving preferences of modern travelers.
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INDIA MID-SCALE HOTELS MARKET SIZE AND SEGMENTATION, 2023-2029F

India’s mid-scale hotels market generated a revenue of INR 316.3 billion in 2023 and is projected to expand at a CAGR
of 9.0% from 2023 to 2029, reaching an estimated revenue of INR 530.1 billion by the end of the forecast period.

Figure 5.1 India Mid-Scale Hotels Market Size in Value (Revenue Generation), in INR Bn,
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Figure 5.2 CAGR Growth Component Split in India Mid-Scale Hotels Market, 2023-2029
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As of 2023, the mid-scale hotels market in India offered an estimated 230,000 rooms across both branded and
independent properties. This supply is projected to grow at a CAGR of 5.0% from 2023 to 2029, driven by an
increasing number of hotel developments and expansions within this category.

Figure 5.3 India Mid-Scale Hotels Market Size in Volume (Rooms Supply), 2023-2029F
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Source: Ken Research Analysis; Note: E represents Estimated figure, F represents Forecasted figures

The market has significant potential for expansion in the coming years, fueled by several key factors such as the robust
increase in domestic tourism; the growing middle class, alongside their evolving lifestyles; a significant uptick in business

travel, particularly from small and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs); and the broadening scope of business activities into
Tier 2, 3, and 4 cities.

Furthermore, the advent of the digital era and the spread of online travel agencies (OTAS) have significantly simplified the
process for travelers to locate and reserve hotel accommodations, enhancing accessibility and visibility for the midscale
segment. Together, these economic, social, and technological trends are spurring demand for midscale hotels, which provide
a blend of quality, affordability, and convenience, amidst a landscape of rising consumer expectations.

Market Key Performance Indicators

The COVID-19 pandemic significantly impacted the Indian mid-scale hotels market, leading to a decline in key performance
indicators such as Revenue per Available Room (RevPAR), Occupancy Rate, and Average Daily Rate (ADR) from 2019 to
2021. However, the industry witnessed a strong recovery in 2022, with both ADR and RevPAR surpassing pre-pandemic
levels, while occupancy rates showed substantial improvement.
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As of 2023, the Average Daily Rate (ADR) in the mid-scale hotels market of India stood at INR 4,806, with an occupancy
rate of 63.7%o, resulting in a RevPAR of INR 3,061.

Looking ahead, with continued growth in domestic tourism, rising demand from business travelers, and increased digital
adoption in the hospitality sector, the ADR is projected to reach INR 5,798 by 2029, reflecting a CAGR of 3.2%. Occupancy
rates are also expected to see an upward trend, driven by improved infrastructure, expansion of travel segments, and a focus
on value-driven offerings, reaching 64.4% by 2029, with RevPAR rising to INR 3,734.

Figure 5.4 KPIs for India Mid-Scale Hotels Market, 2023-2029F
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Unit Economics of a Mid-Scale Hotels in India:

The mid-scale hotels segment in India is heavily driven by the preferences of cost-conscious yet experience-focused travelers.
Unlike luxury hotels, where additional services contribute significantly to the overall revenue, mid-scale hotels see a
dominant reliance on room revenue, reflecting the priorities of their typical guests. It is worth noting that new mid-scale
properties typically take 12 to 18 months to achieve stable occupancy levels (60-70%), depending on factors such as the
property's location in a high-demand tourist or business hub, brand affiliation, seasonality, market conditions, and the
effectiveness of its marketing, distribution strategy, and guest experience. In cases where the location is favourable and guest
experience is positive, this period can shorten to 6-12 months.

Understanding the unit economics of this segment is essential for optimizing profitability, as hotels must strike a balance
between offering quality accommodations and managing operational expenses efficiently. This section delves into the
financial structure of a typical mid-scale hotel, highlighting key revenue sources and expense drivers that may shape its
operational success.

Room revenue, constituting 80-85% of total revenue, remains the primary source of income for mid-scale hotels,
underscoring the importance of maintaining high occupancy rates and optimizing room pricing strategies.

Labor cost is one of the largest components of the expense structure, a reflection of the service-oriented nature of the
hospitality industry. Efficient staff management, training, and adopting automation technologies can help mitigate these
expenses without compromising service quality.
In the current scenario, operating profit margin ranges between 30% to 45%. Tight control over operational expenses,
especially SWB and HLFP (Table 5.1), will be key to improving margins. The implementation of automation, sustainable
practices, and energy-efficient technologies will allow hotels to cut unnecessary costs.

Market Segmentations By Ownership Type:

The India mid-scale hotels market is broadly segmented into two categories basis ownership type: chained or branded hotels
and independently owned hotels. As of 2023, independent hotels continue to dominate the market in terms of the number of
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properties. However, there is a noticeable shift in consumer preference toward branded hotels, driven by demand for
standardized services and consistency in offerings. While independent hotels retain a significant market share, they face
challenges in competing with the consistency and brand recognition that larger hotel chains provide.

In 2023, the supply of chained mid-scale hotel rooms reached 111,264, accounting for a 47.9% share of the mid-scale
segment. (Figure 5.5)

The overall revenue generated from chained and independent mid-scale hotel segments stood at INR 171.9 Bn & INR
144.4 Bn respectively.

Table 5.2 Chained vs Independent Mid-Scale Hotels Market basis important KPIs, 2023

KPI Chained Mid-Scale Hotels Independent Mid-Scale Hotels
Average ADR INR 5,166 INR 4,476
Occupancy Rate ~64.0% ~63.5%
Revenue

INR171.9 Bn INR 1444 Bn
Generated

Source: Intervicws with Industry Experts & Ken Research Analysis

The chained mid-scale hotel segment is projected to grow at a CAGR of 5.7% from 2023 to 2029, reaching 155,573 rooms
by the end of the forecast period. Conversely, the supply of rooms in independent mid-scale hotels is expected to grow at a
slower CAGR of 4.2% during the same period.

In response to the increasing demand for branded accommodations, there is a rising trend of major hotel chains acquiring or
taking over independent properties. This allows them to rapidly expand their portfolio while enhancing the value proposition
of previously unbranded hotels.

Figure 5.5 India Mid-Scale Hotel Rooms Supply by Ownership Type, 2023 & 2029F
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Figure 5.6 Split of India Mid-Scale Hotel Market by Traveler Type, 2023
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By Traveler Type:

The India mid-scale hotel market is segmented primarily into two customer types: business travelers and leisure travelers. In
2023, leisure travelers dominated the market, accounting for 57.0% of total revenue, generating INR 180.3 billion. Business
travelers contributed 43.0% of the revenue, amounting to INR 136.0 billion.

The emphasis on mid-scale accommodations by corporate clients stems from the need to balance travel budgets while still
ensuring a satisfactory level of service and amenities for business meetings and stays. In 2023, India’s business travel
spending surged by almost 25% reaching 78% of pre-pandemic levels. In 2024, the projected growth in business travel and
meetings and events, is likely to grow by 18%. India is the ninth-largest market globally for business travel expenditure and
the fourth-largest in the Asia Pacific region.

Mid-scale hotels offer an appealing mix of affordability and amenities, making them the go-to option for leisure travelers
seeking comfortable yet reasonably priced stays. The Leisure segment continues to expand and contribute positively. Room
revenue share of 5 markets — Goa, Jaipur, Udaipur, Uttarakhand and HP almost doubled, from 8.5% for 2019 to 16.9% for
2023.

In 2023, the leisure traveler segment of India’s mid-scale hotel market was led by families, contributing 38.0% of total
revenue, or INR 120.2 billion. Families continue to be a key driver in this space, particularly due to the need for affordable,
family-friendly accommodations that cater to larger groups, especially in popular vacation destinations.

Couples and honeymooners made up 30.0% of the segment, generating INR 94.9 billion in revenue, as mid-scale hotels
provide a balance of comfort and affordability, making them ideal for romantic getaways and honeymoon packages. The
friends segment, accounting for 21.0% and generating INR 66.4 billion, is largely fueled by the increasing trend of group
leisure trips, especially among young professionals who seek cost-effective accommodations without compromising on
quality or shared experiences. Lastly, solo travelers, although a smaller segment at 11.0% with INR 34.8 billion in revenue,
reflect a growing trend of independent travel. Mid-scale hotels are often the preferred choice for these travelers due to their
combination of affordability, convenience, and safety, particularly in urban and adventure-centric destinations.
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While, the business travelers” segment is expected to grow at a CAGR of 8.8% to reach revenue generation of INR 225.3 Bn
in 2029, the leisure segment will continue to dominate with revenue share of 57.5% and CAGR of 9.1% during the forecast
period.

Figure 5.8 India Mid-Scale Hotels Revenue (in INR Bn) by Traveler Type, 2023 & 2029F

CAGR (2023-2029F)

8.8%

9.1%

2023 2029F

m Leisure Traveler 1 Business Traveler

Soutrce: Ken Research Analysis; Note: F represents Forecasted figures

Page 154 of 437



By Service Offerings:

India's mid-scale hotels offer a diverse range of services, catering primarily to room accommaodation, food and beverage
services, event hosting, and spa & wellness amenities. However, at the mid-scale level, accommodation dominates the revenue
structure, accounting for over 80% of total revenue in 2023, driven by the affordable yet comfortable lodging it provides to
both business and leisure travelers. Food and beverage services rank second in revenue contribution, largely due to the growing
demand for on-site dining and catering services at mid-scale hotels.

By 2029, the revenue split shows increasing diversification: accommodation will still command the largest share but food and
beverage, events, and wellness offerings will continue to catch up, driven by rising traveler expectations and increased
competition in the mid-scale hospitality sector.

Figure 5.10 Split of India Mid-Scale Hotels Market by Regions, 2023
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Source: Ken Rescarch Analysis
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In India, the hotel industry is primarily regulated by the Ministry of Tourism, which oversees the promotion and
development of tourism, including hotel classification into different star categories (1-Star to 5-Star) based on quality and
services. The Ministry also provides policy frameworks, issues guidelines, and implements schemes to support the sector.
State Tourism Departments manage licensing and ensure compliance with local regulations at the state level. Additionally,
the Federation of Hotel and Restaurant Associations of India (FHRAI) helps promote industry standards, while hotels
must comply with food safety regulations from the Food Safety and Standards Authority of India (FSSAI) and other
local laws.

KEY TRENDS AND DEVELOPMENTS
Rise of Branded Hotels in Mid-Scale Segment

The mid-scale hotel segment is experiencing a significant shift as budget-conscious consumers increasingly prioritize
trust and reliability in their accommodations. This has led to a growing demand for branded hotels, with many
standalone properties converting to established hotel chains. The appeal of branding offers a win-win for both standalone
hotels and chains, driving higher occupancy rates and improved Average Daily Rates.

Conversions often take place through various models, such as management contracts, where the hotel owner retains
ownership while the chain handles operations; franchise agreements, where the chain provides branding and marketing
support; or lease agreements, where the owner rents the property to the chain. For example, Fern, a midscale hotel brand,
opened 1,500 new rooms in 2022, with 70% being conversions from unbranded hotels.13 Fern also signed 24 new
hotels that year, seven of which were conversions. This trend reflects the broader industry shift towards brand trust,
signaling a new era of growth and consolidation in the mid-scale hotel segment.

Figure 5.13 Branded Hotels Supply in the Overall Indian Hotel Market, FY18-Fy23
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Source: Hotelivate

Technology & Digital Transformation

The mid-scale hotel segment is witnessing a significant transformation driven by technological advancements aimed at
enhancing guest experiences and operational efficiency. One of the key trends is the rise of contactless and automated
services. Mid-scale hotels are adopting mobile check-ins, keyless room access, and automated customer support through
chatbots. For example, Sarovar Hotels has reimagined the check-in process, allowing guests to comfortably sit in the
lounge and check in via a tablet brought to them by staff. They are also leveraging WhatsApp groups to monitor guest
requests and ensure any issue is addressed swiftly, escalating complaints if not resolved within 30 minutes. This real-time
approach ensures a smooth, efficient operation while also improving guest satisfaction.

Hotels are also adopting smart devices for energy management, housekeeping, and room service, cutting down operational
costs and optimizing resource usage.

Current investments in digital tools and automation are not enough to create lasting impact across the mid-scale segment.
To truly revolutionize, hotels must explore a variety of avenues — from artificial intelligence (Al) and machine learning
(ML) to virtual reality (VR) and smart devices. For instance, virtual reality can offer immersive previews of rooms and
destinations, allowing potential guests to experience the hotel’s offerings before they book.

Tier-11 & 111 cities as Emerging Markets

With increasing disposable incomes and a growing middle class, tier-2 & 3 cities are emerging as important economic
centers, attracting both business and leisure travelers. In addition to the growth of small towns, the hospitality industry is
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also benefiting from the over-saturation of major metro cities. Cities like Mumbai, Delhi, and Bengaluru have reached
a saturation point with the existing number of hotels, which means that the demand for hotels is shifting to smaller cities.

Religious and Spiritual Tourism

India is home to a wealth of sacred sites such as Amritsar, Varanasi, Rishikesh, Katra, Kedarnath, and Tirupati, which are
playing a crucial role in shaping the country's growing domestic tourism industry. Following the pandemic, travel motivated
by spiritual and religious reasons has become a clear trend among travelers. A 2022 ICICI Direct survey highlighted this,
noting Varanasi's remarkable 720 lakh tourists, which significantly surpassed Goa’s 5 lakh visitors. According to
the Ministry of Tourism, these religious hubs contributed approximately X1.3 lakh crore in revenue and attracted around
1.43 billion visitors in 2022. Contrary to the belief that spiritual tourism primarily appeals to older generations, this trend
spans across age groups.

KEY GROWTH DRIVERS
Rising Disposable Income and Affluence

With the Indian middle class growing and having more spending power, domestic tourism is increasing, leading to a growing
demand for hotel accommodations. In the first three months of 2024, Indian airports served 97 million passengers, a number
that took an entire year to reach just a decade ago. With more people willing to spend on experiences, travel has become
a priority for many Indian households. Moreover, mid-scale hotels have adapted to the evolving needs of their guests
by incorporating technology and personalized services. Features such as free Wi-Fi, flexible check-in/check-out policies,
and loyalty programs further enhance their appeal, making them a preferred choice for a growing segment of the population.

As more consumers move into the middle-income bracket, the demand for quality yet affordable accommodation is rising,
positioning mid-scale hotels perfectly to meet this growing need. Unlike budget hotels, which often lack essential services
and amenities, mid-scale hotels offer well-appointed rooms, superior customer service, and facilities like dining, fitness
centers, and business services. This makes them an attractive option for middle-income families, business travelers, and
leisure tourists who seek comfort and convenience at a reasonable price.

Urbanization & Infrastructural Development

Urbanization and infrastructure development are pivotal factors driving the growth of the mid-scale hotel market in India,
particularly in tier 2 and tier 3 cities. As these markets experience rapid urbanization, improved connectivity, and enhanced
infrastructure, they are becoming increasingly attractive for both travelers and hotel developers. The rise of tier 2 and tier
3 cities can be largely attributed to better connectivity through improved road, rail, and air transport options, which have
made these cities more accessible and are encouraging both leisure and business travel.

The Indian Government is actively promoting infrastructure development to support economic growth and attract
investments in emerging markets. Significant projects, such as the Mumbai Trans Harbour Link and the Dwarka
Expressway, are set to enhance connectivity in major metropolitan areas, reducing travel times and making these regions
more appealing for businesses and travelers alike. Additionally, projects like the Vizhinjam International Transshipment
Deepwater Multipurpose Seaport in Trivandrum and the Delhi-Dehradun Expressway are expected to drive real estate
activity and enhance tourism prospects in their respective areas. These infrastructure advancements not only boost local

MAJOR MARKET CHALLENGES & THREATS
Market Challenges:
Increasing Competition with Highly Fragmented Market

The mid-scale hotel sector in India is characterized by increasing competition amid a highly fragmented landscape. Almost
every city features a mix of numerous branded and unbranded hotels, including both family-owned establishments and
larger chains. Historically, the supply of branded hotels was concentrated in the luxury and premium segments, driven
primarily by foreign tourism. However, the significant rise in domestic tourism has prompted many hotel brands to venture
into the mid- range market, intensifying competition within this segment.

The presence of well-established properties complicates the competitive environment, as customers now have an
abundance of options at their disposal. This saturation diminishes pricing power for hotels, forcing them to compete
aggressively on rates and amenities. The proliferation of online hotel aggregators has further intensified this trend, allowing
customers to easily compare prices and availability across various properties, which in turn drives down rates and increases
pressure on margins.
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Capital-intensive Industry with Long Gestation Period

The mid-scale hotel industry in India faces significant challenges due to its capital-intensive nature and extended gestation
periods of 5-10 years. Prime hotel locations often command high land prices, elevating initial investment requirements.
Additionally, constructing a hotel involves substantial costs related to safety measures, high-quality building standards,
and aesthetically pleasing interiors and furnishings.

Owners must allocate considerable resources, both finances and time, before realizing any returns. The need for substantial
working capital is further compounded by the cyclical and seasonal nature of the hospitality business. While peak seasons
can generate substantial revenue, off-peak periods can lead to underutilization, resulting in financial strain as operational
costs persist year-round. This creates an ongoing challenge for hoteliers in managing liquidity and ensuring sustainability.

Shortage of Skilled Labor

Most branded hotels in India today are severely underpowered. The current shortfall in the branded hotels space is
80,000- 100,000 people. These hotels require 1.2-1.5 million people every year and this requirement is growing at a
CAGR of 5.5-5.6%15. This shortage hampers operational efficiency, impacts service quality, and constrains growth
potential, posing a critical challenge for maintaining competitive standards and meeting increasing market demands.

Fluctuations in Demand

The India mid-scale hotel market faces significant challenges due to fluctuations in demand. The peak season, from October
to April, benefits from high activity such as weddings, but July to September see a marked slowdown. This reliance on
seasonal variations affects occupancy rates and RevPAR, leading to slower growth during off-peak months.
Additionally, the market is vulnerable to economic fluctuations and external factors like political instability or pandemics,
further complicating revenue stability and forecasting.

Consumer Price Sensitivity

Price sensitivity among consumers has become a significant challenge in the mid-scale hotel sector. With a growing
number of budget-conscious travelers and increased price comparison tools, guests are more focused on finding the
best value for their money. Chains with well-established brands might leverage their scale to offer competitive pricing or
value-added services without compromising profitability. In contrast, independent hotels, which may lack the same scale
efficiencies, face greater pressure to adjust pricing strategies and offer compelling value propositions to attract price-
sensitive customers.

Market Threats:
Rising Competition from Alternative Accommodations

The diversified offerings from hospitality industry in terms of alternative accommodation option like homestays, villas,
hostels, apartments, short-term rentals are playing an important role in meeting the evolving demands of travelers. These
alternatives often offer unique experiences and competitive pricing, attracting a segment of travelers seeking more
personalized or cost-effective options, posing a significant threat to mid-scale hotels.

According to Booking.com’s Travel Predictions 2023, a significant 4 of Indian travelers now seek “off-grid” style
vacations. Travelers are actively seeking unconventional and unique stays to enhance their travel experiences such
as villas, treehouses, camps, boathouses and other distinctive options, rather than traditional hotel settings.
According to Booking.com’s recent earnings results, alternative accommodations room nights globally rose about 45.0%
year-on-year, representing about 33.0% of the brand’s total room nights.

Rigid Lease Agreements

Rigid clauses and terms under lease and management contracts between hotel operators and property owners pose
a significant threat to operational flexibility and financial stability. These agreements often contain stringent early
termination and exit clauses, which can lead to considerable financial penalties for hotel operators. Such burdens strain
cash flow, particularly in an industry where margins are tight, forcing operators to remain tied to underperforming properties.

Moreover, the inflexibility of these agreements limits strategic options, hindering the ability to adapt to changing market

dynamics and consumer preferences. Legal complexities arising from disputes over lease terms can further divert resources
away from core operations, impacting overall efficiency and reputation.
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Finally, stringent lease conditions can deter potential investors by raising concerns about operational risks and limiting
access to necessary capital for growth and innovation.

Environmental Regulations and Sustainability Pressures:

Increasing environmental regulations and sustainability expectations are putting pressure on mid-scale hotels to adopt eco-
friendly practices. Compliance with regulations related to waste management, energy efficiency, and resource conservation
can lead to increased operational costs. Hotels need to integrate sustainable practices into their operations and communicate
their environmental initiatives to meet regulatory requirements and appeal to eco-conscious travelers.

COMPETITIVE LANDSCAPE

India’s mid-scale hotel market is dynamic and highly competitive, driven by the country's growing middle class,
increasing domestic travel, and expanding business hubs across metros and Tier Il & Il cities. The sector serves a
diverse clientele, including budget-conscious business and leisure travelers, who seek a balance between affordability and
comfort. This demand has created a competitive environment where both domestic and international players vie for market
share through geographic expansion, service differentiation, and aggressive pricing strategies.

The market has also seen significant interest from international hotel brands, which are expanding their mid-scale offerings
in India. These global players bring established brand names and loyalty programs, often appealing to business travelers
and foreign tourists. However, they face stiff competition from domestic chains that better understand local consumer
preferences and are more agile in adapting to regional market needs.

Amid this competitive landscape, the importance of brand differentiation, customer experience, and technology
integration has become increasingly crucial. Chains that can innovate, whether through digital booking platforms, loyalty
programs, or unique service offerings, are better positioned to capture market share. Additionally, scaling operations
quickly to increase room inventory, particularly in non-metro cities, is seen as a critical success factor for mid-scale hotel
operators.
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OVERVIEW OF THE MAJOR PLAYERS IN INDIAN MID-SCALE HOTELS MARKET
Table 6.1 Company Overview of Major Players in India Mid-Scale Hotels Market
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Table 6.2 provides a snapshot of the financial performance of key players in India’s mid-scale hotel market for FY23.
Lemon Tree leads with the highest revenue, PAT, and EBITDA, showcasing its dominant position. Roots Corp. (Ginger)
and Royal Orchid follow, with a significant gap from Lemon Tree but still maintaining strong profitability. Bloom Hotels,
Fortune Park and Sayaji Hotels, while smaller, reflect steady growth, indicating rising competition in the segment.

Table 6.2 Overview of Major Players in Mid-Scale Hotels Market of India, FY23 in INR Cr

Roots
Financial Lemon C::D Bloom Fortune Royal Sayaji
Parameters Tree . P Hotels Park Orchid Hotels
(Ginger)
Total _
875.0 306.7 144.0 444 263.5 271.1

Revenue

EBITDA 544.2 74.0 12.4 8.0 81.8 829
PAT 139.7 71.1 6.0 53 492 351

Source: Interview with Industry Experts, Company Financial Reports and Ken Research Analysis
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OUR BUSINESS

Some of the information in this section, including information with respect to our business plans and strategies, contains
forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. You should read “Forward-Looking Statements” on page 27
for a discussion of the risks and uncertainties related to those statements, the section “Risk Factors” on page 38 for a
discussion of the risks that may affect our business, financial condition, or results of operations, and “Restated Consolidated
Financial Statements” and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” on
pages 234 and 268, respectively, for a discussion of certain factors that may affect our business, financial condition or results
of operations. Our actual results may differ materially from those expressed in or implied by these forward-looking statements.

We have included various operational and financial performance indicators in this Red Herring Prospectus, many of which
may not be derived from our Restated Consolidated Financial Statements or otherwise be subject to an examination, audit or
review by our statutory auditors or any other expert. The manner in which such operational and financial performance
indicators are calculated and presented, and the assumptions and estimates used in such calculations, may vary from that
used by other companies in India and other jurisdictions.

Our Company’s Financial Year commences on April 1 and ends on March 31 of the immediately subsequent year, and
references to a particular Financial Year are to the 12 months ended March 31 of that particular year. Unless otherwise
indicated or the context otherwise requires, the financial information for the Financial Years ended March 31, 2022, 2023
and 2024 and the six months period ended September 30, 2024 included herein is derived from the Restated Consolidated
Financial Statements included in this Red Herring Prospectus. For further information, refer section titled “Restated
Consolidated Financial Statements” on page 234. Unless otherwise indicated or the context otherwise requires, in this

section, references to “we”, “us” and “our” are to the Company.

Business Overview:

Our Company, “M/s Grand Continent Hotels Private Limited” was established, at Bengaluru, Karnataka on November 11,
2011 as a private limited company under the provisions of the Companies Act, 1956 vide certification of incorporation dated
November 11, 2011 issued by the Registrar of Companies, Chennai, Tamil Nadu. The Corporate Identification Number of
our Company is CIN: U55101TN2011PLC083100. The first hotel launched under M/s Grand Continent Hotels Private
Limited was a 24-room property on Bannerghatta Road, Bengaluru, called “Grand Continent Hotel” in April 04, 2016.

We operate in the mid-scale hotel sector, consisting of the upper-mid priced, mid-priced and economy hotel segments. We
seek to cater to Indian middle-class guests and business travellers and to deliver differentiated yet comfortable service
offerings, with a value-for-money proposition. Our Company along with the JV Partner Entities have 16 operational hotel
properties and operates a total of 753 hotel keys as of September 30,2024 across states of Karnataka (Bengaluru/Mysuru),
Tamil Nadu (Hosur), Goa (Anjuna/Morjim), Andhra Pradesh (Tirupati) and Telangana (Secunderabad). The split of our hotel
keys under upper — mid priced, mid-priced and economy segment are as follows:

Details (No. of keys) CAGR (%)
As at Six months | Asat March 31, | Asat March | Asat March
period ended 2024 31, 2023 31, 2022
September 30,
2024

Upper — Mid Priced 218 180 88 0 43.74
Mid - Priced 511 327 217 168 37.41
Economy 24 24 24 24 0
Total 753 531 329 192 47.76

The categorisation of hotel properties/keys into economy, mid-priced and upper mid-priced segment has been provided which
is based on combination of

(a) average daily rate (ADR); and

(b) amenities provided at the facility/hotel

Accordingly, we have used the guidance given in the section titled “Our Industry” in the DRHP to categorize the hotel
properties under our management as follows:
a. Economy hotels: with ADR less than INR 3,000/- and basic room and limited amenities.

b. Mid-price hotel: with ADR in range of INR 3,000 — 3,750, providing amenities like free wi-fi, coffee shop (12hours
x 7days), breakfast buffet, room service and fitness centre.
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c. Upper Mid- Price hotel: with ADR in range of INR 3,750 — 5,000 and providing amenities like free wi-fi, coffee
shop (12 hours x 7 days), breakfast buffet, room service and fitness centre; and additional services like banquets,
swimming pool, and larger room sizes, at reasonable cost.

For further details, kindly refer to section titled “Our Industry” beginning on page 143 of the Red Herring Prospectus.

Our occupancy across all hotel properties is 67.69% for Six months period ended September 30, 2024, 71.98% for FY 2024,
73.92% for FY 2023 and 61.04% for FY 2022. As per Ken Research, new mid-scale properties typically take 12 to 18 months
to achieve stable occupancy levels (60-70%), depending on factors such as the property's location in a high-demand tourist or
business hub, brand affiliation, seasonality, market conditions, and the effectiveness of its marketing, distribution strategy,
and guest experience. In cases where the location is favourable and guest experience is positive, this period can shorten to 6 -
12 months. Excluding properties with less than 6 months of operations, our adjusted occupancy is 72.33% for Six months
period ended September 30, 2024, 75.17% for FY 2024, 79.00% for FY 2023 and 61.90% for FY 2022

We have a significant presence in Bengaluru with 10 hotels and a total of 458 hotel keys as of September 30, 2024, providing
us with a significant advantage of tapping into the international and domestic travellers through this city and the well-
established business ecosystem. Our hotel operational properties in Bengaluru represents 71.43% of our total hotel operational
properties, 60.82% of our total keys under Our portfolio as of September 30, 2024 and the revenue contributes 60.39% as
on September 30, 2024.

Our Company follows an asset light model with properties under direct lease model. Out of such leased properties, two
properties are leased out under JV partnership agreement. Our Company also own two properties located in Bengaluru,
Karnataka.

For majority of our hotel properties, we have trademark license agreement/franchisee agreements with Sarovar Hotels Private
Limited and/or Royal Orchid Associated Hotels Limited where through such franchisee partners the Company is able to
supplement its sales and marketing efforts and generate leads for those hotel properties. The licensor/franchisee partners are

paid a fixed percentage on the gross revenues from such hotel properties. All such properties will be under “own brand” or
“Co-branded” with franchisee partners under trademark license agreement /franchisee agreements.

Our Key Brands

ROYAL ORCHID SAROVAR HOTELS/SAROVAR

Current Properties

Current Properties Current Properties
1. Grand Continent, kzlleswaram
1. Grand Country Stays, Bannerghatta 1. Regenta Inn Grand, Koramangala

ad 2. Tulip Inn ¥oramangzla

2. Regents Inn, Indirgnagar

. . SEEENIRINM. Enaga 3. golden Tulip Tirupati
2. Grand Continent Hotel, Morjim a " L ~

3. Regants Inn 4" Block, Koramangala .

. . 4.Grand Continent Hosur

3. Grand Continent Hotel, Devanahzll 4. Regents Inn ORE. Mahadevapura

-RERRTE ! P 5. Grand Continent Hebbal

&. Grand Continent secundsrzbad
7.Grand Continent Anjunz
8. Grand Continent Mysuru

9. Grand Continent, Brookfield

- we handle franchise operations for al archid and Sarovar, overse=ing the operation and maint=nance of 13 properties under
Cur owned and registerad brand = P GlEoy * E P d 8 8 prop

Our Promoter, Mr. Ramesh Siva, who is also our Chairman and Managing Director, has more than two decades of experience
in the hotel and hospitality industry. He has demonstrated ability to manage and grow operations organically and also by
acquiring and integrating hotels. The leadership team of our Company has extensive experience in identifying hospitality
destinations and securing of hotels under lease considering factors such as Location, economic potential, target customers and
branding.
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Our dedicated in-house asset management team includes experienced hospitality professionals to oversee key operational
aspects, such as procurement, marketing, human resource management and capital expenditure decisions. Our asset
management practices are designed to provide a comfortable experience for guests, tenants and consumers and are driven by
comprehensive procedures aimed at improving the operational performance of our assets through increased occupancy rates
and revenue generation, as well as enhanced cost efficiencies. All our hotel properties are well staffed with security, front
desk, housekeeping and food and beverages service coverage to ensure that we create a well-rounded service experience for
our guest.

We believe that we are well-positioned to benefit from growing hospitality demand fuelled by several key factors such as the
robust increase in domestic tourism; the growing middle class, alongside their evolving lifestyles; a significant uptick in
business travel, particularly from small and medium-sized enterprises (SMESs); and the broadening scope of business activities
into Tier 2, 3, and 4 cities. The Foreign Tourist Arrivals (FTAS) in India continued to grow from 2.54 million in 2001, 6.31
million in 2011 to reach 10.93 million in year 2019. Subsequently, after opening of the economy post COVID -19 Pandemic,
tourism has shown increasing signs of revival. In year 2022, India registered 6.44 million FTAs i.e. attained around 60% of
pre-pandemic level with a growth of 323.7% over 2021. In 2023, 9.23 million foreign tourists visited India. Although the
FTAs arrival tally still remains less than the pre-pandemic number of 10.93 million in 2019, 2024 numbers are expected to
surpass it. Domestic tourist visits have grown substantially post pandemic, fuelled by rising disposable incomes, an expanding
middle class, and a shift in lifestyle choices that prioritize travel and leisure. Additionally, better road networks, improved rail
and air connectivity, and the expansion of affordable accommodation options have made travel more accessible to a wider
audience. The top 5 states in domestic tourist visits in 2022 were Uttar Pradesh (317.9 Mn), Tamil Nadu (218.6 Mn), Andhra
Pradesh (192.8 Mn), Karnataka (182.4 Mn) and Gujarat (135.8 Mn) with their respective shares being 18.4%, 12.6%, 11.1%,
10.5% and 7.8%. These 5 States accounted for about 60.5% of the total domestic tourist visits in the country (Source: Ken
Research).

We plan to continue focusing on our core strength of developing upper-midscale and midscale hospitality assets and to
increase the number of keys across our hospitality assets by an estimated 1,500 keys, from 753 keys as at September 30, 2024
to approximately 2000+ keys in FY2026 through our planned development and expansion initiative as detailed in chapter on
“Objects of the Offer” along with acquisition of properties from internal accruals and through debt funding. For details on
target list of properties being funded via objects of the issue, please refer chapter on “Objects of the Offer” on page 114 of the
Red Herring Prospectus.

We plan to focus on increasing our ARR through leveraging our valued position in our key markets and established
relationships with hotel operators and franchisee partners. We intend to continue to capitalize on the quality of our
management and scale of our existing Portfolio to further drive operational efficiencies, reduce costs and improve margins.
We intend to take advantage of opportunities for strategic developments and acquisitions. In addition, we believe that our
stable annuity cash flows and debt headroom will provide us with financial flexibility to maintain a competitive advantage for
future acquisitions of hotel properties.

KEY OPERATIONAL DATA
The following table sets out our key operational data as of/for the years indicated. All operational data below is provided as

at September 30, 2024, March 31, 2024, March 31, 2023 and March 31, 2022, respectively (other than ARR, Occupancy and
RevPAR which are provided for Six Months period ended September 30, 2024, FY 2024, FY 2023 and FY 2022, respectively).

Details As at and FY 2024 FY 2023 FY 2022
for Six
Months
period
ended

September
30, 2024

Total Number of hospitality assets 16 12 7 5

Total Number of keys 753 531 329 192

Hospitality Assets — Upper Mid-Priced

Number of hospitality assets 4 3 1 0
Number of keys 218 180 88 n/a
Occupancy (%) ® 55.82% 67.18% 3.38% ¥ n/a
ARR () @ 3,969.02® 3,883.51 3,971.15 n/a
RevPAR (?) © 2,215.52 2,609.10 134.09 n/a
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Hospitality Assets — Mid Priced

Number of hospitality assets 11 8 5 4
Number of keys 511 327 217 168
Occupancy (%) © 73.90% 73.28% 77.74% 59.65%
ARR (3) @ 3,512,610 3,409.85 2,783.77 1,971.63
RevPAR (3) ©® 2,595.86 2,498.68 2,164.08 1,176.16
Hospitality Assets — Economy

Number of hospitality assets 1 1 1 1
Number of keys 24 24 24 24
Occupancy (%) © 76.31% 77.91% 68.92% 68.08%
ARR (3) @ 1,549.79 1,467.90 1,471.43 911.47
RevPAR (3) © 1,182.72 1,143.71 1,014.04 620.55

Notes

Q) Occupancy = Total room nights sold during a relevant year/period divided by the total available room nights during

the same year/period.

(2)  Average room rate (ARR) = being room revenues during a given year/period divided by total number of room nights

sold in that year/period.

(3) RevPAR = calculated as Average Room Revenue for a relevant period multiplied by Average Occupancy Rate for that

period.

(4)  Property went live on 24" February with a total of 104 room nights billed for FY 2023.
(5)  One of the four hospitality properties classified as “Upper Mid-Priced” and accounting for 38 keys were active for
less than six months during six months period ended September 30, 2024.
(6)  Three of the eleven hospitality properties classified as “Mid-Priced” and accounting for 184 keys were active for
less than six months during six months period ended September 30, 2024.

KEY FINANCIAL DATA

As at and

for Six

months
Details Unit period FY 2024 FY 2023 FY 2022

ended

September

30, 2024
Total Keys Number 753 531 329 192
Revenue from Operations (R in Lakh) 3,183.98 3,123.69 1,680.15 602.69
Total Income® (Z in Lakh) 3,186.32 3,153.16 1,704.70 602.73
Total Income Growth (Y-0-Y)® % NA 84.97 182.83 110.40
EBITDA® (% in Lakh) 1,124.60 986.48 625.31 238.44
EBITDA margin® % 35.32 31.58 37.22 39.56
EBITDA/Key® (% in Lakh) 1.49 1.86 1.90 1.24
Restated Profit / (loss) for year © (% in Lakh) 622.37 407.77 103.49 (79.29)
Restated profit/(loss) for the year Margin( % 19.53 12.93 6.07 (13.16)
Net debt® (% in Lakh) 3,294.21 2,653.19 3,661.48 3,430.15
Total Equity® (% in Lakh) 4,101.46 2,999.33 58.73 (163.21)
Net Debt / Total Equity©) Number 0.80 0.88 62.34 (21.02)
Net debt / EBITDA®D Number 2.93 2.69 5.86 14.39
Total assets*? (% in Lakh) 9,793.63 7,391.43 4,226.10 3,436.58
Total Borrowings(13) (% in Lakh) 4,022.23 3,496.26 3,706.58 3,472.33
Total Borrowings / Total Assets®4 Number 0.41 0.47 0.88 1.01
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Notes

(1) Total income means the sum of revenue from operations and other income.

(2) Total Income Growth (%) is calculated as a percentage of total income of the relevant year/period minus Total Income
of the preceding year, divided by total income of the preceding year/period.

(3) EBITDA =Profit before Tax + finance costs + depreciation and amortisation expense + exceptional loss + total tax
expense/(credit) less Other Income.

(4) EBITDA margin (%) = EBITDA divided by Revenue from Operations.

(5) EBITDA [ key= EBITDA divided by average number of keys during the year/period.

(6) Restated profit/ (loss) for the period/ year = Total Income less Total Expenses less Total Tax expenses for the year/period
and adjustment for minority Interest.

(7) Restated profit/(loss) margin for the period/ year Margin (%) = Restated profit/(loss) for the year/period divided by the
total income for the year/period.

(8) Net debt = Long term borrowings (including current maturities of long-term borrowings) + short term borrowings
(excluding current maturities of long-term borrowings) less Cash and cash equivalents.

(9) Total Equity = Equity Share Capital + Other Equity.

(10) Net Debt / Total Equity = Long term borrowings (including current maturities of long-term borrowings) + short term
borrowings (excluding current maturities of long-term borrowings) less Cash and cash equivalents / Shareholders
equity.

(11) Net debt / EBITDA = Long term borrowings (including current maturities of long-term borrowings) + short term
borrowings (excluding current maturities of long-term borrowings) less Cash and cash equivalents / EBITDA.

(12) Total Assets = Non-current assets + Current assets.

(13) Total Borrowings = Long Term Borrowings + Short Term Borrowings.

(14) Total Borrowings / Total Assets = Long Term Borrowings + Short Term Borrowings divided by non-current assets +
Current assets.

PROPERTY LAUNCH CYCLE

Once we identify and finalize a prospective property, we sign a Letter of Intent (LOI) with the landlord, agreeing on key
contract terms, including the facility’s composition, the landlord's responsibilities, and commercial terms. Typically, the
landlord handles structural work, fixed fixtures, and high-side equipment. We may involve our architects to ensure the quality
of these elements meets our standards, especially in terms of aesthetics and finishes. After the property is handed over, we
usually require anyway between 90 - 120 days to get the property operational which includes soft furnishings, kitchen setup,
IT deployment, and staff training.
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QOur Property Selection & Launch Journey

Process is completed between 2 - 6 Months

' }

Identification Negotiating the lease Refurbishment property
* We have a network of  The lease span is of 10- according to GCH standards
channel partners and 15 years. Company has + Llandlords to upgrade and
brok_er ) LT an option to renew the renovate the property with
continuously provide us lease fixed  furnishi includi
with leads xe . urnishing |.ncu ing
* Identifying  properties ) {Agree on Landowners electrical and plumbing .
that meet the criteria mfra;tructure * Company engag.es their
established by GCH regdmess cost empaneled architects to
, * Exit clauses cover renovate according to set
team ) |.e.. Hotel minor repair costs for standards
E;c;sertles RS regular wear ind tear » Property is updated on the
- Approaching properties (Capp_ed at 15_/0 of the ERP & OTA platforms
security deposit) « Team hiring & training

which are independently
owned/ managed or in-
need of management
assistance

before launch

Staff recruitment and onboarding procedures-

When opening a new hotel, we carefully assess the staffing needs across various functions, including Front Desk,
Housekeeping, Horticulture, Maintenance, Food Service, Food Production, Security, Accounts, and Materials Management.
We evaluate the right mix of experienced professionals and fresh talent required for the hotel’s operations. During the pre-
opening phase, we conduct intensive training for the entire staff. This training focuses on property knowledge, guest
interaction, understanding hotel systems and processes, and specific functional skills. This ensures that our team is fully
prepared to deliver exceptional service from day one.

Marketing Strategy —

Our marketing approach is multifaceted, designed to address the unique demands of various destinations, micro-markets, and
consumer groups. We empower our properties with robust sales and marketing initiatives, leveraging the following channels:
1. In-House Sales Team: A dedicated team of professionals focused on enabling tie ups with corporates and travel agency
firms to tap into the business travel market.

2. Franchise Partner Networks: we have trademark license agreements/ franchisee agreements with Sarovar Hotels Private
Limited and /or Royal Orchid Associated Hotels limited which gives us access to the sales office network of both these firms
for lead generation for our properties.

3. Online Travel Agents (OTAS): A strong presence in electronic distribution channels such as booking.com, makemytrip,
goibibo, agoda etc.

4. User-Friendly Website: A fully-enabled website for seamless, instant online reservations.

5. Trade Platforms: Active participation in trade fairs and similar events across India

OUR COMPETITIVE STRENGTHS
1. Premium hospitality offerings in mid-priced segment.
Our strength lies in providing premium hospitality experiences within the mid-priced segment. We deliver quality service

and elegant accommodations at competitive rates, ensuring that guests receive exceptional value without compromising
on luxury. We offer spacious accommaodations in prime locations. Our culinary services feature diverse options tailored
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to customer preferences, maintaining good hygiene standards. Additionally, we provide quick and efficient room service
to enhance our guests' experience.

. Strategically located properties at prime areas.

Our extensive network of properties allows us to meet the diverse needs of both business and leisure travellers. By
acquiring properties in key business districts and popular entertainment hubs, we ensure that guests have easy access to
important destinations and activities, minimizing the time they spend commuting. The location of our properties not only
enhances the appeal of our hotels to both business and leisure travellers but also boosts our visibility and attractiveness in
a competitive market.

. Proven track record of adding value through active asset management

We believe our hospitality assets are destinations of choice due to their quality, positioning and unique offerings. Our asset
management practices are designed to provide an exceptional experience for guests and are driven by comprehensive
procedures aimed at improving the operational performance of our assets through increased occupancy rates and revenue
generation, as well as enhanced cost efficiencies. We have a dedicated in-house asset management team that collaborates
closely with our hotel properties to oversee key operational aspects, such as key procurement, marketing and capital
expenditure decisions

Asset enhancement initiatives

We strive to enhance the operational performance of our assets through targeted asset enhancement initiatives, such as
renovations, refurbishments and other measures to optimize the use of available space. These initiatives have typically
demonstrated value-accretive returns on incremental capital expenditure.

We recently carried out refurbishment of our property at Malleswaram, Bengaluru. The property was initially leased on
February 01, 2017 and the lease was renewed on December 04, 2023. Refurbishment work was carried out between
December 2023 and March 2024. The project work included refurbishment of all rooms including guest bedrooms rooms
and bathrooms, restaurant along with reception and lobby. All amenities were upgraded (matresses, linen, cutlery etc).
Total expenses incurred on refurbishment cost amount to X 108.24 Lakhs. Post refurbishment, the property was rebranded
as “Grand Continent: A Sarovar portico Affiliate hotel”. ARR increased from sub X 2,000/- to a range of 33,200/-.

Operational efficiencies and cost management

We effectively manage operating costs and drive synergies through central procurement tendering exercises and cluster
purchase programs with our panel of suppliers, which are led by our asset management team. We benefit from favorable
supplier rates in several areas, ranging from development and renovation costs to consumables such as food and beverages.
In certain cases, we renegotiate supplier rates with our vendors on an annual basis.

. Professional and experienced management team

Our business is led by a professional management team and Board of Directors, who come from diverse backgrounds with
expertise in various fields such as private equity and investments, real estate and hospitality. We benefit from the industry
experience, guidance and the vision of our Promoter, Mr. Ramesh Siva, who is also our Chairman and Managing Director
and has more than two decades of experience in the hotel and hospitality industry. He has demonstrated ability to manage
and grow operations organically and also by acquiring and integrating hotels. We also have a strong management team
with significant industry experience and domain knowledge leading key aspects of our business.

. Well-positioned to benefit from strong industry tailwinds

India has emerged as the fastest-growing major economy in the world with nominal GDP growth rate of 10.4% expected
in 2024, backed by its robust democracy and strong partnerships. The trajectory of economic growth of India and private
consumption is driven by socio-economic factors such as demographics and urbanization. With a median age of 29, India
boasts one of the youngest populations globally. Each year, a substantial number of young citizens enter the workforce,
contributing to the potential for a significant ‘demographic dividend’. A large working population also brings enhanced
discretionary spending power and a greater inclination to travel, which could benefit the mid-scale hotel sector. Business
and downtown hotels, as well as leisure hotels, can be expected to grow by offering a balance of quality services and value
that aligns with this demographic’s travel needs and preferences.

“By 2036, India’s towns and cities will be home to 600 million people, or 40% of the population, up from 31% in 2011,
with urban areas contributing almost 70% to GDP.” The urban population is significantly growing in India. It is estimated
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to have increased from 403 million (31.6% of total population) in 2012 to 508 million (35.9% of total population) in the
year 2022. Urbanization creates the need for jobs, thereby attracting investment and development of multiple business
sectors, including manufacturing and services. Growth in business and business opportunities due to increased urban-led
activity is evidenced by increase in air traffic, wider real estate activity, and growth of hotels in several existing and newer
markets in metro cites, primary and secondary cities and towns.

India proudly boasts a tapestry of geographical diversity, encompassing awe-inspiring world heritage sites and niche
tourism offerings such as captivating cruise tourism, exhilarating adventure tourism, renowned medical tourism, and
mesmerizing eco-tourism. These unique offerings have resulted in an exponential increase in tourist arrivals, opening up
vast employment opportunities. The country, with a rich cultural and historical heritage, diversity in ecology, terrains, and
myriad attractions, is one of the most popular holiday destinations worldwide, which has resulted in the rise of the Indian
tourism and hospitality industry among all the services sectors in the country. A 2022 ICICI Direct survey highlighted
this, noting Varanasi's remarkable 720 lakh tourists, which significantly surpassed Goa’s 85 lakh visitors. According to
the Ministry of Tourism, these religious hubs contributed approximately X1.3 lakh crore in revenue and attracted around
1.43 billion visitors in 2022. Contrary to the belief that spiritual tourism primarily appeals to older generations, this trend
spans across age groups. Beyond the well-known destinations, lesser-explored cities are also seeing an increase in spiritual
and religious tourism, driven by government initiatives.

As an initiative under India’s G20 Presidency, the Ministry of Tourism, Government of India organized the country's first
Global Tourism Investors’ Summit (GTIS) to showcase opportunities for investment and trade while fostering tourism
and development nationwide. The Swadesh Darshan scheme by the Ministry of Tourism aims to develop a comprehensive
framework for the holistic development of tourist destinations. With an outlay of INR 1,750 Cr for FY 2024- 25 in the
Union Budget 2024-25, the scheme is designed to promote responsible and sustainable tourism practices nationwide
through collaborative efforts with the state governments, Union Territory authorities, and local governments. Swadesh
Darshan 2.0 is the evolution of the existing flagship scheme, Swadesh Darshan, by the Ministry of Tourism to foster the
spirit of Aatmanirbhar Bharat and promote the country as a prominent tourism destination. The scheme envisions
developing sustainable and responsible tourism destinations with a focus on self-employment, youth skilling, private sector
investments, and local culture.

Business travel remains a predominant source of demand for hotels located primarily in business-oriented locations such
as Bengaluru Whitefield, Hinjewadi Pune, Gurugram, and Cyberabad in Hyderabad. India’s economic growth, coupled
with the rising number of small and medium sized enterprises (SMESs) and startups, has led to an uptick in business travel.
(Source: Ken Research)

OUR GROWTH STRATEGIES
1. Developing and expanding our hospitality assets

We plan to consolidate our hotel properties across Southern India to strengthen our presence in this region. At the same
time, we are actively pursuing expansion opportunities in Northern and Western India, focusing on major business hubs
and popular leisure destinations. Our goal is to identify and secure key properties in prime locations, which will enhance
our market presence and cater to a broader customer base. We are also open to exploring opportunities in Central and
Eastern India to ensure a well-rounded geographical footprint.

Our expansion strategy is ambitious, with a target of doubling our capacity every year for the next 5 years. This aggressive
growth plan will position us as a resilient player in the domestic hospitality industry. As part of our long-term vision, we
are also planning to expand into key international business hubs, allowing us to better serve our business customers on a
global scale. This international expansion will enable us to tap into new markets, diversify our offerings, and further
solidify our brand's presence worldwide.

2. Improving operational efficiency to achieve superior performance.

We seek to improve our operational efficiencies by implementing holistic asset management plans for our hotels. These
include rationalizing sourcing costs, effective workforce management using technology to enhance productivity and drive
occupancy and efficient energy management. For instance, on technology front, the company intends to undertake the
following projects (a) Back-end process being integrated on cloud based SAAS platform for accounting, procurement, HR
etc (b) Planning for a full-blown cloud based SAAS HMS to enable revenue management, reservation management, loyalty
management.

The company will look to outsource functions that cannot be undertaken internally in a cost-effective manner and
judiciously managing our use of electricity, fuel, water and other utilities.
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We also plan to improve staff productivity and efficiency to reduce payroll costs per room through the use of new
technology, streamlined management systems, comprehensive training and performance-linked compensation. We are
now planning to increase hospitality experience through retention, upskilling, improving employee experience,
implementation of performance linked incentives etc. We have achieved best possible Key: People ratio over past three
financial years and stub period ended on September 30, 2024, details of which are as follows:

Fiscal Staff linked to operations* Keys* Ratio
2021-2022 58 192 0.3
2022-2023 71 329 0.2
2023-2024 231 531 0.4

September 30, 2024 502 753 0.7

* No. of Employees and Operation Key data taken on last day of the year/period

3. Optimise capital efficiency through the adoption of our asset light model with an optimal portfolio of owned and
leased hotels and to further strengthen, develop and expand our existing brand.

We have developed an expertise of managing and operating hotels for over the last 13 years. As of September 30, 2024,
we have 16 operational hotels with 753 rooms. In addition, we have mobilised 1 hotel in October 2024 and are mobilising
another 1 hotel by November 2024 - taking the total portfolio to 18 hotels and approx. 850 keys. We have signed
MOUSs/LOI for another 5 properties in the upper mid-priced and mid-priced categories, adding about 346 rooms to our
hotel portfolio.

We will continue to focus on building an asset light business with majority of assets under leased, or licensed and managed
hotels and will seek to expand opportunistically based on overall opportunities. According to KEN Research, hotels in
mid-scale category are expected to grow at a CAGR of 9% (revenue growth) and 5% (volume growth) between Fiscal
2023 to Fiscal 2029. Mid-Scale Hotels (Mid-priced and Upper Mid-priced together) constitute approximately 56.0% of
the total room supply, signifying their dominance in catering to a broad spectrum of business and leisure travellers.

OUR OPERATIONAL HOTEL PROPERTIES

Set out below are details of our hospitality assets.

Sr. | Name of Hotel Short Description of Segment Owned | Franchise No of
No Location (Upper- Mid Leased Partner keys
Priced, Mid-
Priced and
economy)

1 | Hotel Regenta Inn | Koramangala, 8% Mid — Priced Owned Royal Orchid 40
Grand - 8th Block | Block, Bengaluru, Group
Koramangala Karnataka

2 | Hotel Regenta Inn | Indiranagar, Mid — Priced Owned Royal Orchid 40
— Indiranagar Bengaluru, Karnataka Group

3 | Hotel Tulip Inn - Koramangala, Mid — Priced Leased Sarovar Group 54
Ejipura Bengaluru, Karnataka
Koramangala

4 | Hotel Grand Malleshwaram, Mid — Priced Leased Sarovar Group 34
Premier Suites - Bengaluru, Karnataka
Malleswaram

5 | Hotel Grand Bannerghatta Road, Economy Leased - 24
Continent - Bengaluru, Karnataka
Bannerghatta Road

6 | Hotel Regenta Inn | Koramangala, 4th Mid — Priced Leased Royal Orchid 25
- 4th block Block, Bengaluru, Group
Koramangala Karnataka

7 | Hotel Grand Hosur, Tamil Nadu Mid — Priced Leased Sarovar Group 45
Continent Hotel —

Hosur
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8 | Hotel Grand Secunderabad, Mid — Priced Leased Sarovar Group 40
Continent Hotel — | Telangana
Secunderabad

9 | Hotel Grand Anjuna, Goa Upper — Mid Priced Leased Sarovar Group 44
Continent Hotel —
Anjuna

10 | Hotel Grand Kasaba hobli, Upper — Mid Priced Leased Sarovar Group 48
Continent Hotel - Bengaluru, Karnataka
Hebbal Manyata

11 | Hotel Regenta Inn | Mahadevpura, Mid — Priced Leased Royal Orchid 49*
-ORR Bengaluru, Karnataka Group
Mahadevapura

12 | Hotel Golden Tirupati, Andhra Upper — Mid Priced Leased Sarovar Group 88*
Tulip — Tirupati Pradesh

13 | Hotel Grand Morjim, Goa Upper — Mid Priced Leased - 38
Continent —
Morjim

14 | Grand Continent— | Mysore, Karnataka Mid — Priced Leased Sarovar Group 40
Mysore

15 | Hotel Grand Bengaluru, Karnataka Mid — Priced Leased Sarovar Group 108
Continent -
Brookfield

16 | Hotel Grand Bengaluru, Karnataka Mid — Priced Leased - 36
Continent -
Devanhalli

17 | Hotel Grand Chengalpattu, Tamil Upper Mid - Priced Leased Sarovar Group 42
Continent — Nadu
Mahabalipuram

18 | Hotel Grand Rangareddy, Mid — Priced Leased - 41
Continent — Telangana
Gachibowli

19 | Hotel Grand Rangareddy, Upper Mid — Priced Leased - 80
Continent — Hi- Telangana
Tech

TOTAL 916
Note:

*Represents properties with JV Partner Entities. For more details on JV Partner Entities, please refer to section titled
"History And Certain Other Corporate Matters”.

DETAILS ON KEY PROPERTIES

. HOTEL REGENTA INN GRAND, KORAMAGALA - BENGALURU (Owned property)

Regenta Inn Grand, is a 40 keys business hotel nestled in the main commercial hub of Bengaluru with IT companies, banks
and other commercial companies in close vicinity. It has fine-dining restaurant, Gymnasium and well-equipped meeting
facility designed to cater the needs of modern business and leisure travellers. The property is designed in contemporary style
and modern colour. Each room is well furnished with mindful and modern amenities, facilities to ensure a comfortable and

happy stay for Corporates, leisure &family.

Nearby Locations: (distance given is an approximation)
» Kempegowda International Airport: 38 Kms
* Majestic Railway Station: 9 Kms

* Majestic Bus Stand: 8.5 Kms

* Cubbon Park: 6 Kms
» Karnataka Golf Association: 6 Kms

* Embassy Golf Link: 6 Kms

Property Address: No:3, 80 Feet Road, Opposite Indoor stadium, Koramangala 8th Block, Koramangala, Bengaluru,
Karnataka 560 095
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Google location of property: https://maps.app.goo.gl/mnLyXx4uRGVHupXf6

Pictures of Property:

Key Operational metrics:

Property Go- live date: February 17, 2021

Regenta Inn Grand - Koramangala, Bangalore

Details As at FY 2024 FY 2023 FY 2022
September 30,
2024

Number of keys 40 40 40 40
Number of Restaurants 1 1 1 1
Number of banquet and conference halls - - - -
Number of meeting rooms - - - -
Occupancy (%) 88.49% 91.04% 88.25% 62.94%
ARR () 3,476.05 3,564.23 2,846.57 2,070.46
RevPAR () 3,075.87 3,244.81 2,512.19 1,303.12

2. HOTEL REGENTA INN, INDIRANAGAR - BENGALURU (owned property)

The Regenta Inn business hotel is located in the heart of the city and within the greater CBD area. The hotel is in close
proximity to fortune 500 companies, tech parks, metro station, Manipal hospital, Indira nagar 100 feet road, high street
shopping and entertainment hub of the city. The 40 well designed and comfortable rooms have neutral - toned walls, beds
with soft linen, well-lit desks, modern and well-equipped bathrooms which are specially designed to suit the fast paced
business traveller. The property has a fine-dining restaurant and a meeting room facility for business guests to host corporate

seminars, interviews or meetings.

Nearby Locations: (distance given is an approximation)

» Kempegowda International Airport : 30Kms

* Majestic Railway Station : 10 Kms * Majestic Bus Stand :9.5 Kms

* Chinnaswamy Stadium : 5.9 km

* The Heritage Centre &Aerospace Museum: 6.6 km « Cubbon Park: 7 Kms

» Commercial Street - 4.6 Kms & Brigade Road : 5.3 Kms * Embassy Golf Link : 4 Kms

Property Address: 648B, 1st phase, 1st stage, Binnmangala, Indira Nagar, BENGALURU 560 038

Google location of property: https://maps.app.goo.gl/2L 2QH89zEeEdsL DEA
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https://maps.app.goo.gl/mnLyXx4uRGVHupXf6
https://maps.app.goo.gl/2L2QH89zEeEdsLDEA

Pictures of Property:

Key Operational metrics:
Property Go- live date: October 23, 2019

Details As